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This is Borg?


 


The Greater Consciousness of the Borg finished its downloading of instructions to
Exploratory-class Cube #347, leaving the sub-collective to its own designs. Impulse
engines pushed the ship out of orbit and away from planet #98. Deep within the
heart of the cube, power systems came on-line, activating the transwarp drive. With
a blur of motion, the ship streaked away.


Twelve hours and twenty light years later, an automatic system awoke 4 of 8. An eye
opened as the Borg came on-line and disengaged from its alcove. The eye
momentarily glazed over as mind dipped back into the cube's intranet; files
were scanned and instructions read. What followed next would probably be beyond
the experiences of any race who had ever met the Borg.


"Aw, sh**," echoed throughout the empty catwalks and slumbering forms in
alcoves. For good measure, the expletive was repeated on the net, starting the
waking process of the other members of the sub-collective.


Exploratory-class Cube #347 with its four thousand drones was not exactly cream of the Borg crop.
A better analogy might be to compare the group with a wisp of fly-away hair. As
long as the Greater Consciousness continually concentrated on the
sub-collective, everything ran fine; the moment attention was diverted
elsewhere (and it often was with many thousands of cubic light years and
billions of sub-collectives to coordinate), this particular fly-away would nip
off down to the salon and proceed to be dyed orange, purple, and florescent
green.


All the drones on Cube #347 had been assimilated as adults from various humanoid
civilizations and exploratory ships the Borg had come across. Most were quite
happy, in a brain-washed way, to be a Borg. However, those same drones hadn't
quite had their former individuality successfully severed from their minds. It
was an imperfection in the assimilation process which was still being worked
out, but four thousand out of many trillions was not bad.


Instead of eliminating those imperfections, which otherwise made fine drones, they had
been gathered and placed on a single ship, which could be sent out on long
assignments. Additionally, several drones with other problems (deviants and
misfits was the common term to be heard on non-assimilated worlds) had been
thrown in the mix. Those long assignments kept the sub-collective relatively
isolated from the Greater Society, which in turn cut down the probability of
accidental infection of individualness. The Greater Collective was always there
in the background, but the ship was monitored in much the same way a human mind
might monitor the actions of his or her little toe; i.e. very little unless it
was seriously stubbed. This relative freedom, however, had only reinforced the
individuality and eccentricity of the drones of Cube #347.


What the Greater Conscious didn't know wouldn't hurt it, but the cube had worked out
a slightly alternate form of collective hierarchy and command different from
the Borg norm.


4 of 8 frowned. "I didn't want to be Captain this assignment. Why do I have
to be Captain?"


"Because it is your turn in the rotation," said 3 of 8 from his alcove. "Wake
us when we are needed, but otherwise keep your commiserations to
yourself."


4 or 8, now Captain, turned, "First things first. Stop speaking in that
stupid plural crud. The Greater Consciousness is half-way across the quadrant
dealing with some other problem."


There was no answer. Around Captain, the cube was becoming more and more active. Because
of potential individuality conflicts, this cube had to have a command hierarchy
with designated minds in charge. Normal sub-collectives would have a simple
consensus to change course. This ship had to make sure the wishes of a few
didn't cause the cube to weave like a drunken freighter crew. Sighing, he
dipped back into the net, flitting around the system to activate what needed to
be activated. Dropping his mind to the center of the traveling cube, he felt
along the grid until he came upon a particular entity.


{Rise and shine, 12 of 19. If I have to suffer, you have to as well. You are going to
head engineering this shift.}


In alcoves next to each other, two Borg which looked remarkably similar, down to
nicks in their prosthetics, became aware. {Captain,} the two returned across
the net in perfect unison, {I understand. I am also are going to make sure your
next regeneration cycle gives you a horrible rash which will not be
irrelevant.}


{You are the best of the engineering drones, you know.}


{I know.}


Captain's consciousness left the main engineering grid, leaving the bodies of 12 of 19
staring at the alcove shaft. "This is my fourth time in charge in the last
six assignments, so I will be designated Delta A & B for the
duration," was logged onto the net.


Delta A & B had been female twins prior to their assimilation; very close twins. After
their conversion to Borg, they had grown so close that they had essentially
become one mind split between two bodies. They even shared the same numerical
designation because the Greater Collective was divided by mental signatures,
not organic bodies. The twins in many ways embodied the eventual perfection the
Borg hoped to achieve, namely one mind in many bodies. Until that time,
however, the twins frankly gave the Greater Consciousness the screaming
willies, and so they had been shuttled off to Cube #347.


Delta separated, body A going to directly observe the status sensors of all the
reactors, while B began to go over the maintenance docket. One advantage of two
bodies was two brains; multitasking was very easy. Trouble with intake manifold
#21 caught Delta's attention. A rodent's nest was blocking it? Rodent nest?


{27 of 27! When I find you, you are spare parts!} screamed over the net, scrambling
several conversations subpartitions were having among themselves. Captain felt
a headache coming on.


Out near one of the ship's corners, 27 of 27 winced. He had just found out he had
'won' the lottery for primary drone maintenance for the assignment...also known
as Doctor. Delta was going to go through the hull.


Doctor had been a veterinarian prior to his assimilation. His affinity with
non-sentients had unfortunately carried over to his Borg existence. Consequently,
he often assimilated pets and other small animals on the planets the cube
visited, which was strictly against regulations. The animals were too primitive
mentally to enter onto any Borg net, but nanite enhancements made the creatures
extremely hard to exterminate. In this case, Doctor had smuggled aboard several
pairs of a six-legged, hamster-like animal which bred quickly and, to make
matters worse, could convert light directly to metabolic energy due to special
cells in the epidermis. They were also incredibly cute.


Doctor watched the net as a sub-collective-wide directive was posted to kill any
hamster found. Deciding to keep as low a profile from Delta as possible, he
uploaded his personal docket to examine the maintenance requests which were
already being filed to his schedule.


Back in his section, Captain was observing the general chaos to which the cube was
sliding towards. On one level he knew this was the price for his imperfect
assimilation; and on another, his Borg-self was horrified at the inefficiency. "Three
more command posts to go," Captain muttered to himself. "Only three
more to go." Into the intranet he called, {I would like Sensors, Weapons,
and Assimilation to report in.}


{1 of 3 reporting, Captain. 1 of 3 drew the [card] for Sensors this shift.} 1 of 3
was one of three non-humanoids on the cube. Specifically, she was insectoid in
shape, which had caused a no-so-minor problem in alcove assignments when she
was first put on the cube. Later a proper alcove had been shipped over from a
cube which included her species, but regeneration before that point had been
most interesting for 1 of 3, now Sensors. She also had the troubling tendency
to refer to herself in the third person; and the translator algorithm for her
species was less than precise.


The Borg, until recently, had been specialists in humanoid assimilation. Within the
last century, however, an increasing number of non-humanoids had been taken in
the quest for perfection. Assimilation imperfection had proven to happen
regardless of species or general shape, so the Greater Consciousness had
efficiently added non-humanoids to the crew of Cube #347.


{Sensors, you will remember most of the drones on this ship naturally see in a spectrum
that is different from your own? So you will not neglect sensor readings in
that spectrum?}


{Yes, Captain. Sensors does [understand].}


{Fine. Weapons? Assimilation?}


Weapons tended to be a difficult position on the ship. Each subsection of the cube potentially
had complete control of weapons in the area, but non-coordination of those
weapons could lead to enemies making hits that they otherwise would not have a
chance at targeting. Thus, Weapons had to be able to have his or her or its
control commands be more powerful than the occasional panicked subsection.


A crash could be heard on the catwalk two sections below, followed by the sound
of a body hitting a bulkhead even further down. A request for maintenance was
placed on Doctor's docket just as a forceful voice reported in to Captain, {45
of 300 is Weapons.}


{You've been Weapons since you were first placed on Cube #347. There are other drones
as qualified as yourself which need to be given the chance in a proper
Collective manner.}


{45 of 300 is Weapons. 45 of 300 will always be Weapons. It doesn't matter who wins
the weapons lottery because 45 of 300 will be Weapons regardless. I am
Weapons!} The last statement was screeched both on the net and aloud from the
lower catwalk.


{If you don't follow the Captain's directives this time, Weapons, I swear I will
launch you into the nearest star. The Greater Consciousness was very
disappointed when we managed to blow up that colony ship of species #4310. Many
good potential drones were lost.}


Silence greeted that remark, which Captain decided to take as consent, rather than try
force a verbal or net acknowledgment from the unstable drone. He was a good
tactical drone, it was true...sometimes too good.


{Assimilation? You are last.}


A deep, regretful sigh replied, {This is 13 of 20. My rotation for this position
has come up. Do you know how boring it is to grow nanites? We assimilate a
small scout ship, and it is busy for a time, then the boredom sets in again. I
might as well go watch the paint dry on the hull...more exciting there.}


{Whatever, Assimilation.} Captain dismissed Assimilation from his immediate mind, although
something kept tugging him about the designation of 13 of 20. He would recall
that drone's history at a more convenient time. Okay, final task. Captain stepped
from his alcove, then reached out his unaltered hand to manually tap a few
controls against an alcove next to his own. The two remaining eyes of 3 of 8
(he had started with four) opened before a peevish remark came out, "Why
did you reawaken us?"


"I told you to end with that plural crap. Since I need a second for redundancy, I
decided to volunteer you and your winning personality. Up and at 'em!"


"Joy," responded Second as he ended his regeneration cycle.


 


Captain allowed the assignment orders to filter out into the general awareness of the
sub-collective. Collective sensors had picked up a ship of unknown
configuration in quadrant 10036, and Cube #347 was to go investigate. As much
information was to be gathered as possible, and any lifeforms (Sentients only,
Doctor) to be assimilated and returned to the Greater Collective before they
became too damaged through exposure to the ship's sub-collective.


{Finally, 354 of 510...you will not attempt to make course corrections when the sensors
pick up variable stars, no matter how artistic they may be. Art is irrelevant. This
goes double for 15 of 39...no ship surfing of singularities. The last time you
managed to pull that stunt, we were dead in space reconstructing all the
reactor cores you managed to blow. Ten redundant systems, and this cube lost
them all!}


The busy, proper, hum of work shifts greeted Captain's mental ears. Delta was busy
doing minor repairs; hunter-killer teams had managed to remove twenty-three
hamsters; Doctor was repairing a prosthesis of a drone hurt in a twelve meter
fall; Weapons had not managed to explode anything yet (to his disappointment);
Sensors was paying attention to all frequencies; Second was doing what it was
seconds do between his complaints and sulks; and Assimilation was quiet.


A reminder, the Borg equivalent of a yellow sticky note, flitted across Captain's
net consciousness in response to the thought of Assimilation. He brought the
dossier of 13 of 20 into active memory, swiftly digesting the information. Lovely...that
was why the designation sounded familiar. An extremely depressed drone. The
hierarchy under Assimilation this assignment would need constant watching to
make sure the entire sub-group didn't try to jump ship for personal reentry in
some Jovian planet.


Cube #347 was definitely underway in what passed for normal operations. Three more
days to the sighting at quadrant 10036. 'Why couldn't I have been properly
assimilated like trillions of other Borg?' thought Captain for the umpteenth
time.


 


Captain felt something gnawing on his ankle as he came out of his regeneration cycle. He
looked down to see a six-legged ball of hair attempting to chew through his
body suit. Frowning, he lifted the foot and shook the hamster off and onto the
catwalk, then swiftly stepped on the too-cute thing before it could scamper away.
The hamster made a satisfyingly squishy sound. Dropping into net, Captain added
a tally mark to the electronic board dedicated to the rodent removal.


In his subsection, Doctor shuddered as yet another assimilated hamster was killed.
Although non-sentients could not enter the Borg nets, Doctor's empathy with the
animals he assimilated allowed him to sense when they died. An awful lot of
them were dying with the scent of burnt hair in the air or under the shadow of
a descending foot.


Captain absently wiped the bottom of his foot on the edge of Second's alcove, who was
still midway through his regeneration cycle. As he stood balanced on one foot,
examining the bottom of the other to see how deeply the hamster guts had
managed to work into the treads of his sole, a loud alert klaxon began to
chirp.


Sensors called, {The [puzzle] ship is within sensor range.}


Captain sent an acknowledgment, followed by the command which would interrupt Second in
his regeneration, then made his way along the catwalk to an intersection which
included a distribution node and several small terminals. A button by a
terminal was depressed, and an exterior view of the intruder was shown on the
screen.


Captain squinted at the small round screen with a vaguely fish-eyed view of the
universe. Why the Borg continued to use this type of inefficient and obsolete
technology was beyond his ken. Totally inadequate. If he was to use these
screens, the Collective should install the big ones like the majority of the
rest of the races in the galaxy used. Grumbling to himself, he turned off the
screen, then fell into the sub-collective's net.


{Sensors, I'm hooking into the sensor grid. Please don't do anything weird to the grid
until I ask for it.} Sensors sent her ascent as Captain and the rest of the
cube looked at the other ship. It appeared to be two flattened globes joined to
each other along a thin cylinder, the total length being two hundred meters. An
image-thought floated up from the deeper part of the sub-collective from an
assimilated human designated 20 of 212.


{Dumbbell?} returned Captain. {That is the proper word to describe it?}The reply was firm. {Dumbbell.
Unusual design. Do we have anything like it on file?}


If there was one ultimate strength to the Borg, it was its sheer number-crunching
ability. With a task before it, four thousand organic processors made a better
computer than anything of silicon could...and these processors were enhanced by
the best of assimilated technologies. Database after database of countless ship
designs of thousands of cultures was discarded as Cube #347 cautiously linked
in with the Greater Collective to sample the archives. Pulling back to firmly
reestablish its sub-collective, Cube #347 knew that the ship was of a new
format.


{Infrared and subspace overlay, Sensors. Weapons, have they noticed us yet?}


The visual of the ship altered to show the new frequencies. Unusually, the globe at
the front of the ship glowed, signifying engines. Unless the pilot normally
traveled in reverse at warp two, something odd was going on. No subspace radio
emanations could be seen.


{Weapons reports that the alien ship has still not reacted to our presence. Shields are
of standard design and easily penetrated by transporter, phasers, and tractor
beam. All subsections are ready to destroy the intruder.}


{No, no, no! We have to get a look at the technology first! Or at least find out why
they use a front-engine drive. There may be new technology, or at least
variations on the old, to claim for the Collective.}


{Sensors must report that there are no [electric bees] on board.}


{Noted.} Captain paused for a couple of seconds as the most plausible translation for
Sensors’ statement was determined. Finally, a decision tree matrix cascaded
through the sub-collective. {Okay, we will match course with the intruder,
apply a tractor, and pull the whole thing out of warp. Second, 4 of 24, and 5
of 24 will beam over to take a look around. Proceed.}


{Then do we get to destroy it?}


{No, Weapons. We will not be destroying it quite yet.}


 


Second, 4 of 24, and 5 of 24 emerged from the green transporter beam in the room which
should be the bridge.  The ship's computer had been mildly helpful until
electronic intruder alerts had closed off all communication between the dumbbell
and the Borg cube.


{Could you all pan around the room? We'd like to get a better look than the back of a
couple of chairs and a dark viewscreen, you know,} Captain sent. Obediently 4
of 24 and 5 of 24 did so. Second perversely closed his eyes.


Downloading the computer's active memory and archives was a simple affair. With four
thousand minds to work on breaking encryption codes, hacking the system was
completed in minutes. Captain had begun examining the data flow when 4 of 24
exclaimed, {There is something here!}, followed by the familiar feeling of a
Borg forcefully leaving the net because of death.


{Life signs! I thought you said there were no life signs, Sensors!}


{Sensors says that there are no [electric bees] detected, either then or now. And log
information shows that crew abandoned [barbell] approximately two [sols] ago.} Sensors
helpfully brought up and highlighted the appropriate passages which Captain had
not gotten to as of yet in his skimming.


{Second? What is the situation?}


{There appears to be an automatic system that was triggered when 4 of 24 went to go
through a door at the side of the bridge area. We are disarming the system now.
Doctor, 4 of 24 is ready to transport at any time for parts.}


Second watched as the body of 4 of 24 shimmered green before disappearing. He
completed the disarming of the system with a few well-placed blasts of a sonic
disrupter which shattered delicate crystals with a muffled crack. 5 of 24 went
forward to force open the doors.


The room behind the doors was opulent in the extreme. Gold and silver decorated the
walls, while gem encrusted tables were scattered about. A large dais with ebony
chair dominated the room, which also held several movable benches covered in a
shimmering suede hide. Decent resources, thought Second, the gold especially
would be useful in plating certain systems. On the dais, a figure flickered
into view.


"I am the mighty and wise Ghari! To hear my words is to hear the words of God! Bow
before me and worship!"


Or at least, that is what the figure said in its own language. The two Borg stood
there and listened to the gibberish, confident a translation would be available
shortly. On the dais, the figure, a humanoid biped sporting six eyes, four
holes which might have been ears, no observable nose, and a very large mouth,
stopped in his speech. The golden cape shimmered as it folded about a body
encased in a molded suit of ivory cloth. "Who the hell are you?"


On the cube, a debate was raging on what to do. Finally sentiment deciding to
assimilate first, ask questions later, won out. Second and 5 of 24 advanced on
the figure.


"Stop! I command you! You don't belong here. Where's my crew? What did you do to my
crew?"


Second stopped at the dais and reached out with one hand, prepared to shove
assimilation tubules into the sentient, if only to shut him up. Translation was
coming through now, and the demands were giving him a headache. Surprised, his
hand passed right though the being's arm; a similar occurrence happened to 5 of
24. The two Borg looked at each other.


"Hologram," muttered Captain. "It's a hologram." He was now rapidly scanning logs
and data entries. Jharin was the name of the race, and Ghari their major
religious icon. The room was a shrine and the hologram a part of the shrine. Captain
never had been much of a religious being before assimilation, and now, as a
Borg with a mostly Borg mindset, the concept was irrelevant and often
confusing.


Ghari had resumed speaking. "Well, since my crew seems to have disappeared,
perhaps due to infernal means, you will have to do. Bow to me and worship me as
your supreme savior."


The two Borg continued to look at each other, then turned to stare with disbelief
at the holographic religious icon. "You have got to be kidding," said
Second. "We are Borg. Religion is irrelevant...and yours is particularly
backwards and annoying. As soon as I can figure out how to shut you
off...." Second trailed off as his (and 5 of 24) subspace transceiver
suddenly stopped working. He was cut off from Cube #347.


Meanwhile, on the ship, Captain was raging on the net, hell incarnate. {The signal just
cut off! Sensors, give me a reason why. Weapons, target ship, but do not fire.}
The undersignal was still there, the one which told the sub-collective their
two Borg companions remained alive, but at the narrow bandwidth, no meaningful
data could be transmitted nor could a transporter lock be established.


{Sensors says that a rapidly [yo-yoing] shield that practically [fizzles] with subspace
distortions has englobed the shrine room.}


Another voice emerged from the general sub-collective, {Ship schematics and historic
files indicate that the presence of the shield is for religious reasons, namely
to make sure nothing interrupted the preaching of their icon, not even the
universe.} A pause, {There is also good indications it is meant to keep
worshipers from fleeing. Some of the rules in their scriptures are rather
detailed, and the consequences of noncompliance quite painful.}


{Fine, fine. The question now is to blow the ship to atoms or try to rescue Second and
5 of 24. Please form consensus while I hail the ship. Weapons...you may not
offer your suggestion, as we already know it.}


Captain mentally fiddled with the communications. For the sake of protocol, he opened
the channel's visual signal to return a picture from a camera facing into
subsection 12 with its rows of catwalks and alcoves. He would prefer a
face-to-face conversation, even if it was with a hologram, but there was the
Borg image to uphold.


"Jharin ship, this is the Borg. You will respond." Nothing in return. "Jharin
ship, if you do not respond, we will blow you to the irrelevant hells you so
like to contemplate." A response came, audio-only.


"This is Ghari, supreme prophet and chosen of the Gods. You will not blaspheme in
such a way, or the Gods will strike you dead and damned."


"Ghari, I'm sure your Gods would already consider us dead and damned, but we are not
here to discuss theology. Two Borg are held captive. Lower your shields or we
will be forced to kill you. Hologram or not, I'm sure you do not want to end
your existence."


"Hah! You will not kill them while I hold them! You have a weakness! I will keep the
two and convert them to the Faith!"


"The Borg have no weakness. The efficiency of this ship may slightly decrease
without the units, but they are superfluous. You will be destroyed. This is
your final warning."


While Ghari spouted off more meaningless drivel, consensus on the action to take was
trickling in. The majority was for rescuing the two Borg, although many had
wanted to just destroy the ship and scavenge the leftover debris. An alert
drone from subsection 15 posted a plan to the net; she had been idly scanning
the gigabytes of religious text and come across an interesting coincidence. Delta
read the plan and immediately agreed, browbeating much of her part of the ship
to also comply. Captain personally thought the idea ludicrous, but consensus
was with the plan.


"Then we have to choice but to destroy you, and your soul, Ghari, as well as the
souls of your Gods," interrupted Captain into Ghari's tirade. "Appearing
all over your ship in places your shields are not reaching, I am sending you
what you most fear...demons from the pits of hell." As Captain spoke, wave
after wave of hamsters were captured by transporter beams and deposited on the
Jharin ship. Ghari screamed over the subspace radio link.


"Demons! There are demons aboard! You have sent a plague of demons to defile the sacred
halls within this hull! Have your crew back, I must rid this ship of the
contamination." As the shields dropped from the shrine, transporter lock
was reestablished and Second and 5 of 24 beamed back to Cube #347. The Borg
cube immediately backed off several thousand meters as the Jharin ship began to
fire ineffective phasers.


Green phasers from the upper and lower corners of the cube facing the intruder ship
lanced out, melting through the conventional shields of the ship and striking
near the engine area of the first globe. The explosion which followed was the
spectacular red of burning oxygen; the fire swiftly extinguished as gasses
became too tenacious in the vacuum of space to burn.


{Weapons! I did not tell you to fire!}


{I slipped.}


{Slipped? You can't slip. You have to give the command code on the net.}


{It was firing at us. It was reflex.}


{It was trigger-happy nonsense. If there was star anywhere within three light
years, you would be taking a stroll in its plasma right now. Understand?}


{Yes. I understand.}


{Good. Be sure you continue to understand.}


Captain looked longingly towards his alcove out on the catwalk. Well, at least the
assignment was over. All he had to do was contact the Greater Collective, give
his report, finish ridding the cube of the hamsters (yes, there were still a
few about, unfortunately), then shut down. It would be 5 of 8's turn to be
Captain next assignment.


 


Captain felt the presence of the Greater Consciousness focus elsewhere, letting his
imperfectly assimilated individuality slowly reform. We's became I's once more,
and the thoughts of trillions dwindled back to that of four thousand. They were
not to report back to main Borg space, and the assignment appeared to be far
from over. This had been a sub-task of a much longer deployment, the docket of
which was now in the intranet of the sub-collective.


Captain absently kicked a hamster out of the way as he walked back to his alcove. Well,
maybe when they eventually scouted the Jharin home-systems, he could find out
why the species put their engines in front of their ship.
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The Only Certainty in Life is Borg and Taxes


 


Second glared around at the ruins. Old metal crumbled as he watched, rust weakened struts
falling before the relentless onslaught of constant winds. Reddish dust blown
by the gale piled up around the Borg's shins, making it difficult to walk.


{This is a waste of time, Captain. All the ruins on this dirtball we've had the
misfortune to investigate look alike. We'll have better luck with the
structures on this planet's moon, if there is anything to find at all. And
since I'm getting annoying bits of dust in my implants and under my body armor,
I'm returning to the cube.}


Small scouting parties around the planet gave similar sentiments, especially
concerning the ubiquitous dust. Captain sighed, collected the survey drones,
and directed the engines to push the cube into a higher orbit to intersect with
the moon's gravity well.


Cube #347 was an Exploratory-class Borg cube with a four thousand drone crew, but it
was unlike any other sub-collective within the Greater Collective. Due to a
glitch in the assimilation process, most of the cube's members had not had
their former individuality completely severed, although they were perfectly
functional in all other ways. The remaining drones had various quirks, mental
deviations, and other problems which tended to negatively affect the efficiency
of any cube to which they were assigned. Seeing an opportunity to put all its
eggs in one basket (and hoping it might eventually be dropped), the Greater
Consciousness had filled the cube with its problems and sent the resulting
sub-collective on its way. Menial tasks tended to keep it far from the main
body of the Collective.


Against all probability, Cube #347 continued to survive. Part of its survival was owed
to the unique collective hierarchy which in random (and not-so-random) manner
one drone was put in charge of different "hierarchies" for the length
of an assignment. Those drones were the figurative head for a body of
quasi-individuals who might otherwise manage to crash into a planet as orbit it
if a significant number of the sub-collective was concentrating on something
else.


The current assignment by the Greater Consciousness to keep Cube #347 busy was to
ascertain the home system(s) of a previously unknown species, now designated
#8511, of which a derelict craft had been intercepted a month prior.


A great majority of the sub-collective was busily mulling over what little
information had been gathered in the ruins, coming up with the probability that
the structures belonged not to species #8511 (the metal had been tempered in a
manner completely different from that of the ship), but to some extinct, and
therefore irrelevant, race. The drones not involved in data-crunching were
doing routine maintenance on the cube, or vacuuming dust from their bodies.


Captain, also known as 4 of 8 when he did not have the misfortune to be commanding, to
use the term loosely, had partitioned his mind. On one level he was
participating in the discussion on what actions to take next, while a second
part of his brain was concentrating on the command codes responsible for
putting the cube in orbit around the satellite. A third section of his
awareness was happily engrossed in reading a novel entitled "Jumba the
Wise Lizard Goes to Harly-Barly". Captain had covertly sifted it from the
vast trove of data collected from species #430, prior to their complete
assimilation, two duty rotations ago when he had merely been 4 of 8.


Jumba the wise lizard was just about to enter the Trelana casino in Harly-Barly when
the gurgling stutter that was a Borg proximity alarm startled Captain into
collapsing that partition. The cube continued to make the transition into lunar
orbit, but ship-wide discussions had ceased.


{Sensors,} called Captain over the cube's intranet, {what is the alarm for? Perhaps
something constructed by species #8511 is in this system after all?} Captain nurtured
a hope for the latter, if only to rid himself of the hateful burden of command;
the bubble, however, was swiftly burst.


{Sensors say that it is a scout ship of an appropriate configuration and [fuzzy navels] to
be species #6699.} Sensors, or 1 of 3 as she was also designated, swiftly
flipped the configuration of the cube's external sensors to reflect the visual
input most of the crew used. With one prosthetic limb of six total currently
plugged into a data outlet, Sensors saw the universe in a significantly
different manner, one which was of great use to her, if useless to anyone else.
That world-view disappeared as Captain rerouted his awareness into the sensor
grid.


Captain didn't like raw sensor data, but the alternative was to have computers clean-up
the information and display it on one of the idiotic circular screens
distributed all over the ship. He had the theory that the viewscreen
configuration might be a hold-over from the original Borg species, but he
wasn't going to go digging in Collective archives to find out. Such interest in
irrelevant Borg past would be too much for the Greater Consciousness to
tolerate even among the imperfectly assimilated sub-collective of Cube #347,
which would thusly lead to termination. Captain was still enough of an
individual to dislike the concept of termination, or at least the concept of
termination which did not benefit the Whole.


The scout ship in question was fifteen meters long in an atmospheric-friendly
delta-wing configuration with one warp nacelle on the underside running the
length of the craft. Data brought into active memory reported a crew compliment
of one; and also suggested the ship was quite far from the region of space the
species normally occupied.


{Sensors, has it...} began Captain, then was interrupted by a hail coming from the scout
ship. Captain immediately switched the visual output to a stereotypical view of
catwalks and alcoves, overcoming a momentary urge to use a camera in his
subsection, then go out on the walkways to make rude gestures from a distance. He
traced the impulse to a drone by the designation of 89 of 310, assigning her to
exterior hull maintenance.


"Borg cube, this is Orinus of the Seculy people." A view of Orinus was rerouted
to those Borg watching the communications. He, for it was a male, as verified
by the colorful crest of feathers rising above his forehead, stared into his
camera. The two black true-eyes took in the sight of the interior of the cube
with scarcely a blink. The single lidless, white fake-eye centered between the
true-eyes reacted to changes in light polarizations, and was generally only
used when species #6699 was on a planet and needed to determine an ordinal
direction under cloudy conditions. "Please assimilate me! I beg of
you!"


Captain was taken back in surprise, as was the rest of the cube. Species ran away from
the Borg. Despite the Borg litany, very few species put their affairs in order
and meekly allowed their demise as individuals. Paranoid thoughts of trap ran
over the net, but detailed scanning by Sensors did not detect any foul play.


Weapons offered his suggestion, {I say we kill him. Can't be too sure.} Weapons, 45 of
300, was extremely fixated on one thought, one outcome, which made him
difficult to control at times. His demented passion to be in charge of weaponry
also guaranteed he had been Weapons since he had first been assigned to Cube
#347, no matter the outcome of the weapon lottery, often to the pain of the
actual winner.


{No, we will do ask the being asks. We will assimilate him. Assimilation, prepare to
board the ship and take the being. Delta of Engineering, examine the ship and
determine what might be useful as salvage. Oh, and if there are any large
viewscreens, be sure to grab one.} Captain now turned attention back to the scout
ship and the pleading Seculy, "We are Borg. You will be assimilated. Lower
your shields and prepare to be boarded."


Shields were lowered and Assimilation's team beamed over.


 


Captain had installed the very nonBorgStandard viewscreen in the nodal intersection
nearest his alcove. Second was watching as Captain made the final connections
to the computer system, then sent a command code to test the screen. A large,
full-color picture of the moon over which the cube was orbiting appeared. Although
the colors were slightly off, perhaps owing to the sensor frequencies Sensors
was employing at the moment, Captain was immensely pleased.


"When the Greater Consciousness finds out about that screen, it will make you space
it, you know."


"Stop being such a voice of reality, Second. For once I would like to have a decent
viewscreen. I absolutely hate tying directly into the sensor grid. I figure if
I can sufficiently manage to partition this sub-collective, I may even be able
to hide its presence for a month or two. Longer if we stay out of the Greater
Collective's notice."


"And the Federation will open all borders and invite us to assimilate them. It is
not going to happen."


"I'm allowed personal delusions at times. It is part of the quirk of the imperfectly
assimilated."


"Whatever."


The proximity alert gave a series of alarms. Captain frowned, "Next thing I'm
going to do is alter that noise. It sounds like a dying animal." He let
his mind sink to the portion of the net Sensors resided in, {What is it?}


{Sensors reports that two more [ramparts] of species #6699 have entered the system. They
are crash decelerating on a [yellow line] to intersect us.}


Giving Second a superior smirk, Captain commanded the Borg computers to give a schematic
of the path of the approaching ships, coupled with a display of
time-to-intercept. "There, what do you think? Much easier on the brain
than trying to do that mentally."


"Yes, but then again, a proper sub-collective wouldn't need a Sensors, or a Weapons,
or a Captain. And certainly not a Second. It would be one vast being."


"But we are not a proper sub-collective, now, are we? Well, I'm going to do my
damnedest to keep this screen."


A hail came from the scout ships, and the conversation went much as before, with
the pilots demanding, begging, to be assimilated. And, as before, Cube #347
took in the pilots, then proceeded to render down the ships for acceptable
scrap, gasses, and other material.


Captain felt odd about the occurrences. It just wasn't natural. Sure, the Borg would
like for there to be no resistance, but it always happened. He sent a thought
to Assimilation, {How is the assimilation process coming?}


Assimilation gave a long, regretful sigh, {As it should. Life is boring once more; there is
no purpose it seems. A simple task, and it is back to staring at the walls and
growing nanites.} Captain resisted the urge to make his way across the cube and
shove the eternally depressed Assimilation out an airlock. Instead, he posted a
note to the Hierarchy of Eight, from which Captains were drawn each assignment,
to never allow 13 of 20 to serve in command positions again.


{So, nothing of interest to report?}


{Nothing, Captain. None of the three appears to have suffered from imperfect
assimilation, so I've sedated the bodies and put them into long-term
regeneration stasis, as per standing instructions from the Greater
Consciousness. That slows down the post-Assimilation process, but neural
rewiring is going well, universal implants have been inserted, and memory
crystals are part-way secreted. We won't be adding specialized prosthesis', as
we don't know where these drones will be assigned.}


{Keep me posted if there is any change in status.}


{These three to-be drones are quiescent in alcoves. They can't move and they can't get
on our net.}


The whining complaints continued on, but Captain allowed his awareness to slip
elsewhere. On the surface of the moon, more structures were being examined, but
they were clearly related to those found on the planet. The few computers that
were salvageable had memories degraded from time into meaningless static of
bits and bytes. The sub-collective had just decided to travel on to another
likely candidate star fifteen light years distant when proximity alarms went
off for the third time in sixteen hours.


{Sensors reports more ships of species #6699 configuration.}


Captain replied, {More scouts looking to join the Collective?}


{Not exactly. Let Sensors say now that Sensors hopes the [armada] aren't looking to [fly
away] their missing comrades back.}


Attempting to sort through the odd syntax, Captain sighed and moved down the catwalk to
his newly installed viewscreen. A few manipulations of the data stream brought
up a view of a ship. Then more ships. Then a lot more ships. Too many ships for
even the large screen the engineering drones had salvaged. Clamping down on the
panic which was beginning to filter through the cube's net, Captain forcefully
dipped into the raw data to read the incoming information.


One hundred and six ships of various types, ranging from one-person scouts to a
colony ship able to hold over ten thousand beings dropped out of warp at the
edge of the system, then began to stream in towards the Borg cube. Life signs
indicated an excess of thirty thousand of species #6699, and that was at the
edge of sensor resolution. Whereas a normal cube would not have much problem
with the many, but relatively poorly armed, ships, this imperfect collection of
pseudo-individuals might (and would) very well give conflicting demands, which
would degenerate into chaos, leaving the cube a sitting duck. Eventually the
dominant minds would sort the bickering mess, but until then, the cube would be
a large target. Captain began the sequence of command codes which would slide
the cube to the backside of the moon in preparation for a quick getaway, but it
was already too late.


"Borg cube, answer us! You must assimilate us, you must! Our culture is your culture!
Our technology is your technology! We will not resist! You must assimilate
us!"


Arguments broke out in the net, some pulling for escape, others calling to stay. Paranoia
of traps was voiced yet again. Captain knew there was no way for an
Exploratory-class cube to assimilate that many beings. Two thousand tops was
the max they could add to their crew without overloading the regeneration
systems, and even then alcove use would have to alternate by shifts. Only an
Assimilation-class cube, able to covert and transport up to one hundred
thousand drones would be able to accede to the demands species #6699 was
screaming on the subspace radio. The want for escape warred with the Borg
imperative of perfection through assimilation, towards which species #6699 made
a superior drone for planetary assaults.


In order to stall for time, Captain finally returned the hail, "Species
#6699, you will go into orbit around the fourth planet of this star system. You
will prepare yourselves. You will not raise shields or power weapons, or you
will be destroyed. You will not resist." In almost eager, and frightening,
anticipation, the armada of ships altered their heading for an intersection
with the stated planet.


"That does it," decided Captain as he begun the process to force a consensus out
of the internal chaos. "Second, the scout ship records are next to
useless. Go to Assimilation's subsection and find out from the new drones why
species #6699 desires oblivion so badly. A phrase which comes to mind concerns
the stink of rotting fish."


Second grumbled, then activated a transporter beam to take him to subsection 5 as it
would take much too long to actually navigate the physical environment. As the
beam wavered into nonexistence, Assimilation looked away from the bulkhead at
which he was staring. Borg were not supposed to demonstrate any expression on
their faces, and normal Borg did not. On the other hand, the Borg on Cube #347
tended towards a rare show of surprise, malevolent smile, grimace, and so on
every once in a while. Assimilation looked as if his face had frozen long ago
into one of hopeless depression. Soundlessly he turned and pointed at the three
alcoves holding the new drones.


Unlike the finished Borg that inhabited the ship, the trio of new drones were not
"complete." The mottled gray skin was apparent, as were a few tubes,
external implants, and pieces of black body suit, but the face was still
largely free of any technological augments and no limbs had been altered yet. The
crests of the two males were rapidly molting and a pile of feathers had been
kicked to one side.


Second came to a halt before the first pilot who had demanded to be assimilated. Carefully
he dropped into the net and began to examine the connections the drone was
making the general Collective. Second began to erect firewalls and code
barriers, isolating the new drone from the chaotic thoughts of Cube #347's
sub-collective, yet at the same time allowing the sense of belonging to
continue. Deciding finally that the drone wouldn't be too traumatized, Second
began the process to bring him out of regenerative stasis. The drone's eyes
opened.


{Listen to Us,} crooned Second on the net and into the drone's mind. {This drone is 3
of 8. You will have time to acclimate to the Collective, but We need
information from your former existence, from before your assimilation. Tell Us,
show Us, why you wanted to merge with Us and assist in the evolution towards
perfection.}


With increasing horror, Second, and much of the cube which had hitched a ride on his
personal neural net to observe, watched the unfolding truth. As soon as the
nameless drone's mind had been emptied of relevant data, he was swiftly sent
back to the oblivion of stasis.


<< WHAT DO WE DO?? >> wailed Cube #347, for once in perfect unity. <<
WHAT COURSE OF ACTION CAN WE TAKE? >>


Four thousand bodies stopped what they were doing; those that had been mobile made
their way back to their alcoves, plugging their minds into the net. Four
thousand Borg discarded plan after plan, scenario after scenario, until a
conclusion was reached...they would have to contact the Greater Consciousness. As
Captain reached out across the light years, following the trail of the cube
vinculum transceiver back to the main Collective, he regretted that he would
have his new viewscreen for a shorter time than he had originally planned.


The Greater Consciousness responded warily, putting up barriers to wall out
possible individuality from spreading among the Overnets. However, as the
information from Cube #347 was analyzed, the Consciousness became increasingly
alarmed. There was major trouble brewing.


First a billion, then tens of billions, then hundreds of billions, and finally
trillions of Borg halted in their duties to give thought to the problem. Cubes
coasted in space while besieged species watched in anticipation as would-be
assimilators stopped in mid-step; for nearly five minutes, the entire
Collective was concentrated on finding the solution to one minuscule problem. Consensus
reached, the Greater Consciousness gave instructions to Cube #347, then swiftly
drew away, as if to put as much distance between itself and the actions to
come.


Captain opened his eyes and stared blankly, collecting the shredded tendrils of his
mind. The first concrete thought which emerged was relief that the Greater
Collective had been in such horror over seeing the problem, he had not been
ordered to space his viewscreen. The second coherent thought was that if the
plan decided upon did not work, the cube was probably toast.


 


The plan began when Cube #347 left the relative safety of the distant moon and
moved into a high orbit about the fourth planet. Carefully placed phaser
discharges disabled engine after engine, nacelle after nacelle, until the
entire convoy was unable to go to warp. Weapons, for once, did not argue, and
not even the smallest scout ship was destroyed.


Over the next twelve hours, Borg crews transported to the exterior of the ships and
began to physically remove nacelles, guaranteeing warp capacity could not be
regained through repair. In several cases Borg had to transport inside ships to
disable key power systems. Phasers did not greet the intruders, but members of
species #6699 did obstruct work by begging to be assimilated. Captain
participated on the teams, and more than once found himself peeling refugees
off leg or arm.


Deep within the Borg cube, Assimilation and Doctor, also known as 27 of 27, began
the rarely used process of de-assimilation on the three scout ship pilots. Under
heavy sedation, the newly forged link to the Collective was severed, then
implants removed. A special combination of computer commands and chemicals
caused nanites in the bodies to denature. Finally, the newly de-assimilated
trio of species #6699, drugged into an artificial coma, were hastily beamed to
the large colony ship.


There was little the Borg feared. The encounter with species #8472 had been a
setback, but in the end, even that foe had been defeated. However, there was a
type of being the Borg did fear, a being which was ruthless, relentless,
heartless, and overall, unstoppable (even more so than the Borg). There was no
pleading with this type of being; and it had been shown that resistance was
extremely futile.


The faceless creatures of the Stellar Revenue Service cometh; and they had the tax
evaders of species #6699 in their sights.


A saying in the Gamma quadrant among space-faring civilizations went, "The
only certainties in life are Borg and taxes." The Borg PR department
encouraged that particular view, in part because of the hopeless nature of the
idiom. Reality was slightly different.


A stalemate had evolved between the SRS and the Borg. The former did not collect
taxes from the Borg, and the latter did not hinder the SRS from stalking their
prey. The mindset of SRS beings did not lend to assimilation, not to mention
the fact of a seemingly spontaneous generation of new agents; and the Borg had
long since discarded any pretense of money or trade, and were tenaciously
willing to defend their rightfully assimilated acquisitions. Provocation of
either side more than likely would lead to the destruction of the provoker, so
Borg and SRS tiptoed carefully around one another.


A colony of species #6699 had been keeping double books, pulling a vast scam
which cost the SRS lost revenue in the tens of billions of credit units. No
scam can go on forever, so when discovered, the colony attempted to find
shelter under the vast umbrella of the Borg. The Borg, however, had decided to
forgo the coup of thirty thousand excellent assault drones for a war with the
SRS. Which side would be in the right was uncertain, but the Greater
Consciousness had resolved to err on the side of caution.


Ignoring the frantic subspace radio pleas of the helpless ships, Cube #347 sped away,
stopping at the edge of the system just long enough to release a beacon
informing the SRS of the location of their wayward tax evaders.


Nervously and with a feeling of being watched, Captain sent an acknowledgment to the
Greater Consciousness of task accomplished. That done, the next likely
candidate star for the search of species #8511 was targeted, and Cube #347 sped
away in high transwarp.
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In Space, No One Can Hear You Panic


 


Stardate: 45628483020406483.4

Captain's Log, USS Secondprize


 


For some reason that stardate doesn't look right. I don't know why Starfleet uses
that insane dating system when something like "November 11, 2372"
would work just as well. After all, Terra is the head of the Federation, so why
can't we Starfleet peons use planetary dates?


Speaking of peons, Starfleet has decided that the crew of the Secondprize would be best
to test their latest in anti-Borg technologies. With the war with the Dominion
currently stalemated, more or less, the think-tanks are starting to look over
their shoulder at the Borg. I personally think it is useless, after all, if ONE
cube just about destroyed the fleet, then the hundreds or thousands that have
to exist will roll over the Federation when the Borg get around to assimilating
us. Perhaps we should introduce the Dominion to the Borg....


Anyway, the tech-heads have been messing with our deflector dish for the past week at
Starbase 12. They claim that the technology works, but the energy beam hasn't
actually been tested. We're supposed to go out and shoot some rocks to see if
there are any negative effects which happen when the beam actually interacts
with matter. I figure that they figure that if anything happens to us, there
will be nothing lost; and that it will simply be a line of research to abandon.
Lucky us.


Bring on the asteroids.


 

*****


*Note that the following has been rendered into words, as the actual report is quite
unintelligible to non-Borg.


 


Status Report, Cube #347


 


This sub-collective has found evidence of species #8511 in system Beta Beta 45a. One
unpiloted ship, a primitive robotic survey vessel, was found in close solar
orbit. Metal and energy analysis is consistent with that of original intruder
vessel, especially the use of a forward mounted warp drive. Records were unable
to be recovered due to age of vessel, but the obviously ancient hull points to
the home system, or at least colonies, to be found within fifty light years.


 


We are now enroute to examine the first of twenty-seven target systems.


 

*****

 


"Sir," called Ensign Gloria Frost, a new and enthusiastic transfer to the Secondprize,
"we are coming up on the Deni Alpha star system now." Ensign Frost
craned her neck to try to see the command chair. "Sir?"


Captain Rydell awoke with a snort. His arm and neck ached from the awkward position
they had been locked in since he had dozed off approximately an hour before. Blinking
in the bright lights of the bridge, Rydell stood up and stretched, then
straightened his shirt where it had ridden up. "Come again?"


"Deni Alpha system, Captain. We have arrived."


"Oh. Joy. Up on screen, please."


Lieutenant Cecil Davis punched at a few buttons. The game of "Breakout" he had
been playing on his console was safely saved. A second round of button pushing
brought up the oh-so-exciting view of Deni Alpha.


A reddish-tinged star of ancient lineage glowed in the distance. Several
miscellaneous planets orbited the star with their moons, but the screen showed
none of them. Instead, rocks tumbled about in their silent dance. Big rocks,
little rocks, red rocks, black rocks, all manner of rocks. An asteroid belt to
be exact. 


Archeologists had determined the asteroids had once been three manufactured terrestrial
planets, set into stable orbit about the primary. A million years ago, some
disaster had caused the unknown race to go extinct, and the planets had
suffered, breaking up into the mess seen on the viewscreen. Because of their
previously manufactured state (quite beyond the abilities of Starfleet), the
asteroids were a hodgepodge of exotic minerals; miners were kept away by the
simple matter of the beacon which indicated the system was indicted, and
threatened serious a**-shooting should any ship trespass.


"Wow. Just as amazing as when I read the reports." Sarcasm dripped from Rydell's
voice. "Definite stretch of the talent on this ship to play with
rocks." Unfortunately, that statement was probably true. "Well, we
might as well begin. Ensign, um, Frost, wake up Jaroch and Dillon and tell them
to come to the bridge; and then inform Baird that the tests will begin within
the hour. I'll be in my ready room."


Rydell wandered off to his ready room for a cup of hot chocolate and perhaps fifteen
minutes more of a nap, not necessarily in that order. Lieutenant Davis watched
the captain go, then returned to his game. On the screen, rocks continued their
silent dance.


 

*****

 


Exploratory-class Cube #347 entered the second of the twenty-seven systems it was surveying. If
the previous star had been unpromising, then this one was even more so; at
least the other had three planets, even if they were all gas giants. This one
only held asteroids, most of them bunched into two rings. In the ship, a
moderate amount of chaos was occurring.


{We don't care! We refuse to listen to Klingon opera! It gives us a headache.}


{But Klingon opera gets the battle instincts going. We say Klingon opera! Motivation!}


{No, no, no, no, no! No Klingon opera. If you do try it, we'll make sure every relay
on this cube fries, even if it means my hierarchy will be making repairs for
the next month.}


The first voice of the argument belonged to Delta A & B, the one-minded Borg in
two bodies. She was the current head of the Engineering hierarchy, and
absolutely despised Klingon opera. Anything but Klingon opera.


The second voice came from Weapons, who felt Klingon opera should be mandatory
background music at all times. Many of the drones in his hierarchy also
preferred opera, mainly because the strength of the mind in charge influenced
their decisions.


Captain listened to the discussion, which was becoming increasingly hostile, with only
a part of his attention. Unfortunately, the intranets were beginning to slow as
both brought more resources on-line. The simple subject of what music the
sub-collective should listen to underscored the general instability of the
cube. In the first place, no Borg sub-collective would be having what was
essentially an argument with itself because music was irrelevant; and even if
it wasn't, the hive mind was supposed to be one, not displaying the schizoid
tendencies that epitomized Cube #347. 


A small voice in the roaring sea spoke up, {What about one of those arias from
species #411?}


{NO!} came the reply from both Delta and Weapons. 19 of 27 urked, and went quiet
again.


Unsuccessfully attempting to block out the noise, Captain slowed the cube from high impulse,
coordinating the slide into orbit about the primary in the gap between the two
asteroid belts. The space wasn't quite clear of rock, as evidenced a minute
later as one of the smaller chucks slammed into the shields. The smack was felt
by the drones in the cube as a sharp punch, which momentarily halted the music
argument. Captain cursed, then slightly altered the orbit to take the ship
above the plain and away from the majority of the debris.


{No damage reported,} chimed in Delta, {yet, that is.} The last was directed not at
Captain, but along the nets towards Weapons. Weapons was just about to respond,
when Captain sent painful metal surges along the net to quiet them.


{Pick an integral number between one and ten,} ordered Captain.


{Seven,} returned Weapons.


{Two,} said Delta.


Captain tripped the random number generator of the Borg ship's computer, then read back
the response. {Six. Weapons gets to choose the music.}


{Good. Klingon opera.}


Over the loudspeakers of the cube, the strains of Klingon opera rang out. Heavy
percussion thumped a stately beat. In the Engineering sections surrounding the
various energy cores, the intercom system spontaneously shorted out. Captain
glanced up at the speaker nearest his alcove and a similar action happened,
followed by the one in the local nodal intersection.


 

*****

 


"Rydell to Engineering, is the deflector dish ready to go?"


"Yes it is, although in my estimation, it is seriously f***ed up. Assuming the first
test doesn't blow out all the power relays on this ship, the f***ing
'modifications' the sh**head techies on that Starbase did guarantee I'll be
screwing around recalibrating the dish until Hell freezes over when they remove
their crap," responded Commander Baird from Engineering.


Commander Dillon had a look on his face which most would say meant he was mildly
constipated, although those that knew him would say that the expression was
normal when he didn't understand something, but was attempting to appear that
he did. Dillon was talking to Jaroch, to the latter's disapproval,
"So...this energy beam thingy will do what? I think I have it now, but
maybe if you go over it one more time."


Lieutenant Commander Jaroch completed the statement in his mind with '...in words of two
syllables or less.' Feeling extremely perverse, he wound up his mind for a good
ol'-fashioned round of technobabble. "Please listen carefully. The beam
which will originate from the deflector dish is actually a specifically
polarized form of energy related to transporter and replicator technologies. The
beam takes the surface molecular layer of matter on the object we aim at and
converts it to a similar depth layer of another material. Because of bandwidth
and hardware limitations, one can only transmute into a preset second substance.
In this case, we will be altering the surface of asteroids with a molecular
layer of 'paint'. The 'paint' has the properties of absorbing subspace radio
bands at the exact frequency the Borg Collective communicates on, thus
theoretically cutting any cube it is used on off from the hive. Without the
leadership of the Collective, the drones should become confused, which may
allow our battleships to actually destroy a cube.


"The purpose of this assignment is two-fold. One, to field test the deflector
modifications, success of which is primarily determined by the Secondprize not
blowing up. And two, observe what effects, if any, the beam and molecular paint
may have on various substances, hence our being here in this particular
system."


A blank look had come to Dillon's face, replacing the expression of constipation.
Jaroch gave a toothy smile, "Understand?"


"Um, yes. Of course I do. I just wanted to make sure you understood, as you will be
the one monitoring the tests."


"Of course. Now, could you go observe me elsewhere, as I do need to finish the
sensor alignments." Actually, Jaroch had readied the sensors the day
before, but Dillon was efficiently getting on his nerves. Dillon sulkily walked
away, making his way to his chair.


"If you two are done? I think it is time to begin." Rydell sat down in the
command chair. Reaching behind it, he fished out an old-fashioned joystick,
which he plugged into one armrest. "Computer, load tactical program Rydell
Beta."


On the viewscreen a series of gridlines wavered into view. Asteroids of various
compositions were outlined in reds, blues, and greens, as well as a myriad of
other colors. A target sight sat in the middle of the screen, but began to
obediently move as Rydell jiggled the handle of the joystick. "Well,
assuming we don't explode the first time we use the deflector dish, at least
I'll get to have a little bit of fun."


Dillon protested, "That's not fair! You get to have all the fun."


"This is my ship. I am the captain. Therefore, of course I get to have all the fun. It's
in the regulations."


Dillon began to pout as Rydell pointed the crosshairs at a purple tinged asteroid and
pushed the large red button.


 

*****

 


Sensors tasted her way through the sensor data stream. Ores of various types were sour,
sweet, bitter, salty, savory, [chewy], or some combination thereof. Metallic
tangs bit sharply. The system's primary glowed in the frequencies of hydrogen
and helium and smelt like a rotting fruit. Fleeting streaks of energy particles
bled orange and green flares; and the smack of one asteroid into another was a
shattering clash of cymbals. Examining the wealth of data before her, Sensors
came to a conclusion.


{Sensors reports there is no sign of the target species. There is no [eyeballs] of any
species visiting this system recently. Also to [hiccup] by Sensors is several bolonite
asteroids located in the inner ring.}


Captain received the message, allowing it to filter into the consciousness of the rest
of the cube. The untranslatable portions were approximated to the most likely
meaning. No species #8511, but bolonite ore was a nice find. Properly processed
bolonite produced lambda particles, which had some very unique properties. Unlike
the enigmatic omega particles, which were potentially a perfect energy source
mixed in a very dangerous package, lambda particles were quite tame. A few
assimilated species had theories concerning the phenomenon of lambda traveling
vast distances in short periods of time by briefly leaving the universe, but
bolonite ore was rare enough that the Collective had been unable to experiment
extensively. Therefore, there was a moderate-level priority to find mineral.


{Give us control of the tractors, Weapons,} came from Delta. {This hierarchy will
capture the ore.}


{Tractors are the priority of Weapons.}


{In battle, yes. This isn't battle. The asteroid isn't going to fight back.}


{One can never be too sure.}


{Give it a break, you two!} grumbled Captain. He began maneuvers to bring the cube
within range of a relatively small chunk of the target ore. {Weapons, disengage
from the tractors and give control to Delta.}


In a matter much akin to the right hand of a being not wanting to relinquish some
tool to the left hand of the same being, Weapons slowly complied. Delta's hierarchy
deftly charged the tractor beams along one edge of the cube and grabbed for the
asteroid.


 

*****

 


"Yeehaw, got another one. It is so nice when they can't fight back, isn't it?" Rydell
exclaimed, enveloping an asteroid with a yellow aura in a beam from the
deflector.


Jaroch scarcely looked up from his instruments. "Nominal reaction. Just like the
other twenty rocks we've blasted. Jaroch to Engineering, how is the deflector
holding up down there?"


"We've not gone boom yet, if that is what you mean. The relays are starting to fry;
and it smells like burnt doghair down here, which means something's f***ed up
the air recyclers. The ship can probably hold together for ten or so more
bursts, but after that, I say we go back to Starbase 12 and offload the
sh**," Baird said back. Around him in Engineering, people bustled about. The
smell of burnt doghair was becoming stronger.


Rydell looked back over his shoulder, "Game about over. Oh well. What have we not
hit yet?"


"Try one of the blue ones, sir. The sensors are calling it bolonite. Or perhaps one
of the black ones, which are basalt."


Dillon looked immensely bored. "Captain, please let me try it, just this
once?"


"No, Number One, and that is final. No matter how much you whine, I am the one who
gets to play." Rydell aimed the crosshairs at a blue-lined rock, then
pushed the red button. A bright flash of white lanced out, squarely hitting the
rock. On the asteroid, the top layer of mineral altered its atomic structure. By
the naked eyes viewing the demonstration, nothing much had happened, except the
asteroid was now rotating a bit faster.


Jaroch watched the squiggles on his terminal continue their monotonous jiggling, and
was about to ask Rydell to toast the black rock, when something odd happened. A
pair of lines jumped about in an odd pattern, then settled back to normal. "Captain,
could you blast that asteroid again? Something occurred, and I want to see if
it happens again."


Rydell targeted the rock again and fired. Then, just for kicks, fired a second time. Jaroch
watched the wiggles on his screen jigger again, then suddenly chaos broke out
with the unasked for shot. 


"Um, sir. We might want to back away."


"Why?"


"See the way the rocks nearest the target have begun to become all wavy? Unless we
want to send the Secondprize into an unknown spatial phenomenon, I think we
should move away."


"Oh. Yes, I agree. Lieutenant Davis, put some distance between us and the
distortion."


The Secondprize swung about and then moved off several thousand kilometers before
slowing to face the target rock again. The central area was now lost in a
region of haziness akin to the viewing of some object which sits on hot desert
sand.


Jaroch watched the sensor data for several more minutes. "Well, the good news is
that it isn't spreading, and it's only reading as a spatial phenomenon...no
temporal effects at all. The bad news is that the rip in space is going to take
several days to dissipate."


Rydell frowned, "Well, that's just dandy. Starfleet is going to have our hide for
punching holes in space-time, even if it is the fault of the equipment they
installed on this ship."


 

*****

 


Cube #347 carefully held onto the chunk of bolonite, slowing its rotation until it
was stationary. Inside the ship, a cargo area was cleared of various materials
which was the raw scrap used by the cube in its self-repair. Finally satisfied,
Captain gave the command to proceed. A transporter locked on the mineral
sample, beaming it to the prepared cargo hold in a flourish of green.


Around the ship, space ripped, and Exploratory-class Cube #347 fell through.


 

*****

 


Jaroch monitored the distortion. A recently discovered side-effect was that
communications with Starfleet was intermittent at best. Other interesting, but
relatively harmless, spatial phenomenon could be seen on the terminal in
various subspace frequencies. Overall, as long as the Secondprize did not
actually go within a thousand kilometers of the original bolonite asteroid,
everything would be fine. Life within the last hour had settled back to a
routine monotony. Then...


"Oh, crap. Crap. Crap. Crap. Crap. Crap. Sh**. Sh**. Sh**. Sh**. Sh**."


Dillon, sitting in the command chair because Rydell had taken off when it was apparent
there wouldn't be any more asteroid arcade games, looked up from the PADD he had
been reading. It was true, there was a regulation which said only captains were
allowed to have fun; and he had just gotten to some other interesting rules
which he had somehow forgotten (such as the one requiring second-in-commands to
bring any required drink to a ship's ranking science officer), when Jaroch's
increasingly loud cursing came to his attention.


"We are f***ed. We are f***ed. We are f***ed."


"Practicing to have an argument with Baird? What is going on?"


Jaroch simply looked at Dillon, then mutely changed the view of the viewscreen to high
magnification. Sitting in the center of the spatial distortion was a Borg cube.


"I see. We are screwed, aren't we?"


 

*****

 


The power supply in the cube skipped, then came fully back on-line. One redundant
reactor had died, but the main core and all other backup systems remained
stable. The question of 'What happened?' echoed about the net.


Captain steadied himself against a railing. He, along with the rest of the cube, could
feel the always-present bond with the Collective suddenly become weaker than
usual, as if the ship had traveled an immense distance. While Delta dispatched
members of her hierarchy to begin repairs in the ship which self-repair could
not handle, Captain initiated the task of finding out where they were. The
answer which was determined several minutes later after tedious triangulation
of known pulsar and variable stars was not encouraging. Somehow the cube had
traveled many tens of thousands of light years and was in the middle of
Federation territory.


{Aw [bees]. [Bees]. [Bees]. [Bees]. [Bees]. [Bees]. Sensors thinks we have a very
big problem,} spoke up the insectoid Borg into the net to Captain. {Sensors
sees a Federation starship fifteen hundred kilometers from our present
location. It is stationary. There is the [mosquito] suspicion Sensors has that
this Federation ship may have been expecting us.}


Panic among the drones of Cube #347 began to set in. Weapons charged phasers and
locked torpedoes and energy projectiles into launching tubes, or at least he
tried. It took several precious seconds to reorganize his hierarchy, heading
off potential incoordination among the subsectors. Taking advantage of the lag
in response, Captain awoke Second from his alcove, and both headed towards the
nodal intersection nearest their location.


The intersection had been slightly modified to suit Captain's wants. Instead of a
normal Borg terminal, a large viewscreen salvaged from a captured ship had been
installed. Captain twitched the data flow to show sensor data on the screen. Up
came a picture streaked with screaming yellow, vibrant orange, and shocking
pink. Shapes which may or may not have been asteroids tumbled about, surrounded
by faintly sparkly auras. A blinking maroon splot sat in the upper right
corner.


Captain send a reprimand to Sensors, who immediately altered the grid to show an
enhanced visual scene. The asteroid shapes were in fact asteroids; and the
streaking colors disappeared. The maroon shape resolved itself into a
Federation ship. A little fiddling with the picture centered the ship and
magnified it.


Delving into Borg memory, a ship class came up - Excelsior. This was followed by crew
compliment, armament, propulsion, and other necessary facts. The registration
was unfamiliar, but then again, it had been awhile since the Borg had
assimilated a Starfleeter which might have such information.


In a way, this was bad. Despite the old configuration of the Federation ship, that
datum alone suggested it was fairly new. And coupled with the reality that the
ship had been apparently waiting for the cube to appear pointed towards an ace
crew testing new weaponry to further their resistance to assimilation. Or at
least that was the consensus the sub-collective reached. As if to prove the
conclusion, the deflector dish of the Excelsior-class starship lit up and shot
a beam of energy at the cube, enveloping it.


The tenacious link with the Greater Consciousness was lost. Cube #347 was truly
alone now.


 

*****

 


Rydell was in Seven Backwards, enjoying a quick drink. Trinian was also there,
listening with a slightly bored expression as the captain complained about some
trifle. Rydell was just about to relate how he had managed to survive the pain
of a certain papercut when Trinian's eyes widened.


"Um...just thought of something I need to do," Trinian hurriedly said before she
grabbed a towel, leapt over the bar counter, and ran out the lounge's doors.


Rydell watched Trinian go. "My story wasn't that bad, was it? And I was just
getting to the good part." He was just about to take another sip of his
drink when his communicator beeped. "Dillon to Captain Rydell, we, um,
have a little problem here."


"What is it? You have aspirations to be a captain, so you should be able to take care
of 'little problems'. I'm sorta busy right now."


"This little problem is shaped like a cube, sir."


"I'll be right there."


 


Rydell impatiently waited for the turbolift doors to open and let him onto the bridge.
When they finally did so, he was greeted to a bright flash of light coming from
the viewscreen, which quickly died. The deflector dish weapon had been fired.


"Did we get it?" asked Dillon to Jaroch, not noticing Rydell's entrance.


Jaroch nodded, "Looks like it, although it doesn't seem to have had much
effect."


"How so?"


"Well, according to theory, the cube should be disorganized after getting painted, and
so should just sit there. This cube is moving away at high impulse to the
opposite side of the system."


Rydell spoke up, "Dillon, get out of my chair. Lieutenant Davis, plot us a course
in the opposite direction. We can raise Starfleet and watch that cube from the
side of the system farthest from the Borg. If it comes after us, it'll be
easier to escape that way."


No one disagreed with that last statement.


 

*****

 


The Federation R&D ship rapidly took off in the direction opposite of Cube
#347. No warp, therefore the obvious conclusion was that the enemy was planning
to watch the effects of their horrendous new weapon from a distance. Captain
wanted to put as much distance as possible between the cube and the Starfleet
ship, in case a quick escape was warranted. Satisfied for the moment, Captain
split the sub-collective into two partitions, one tasked to figure out what the
weapon was, and the other to plan a way to get back to BorgSpace which didn't
rely on a year at high transwarp.


Delta, spokesdrone for the weaponry problem, offered a solution first. {The beam
altered the top molecular layer of the cube, turning into an exotic material
which dampens out subspace communication on the frequency of the Collective. As
long as units are inside the ship, we are okay, but we are insulated from the
Greater Consciousness.


{Fortunately, it will be easy to remove. Unfortunately, it will require many days of washing
hydrochloric acid over every square centimeter of the hull. Once a quarter of
the hull surface is cleaned, we will regain contact, but full contact will
require at least three-fourths of the material dissolved.}


{Wonderful,} dryly returned Captain. {So we are essentially cut off for the next several
days. Can we at least communicate in other frequencies?}


{Yes, but who would we talk to? Assuming we could cut through the static the
distortion is emitting, the next nearest cube is several thousand light years
distant, and I'm sure the Federation ship would not be offering help with our
dilemma anytime soon.}


Captain collapsed Delta's partition into the other, adding greater computational power
to figure out how to get home. About ten minutes later, Second was ready to
report.


{Good news?}


{In a vague sense of the word. We can get back to where we began, at least in
theory. The distortion is emitting high levels of lambda particles...}


{Tastes like [plontaus],} interrupted Sensors. She was hushed. 


{...several of which have signatures consistent with the Delta quadrant, which indicates
there is still a tunnel back. Unfortunately, the door is closed, and we need a
key to get back.}


The plan began to unfold within the sub-collective's mind. The bolonite asteroid
captured earlier would be half of the key...but the energy weapon of the
Federation ship was the other half. And the consensus concluded the Starfleet
ship wouldn't help without a fight. The cube transported the rock to the
outside, tractored it so that it would be dragged along behind, then carefully
began to stalk its prey.


 

*****

 


Rydell leaned back in his chair in the ready room. On the other side of the desk stood
Dillon, Jaroch, and Lieutenant Hawkins. As Baird came through the doors, Rydell
sat up.


"Starfleet hates us. That is the only conclusion I can draw."


The four standing looked at each other in an 'oh-oh' expression.


"I finally managed to raise Starfleet though the distortion's interference. They
can manage to get additional ships here no sooner than thirty-six hours. In the
meantime we are supposed to observe the cube. If it leaves the system, we will
follow it."


"And if it attacks us?" asked Dillon.


"We are supposed to fight back and try to disable the propulsion."


"We're f***ed, aren't we." The rhetorical question came from Baird. Rydell was
about to answer anyway when the communicator chimed, "Bridge to Captain
Rydell, the cube is moving towards us."


"F***ed," repeated Baird.


 

*****

 


An outsider's view of the unfolding events would bring puzzlement, and a sense of
irony.


On one side, the Borg cube. It sped towards the Federation ship, Delta quadrant
bolonite asteroid in tow. Occasionally it wobbled in its course as individual
subsections attempted to gain control of engines in order to flee. With each
wobble, Captain swiftly reprimanded the subsection, although his thoughts
revolved about the increasingly favorable option of a year in transwarp.


On the other side, the USS Secondprize. The Federation ship moved towards the Borg
cube at moderate impulse. More than anything else, the crew wanted to turn tail
and run. "Renegade Pirate Ship Avoiding Court-Marshal" sounded like a
tabloid title to be proud of...or the plot of a cheesy sci-fi epic. 


The hypothetical outside viewer at this point would probably make some popcorn and
sit down in the sofa, all the better to watch the lightshow to come.


 

*****

 


"Raise shields, rotating modulated frequencies. Ready phasers and prepare to switch
frequencies on them. Load torpedoes."


 

*****

 


{Weapons, understand...tractors only! And use of weapons is to disarm. We need the ship
intact for the deflector dish. Assimilation, because any drone beamed to the
Federation ship will lose contact with this sub-collective, we need to break
into their computers for deflector control. That is the job of your hierarchy. Sensors,
keep an eye on that distortion...and watch for reinforcements.}


 

*****

 


Cube #347 and Federation vessel Secondprize closed the distance between each other
like a galactic game of chicken. At the last moment, Secondprize veered off,
raking the side of the cube with a volley of torpedoes and a double-blast of
phasers. No damage. Within the same time frame, the cube lashed out a series of
tractor beams, but the changing frequencies of the Secondprize's shields foiled
the attempt. Each ship slowed to a halt, turned, and hesitantly attacked again.


 

*****

 


Delta and Weapons cheered together, {Got it! Got it!} Delta continued, {The
Federation ship is tractored. The modulations of the shields was difficult to
overcome, but applying six different tractors at once captured it. No damage to
the cube yet.}


Captain sent acknowledgment. At least it only took six passes, which was decent for
this sub-collective. Even better news, no other Federation vessel had appeared.
As he turned the cube to head back towards the distortion, Captain activated
the subspace radio and sent a hail to the captured ship. The exchange to come
was already playing out in his mind, but Assimilation needed a frequency to
piggyback to get into the other ship's computers.


 

*****

 


"The Borg cube is hailing us, sir," said Hawkins.


"On screen."


The image of catwalks and alcoves filled the viewscreen; and the voice of the
Collective spoke from the speakers, "We are the Borg. Resistance is
futile. You will prepare to be boarded and assimilated."


"No way. I don't think so. In moments, fifty fully armed battleships will be in
this system. Fifty I tell you, so you'd better let us go!" bluffed Rydell.


The voice of the Collective was silent, but some other noise was playing on the
speakers. Singing and a rhythmic drumming? Before the faint noise could be
identified, the Collective spoke again. "Irrelevant. No warp signatures
are detected."


"Um. New technology. I meant fifty cloaked ships. Fifty ships with phasers
a'blazing."


Hawkins frantically waved for Rydell's attention. "Sir, unusual core activity. The
Borg are in our computers."


"Well, cut the connection then! And try to get us out of the tractor beam. And if that
works, turn tail and get us out of here, Starfleet orders be damned!"


Jaroch frowned, "I could have sworn that was Klingon opera."


 

*****

 


The bodiless observer cheered! More action! The Secondprize powered its phasers and
finally managed to break the hold of one tractor beam. Unfortunately, Borg
standard operating procedure had changed quite a bit in the last year, and now
a minimum of four beams was used to hold a Starfleet vessel. Before the
Secondprize could try to destroy another emitter, Cube #347 lanced with a
phaser of its own. The upper phaser banks of the Secondprize dissolved in a molten
slag. For good measure, a similar operation was performed on the lower phaser
banks.


 

*****

 


In Cube #347, controlled chaos reigned. Throughout the nets and within
hierarchies, thought impulses raced.


Assimilation: {Through top-level security. Feints activated. Secondprize computer attempting
to block. Subspace link maintained...how depressing.}


Delta: {Minor damage to submatrix about emitter #3. Ship systems compensating.}


Doctor: {Drone maintenance docket registers three. Two additional units placed in
temporary stasis until such time viability appraisal can be undertaken.}


Weapons: {Come on...let me have command codes back! I wasn't targeting the bridge, I
wasn't! Give the weaponry codes!}


Second: {Weaponry codes are released. Don't you dare power up the phasers.}


Sensors: {Spatial distortion remains stable. No sign of the reputed fifty Federation
warships.}


Captain subtly directed the duties of the crew, overseeing and forcing consensus in the
hierarchies as warranted. His head ached, and if he bothered to open his eye,
the world would have been a blurry place. His mind flitted among the terrains
of the net, meshing hierarchies, MAKING the individuals of the ship function
with something approaching Borg efficiency, although not quite.


Suddenly Assimilation announced, voice more animated than usual, {Codes for deflector
dish found and broken. We have control now.} Captain acknowledged and sent the
command to bring the asteroid into position.


 

*****

 


All was going to Hell is a very large, cube-shaped handbasket. One emitter on the
Borg ship had been destroyed, but so had most of the phaser banks on the
Secondprize. On the bright side, there were no casualties and relatively few
injuries. Conversely, when the Borg got around to it, the drones they would be
getting would be whole. Rydell was not having a Good Day.


Lieutenant Hawkins shouted, "The Collective is in the computer. It's tearing things
apart. The Borg have...deflector control?"


Dillon was curled in fetal position on the floor, whimpering that he didn't want to be
Borgified. Rydell suppressed the urge to kick his first officer in the head to
knock a little sense into it.


"Deflector warming up!" shouted Jaroch. "It is targeting something!"


Helpless to prevent anything, the crew watched as a large asteroid was swung around from
the back side of the cube, pulled into position by a tractor beam. When it was
aligned with the deflector, the Secondprize gave a shudder as a large amount of
energy was pushed through the dish; lights on the bridge flicked. The rock was
enveloped in the beam.


Just when it couldn't get much worse, the Borg ship began to turn away, dropping the
tractors which held the Secondprize. Flung away into a nauseating spiral, the
suddenly green-at-the-gills (those who were still conscious) crew did not see
Cube #347's escape.


 

*****

 


Captain sped the cube back towards the spatial distortion, successfully energized
asteroid held out before it. The Federation ship had been dropped: it was
useless now, and Captain did not want to take the time to either assimilate it
or destroy it. The passage back to BorgSpace was much more important.


As the cube approached the distortion, the captured asteroid began to glow. The
closer it came, the brighter it glowed. As the center of the distortion was
reached, Alpha quadrant-derived bolonite intersected with Delta
quadrant-derived, ripping through the already weak fabric of space-time. Through
the hole fell Cube #347.


 

*****

 


Stardate: I Really Don't Care

Captain's Log, USS Secondprize

 


After all that, we are still alive and unassimilated. By the time we had managed to
get the Secondprize on an even keel, the Borg cube was quite gone, so we
high-tailed it too. The Secondprize could only make warp 2, but that was fast
enough.


I've sent in my report to Starfleet concerning their little toy. In it I highlighted
two observations:


(1) When the energy beam 'painted' the bolonite asteroid, it opened a tear in
space-time; and somehow that tear appeared to have attracted a Borg cube.


(2) The insulating property promised by R&D to isolate the cube from the
general Collective obviously didn't work. No hint of confusion I could see. We
seriously got our butts whipped.


My final recommendation is that the deflector protocols are tossed in the nearest
singularity.


Anyway, we are enroute to Starbase 12, where the deflector modifications will be
removed. At the same time, there will be a general repair session; I think the
phaser banks are going to have to be completely removed and new ones installed.
The air recyclers are rather nasty as well. I would push for a new paint job,
but that might be a bit much. The crew will have at least a two week shore
leave; well, most of the crew. Baird is going to spend his leave cursing at the
R&D techies, I suppose.


One final note to myself...Jaroch was right. I think that was Klingon opera playing
the background when the Borg were talking to us.


 

*****

 


Status Report, Cube #347


 


We apologize for our absence from the Greater Consciousness and whatever stress it
may have caused. Due to forces beyond this sub-collective's control, we lost
the subspace link. The Federation has potentially stumbled onto a new
technology it must not be allowed to develop.


 


We must also report a small supply of bolonite ore in system Gamma 3d. The ore is
exceptionally pure. 


 


No sign of species #8511, however, and we thus continue our task.
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How Much Is That Doggy In The Window?


 


Luplup huddled under the bush, shivering and very much scared. The rain pouring out
the sky didn't help matters any, soaking her feathers and causing sticky mud to
cling to her tail. She wanted Owner, but Owner was gone.


Four days ago, not that the concept of time had much meaning for Luplup, the
Bad-Mans-With-No-Scent had come. First Smelly-Woman from the house next door
had disappeared, followed by Yellow-Clawed-Whiner and Noisy-Green-Tail. Finally
the Bad-Mans had taken Owner, and Luplup managed to escape outside the open
back door.


The nights were cold, the days wet, and there was no food. Luplup wanted her
chew-chew toy, her blanket and basket, and especially Owner's nice voice. She
wanted someone to wipe the mud off her tail and dry her feathers. To top off
the misery, the pains she had been experiencing in her back and legs even
before the Bad-Mans had come were getting worse.


Out of the gray day loomed a shadow. Luplup backed farther under the bush, but the
foundation of the house behind her stopped her retreat. A voice with none of
the musical tones of Owner rumbled something, then a pale hand reached under
the cover. Luplup barked at it and clicked her beak in warning, but the hand
did not falter. A bite tore skin and drew yellow-red blood which smelled
metallic.


Luplup was firmly in the grasp of one of the Bad-Mans-With-No-Scent. It gave another
rumbling noise, terrifying Luplup even more. The last thing the poor pet felt
before she lost consciousness was a pair of sharp pricks against the base of
her tail.


 


*****


 


Captain and Second, along with several other members of Cube #347, were in a large
warehouse located at the extremity of a starport which had belonged to species
#7190 until ten days prior. Four days ago the final members of the assimilated
population had been loaded onto Assimilation-class ships for transport to
planet #37, where processing would be completed and the new drones assigned
duties for which each was deemed most fit. At that point, as most ships of the
Collective moved on to other assignments, a handful of sub-collectives had been
tasked to begin cataloguing the major cities for usable material and salvage. Cube
#347 had been assigned a small number of cities on the smallest southern
continent. It was a welcome break from their primary assignment of searching
for signs of species #8511, of whom an intruder ship had been intercepted
several months prior.


Captain absently ran his prosthetic hand over a stack of processed metal. The sensors
registered a variation of duralloy, the density and tonnage of which Captain
dutifully registered on the growing tally of salvageables. A similar notation
was added on the net by Second, who was working on a stack of miscellaneous
metals nearby.


"Transparent aluminum, grades of duralloy, ceramometallic superconducting wires, memory
crystals...this is boring."


"It is a warehouse, Second."


"Join the Collective, they said...see the universe, they said. I'd rather be in
stasis."


"For some reason I really doubt you had a choice in joining the Collective. And
would you really rather be a single and small being anymore?"


Silence from the stack of transparent aluminum.


"That's what I thought, so stop complaining." Captain dropped into the net of the
cube orbiting high above the planet's surface. He took a moment to feel the
relative emptiness of the corridors as most of the four thousand drones,
regardless of specialty, were on the surface engaged in the inventory. He
focused on the perpetually depressed Assimilation. {What are the current
projections on this side-task?}


{Estimations are in the range of thirty-three to forty-two hours, then we'll be back
cruising to look at yet another empty system in search of invisible species
#8511.}


Second looked over at Captain. "Fun. I'm looking forward to it. Up to forty-two
more hours of this."


"The more you complain, the longer it will be." Captain went to the next mound,
which consisted of spools of multicolored wires, and extended his prosthetic
limb again. He tried to think cheery thoughts to pass the time.


 


*****


 


Doctor transported into the maintenance bay nearest his alcove. The room was, at its
most basic, the junction of multiple hallways, but much larger than the usual
nodal intersection. A variety of tools and equipment was neatly stacked within
it. A Federation engineer might feel at home in what appeared to be a fancy
workshop, but the truth was that this was one of the main drone maintenance
shops for Cube #347. Doctor dropped into the intranet board to check his
docket, seeing that it was currently empty. Good.


With one arm cradling the limp form he had brought up from the surface, the other
carefully pulled off a panel from a wall behind a particularly large piece of
equipment. Captain, who had replaced a Borg viewscreen with a larger one
salvaged from a captured ship, wasn't the only one to have made unauthorized
changes to the cube's interior. Behind the panel was a crawlspace, closed off
except for a small hole at the back. Looking at the wet thing in his arm,
Doctor decided it would be suitably contained.


Doctor had been a veterinarian in his prior existence, and still held empathy for
animals in his current imperfectly assimilated life. This tended to cause
problems, the hamster incident amid the most serious, as Borg-modified instincts
warred with his basic nurturing aptitude, driving him to attempt to assimilate
non-sentients. There was never any danger of the animals infiltrating the
sub-collective, but the nanite-enhanced creatures inevitably escaped and caused
problems.


The most current pet Doctor had picked up was called a Yoole by its former
species-owners. A healthy, fully-grown Yoole averaged a meter in length, half
of which was a finely-scaled tail, and was about knee-high. It moved about on
six legs, which were mostly obstructed from view by a dense layer of
cream-colored hairlike feathers, with a fourth stunted pair located just below
the stubby neck. This small pair of legs could crudely manipulate objects,
mostly on the order of digging through leaf piles or rolling around rubber
toys. The lizardlike head was blunt, sporting liquid brown or blue eyes. A
warm-blooded creature, its ancestors were omnivores. The domesticated version
ate the equivalent of Purina Pet Chow.


This particular Yoole was not healthy. It was wet, dirty, and very bedraggled. Doctor
laid it in the alcove and closed the hatch. He would have to deal with the
animal later, as a maintenance request was just flagged on his docket. To
ignore his duty would call attention to the inappropriate behavior, and it was
difficult enough to hide his thoughts of the pet from the rest of the
sub-collective.


 


*****


 


Luplup woke. She was still wet, but the cold had gone away. Now it was over warm and
humid and dark, as if it was the hot season at night. It was not home
though...the smells were all wrong, and the sounds were mysterious and scary. Luplup
was also no longer hungry.


To be exact, Luplup didn't feel the normal kind of hunger that she associated with
her belly. The sensation was more of an all-over body hunger. She ignored it for
the moment. A particularly loud bang, followed by some whizzes and beeps caused
Luplup to cower at the back of the dark box she was in. Her tail pushed against
emptiness.


Feeling the nothingness behind her tail, Luplup turned in the cramped spot, putting her
nose next to the hole. A little wiggle and her head fit through. This was
enough for Luplup. A Yoole could voluntarily dislocate joints...anywhere the
head could fit, the rest of the body could follow. Into the hole Luplup went, a
bit of feather tearing on a jagged part of the opening.


 


*****


 


Doctor completed repairs to 5 of 31, sending her to her alcove for five hours of a
regenerative cycle to complete the internal repairs remaining. With nothing
else on the schedule, Doctor pulled back the piece of diagnostic equipment,
followed with the false panel. Oh-oh...the Yoole was gone.


"Captain's gonna have my head when he finds out," said Doctor to himself while at the
same time burying knowledge of the animal even deeper from the collective
consciousness of the cube.


 


*****


 


Cube #347 finally completed the survey assigned, sending the data collected to the
Greater Consciousness. Dismissed from the worries of the Greater Collective,
Captain directed the cube back into transwarp to continue the exploratory
survey of twenty-seven target systems, one or more of which may have some clue
to species #8511's homeworld(s). The sub-collective was now enroute to the
fifteenth system, ten days travel distant.


Deep within the bowels of the cube, Luplup changed. If Doctor had dug more fully
into the newly-gained knowledge of species #7190, he might have realized the
full common name of Luplup's species was Yoole-Vyst. The Yoole was the fifteen
year long pre-mature stage...Vyst referred to the sexually mature adult. With
the trauma of assimilation, Luplup, already on the verge of maturity, became
Vyst.


Feathers fell out; and scales, which in a normal Vyst would have become brown or black,
replaced the lost covering in a Borg-gray hue. Luplup achieved an increasingly
upright stance, her back two pair of legs thickening into the limbs of a
powerful sprinter. The forward pair remained fine for manipulating objects, but
the second pair lengthened and became clawed...all the better to capture prey
and defend the nest. The previously omnivorous dentition was replaced by the
teeth of a carnivore; and most frightening of all, the small brain of the Yoole
grew to accommodate the Vyst...a life stage the assimilated owner-species
considered one of the most intelligent on the planet after themselves.


At this point in the life of a female Vyst, there were two options. One, a male
would be available, and mating would eventually produce eggs and Yoole young. Two,
parthenogenic reproduction, a laying of eggs by the unmated female. The second
option, because of variances in temperature the clutch would experience, would
normally hatch female and male Vyst, from thus Yoole would eventually come. The
constant temperature of the Borg ship, however, would make sure only more
parthenogenic female Vyst would hatch.


All these aspects of biology were unknown to Luplup. Her instincts as metamorphosis
completed were telling her that no males were present. Once again, trauma
associated with assimilation by sentient-specific nanites wreaked havoc on the
Vyst's hormones, which would normally allow a year before laying of eggs was
initiated. No males to Luplup simply meant she needed to lay eggs, now.


Head blindly rotating in the dark, Luplup began her search for a nest.


 


*****


 


Captain blahed. System fifteen had been a bust. The sixteenth system had flushed a
straggler ship of species #7910, the position and heading of which had been
relayed to the Greater Consciousness. The current survey of system seventeen
was thus far coming up another blank. To relieve the boredom, Captain had tied
himself into the sensor grid, and was now amusing himself trying to follow the
mind patterns of Sensors as she analyzed a pair of terrestrial planets and
their associated moons.


In the central engineering core, Delta was not so bored. The latest cube
diagnostic had brought up several curious anomalies, none of which were
immediately threatening. Subsection 10, submatrix 2 was the only potential
problem, as it dealt with the regeneration system for that part of the ship.


Assimilation= had several biologically dangerous side effects, the most serious of which was
the complete shutdown of the digestive system. The regeneration cycle was necessary
in part to replace proteins, carbohydrates, sugars, amino acids, vitamins,
minerals, and so on the various drones needed to keep in good health. Problems
which affected the regeneration system could impact the efficiency of the cube.


Delta dispatched 18 of 42 to the anomalous area to assess and make repairs.


 


18 of 42 removed the panel and peered in at the interstitial corridor. He quickly
modified his optical implants until a clear view of the small area was
achieved. That accomplished, the drone threaded his way into the maze of pipes
and wires.


The problem was quickly found. A hollow ceramometallic pipe had been spliced into
one of the major arteries of the local regeneration system. Fluid dripped
around the inexpert welds, forming a fairly large puddle. Frowning at the mess,
he sent a query to the net, asking who had done the sloppy work, and why. Return
sentiment was on the order of "Not me" and "I don't know."


Looking around, 18 of 42 decided to remove the hose, patch the artery, then try to see
where the nutrients had been siphoned off to. He was immensely surprised as an
unseen creature rose from where it had been hiding, hissing and clacking its
teeth in dangerous warning.


 


*****


 


Luplup was in many places at once. Her, the original her, the brooding her, was at the
center of a nest of wires and soft fibers, the compartment just large enough to
hold herself and the eight eggs. A hose came in the single opening. When the
body-hunger came, she would attach the hose with the food-fluid to a place on
her torso. It seemed odd not eating with her mouth, but at the same time it was
pleasingly correct.


Other parts of her roamed about the hidden corridors, looking for things to add to
the nest. She was bringing back wires, carrying a snippet of hose, and nosing a
shiny object all at the same time. Another part of her had found a new
food-fluid artery, and was beginning to prepare it to tap for the colony.


Suddenly she was a soldier, guarding the food supply. One of the Bad-Mans-With-No-Scent
was trying to cut off the liquid. She lunged at the Bad-Mans, sending him
backing down the corridor. More of her came running down the hall to help
herself, all of her hissing and barking, making the Bad-Mans retreat. Finally
the Bad-Mans went away, and the nest was safe once more. Luplup curled around
her eggs. All of her purred contentedly.


 


*****


 


Captain awoke from his regeneration cycle, vaguely unsettled. As clamps and umbilicals
disengaged, he automatically stepped from his alcove to the catwalk. Captain often
allowed his mind to passively ride the thoughts of the currently active drones,
floating on the local net which comprised the sub-collective. The feeling was
like a lucid dream in which one knows one can alter the outcome simply by
taking control...although Captain rarely exercised such a prerogative. This
time had been different.


The familiar corridors had been darker and narrower than normal, the viewpoint much
closer to the ground. There was the hum and click of machinery, but also soft
grunts and hisses. A tactile impression at one point had brought sensations of
smoothly scaled skin rubbing against more of the like; and the faintly warm
coolness of metal brushed against an arm. As far as Captain could determine, he
must have been experiencing the conscious dataflow of one of the few
nonhumanoids aboard the cube...that was the only explanation.


Captain's personal analysis of the "dream" fell apart as 18 of 42's shock at
being attacked surged within the net. As the maintenance drone retreated to the
catwalk, Delta was already searching for a particular member of the cube -
Doctor.


{Doctor! There are animals on board!}


Doctor winced, his time was up. {Yes, maybe a Yoole or two. Harmless.}


{Harmless? I don't think so.}


{Yooles are a simple pet, so domesticated they can only chew processed food.} Doctor
let down his partitions enough to allow the sub-collective a glimpse of his
image of a Yoole. {I'm surprised it even survived, considering the condition I
last saw it in.} A small lie...he knew on a faint level due to his empathy that
it had survived, even given birth; it must have been pregnant when he had
brought it aboard.


Delta mulled over the words and the image, {That is not the animal we saw, Doctor. Not
the animal at all.} A second picture was returned, this one resembling the
first in a faint way, excepting for the fact it stood over waist high on four
legs with incredibly nasty teeth and claws.


Doctor blinked. {I don't recognize that animal. I admit I did bring a Yoole on board,
but I did not bring that thing.}


Following the exchange with increasing confusion, Captain uploaded the recent files from
the Engineering docket, succeeded by 18 of 42's experiences. Finally he broke
in. {Stop. There is a connection here among this data we need to work out. We
will process it, then figure out where to place blame...after we figure out
what to do.} Acknowledgment was sent by the parties involved, neatly postponing
the budding argument.


 


*****


 


Luplup dreamed. She was at the center of a vast colony, all her even as they did not
all look like her. She was a giant Luplup, reaching out to grasp nesting
territory in distance units she did not know how to express...did not even know
before now there was even a distance that large that needed to be expressed.


Machine-things helped Luplup, much in the same way they had once helped Owner. Once Owner had
done mysterious things with his machines. There had been the Wheeled-Thing, the
Always-Cold-Place, the Humming-Box in which Owner had placed many of the foods
before he ate them, and the Noisy-Box-With-Moving-Sights. Machines now whirled
and beeped as Luplup told them to, and Luplup was as powerful as Owner.


In her dream, Luplup began to understand. There were such things as words, as
language, as technology. As Yoole, Luplup would not have even had a chance to
learn the Owner-mysteries, but as Vyst, her brain structure was complex enough
to grasp the knowledge, to see how it could help her expand to become that
giant Luplup.


Luplup continued to dream.


 


*****


 


The consensus was in...Cube #347 had a problem. Doctor had assimilated and brought
aboard a relatively harmless Yoole, which had metamorphosed to maturity as a
Vyst. Vysts were potentially parthenogenic females, which this one appeared to
be; and Vysts were also much more intelligent than Yooles, and much more nasty.
In fact, Vysts appeared to be on the cusp of true sentience, and the effect of
nanites on such an animal was an unknown.


Captain expressed reality for the cube, {Whatever may happen, this menace must be
killed. Besides affecting the efficiency of this cube by tapping crucial
systems, there is the slim possibility the animals may access the nets. This
must not happen. The quest toward perfection and Oneness is strained as is by
our imperfect assimilation. If pre-sentients managed to influence the workings
of the Greater Consciousness, all might be lost.} 


{Not to mention the fact the Greater Consciousness would be extremely pissed,} a
voice said, only to lose itself in the general agreement which followed.


Captain ignored the bantering, {All six hundred of Weapon's hierarchy will begin a
search-and-destroy program. An additional one hundred from engineering
hierarchy will assist, including use of hand-held weaponry, as will myself and
Second.}


 


*****


 


Part of Luplup had been exploring far from the main nesting area. She had lately
dreamed of the idea of "noncentral distribution", which translated,
among other concepts, to having more than one brooding nest. There were several
other of herself which could lay eggs, and it was time additional colonies were
established.


Luplup had learned early that the Bad-Mans generally did not acknowledge her existence.
As long as she did not get in the way of their movements, they did not bother
her scouting. Still, she did keep to the places the Bad-Mans did not go, just
in case. Luplup had just found a place called "Auxiliary Core #4", an
area with lots of something called "power." If she wanted to grow
into a giant Luplup, she would need power; and there appeared to be adequate
hidden corridors and food-liquid arteries for a second brooding nest near the
core as well.


A Bad-Mans stepped around the corner, approximately ten meters from the scout. Luplup
rose up for a better look, then backed up to allow the Bad-Mans room to pass. The
Bad-Mans did not continue as it had in the past, instead stopping and raising
one of its arms. Scout Luplup was still watching the Bad-Mans in curiosity when
she felt a burning sensation along her neck and torso, then fell into darkness


Brooding Luplup screamed. She had been hurt! A part of her no longer responded, and she
felt herself become smaller. Five minutes later, a pair of Luplup that had been
bringing hose and wires back to the main nest was also lost; and another scout
Luplup just escaped into the hidden corridors, although her tail was blackened
and smelled of burnt meat.


Luplup huddled about her eggs, then growled. The Bad-Mans were a danger to her and the
nest.


 


*****


 


The eradication effort was going well. Thus far, seven of the Vysts had been
killed, and two wounded before escaping. Unfortunately, the animals had also
proved their intelligence. The main nesting area was known, but the creatures
had procured both welding tools and large sheets of metal, effectively sealing
Borg-sized holes, but leaving smaller routes they could travel through. An
effort was now underway to remove the barriers and strike into the nest itself.


The survey of the system was also proceeding. The second terrestrial planet from
the primary had shown life signs, and the cube had been brought closer for a
more thorough analysis.


{Report, Sensors,} called Captain through the net.


{Sensors finds that this planet suffered a major [boom] event approximately one hundred
thirty Cycles ago. There are [footprints] of extensive use of aerial nuclear
bombardment, and the current frigid climate conditions also support the
evidence of a [tussle]. No technological signs that the previously [doormat]
species still survives, although it might have regressed to stone-age science.


{Sensors believes the species was in a pre-warp [wagon]. The only other evidence of habitation
found in the system is deep under the crust of the planet's moon. The use of [dirty]
soils to shield sensitive organics from radiation is consistent with primitive
space-faring civilizations.


{The [song] of Sensors’ hierarchy is this is not the home system of species #8511
nor a colony.}


Captain agreed with the consensus, then placed the cube in a high orbit about the
planet. They would finish the extermination of the vermin Vysts before heading
to the next target system.


 


Assimilation and two of his hierarchy were performing a necropsy on one of the dead animals
to determine the extent of their alterations by the nanites. The discoveries he
was finding was creating disturbing conclusions among the sub-collective.


The complexity of the brain was astounding for a pre-sentient, and it was theorized
that given the proper evolutionary push, the Vyst component of the Yoole-Vyst
life cycle could ascend to full sentience within a few hundred thousand years. The
nanites had, in a way, accelerated that evolution in their attempt to follow
their programming. Neural connections had been made and memory pathways
strengthened which was slowly elevating the resident Vysts to something beyond
animal, but not quite Borg. The outcome was a creature which could adapt and
learn to use some of the technology found on the cube, as employment of arc
welders had thus far succinctly demonstrated.


And that is not the worst of our problems. {I would say based on this autopsy,
certain physical adaptations are possible - vacuum and radiation resistance,
perhaps energy shielding.}


Captain mused, {So the current armaments may become useless.}


{Yes, but the horror does not stop there. There is an organically-derived transceiver
located in the brain. It is similar to that built by the nanites during a
sentient assimilation, but before the more powerful hardware analogue is
implanted.}


Realization swiftly sunk in at the words, {These animals are operating with Borg Oneness?}


Assimilation sighed, {Yes. Fortunately, because the transceiver is organic-derived in
nature, its range is limited to five kilometers. Unfortunately, there is very
real evidence the Vysts, or Vyst as would be more appropriate, may have access
to our net. If so, it will have access to our databases.}


{Can we neutralize the threat through incorporation?}


{No. It is still an animal with animal thought patterns. The question is academic
anyway, as the Vyst has been developing its own model of Oneness, probably
since it was first brought on board by Doctor, and would be incompatible with
Borg.}


One word echoed throughout the cube, {Sh**.}


 


*****


 


Luplup no longer had to sleep to dream. In the comfortable darkness of her nest, she
could send herself running through odd corridors, not with her body, but with
her mind. It was hard to avoid the Bad-Mans in this place, and more than once
she stumbled into them, but she was able to swiftly duck and hide. Thus far she
was confined to the thing called "Cube #347 sub-collective". A thread
stretched temptingly away towards a brighter and bigger place, but it was
heavily guarded by the minds of those associated with the name Weapons.


The barriers to the nest were holding for the moment, however the Bad-Mans were
burning through the metal. More sheets had been welded into place, but in the
end, the nest would be compromised. She had to...to...to plan for the future. She
had to make herself look beyond the present, far beyond the present, or else
Luplup would grow very small and eventually be no more. There was knowledge to
be found in the mental corridors; and knowledge was just another type of power,
like the reactor core, which Luplup craved. The answers to her dilemma must be
found!


 


*****


 


The members of Cube #347 reacted in shock when 93 of 300, one of the hierarchy of
Weapons, failed to kill a Vyst which had ventured from its fortified nest. Aim
had been perfect, and the shot should have burned through the beast's
torso...except for the fact that the Vysts appeared to have developed energy
shielding, similar, if not the same, to that employed by the Borg itself
against species with personal weaponry such as phasers.


A cruder method of eradication had to be prepared. Transporting the Vysts from
the ship and dumping them in space would have been ideal, except for the fact a
lock could not be achieved. Between an extremely DNA-diverse crew and Borg
implants, sensors could not distinguish the intruders at a fine enough
resolution for transporter lock. And as there had never been any need for such
fancy transporter skills, the Collective had never developed them. However,
physically tagging the Vysts with transponders was a viable alternative; the
signals emitted by the tags would allow for a lock.


Therefore, armaments of the hunter-killer groups were altered to shoot tags. The shielding
of the targets could not adapt to nonenergy weapons. Success was proven a short
time later as the first of three Vysts found behind a barrier were transported
into their own personal orbit.


 


*****


 


She was safe! No longer could the "energy weapons" used by the Bad-Mans
hurt her! Luplup purred, listening to the sounds of the little hers in the egg
struggle to be born. Another day, perhaps two, and she would grow larger again.
The newest parts of her would take several weeks to attain a useful size, but
the Bad-Mans could no longer destroy her.


Days, weeks, months...these concepts were among the newest she had gathered from the
data files. In order to plan for a larger her, "time" and
"future" became increasingly relevant. The Bad-Mans were becoming
aware of her forays into their mental spaces, so she had begun to grab at
whatever information she could acquire, loading it into the spaces of her brain
which could accommodate it. She would rearrange it later when the nest was
secure.


As she dodged the mental signature called "Captain" ("4 of 8"
was another designation) and turned onto an interesting side path, she felt a
part of her bark warning as a peripheral barrier was breached. Her three
soldier parts stationed at the entrance leapt to attack, attempting to gain the
time necessary for the welding of the next metal plate to be completed. The
Bad-Mans held out their arms again, but instead of the energy beam, small
staples of metal emerged. Each of the three her felt the metal bite into torso
or neck.


Luplup was suddenly surrounded by green sparkles! When the sparkles disappeared, she
was floating. Three points of view spun in nauseating circles as tails lashed
and limbs stretched for nonexistent support. Blackness studded with points of
light dominated the scene, although one of her caught sight of a two balls much
like she distantly remembered playing with as a Yoole - one multicolored with
swirls of white and the other a dusty gray.


The contact with her three parts slowly dissipated. Like a thread stretched too
tight, Luplup felt her perception snap. It was not death, not like the burning
of the Bad-Mans, but she had grown smaller none-the-less. A part of her still
crawling the net whispered that her subspace link had broken, and that those
parts of her would have died and been lost anyway.


Luplup was now scared. This place called Cube #347 was not a safe nesting ground. The
Bad-Mans were smarter than her, and would eventually find all of her. Already
she was only two-thirds as large as she had been a week earlier. She needed a
safe place to live and grow. Luplup had thought she felt an interesting
datastream near the "Captain" presence, and so carefully returned. Yes,
the information was clear, the "command codes" obvious.


 


*****


 


Captain felt the odd presence again.  Curious, he sent a request for identification,
but no return was forthcoming. The mental signature was unique although there
was no attendant designation to pair it with. Exasperated, Captain queried a
second time, this time surging the net to force a reply.


{Luplup,} said the unknown before it sidled away again, erecting a crude, but effective, firewall
behind it.


Luplup? There was no Luplup on board; all had proper Borg designations except for those
in temporary positions of hierarchy head. Captain tore down the firewall,
flinging the data blockage away. The Luplup had laid down several trails, its
massive searches through command structure files masking the true direction of
travel. Had the cube picked up a virus? Captain immediately initiated a
narrowing of the subspace link with the Greater Consciousness, lessening the
already tenacious connection with the Collective without actually severing it.


The Luplup brushed Captain's thoughts again, this time digging through sensor logs
of the current system before grabbing a file and jumping away. Captain
attempted to lay a series of pitfalls and code traps, but the entity proved too
cunning. 


In the material world of the cube, another series of barriers had been breached,
along with an adjacent bulkhead, resulting with the tag and transport of six
more Vysts into vacuum. In addition, Delta had finally completed the massive
task of rerouting regeneration arteries to avoid the indicted area without
depriving too many alcoves of nutrient supplements. Captain's resources were
stretched with supervision of the multiple ongoing tasks crossed with the net
search for the Luplup, thus the sudden alteration of the cube's orbit to send
it slowly dropping towards the planet caught him completely by surprise.


{What the hell? Who is messing with the command codes?} called an exasperated Captain
over the net as he attempted to correct the situation. He gained control
momentarily, only to lose it again. {Weapons, Second, Sensors?} he queried,
seeking out the most obvious drones who might have a legitimate reason to move
the ship. Negatives were returned. Next Captain ran down the list of
crewmembers who in the past had managed to take control to follow personal
whims. Again, no dice.


{I/We don't like this place. I/We would rather grow large on the planet,} rasped an
unknown voice which wavered between use of singular and plural. {No, this place
is not safe at all. For Luplup to become giant, I/we must be where the Bad-Mans
are not.}


Luplup? What is Luplup? Who is Luplup? Thoughts raced through the net as Captain drew
increasingly on the resources of his hierarchy to force his command codes into
Borg machinery while at the same time closing avenues of access to the Luplup's
own efforts. The cube wobbled as it alternated between orbits. Luplup? Is it
the Vyst? Luplup is the Vyst? There is an animal in the net? The last
consensus-drawn conclusion rocked the sub-collective; the ramifications were
astoundingly awful.


Captain looked around the nodal intersection, deciding he had to personally observe the
removal of the Vysts, especially the main one, the queen. It rankled, using
that word, but queen was the only designation which fit. The Luplup was the
central focus of the group, and for all practical purpose she appeared to be
the group. In many ways, those animals were more Borg than the Borg themselves,
more One. As far as Captain could feel, there was only one personality spread
in an unknown number of bodies...even the average drone of the Collective
retained a unique mental signature to tell it apart from the Whole. Captain
felt vaguely sick, it was not right to have perfection potentially achieved by
pre-sentients! The directed musings were echoed by the general sub-collective.


A transporter beam was activated, taking Captain to subsection 10, submatrix 2. As
the green shimmering dissipated, he observed first-hand the activities he had
previously experienced vicariously. This section of ship was being taken apart
piece by piece. The interstitial corridors were too narrow for most drones to
move freely, therefore they were being widened via application of high energy
cutting torches. The resulting gaps in the bulkheads were too large for the
defending Vysts to block, and so the animals were retreating. At the far end of
the subsection another Vyst was tagged, this one half the size of the prior
beasts, and sent to the oblivion of vacuum.


 


*****


 


Luplup was fighting a losing battle on both the plains she could sense. In the nets,
the control of Cube #347's propulsion system continued to waver; currently she
was heading away from the planet and towards the moon. Slashing at a blockage
of code, she managed to activate the maneuvering thrusters along one face edge,
sending the ship into an ineffective spin. Within the nest, her self had been
much reduced. Her remaining half-grown selves from the prior hatching were now
forced to perform duties they were not ready to do, and her two other adult
bodies could not efficiently continue to place the blockages.


Retreat was the answer. Retreat. Or perhaps there was another plan. Letting up slightly
on the commands Luplup had been attempting to force, she made an attack from a
different vector. If she was not to be allowed to grow big, she would take the
Bad-Mans with her.


 


*****


 


Captain blahed as he felt thruster control slip along a full face, but the resulting
spin was unimportant. The mind which was Luplup was powerful in an animalistic
way of quick strikes in many places, but the Borg minds wielded by Captain
were, in the end, too large and overwhelmingly strong to lose. A rout appeared
to be in effect. Barriers no longer had defenders behind them, with hastily abandoned
welding torches evidence of a quick retreat. 


Suddenly Captain regained complete impulse and thruster control. The disengagement of
Luplup shocked Captain, but he swiftly recovered and began the process to take
the cube away from the uncomfortably close moon. Then transwarp engines began
to come on-line just as whispers of mutual death began to float into the
sub-collective consciousness.


With its own existence suddenly in peril, the members of Cube #347 reacted in
concerted fear. Delta authorized the emergency shut-down of all cores but one,
depriving the power-demanding drives of energy. All over the ship systems
dimmed and nonessentials shut down in order to conserve that energy which could
be gleaned from the remaining core. Drones invading the nest finally found the
central brooding area, the remaining Vysts crouching and hissing in agitation,
bunched around a dark opening. The seven animals were tagged and summarily
beamed away.


A narrow head peered out of the opening, barked once, then withdrew. Growling
echoed inside the cubicle.


Captain locked off the last of the significant command codes from Luplup. There were
still things she could do, but actions such as dumping the contents of the
cargo holds would be a simple annoyance. The cube was still heading on a vector
which would intersect the moon, but it would be well over two hours before the
situation became critical; and by then this problem would be finished.


{Luplup, can you understand me?} Captain was pushing his way through the drones of
Weapons' hierarchy, making his way to the pair of engineering units at head of
the line who were cutting into the bulkhead to enlarge the opening. He prodded
the presence which was still on the net, {Luplup, answer me.}


A sullen yet defiant reply, {I/We are small now, but I/we are still Luplup.}


21 of 310 and 173 of 310 finished the cutting. 173 of 310 peered into the hole,
then swept the cutter in a sharp arc. The smell of rapidly cooked eggs and
roasted meat drifted out, combined with minute crackling sounds. A squeal of
rage and pain followed.


{You have slaughtered myself! This brooding I is angry, is mad!} The reptilian head
lunged out again, swifter than the reflexes of 173 of 310 could swing the
cutter. Unerringly aimed for the head of the sub-collective, Luplup could only
bite the bodysuit encasing Captain's lower leg. A curse echoed in the nets,
accompanied by another shriek from the cubicle as Luplup drew back, broken
tooth clattering to the metal floor. Captain pushed past the two drones into
the cramped space.


Captain looked at Luplup in a combination of sympathy, pity, and diminishing anger. The
latter was backed as far as she could go into the accessway, but the bulkhead
prevented farther retreat. Uncomfortable memories swirled around in the
thoughts of Cube #347 and Vyst alike of a similar scenario involving a
frightened Yoole huddling under bushes on a distant world.


{I'm sorry, my queen, but you are not of Borg, nor could you be of Borg. You have
the potential of detracting from our quest of perfection, even though in many
ways you have achieved that perfection yourself; but it is an animalistic
Oneness that you offer, and the Borg strive to achieve something above that
baseness. 


{We can only have one queen, and you cannot be it.}


Captain raised his prosthetic and fired; the tag buried itself in Luplup's side. A
transporter beam was activated, removing the Vyst from the ship. Offending
influence on the net now safely beyond the range of nanite-built organic
transceiver, Captain took full control of Cube #347, moving it away from the
moon's surface.


 


{There is no chance the Vyst will survive? We know the transporter dumped her on the
moon's surface, but with the alterations by the nanites, she will not die right
away.} Captain was talking to Second, who compiling the data supplied by
Assimilation, Doctor, and Sensors, was playing the role of reality to Captain's
position of devil's advocate. It was always good to review all the options in
forming a strong consensus.


Second was adamant, {The odds of the Vyst surviving long enough to find an airlock
which is still accessible are astronomical. Add in the factors of knowledge to
work the airlock and finding usable resources within installations abandoned
for over a century, and the possibility of success is an infinitesimal percent
above zero.} The calculations made to get to the answer were quickly reviewed,
although the fact that many drones in the cube had assisted in the computation
made the action unnecessary.


{Consensus accepted,} declared Captain for the sub-collective. The last of the off-lined
cores had been revived. Cube #347 leaped into transwarp, enroute to target
system eighteen.


 


*****


 


Dim lights awoke Luplup, and she knew she was safe for the moment. When she had
been beamed to the dusty place where it was hard to move, she had instinctively
held her breath although it had been unnecessary. Even now it was becoming
easier to express the concept of "low gravity moon" and "airless
environment", and know that she could survive for at least some time
without shelter due to the technologies in her body.


Still, the door she had found after falling in a deep crevice had been a welcome
sight. Luplup had known that she had to push the buttons just so, and turn the
handle in just such a way to release the grips. Inside a second door awaited,
and the whispers in her mind had told her how to complete the airlock cycle. Beyond
the second door had been atmosphere she could breath, the shock of which sent
her into unconsciousness.


Luplup blinked her eyes wearily as she looked at her surroundings. The machines were
odd, but similar enough to the pictures of technology in her head that she knew
she could survive. There were materials which could be altered to provide the
food-liquid she needed; and the lights proclaimed a useful power source. Many
viable eggs were still in her body...Luplup would grow large again.


The Bad-Mans would pay. "Revenge" was another concept understood now. ::It
will take a long time,:: thought Luplup to herself, ::but I will make my way
back to space. Then I will hurt the Bad-Mans as they hurt me.::


She was Luplup. Resistance was futile. All would be annihilated.
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The Federation ship disintegrated under the intense hail of phasers, unable to
escape because of the trio of tractor beams gripping the hull. A converted
merchant freighter attempted a strafing run of quantum torpedoes, but it was
quickly and graphically demonstrated that despite upgraded shielding, civilian
ships were not constructed to withstand military might. The explosion was
spectacular, if short-lived. Although both nacelles were sheared off, the
Federation ship continued to try to engage the cube. Another phaser volley
punched a hole in primary and auxiliary bridges, leading to a second brilliant
fireball.


No enemies were left, Exploratory-class Cube #347 was victorious!


Weapons disengaged his hierarchy from the simulation. While the other members of the
cube complained about surveying empty systems in search of species #8511 or
lost themselves in local archives looking for obscure entertainment which
hadn't been scrubbed from the system by the Greater Consciousness, he ran
battle scenarios.


The scenarios often prominently featured Federation ships, if only because that was
one of the primary simulations the Collective designed in preparation for
eventual assimilation. That day was years, if not nearly a century away, when
the Borg expanded their space into the Alpha quadrant, and it was extremely
unlikely the imperfectly assimilated of Cube #347 would be employed in fighting,
but one could always hope. Besides the satisfaction of blowing things up,
Weapons liked the smooth feeling of the simulations where the crew acted as
One. The knowledge that reality was currently boring and pretend death not
permanent was conducive to the attitudes which made the scenarios work. Too bad
real life action with the cube didn't work out as well.


Weapons had the theory that if he pounded enough battle situations into the drones of
his hierarchy, they would eventually act with the instinct which was a
necessary step towards Oneness, with himself head, of course. It was also
useful in the simulations that he didn't have to deal with the 3400 other
drones of the cube whom were outside his hierarchy and would occasionally seize
local subsection control of weaponry.


The break in the simulation allowed Weapons to catch up on current events. He
always knew in the background what was going on, as did every other drone, but
it took a back burner to blowing up Federation doppelgangers. The last three
days had been uneventful, to say the least, as the cube was in a transwarp
conduit between system twenty-three and twenty-four of the twenty-seven system
search. Reality digested, Weapons' hierarchy began programming the parameters
of the next battle.


The shock of the Greater Consciousness initiating contact with Cube #347 was great.
Four thousand drones were drawn into the combined mentalities of trillions. The
touch of Oneness was brief, however, just long enough to download instructions
for a short side trip to rendezvous with Exploratory-class Cube #752. This
sub-collective was to pick up a new imperfectly assimilated drone and integrate
her into their consciousness. Weapons felt Captain send acknowledgment as the
Greater Collective turned attention to another concern. Elsewhere in the local
net, Sensors brought into active memory star charts with which to plot the
course to the coordinates; and finally Captain sent the command codes to alter
the heading of the cube.


 


The meeting with Cube #752 was brief, the other sub-collective avoiding all but the
most superficial linking of ship systems, mediated primarily through Captain. Greetings
were swiftly exchanged, the new drone beamed to an assimilation workshop, and
then parting accomplished with Cube #752 revving up engines into high transwarp
and streaking off. Sometimes being the pariah of the Collective meant having
the distinct impression that one took a shower but forgot to put on deodorant
afterwards...and it turned out to be a scorcher of a day.


Excitement over, Weapons was about to restart his war games when Captain called, {Weapons.
The new drone belongs to you. Go get up.}


{Me? I thought Delta was looking to fill out her hierarchy a bit more,} whined
Weapons, trying to get out of actual responsibility.


{Her dossier indicates a personality more suited for weapons.} Captain sent the
drone's background information. Weapons had to admit the drone in her prior
existence had liked to blow things up.


{Understood.} Weapons put the simulation on hold, allowing his hierarchy additional time to
talk over desired objectives and possible tactics to use in certain situations.
He activated the transporter and beamed over to Assimilation Workshop #2.


The assimilation workshop was an actual room. Granted there were no doors and five
corridors terminated at the area, but the roughly hexagonal large space was
more roomlike than a typical nodal intersection. A pair of workbenches/beds
were in the center of the room underneath a virtual torture rack of instruments
used for the preparation of newly assimilated drones. Alcoves lined the walls,
much more complex than the normal type; and blinking lights and readout
terminals were situated at eye level by each alcove. All were empty but one. Before
he went to claim the new drone, Weapons looked about for Assimilation.


Assimilation was watching a wall, upon which were several stripes of paint, each a different
subtle shade of gray. As Weapons watched, Assimilation sighed, which was eerily
echoed from the local walkways as nearby members of the hierarchy reacted in
synch. Weapons was slightly weirded out...no, he was quite weirded out. He had
known that this hierarchy was headed by a depressed drone (who didn't, as
everyone could feel it though the net), but had never experienced it face to
face.


Weapons cleared his throat, "The new drone?"


Assimilation pointed without looking up, "Over there. The other cube properly prepared
her body with implants and prostheses for a tactical position, but her mind has
not been allowed consciousness beyond a basic subspace connection to the
Collective. Contamination of individuality must be limited, you know. In other
words, she has absolutely no idea where she is and has not been given a Borg
designation yet. On the bright side, nanite programming is complete and she
will accept her lot in life as a drone. No Locutus fiasco here."


"Understood." Weapons paused, then asked, "What are you doing?" The whole
conversation had taken place with Assimilation staring intently at the paint.


"Watching the paint dry, of course. Everyone knows how boring it is to travel between
these empty systems, and so my entertainment is gleaned comparing drying times
between different shades of hull paint."


Weapons decided not to comment, especially as one of the unison sighs happened again. Instead
he turned and went to the new member of his hierarchy. The drone was a typical
humanoid specimen, told apart externally by the vertical nose ridges which ran
up to her forehead...as much forehead as was visible under implants, that is. Other
than that, she was clothed in the typical body suit, had the normal prostheses
and implants, and the skin was a healthy mottled gray. Weapons dropped into the
net, feeling the unconscious mind sleeping in stasis. Reviewing the list of
open designations, he selected one, then began the awakening process.


The drone woke up, her eyes opening and her mind questing out on the local net,
instinctively attempting to integrate itself with the rest of the
sub-collective. Weapons quickly introduced himself and other vital information.
He wanted to get this done and back to his simulations. In the background he
could hear his hierarchy coming up with what were frankly impossible battle
situations.


"I am 45 of 300, also subdesignated Weapons. I am head of the weaponry hierarchy. You
will be 89 of 300, also of the weapons hierarchy. This is Exploratory-class
Cube #347 and we are embarked on a boring and fairly useless assignment, when
we could be blowing things up. Ready to go? Good. Activate transporter and go
to subsection 19, submatrix 4. Your alcove assignment is being downloaded
now."


The drone, now 89 of 300, stood there blankly, growing confusion evident as she
digested the information. She finally managed to disengage umbilicals and
clamps to step down onto the floor of the room itself. Opening her mouth, 89 of
300 croaked out the words, "Huh? Please slow down, we do not
understand."


Sighing, Weapons closed his eyes. He had hoped to shuffle 89 of 300 off as fast as possible
to her alcove and immerse her into scenarios. Unfortunately, the signs of
assimilation imperfection were strong (questioning orders being one of the
major symptoms), despite the "we", and that was a habit programmed in
by the nanites which was easily broken. He tried again.


"89 of 300 is your designation. Go to your alcove assignment in subsection 19,
submatrix 4. There you will have the time to pursue your questions. There is
work to be done. You are Borg, and as your hierarchical head, you will obey me.
And if you obey me, we will all be blowing things up shortly.


"Oh, and as Captain says, 'Can that plural crap.'"


Bemused and still quite confused, 89 of 300 did as Weapons said, beaming herself to the
appropriate catwalk. Weapons followed suit, transporting himself back to the
alcove he called home.


 


Weapons sighed as he settled in his alcove, closing his eyes and linking firmly into
the net. Home sweet home. He gave the new drone little thought, although he
could feel her tentatively reaching out, instinctively bringing information
from the archives into her active memory, and generally integrating herself
into the sub-collective. The cube was back enroute to system twenty-four of the
search, and so it was time to continue the battle scenarios. Weapons gathered
the consensus for the next game, then loaded the simulation generator program.


{Welcome to BorgCraft, the most intensely realistic galaxy conquest simulation to be
produced by Flurry, subsidiary #23 of Borg Software Enterprises,} quipped the
computer. Background techno-symphony music played the BorgCraft theme as a cube
whooshed across the opening screen. The scene pulled back to display a spiral
galaxy overlaid by the green words of "BorgCraft." The program
continued, {Would you like to replay opening credits, load a saved game, begin
a new simulation, or devise a custom scenario?}


Weapons selected custom scenario. The program now began asking a series of questions,
each of which Weapons swiftly answered.


{Objective? Acquire new technologies, assimilation, total destruction, planetary
assault....}


{Random,} interrupted Weapons.


{Enemy?} Next followed a long list of species numerical designations, concluded by
several multi-special empires, regimes, and confederations.


{Federation.}


{Starting assets?}


{One Exploratory-class cube, full drone compliment.}


Other parameters?}


{No background music; cheat codes disabled.}


{Setting up simulation now. Objective is to destroy the Federation shipyard at Denub
Prime.}


The opening scenes disintegrated as primary sensory and net input was superseded by
the game, mimicking the actual conditions the sub-collective (at least Weapons’
hierarchy) would experience. Space sped by as the cube hurried through
transwarp. The game was begun.


 


{This is stupid. Does anyone else think this is stupid?} stated 89 of 300 for the
third time in the last ten minutes. {We are playing a game, blowing up fake
ships in situations we will never see. What is the point?}


Weapons growled, {Quiet, 89 of 300. You are disrupting the battle scenario, not game.
And the point is readiness and instant reflexes.}


{There are six hundred drones in this hierarchy. I'm sure among all the augmented
brains, excluding certain members, of course, there is enough room to keep
useful situations on file. A lone cube, especially this one, deep in
Federation space isn't going to happen in our immediate future,} contritely
returned 89 of 300. Unfortunately for Weapons, some of the hierarchy were
starting to be swayed in her direction, lending weight to her arguments.


In the simulation, the consequences of the bickering were becoming evident. Two
patrol ships, fast frigates, were locked in combat with Cube #347. One was
tractored and being swiftly demolished, while the second limped on thrusters as
it continued to toss quantum torpedoes. Both ships should have already been
destroyed. To make matters worse, radio contact had not been jammed as swiftly
as it should have been, and a call for help had been sent.


A large ship came powering in from the direction ship yard which was still one AU
distant, locked in orbit about the system's largest gas giant. As its hull
signature and markings became clear enough to be identified through the fog of
war, Weapon's hope for victory was deflated. It was the Enterprise. Typically
nothing less than a fully integrated Battle-class cube could hope to go up
against the Enterprise. An Exploratory-class cube with serious identity and
leadership problems was so much tissue paper to punch through.


Five minutes later, an inevitable screen popped up as the simulation drained from
the senses of the hierarchy: {Game over. Federation wins. Do you wish you try
again?} The movie of Cube #347 blowing up was automatically replayed three
agonizing times from three different angles.


 


Four scenarios later, all of which ended in an increasingly predicable manner,
Weapons was becoming incensed. It was obvious 89 of 300 had her eye on the
Weapons' position; she already had over a third of the hierarchy siding with
her on her views, which subsequently affected battle as those drones primarily
followed her intentions. Much of the rest of the cube had taken time from their
own activities to watch the infighting, and several bets at various odds were
circulating the intranets. The efficiency of Weapons’ hierarchy was down in the
dumps to say the least.


{It is your problem, Weapons,} stated Captain when Weapons had complained. {I think
twenty-seven Cycles of holding your position has made you forget that it is
supposed to be a lottery. Now you know what the drones you scream at each
assignment beginning feel like when you inform them you are the one and only
Weapons. I'm not getting involved.} And so Captain, and every other drone for
that matter, had withdrawn themselves from the controversy.


89 of 300 was talking with Weapons again, {It is not so much the blowing things
up...it is the senseless way you do it. No tactics. No overall strategy. Aim
and shoot is the limit of your thoughts.}


{There is danger to overthinking the problem.}


{Not in overthinking...it is the not thinking at all that is the problem. You may be
trying to train for "instinct", but battle is more than base reflex. Why
can't you get it through that thick skull of yours?}


{And I have the same sentiments about your ideas.}


And so continued the quarrel for the next several cycles, neither side gaining. When
Cube #347 finally entered system twenty-four of the search, Weapons was still
ahead in hierarchy loyalty. Just barely.


 


Weapons listened to the chatter between Sensors and Captain. None of the five planets
or their moons had shown signs of habitation by a space-faring race, but
interesting signals were emanating from an asteroid located at a Trojan point
for the largest gas giant. Captain sent the cube towards the area to
investigate.


As the ship neared, Weapons slid into the sensor grid in order to more closely
monitor the approach. He had been vindicated less than an hour earlier when
Captain had ordered 89 of 300 and her splinter group to accommodate themselves
with the majority, at least until the system was searched. The final sorting of
whom would be Weapons would have to wait. Despite the command, Weapons could
still feel 89 of 300 subtly attempting to align others to her mental signature.


Sensors was now initiating active probing with the sensors. Odd frequencies were in
use, ones not normally utilized. After Weapons had a brief sensation of tasting
something oily, he backed slightly away from the grid...he had meshed himself a
little too much with the non-humanoid's point of view. The extremely putrid
sensation which followed prompted Weapons to want to gag, but he suddenly found
himself unable to move.


< You have an interesting mind. Very basic. Lovely areas of simplicity. Nothing
too complicated. I want you. >


A flash of bright light momentarily blinded Weapons. When it cleared, he found
himself not in his alcove, but standing in the middle of a vast place, the
walls of which were either too far away to be seen or were nonexistent. Weapons
stumbled before catching his balance, turning around in a circle to gauge his
location. The area was not quite empty: 89 of 300 stood nearby, confusion
evident on her face.


< Welcome beings! > came a disembodied voice directly into the mind of the two
drones. < Welcome, welcome! I'm sorry I had to do this to you, but I don't
get the chance to play with animate, linear matter too often. The thesis I'm
writing requires some sentient experimentation, and unfortunately the location
I set up for my lab is not close to those areas more frequented by corporal
creatures. There are other excellent reasons for this locale, but there are
some drawbacks to living in the boonies. At this rate it will take several
thousand years to complete my research...buuut, as my mentor said, you gotta
take the bad with the good. >


Weapon's connection with Cube #347, and the Collective in general, was odd. There was a
definite link, but no information or impressions flowed in either direction. 89
of 300's mental signature was similarly muted, although to not as great as a
degree.


"Where...." started 89 of 300.


"Who...." began Weapons at the same moment.


< Where, what, who, why, and how, I believe the sequence goes. Elementary problem
processing of linear, sentient creatures. Wonderful! Already excellent
information is being gleaned from your presence! > A distinct impression of
a clearing throat followed before the voice continued. < This where is a fractal
reality held between units of time of the macrouniverse. It is not much, but I
call it home, at least for now. I can take all the time I need to perform my
studies here without waiting for lag times in my experiments, some of which may
otherwise last thousands of years. Essentially this is your perception of a
moment between times. >


< What and who are more easily answered together. I am a scholarly member - professional
student I have been called from time to time - of an energy race who developed
in the fields of a vast galactic black hole quite a distance from this one. My
name is meaningless unless you can manipulate the energy signatures of gamma
rays as they whirl in the outskirts of a singularity. Therefore I've picked a
name from a corporal species I once came across and which I liked enough to
take a few centuries making preliminary studies for future research. You may call
me Bob. >


< Why? It is evident by now, and I can read it in your brain processing that you
both know it. You two are perfect for a short series of experiments I have
planned to further my research. >


< Finally is how. How is much more complicated, and it would take too long, even
in this place, to explain it. Suffice to say that during my species’ evolution,
in the harsh and improbable environment that it took place in, the need to
escape extinction relied heavily on the ability to finely manipulate the
physics of space and time. I'm not one of those conceited beings known as Q,
mind you, several of which have more than once messed with my research for a
whim. I'm a native of this universe, not some persistent left-over from five
Big Crunches back. > The last statement was said with a hint of hostility.


< Oh, and don't worry about your ship. I know you space-faring beings who use
mechanical conveyances often get antsy when they have been removed from their
transport. You will be returned in such a manner that no one will miss your
presence. > Bob hmmmed to itself, < Well, there is that artificial-built
hive mind bit to contend with, but there will be no lasting effects. To keep
you both somewhat sane, I've taken the liberty to route the subspace signal
into this fractal reality. However, as we are temporally traveling forwards
while subjectively your native universe is frozen, I'm sure the link you both
maintain is a bit stale. Your minds indicate you will survive the discomfort.
>


Bob, exceedingly chatty, continued on, jumping from subject to subject. When he
embarked upon a ranting tangent about a certain Q who had disrupted a millennia
of exacting observations approximately twenty thousand years prior, Weapons
discovered that if he walked in any one direction he could return to his
starting place within ten minutes. The bodiless voice was always present at a
constant conversational volume, ignoring the actions of the Borg. When 89 of
300 sashayed off with Weapons standing still, one could watch how she quickly
disappeared in the distance, only to reappear in the opposite horizon seconds
later. There was absolutely no perception of distance in this place; and no
color other than white beyond the gray, black, and silver of the Borg
themselves.


< Enough about me...let me tell you what will be happening in a short time from
now. When I looked in your ship, your minds caught my attention with their
opposing natures of conflict. Quite strong contention of disagreement, if I do
say so myself. In addition, there was a novel, if primitive, computer
simulation, BorgCraft the name was, in the top levels of your ship's general
memory. Imagine...still using quantum binary-based machines! >


< Anyway, since the program is a familiar medium for you two, I've taken the
liberty to make a few modifications and set it to running on a low-powered
virtual field computer I had lying around in another fractal dimension. I'm
amazed I even found it at all in that pigsty I maintain. During the course of
the set of simulations I've designed, of which you two will be competing for a
similar objective, I will be closely monitoring the differing styles of problem
solving which drew me to your minds in the first place. >


Both Weapons and 89 of 300 were too stunned to protest. Finally 89 of 300 spoke up,
"Have we no input in the matter? And what is to keep us from merging to
work in concert as Borg should do?"


< Excellent and intelligent questions! > lauded the invisible Bob. < As you
are subjects, I'm sorry, but you do not have much input. It is not allowed in
the protocol. As far as working together...well...two reasons why that won't
happen. First is the artificial subspace link I've set up is limited. You will
be able to talk to each other and see what the other is doing, but the physical
influencing and ordering of others that you enjoy in your ship is not allowed. And
the other reason is, well, frankly, do you two really expect to be helping the
other? I didn't think so. Now for the fun part! >


< Your first objective will be to destroy a transponder on an asteroid. There
will be opposition, naturally, but I can't tell you what to expect. I also
can't tell you what your starting assets will be, but they will be similar. When
this simulation is done, I'll give some time for rest and relaxation,
regeneration is the concept in your minds, and then we will go on to the next
scenario in the experiment series. >


< Let us begin! > A bright light enveloped the two Borg, leaving the
apparently endless white plane visually empty once more.


 


Weapons found himself on a shuttlecraft. Federation-style he decided after a few
seconds of looking around. There were swiveling seats by the front viewports
near an impressive bank of instrumentation. Weapons stalked forwards, glancing
out the ports momentarily before looking at the data displays and touch
screens.


"Bugger this," said Weapons out loud. "I am not going to fly this thing by
those inefficient means. There are other ways." Weapons put his intact
hand, palm flat, on a touch screen, then consciously activated assimilation
tubules. The nearly organic pieces of hardware burrowed into the console,
sending out a myriad of tiny tendrils, linking Weapons directly into the
computer systems of the shuttlecraft. Within seconds, Weapons' bodysense
expanded as the ship's sensor grid became his primary eyes and ears and his
skin strong alloy armor and electromagnetic shields. His drone-self assumed the
role of brain of a shuttlecraft shaped body. Weapons could sense 89 of 300
elsewhere taking similar actions.


 The asteroid belt was near. Moving closer, Weapons began to automatically dodge
rocks as easily as he might climb steps between catwalk levels in the cube. The
signal for the transponder beeped from a jumble of asteroids approximately one
third an orbit distant. The exact location was unknowable from this range due
to the amount of debris present in the same general vicinity. Trusting nothing,
especially not the ease of finding the transponder, Weapons shut down all but
the most basic of passive sensors as he powered engines to low impulse to chase
the rock in question.


Because of the precaution, Weapons saw the picket ship before it saw him. An
attack-class scout ship hung just above the surface of an asteroid, betrayed
solely by a low murmur of subspace radio as the pilot talked with an unseen
second ship. Weapons drifted to a halt. The beacon was still beyond, but the
picket ship was a greater threat to the final outcome of the mission. The
answer to the problem was elementary: Weapons attacked first.


Using the tractor, Weapons grabbed a large amount of gravel-sized rocks, sending them
towards the picket ship before following directly behind. Predictably, the
enemy ship fired phasers, but the gravel buffered the force sufficiently so
that the shields only lost a small fraction of total power. In return Weapons
unleashed the pitiful phasers of the shuttlecraft, powering straight into the
throat of the picket ship. Shield contacted with shield, bouncing the other
ship off the surface of the asteroid it had neglected to move away from,
shattering nacelles. Atmosphere visibly leaked from a hull breach. The enemy
was neutralized.


As Weapons took a minute to contemplate damage to his shuttle, he listened along
the link with 89 of 300. She was cursing as she dodged among several rocks with
the second known picket ship. As Weapons listened, 89 of 300 was trying to
explain to the Federation guard why she wasn't a threat, and why she couldn't
use visuals. The enemy wasn't buying the ruse.


Shuttle damage report concluded, Weapons reoriented himself with the transponder. It
was now within 200 kilometers, deeper within the maze of tumbling asteroids. As
he sent commands to the impulse engines to continue with the journey, Weapons
raked the near side of the slowly rotating picket ship, melting a long scar
which ended as a deliberate breech at the nose port windows. The remaining
atmosphere whooshed out in a satisfactory display of transparent aluminum
shards.


The robotic weapon platforms Weapons encountered ninety kilometers further into the
journey barely slowed him down. Setting course straight and at high impulse,
the shuttlecraft went straight between two of the platforms, absorbing phaser
fire on the shields. Predictably, the shields finally buckled under the
punishment, but before the automatic defenses could take advantage, Weapons was
already out of range.


Elsewhere in the vicinity, 89 of 300 led her picket ship on a merry chase, eventually
luring the enemy into the field of fire of the platforms. Extremely fancy
maneuvering caught the picket ship in crossfire of the powerful robotic
defenses. Under cover of the explosion, 89 of 300 slipped closer towards the
goal...but the time wasted on the ploy left her quite behind in the race. She
increased power to the engines, redlining them.


Weapons now ignored absolutely every obstacle, dodging those rocks too large to destroy
with phasers. A series of cloaked mines exploded, breaching the hull. As
Weapons did not need atmosphere, he ignored the damage, switching the power
from the extraneous life support to weaponry.


89 of 300 slowed and began a cautious weave towards the transponder. A rock
tractored and pushed in front of her shuttle cleared the way through the mines
with very little damage to the ship itself. She sped up again as she passed
through the dangerous field.


Laughing to himself, Weapons gave an unseen wave towards 89 of 300. He was going to win.
The transponder on the asteroid was obvious as it beeped loudly in subspace
frequency ranges. His direct approach was the best. Weapons was extremely
surprised as the shuttle bounced off a shield he had not thought to scan for. The
already quite damaged ship spun off on another vector. By the time he had
stabilized the vehicle with thrusters, 89 of 300 was putting herself in orbit
about the rock.


{Mine!} yelled Weapons. {I know you can hear me, 89 of 300...and the transponder is
mine!} No response from 89 of 300. {Back off from the asteroid, or I'll fire on
you. I got here first! You will obey me.}


{Forget it,} said 89 of 300. {Be logical...you are no threat with your ship barely
functional.}


Stabilizing his own orbit, Weapons calculated an intersecting vector with 89 of 300. {And
how do you plan to gain the prize?}


{Through intelligent thinking, not instinctive and trigger-happy reactions. The Bob
being more than likely set up these scenario as puzzles, not the phaser
gauntlet approach you took. That means the situation is not as hopeless as it
seems.}


Weapons agreed, {No, it is not.} Orbits matched, Weapons threw full power to the
thrusters, closing distance too quickly for 89 of 300 to make an effective
response.


The nose of Weapons' shuttle hit that of 89 of 300's amidships. Locked, the two
vehicles began to tumble, the few functional maneuvering thrusters on both
ships in conflict as the Borg worked against each other. After several
nauseating turns, Weapons finally had what was left of his shuttle lined up
with the asteroid. 89 of 300, mentally sensing the action-to-be, began to
protest loudly,


{No, you idiot! No! There are easier and safer ways! You are going to kill us both
for no reason!}


Gleefully returned Weapons, {The objective is the reason! Ends justifies the means!}


Warp engines, carefully protected through all the abuse the shuttle had taken,
powered up. The nacelles glowed brightly before pushing the unbalanced wreck
which was the pair of locked ships into low warp. Unfortunately, the shielded
asteroid was directly in the path, just as Weapons had calculated. The
subsequent explosion not only destroyed the shuttlecraft pair and the target
transponder, but every other object within one hundred kilometers.


 


Weapons blinked. He was still alive; with a minimum of concentration he could also feel
the presence of 89 of 300. Turning, visible conformation was acquired with the
other drone glaring at him.


"Dead, you hear me! We are dead! Before I was assimilated I remember thinking Borg
went to Hell when they died, assuming they actually did die. I was wrong. They
first go to Cube #347 and are in your hierarchy...then they go to Hell for a
restful vacation."


Weapons shrugged nonchalantly. "We are obviously not dead, if you haven't noticed.
And Hell is an irrelevant theology."


89 of 300's face was taking on a most unBorg tinge of red...tending towards as
flushed with rage a pallid visage could become. Before the other drone could
scream the bloody murder she wanted to scream and dismantle the obstinate
Weapons to pieces, the voice of Bob spoke,


< Excuse me. Could I have your attention? > The unseen presence waited a
minute or so before continuing on. 


< I am appalled, > came the thought of Bob, directed at Weapons. < The
sheer viciousness and single-minded pursuit of violence towards a goal makes
you unfit to continue in my experiments as a subject. In all my time as a
self-aware entity, I have seen many things, but nothing so cold-blooded as your
actions. And to think they were premeditated! You knew exactly what you were
doing at all times, but you just didn't care what happened to yourself or the
others around you. >


< Weapons, I am forced to return you to your ship. I think they would be better
off, and certainly safer, if I were to simply destroy you. However, my beliefs
do not include wanton termination of living creatures. Therefore, I hope one
day you will discover the folly of your ways, before it is too late for you and
your comrades. >


Bob shifted his attention to 89 of 300. < 89 of 300, you are a suitable subject
for continued study. Unfortunately, you would not be able to be returned to
your ship as I need a second linear, sentient corporal for my research. The
population I drew you from is more than likely polluted to some extent by
Weapons’ mind, as it is a psuedohive mentality. > Weapons protested, but was
ignored.


< That would mean I would need to put you in another fractal reality, one where
time moves much slower than in subjective reality. It will probably be many
decades, even centuries, before another suitable ship enters the system. If you
were not stored, you would more than likely die of old age. That in itself is
an interesting line of corporal research, but not one which is a part of my
thesis. >


89 of 300 asked, "One question: I would not have to deal with Weapons
again?"


< No. He will more than likely be dead long before I need you again. A long time
with his current mind set. For you, only a short time will have
passed...perhaps hours? A few days at most. >


"Done."


Before Weapons could say anything in his defense, he was whisked off in a flash of
bright light.


 


Sensors muttered over the net, {Sensors says that is [silly]. The one interesting item
in this system, and it disappears. Not just the signal, but the whole [blob]. Sensors
suspects some unknown spatial phenomenon.}


Dazedly, Weapons found himself back in his alcove as if he had never left. His
experiences almost immediately leaked into the sub-collective, although as his
mind began to register the reality about himself, he started to mentally edit
some parts, especially those that had to do with Bob's estimation of his
capacity of violence and self-destructive behavior. What did a noncorporal
being that evolved around a black hole really know about beings like himself,
especially those augmented with Borg technology? Nothing!


As the cube digested the new information, Captain called to Weapons, {89 of 300
will not be coming back? I felt her severance with this cube at the same time
the asteroid disappeared, and the Greater Consciousness will be demanding
answers as to how we lost a drone.}


{She will not be returning. And we can truthfully say 89 of 300 was taken without by
a being beyond our ability to give protest towards.}


{And this had absolutely nothing to do with her challenging of your position?}


{Absolutely nothing.}


 


The more he put it in perspective, the more Weapons convinced himself the Bob
entity was not qualified to make psyche judgment calls. The only thing which
had been profitable about the whole experience was the ideas for new directions
to explore with Federation scenarios. As the cube completed its scrutiny of the
system before leaving for the next in the search, Weapons began happily setting
up a new BorgCraft battle simulation.
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A Day in the Trenches


 


Deep in the heart of Exploratory-class Cube #347, a drone awoke from regeneration. This
action in itself was not unusual, it was repeated hundreds of times each hour,
but the drone in question was different: Delta was the current subdesignation
of 12 of 19.


An odd drone to say the least, Delta began life as twin girls, bonded as closely
together as two entities could be and yet continue to be physically separate. When
their colony was assimilated, the girls had recently left the house of their
three parents to strike out on their own. Entry into the Collective made
original thoughts of career opportunities highly irrelevant. Trama combined
with the rare occurrence of assimilation imperfection melded the minds of the
sisters into one. Now, for all practical purposes, Delta was of a single mind
inhabiting two bodies.


In one smooth action, both bodies A and B opened their eyes and activated optical
implants. However, the dim shaft adjacent the alcove tier was not the sight
which they focused upon, but rather the view from cameras within the central
warp core. Two slightly different points of view took in the pulsating green
light, around which active members of the engineering hierarchy moved. For
efficiency Cube #347 relied primarily on the single power source; but for
redundancy, should anything every happen (which occurred at distressing
regularity), ten redundant cores, all of which looked exactly identical to the
primary and could perform the same job, would be available as back-up.


Delta's subjective morning routine commenced. Body A disengaged her clamps and stepped
from the alcove with a muffled hiss. Mid-motion, a transporter whisked the body
to the central core, forward momentum transforming into a couple of steps
across the expanse of floor to a data port near the core, whereupon she subsequently
plugged herself directly into a computer. Engineering activities for the last six
hours began to scroll in Delta's mind. Meanwhile, body B similarly removed
herself from her alcove and was also captured in a transporter beam. She took a
position next to herself, jacking into a second port and commenced to download
the maintenance list for the duty shift.


Cube #347, like all Borg ships, had the ability to regenerate massive damage. However,
there were always hiccups in the system which occurred simply because a
complicated piece of hardware like a cube continually broke down in small ways.
Buckled hull plating was one thing; a blown fuse was completely different. And,
to be realistic, it was expensive in terms of power and materials for
ship-regeneration always to be active. It was much cheaper to employ the labor
provided by one thousand engineering drones and many industrial-sized
replicators.


Delta was the current head of the engineering hierarchy, a position appointed by the
Captain at the start of each assignment. It was her duty to coordinate
maintenance activities throughout the ship. She was also in charge of general
supplies, salvage, cargo, and emergencies which threatened cube integrity. As
she worked, Delta mumbled to herself outloud, her way of mentally organizing
the day's activities,


"Auxilary Core #1 has finally been recharged. It is ready to be brought on-line at any
time," said body A.


Muttered body B at the same time A was talking: "We need more hydrogen! I said that
the comet we picked up last week wouldn't do much beyond eighth fill the
holding tanks!"


"Sensor grid #29 is realigned at last, and all micrometeoroid bits picked out after the
momentary deflector 'failure' yesterday."


"I see 133 of 240 has burnt out the transporter controls in subsection 15,
submatrix 8 again. That needs to be fixed before too many complaints are
registered concerning hiking up and down the catwalk stairs. I don't lay good
odds on what his fellow drones in the vicinity will do to him before the shift
is done."


The nonconversation continued for a while. Backlogs of information were finally
cleared and a list of maintenance activities built. Priorities ranged from
painting the hull to repairing a cracked conduit. Delta sighed (both her bodies
reacting in unison)...another typical day in the trenches.


 


The cube was currently hunting a species designated #8511, a nearly abandoned ship
of which had been discovered over six months prior. A systematic search of
twenty-seven systems was taking place, but Delta had lost interest around
number twelve. She could easily find the precise order in the count the ship
was at, but it was irrelevant as far as she was concerned. The low amounts of
gasses in the replenishment tanks was much more important at the moment.


{Captain,} called Delta through the intranet. Although body A was still in the power
engine core and body B at Auxilary Core #1 to directly observe that system's
power-up, the mind was quite singular. {We need to make a supply run soonest. Hydrogen
and oxygen gasses are low, and we could use some nitrogen, xenon, and elemental
carbon as well. A few rare earth and metal asteroids are a slightly less urgent
priority, but could be used.}


Captain's mental reply filtered back, {Soonest? How soon?}


{I'll have to start shutting down the atmospheric component of life-support in a
rotating schedule through the sections within forty hours. We can all survive a
couple hours without air, but it is a pain...we do need to breath sometime.}


Captain began to shuffle through the most recent on-board supply list, absorbing the
data. {Delta, next time tell me a little sooner when we begin to run this low
of necessary items.} A sigh, followed by Captain initiating a consensus cascade
through the hierarchies of engineering, sensors, and his own command and
control. Star charts flashed through active memory, travel vectors overlaid on
current location and cross-referenced with the assets of known systems. Finally
a pit stop was proposed.


{This system will have the comets and asteroids we need. Initiating course
correction,} said Captain as he did so. The path of Cube #347 changed slightly
as it angled off to a new heading towards a binary system with catalogue number
Theta 34d.


 


Delta was analyzing the sensor data of the twenty comet nuclei nearest the cube. The
ship had dropped out of transwarp in Theta 34d's Oort cloud, the englobing mass
of icy left-overs drifting far from their dim orange primaries and dating back
to the system's formation. The data was confusing, to put it kindly, for
Sensors had relayed it to Delta without bothering to clean it up. As far as
Delta could tell, Sensors had been observing the nuclei in some of the more
obscure frequencies. That in itself was not unusual, as Sensors, one of the three
nonhumanoids on board, experienced the universe in a fundamentally different
manner than the rest of the crew.


{Sensors, this raw data is impossible. Frankly, I'm getting a headache. I do not have all
day to puzzle this mess out. I've figured out the water signature, only because
that is the most common compound in a comet, but what is everything else?}
exasperatedly sent Delta to Sensors. She mentally highlighted figures and
numbers within the shared datastream.


{Quantum-resonating [inverse] gravametric [flutters] is the best method to observe and quickly
catalogue inert planetoids such as comets and asteroids,} returned Sensors
smugly, {especially when funneled through Sensor's native senses.}


Delta slowly spelt out her response, as if to a drone assimilated for bulk instead of
brains, {I do not have your senses.} The words had been said many times in many
situations by many different crew members, but never seemed to sink in. They
more than likely would fail this time as well. {It IS NOT perfectly apparent to
me, with or without implant augmentation. If you do not clean up this data into
something I can use, I'll make sure your subsection, submatrix is the first in
the atmospheric system shut-down. I cannot promise how long the shut-down will
last.}


Several minutes later, false color images with compounds and elements neatly correlated
to the various hues was dropped into active memory. Delta swiftly retrieved it
with a rote {Thank-you} which none-the-less conveyed the distinct impression
that engineering, the drones (and especially Delta) that controlled one's
physical environment, was not a hierarchy to mess with.


The comet nuclei contained mostly water, as expected, with significant amounts of
lighter elements such as carbon. One comet in particular had large amounts of carbon
with traces of heavier elements, but in the end it did not matter. Each nucleus
would be tractored into a cargo hold and melted down. The "dirty-water"
would thence be placed in holding tanks, from which hydrogen and oxygen could
be distilled, and any compound/element sludge leftover similarly processed and
put to use.


 


*****


 


Warmth in darkness. Suspended complex chemical interactions recessitated as enzymes,
becoming pliable as temperatures rose above the freezing point of water. Other
proteins, not nearly as complex an organ as a taste bud or an olfactory
receptor, tasted the proximity of elements and compounds needed for growth,
initiating a cascade to awaken quiescent genetic material. What is life but a
carbon contaminant with minute quantities of heavier elements? It doesn't take
intelligence to survive; just as "determination" and "will"
drives an acorn onto the quest to become an oak, so these two basic qualities
of survival awoke the slumbering, ice-encrusted spore.


 


*****


 


The last tractored comet was a luke-warm slush within the dirty-water tanks. Distilling
of gasses could now begin, enzymes and electricity bubbling out hydrogen and
oxygen. These gasses in turn would be separated and stored in appropriate
holding tanks elsewhere in the cube, compressed to a near metallic state and
mixed with certain exotic stabilizers to prevent inadvertent ignition,
knowledge of which originated from the long ago assimilation of Species #2. After
several other stops throughout the system to complete Delta's list of needed
supplies, a final layover would be made in the Oort cloud to top off the dirty-water
tanks.


Delta peered at the data on the current system, wincing at the length of time since
the last survey. {Captain. The smallest gas giant has records of both nitrogen-
and sulfur-bearing moons. We need to go there.}


{The shopping list has expanded? You only needed asteroid metals before, with the
comets a priority.} The impression of a raised eyebrow, for all that Borg did
not have eyebrows, accompanied the not-so-surprised tone.


{We are on a low-priority mission for the Collective, and this sub-collective well
knows that it is an unknown as to the next time we will be back in civilized
space with supply depots or small outposts which can be conveniently
assimilated and stripped. We need the raw materials to keep replicators
functional, or would you prefer to go without several key ingredients during
regeneration several weeks from now?}


Exasperation. {Enough, Delta. You have absolutely no sense of humor.}


{Humor is irrelevant.} (Captain perfectly accompanied Delta in the stereotypical
proclamation.)


{True, but you don't always have to be so defensively serious about it, you know.} Captain
pushed the cube to full impulse, moving the sub-collective deeper into the
system.


 


*****


 


There was only instinct. The organism, a mold it would be defined as even though
exotaxonomy is not an exact science, could taste the elements around itself in
the liquid environment. It could grow, but not fast. The solid which contained
the liquid also was useful, much more so than the water, for it had many of the
trace compounds necessary for swifter growth.


Vacuoles of a digestive acid streamed through cytoplasm within pseudopod-like rhizoids,
terminating at the point of metallic contact. As the exotic material was
harvested, sequestered, and processed, holes grew in the side of the tank from
microscopic to fist-sized. Water began to flow out, taking the mold on a ride.


 


*****


 


Body B was maneuvering about the exterior pipes and crenulations on the hull when
Delta felt the sensors in holding tank #8 give alarm about a sudden drop in the
reservoir. Delta queried a diagnostic of the area, rerouting body B to stop the
hull examination and meet body A in the main energy core. Diagnostics were not
looking well: water was now reported in the area. Delta erected a force field
to contain the liquid, then sent forty-five of the engineering hierarchy
nearest the tank to clean up, repair, and investigate the mishap. Delta finally
locked the transporter on body A to send herself to the area to meet the
detail.


Part of Delta rematerialized waist deep in water, cold liquid immediately seeping
into the spaces between body suit and skin. Although comfort was supposedly
irrelevant, vacuum in many ways was preferable in her mind to wading in comet
slush. As body B began closely examining structural records to see if the
accident could have been prevented through maintenance, body A turned to see
where the dispatched crew had gone. Several drones peered into the tank room
from an entryway beyond the border of the force field.


"Get your butts in here!" yelled Delta through body A. "There is work to
do!" A couple of the drones looked at each other, but there was no
complaint outwardly voiced where it could be heard. Bodies began to enter the
sealed section, unenthusiastic posture turning into grumbles of displeasure as
the water proved to be as wet as it looked. "You are neither going to melt
nor rust; we need to pump this mess out of here." Pause. "Oh
right...you may leave, 24 of 230, as you do tend to slough off large amounts of
skin when you get wet."


Delta turned back to examine the outer wall of holding tank #8, a wake building as
she moved closer to the larger containment vessel. Several other holding tanks
shared this large area, but this was obviously the origin of the mess. Obvious
because even without sensor alarms, the series of seven double-fist sized holes
from which water continued to trickle were the cause of the problem. Delta
peered closer at the smoothly ragged holes, activating the zoom function on her
optical implant; and at the same time she gave up the hunt in past records because
delinquency in maintenance was not a contributing factor.


The holes almost looked as if they had been dissolved from the inside, although
that was impossible. As with the other structural components of the ship,
holding tanks were made from extremely durable ceramometallic alloys. The most
caustic of fluoride-based acids could be held with ease; comet water would not
eat a hole through cardboard, much less holding tank #8. A more in thorough
investigation could take place later. For now, priority was repair and clean up
of the mess.


Pumps began to make a loud rumble as they moved the water into another holding tank. Plasma
wielders melted patches onto the holed tank. Delta supervised it all.


 


*****


 


In a manner reminiscent of a terrestrial slime mold, only much accelerated, the
organism moved up a metallic wall, seeking the infrared warmth which bathed the
upper part of it, not that "up" had any meaning. Nothing but
chemistry-based instinct held "meaning". The mold had no nervous
system, only many centers of genetic material, call them nuclei for lack of a
better term, floating in a streaming pool of cytoplasm. Many similar cells
clung to each other in the classic form of a primitive multicellular organism,
communicating via exchanged proteins and secretory chemicals. Instinct.


A point was finally attainted where movement closer to the warmth triggered a
stimulus to retreat. The mold puddled out, bringing as much of itself as close
as possible to the border of infrared rejection. Powered by the radiant source,
several previously undifferentiated cells started to produce sugars for
storage, sequestering the polymers into huge vacuoles. This metablic change cascaded
to rest of the mold, initating the production of specialized enzymes, as well
as a "hunger" for certain compounds. Acid began once more to eat
through the walls.


Below, loud noises and moving Borg drones created a spectacle. However, the mold had
no ears to hear with, nor eyes to see. Instinct did not recognize the activity,
and instinct was all that mattered.


 


*****


 


Delta had assigned three hundred drones each of her hierarchy to process nitrogen-
and sulfur-compounds on the third and fifth moon of the small gas giant,
respectively. Body A was currently on site in the coldly dense atmosphere of
the nitrogen moon; body B should have been on the volcanic hell which was the
second planetoid, helping to dig old sulfur deposits, but that was not the
case. Delta had to rely on the remote impressions of viewpoints from drones on
moon #5, for a multitude of strange failures were triggering the internal
sensors of Cube #347.


All over the ship, concentrated in the cargo area which contained holding tank #8,
structural integrity was weakening. Nothing had buckled as of yet, but stress
fractures were being reported in the giant bundles of ceramometallic alloy
beams which were the main framework around which the cube had been built. An
analogy might be a humanoid body fearing the crumbling of their internal skeleton
due to osteoporosis. A multitude of conduits had also been breached, with
repair crews discovering small holes suspiciously alike those first found
decorating holding tank #8. 


Delta had over seventy drones on active repair duty now. Normally only a third of the
engineering hierarchy would be awake in any given moment, but currently almost
three quarters, seven hundred fifty drones, were out of regeneration. Projects
on the moons, roving repair teams, and normal maintenance had Delta working
overtime, mentally in many places at once while coordinating her two selves to
be doing the most good.


"Gah," muttered body A to herself as she “encouraged” a wayward member of a repair
crew to stop admiring the spectacular, if harmless effects, of a light plasma
leak venting on the hull. "Here I am dealing with over seven hundred of
these numskulls, and Captain routinely coordinates four thousand when
emergencies happen. I think I would go insane...if I didn't send most of the
idiots of this cube to Doctor first for repair."


Adjusting the power output of the primary core with command codes through the computer,
Delta prepared to activate ship-regeneration. The material-hungry and
power-hogging system was more appropriate for battle conditions, but at the
rate things were weakening, a battle might be the preferred alternative.


 


By the time Cube #347 had stopped in the asteroid field and located suitable rocks
for processing, Delta had all the engineering hierarchy active. Even with
ship-regeneration, structural integrity continued to be below acceptable
limits.


{Captain,} called Delta, {I am going to need to borrow fifty drones from Doctor.}


{Mine? That is a sixth of my hierarchy! And I'm still busy dealing with a most
astounding collection of problems acquired from that volcanic moon, not to
mention repair requests generated from your push to process asteroids,} butted
in Doctor as he heard his name mentioned.


Captain shushed Doctor. {Granted, but you cannot hold and direct that many bodies and
minds. You are an excellent drone when it comes to engineering matters, but
frankly, you are not of the mental persuasion to handle that much conflict. If
you were, you would be of the Hierarchy of Eight, and I would happily be
taking orders from a lowly place within the engineering hierarchy. Therefore, a
command and control partion will be assigned to assist.}


Delta, already pushing her limit, returned jauntily, { I will figure out what is
happening...it is a major priority! I just need a few more bodies handling
basic repairs while I direct a more in depth investigation as to the cause.} Delta
refused to let the tiredness show, for all that she had been functioning at
heightened levels for fifty-two hours. {The chosen asteroids will be processed
slag in twelve hours, ready to be fed to the replicators. The load will be much
lighter at that point.}


 


Fifteen hours later, Delta was longing for the quiet oblivion of her alcoves. She was
not body-tired for all that she had been rushing herselves about from one task
to the next, but her mind was exhausted, even with command and control
assistance, from directing what was now eleven hundred drones, over a quarter
of the ship's compliment, some of which had also been awake since the beginning
and were complaining they wanted regeneration time. Delta squelched each
objection as it was voiced.


Fortunately, oh so fortunately, Delta had finally traced the cause of the problems. An
unknown organism, a mold which appeared to live off of inert metallic compounds
of all improbable things, was slowly digesting the ship. It had been taken
aboard as a spore within a comet nucleus, thus bypassing biofilters, the
organic mass looking like simple background contaminants when sensor data for
the comet had been reexamined. That was the good news. The bad news was getting
rid of the lifeform before it ate everything, leaving the ship literally
crumbled around its drone occupants, might be extremely tricky. Local data
archives held nothing of use in combating the menace, primarily because it
appeared the mold had never been encountered before. Gee...lucky Cube #347.


Putting the most optimistic tone in to her tired voice, Delta contacted Captain to
provide a status update. Perhaps Collective archives might have some
information of use, but Captain would need to be the one to mediate the search.


 


*****


 


The mold was sending many tendrils throughout its environment, searching for the
compounds it needed for growth. The appropriate materials had yet to be found
in sufficient quantities, but the organism engulfed enough inferior foods to
grow quite large despite such problems. The concept of "large" was
meaningless, only that current bulk was not adequate to trigger the next part
of the organism's life cycle. Another barrier of low-grade growth media was
breached, only to uncover a semi-liquid jackpot.


 


*****


 


Captain's query yielded a big blank, meaning Delta was on her own to come up with a
solution. Portions of the mold, a nearly colorless and extremely slimy
creature, had been found clustering around infrared heaters throughout the
ship. Fire and vacuum became possible solutions as members of the engineering
hierarchy offered opinions. Simple and primitive, but quite effective on normal
organisms, Delta was about to initiate a program of eradication when a major
alarm went off.


{Detection of foreign substance within regeneration system reservoir of subsection 2,
submatrix 2,} quipped the computer as Delta queried for the reason behind the
alert.


No expletive was strong enough to accurately describe the feeling which Delta
experienced; she even did a quick search of language files. A fallback,
however, existed, one which was present in the language of every species, and
inevitably recorded as the final word before the pilot of plane or shuttle
crashed.


"Sh**."


The regeneration system was a tightly controlled network of reservoirs and conduits
which held the slush that held and distributed the sugars, proteins,
carbohydrates, and other nutrients needed by every drone. Assimilation shut
down the entire native digestive system, but the body still needed certain
products, which the ship supplied during regeneration in mixes which were
different for every species. A limited amount of contaminants the automated
systems could work around, if not outright use, but the sheer size of the mold
precluded that option.


Delta uploaded her concerns to Captain, effectively passing the buck. She did not
want additional concerns to deal with on top of the latest crisis and the
eleven hundred drones she was already coordinating. A recommendation to
alleviate the most immediate problem until the mold could be flushed was
attached to the general cry for help.


Incredulously Captain asked, {Are you sure? Have every single drone awake at the same time?}


{Yes, Captain. The regeneration system is going to have to be shut down anyway, which
will automatically kick everyone out of their alcoves.}


An impression of a headache, a reality which Delta was coming to know all too
well, {Four thousand, the whole crew, active at once. Four thousand ways to
physically cause trouble.} A sigh. {How long?}


{I do not know. I and a good number of other drones have already been without
regeneration for over eighty hours. Depending on original species, two hundred
to two hundred fifty hours is the maximum; and members will be dragging with
body-fatigue in the end. Too long without regeneration, and the body will
die. The mind continues on in the Greater Consciousness, of course...but I
don't think many of us are ready to hurry the process, at least not in such an
unglamorous manner.}


Delta felt the ship alter course, heading towards the Oort cloud. {We will go back to
where this whole fiasco began, assuming the organism does not get into any more
vital systems. Repairs and maintenance is your hierarchy's bailiwick, Delta: if
you don't manage to salvage this cube, it will become our tomb. For some reason
I don't think the Greater Consciousness will shed many tears over our passing.}


Delta agreed as she turned back to the ideas of eradication via flames and void.


 


*****


 


Growth was explosive as necessary nutrients were absorbed. Enzymes and proteins
modified the basic substances into compounds to be stored in vacuoles. No pain
receptors registered the fact when portions of mold were destroyed by the
cleansing flames of Delta's crews. Those parts which were torched were unneeded
now that the bulk of the organism was drawing sustenance from the regeneration
conduits. Most of the mold was unreachable, anyway, curled around the struts of
the cube superstructure. It would take nothing less than total demolition of
the ship accompanied by sterilization in plasma flames of a star to eradicate
the it. The touch of vacuum when it came was similarly ineffective...but it did
trigger the next stage of the life cycle.


 


*****


 


Delta was very tired; her fatigue affected the others in hierarchy, dragging them
down further than if she had been fresh from the alcove. Physically unable to
sleep, unable to take in desperately needed nutritional supplements other than
by regeneration, Delta forced herself to continue. Ten drones had dropped in
their tracks, half in the last two hours, body-fatigue forcing the organic part
of the Borg into a protective hibernation from which complete regeneration was
the only answer.


Closing the eyes of both of herselves, Delta initiated implants near special glands in
her bodies to release a stimulant similar to caffeine into her bloodstream. Her
original species had a somewhat controllable glandular system which naturally
produced many organic compounds ranging from endorphins to sedatories; implants
made control full and exact. Most other drones did not have the ability,
unfortunately. In example, Delta felt yet another member of the engineering
hierarchy mentally blank.


{Doctor....} began Delta, searching the net for Doctor.


{I know. We are taking care of the problem now. If the regeneration system is not
fixed soon, not only will more drones be entering stasis lock, those already so
will begin to die.}


Delta sighed. Body A and body B were at widely separated places within the cube. While
all instances of the visible mold had been charred successfully, exposing
sections of the ship to vacuum did not seem to bother the organism. The vast
majority of the mold was as tightly associated with the superstructure as
fungus hypatiea running through a slice of bread. The combined efforts of a
thousand drones and ship-regeneration could not keep pace with ongoing
destruction.


The truth was plain, if painful: there was no way to destroy the organism before
the drones on the ship became non-functional. Perhaps the mold was a simple
space-evolved parasite, perhaps an ancient bioweapon...the reality was nibbling
Cube #347 to death like a flock of ducks.


 


*****


 


Sections of a genetically predetermined mass began to pull in towards a center,
splitting the formerly single massive organism into several simply gigantic
ones. Each "child" mold had sequestered sugars and other nutrients
necessary for a long, if spartan, existence of torpidity. The borders of each
mold no longer displayed receptors of communality, but instead actively
expelled polypeptide messages of avoidance.


Regrouped, each child mold began to move quickly, seeking liquid in the form of water. Enzymes
and proteins cascaded in their final series of chemical interactions - life
cycle is complete, time to sleep.


 


*****


 


In yet another increasingly futile diagnostic of crumbling systems, Delta checked
the overall health of the ship. Five drones had been declared dead, and another
thirty-five stacked in Doctor's main workshop like so much cordwood. Over two
hundred hours had passed since Delta had first woken her bodies from her
alcoves. Her unoptimistic frame of mind was totally unprepared for the cube
stasis report.


{Contaminant flushed from regeneration systems. Nanitic repair to 10% of superstructure
damage. Estimated time to complete repair is four hours and twenty minutes.}


 


*****


 


Each mold, eleven in total, dissolved their way into separate holding tanks,
settling to the bottom. A dense spore coat of nearly pure carbon formed around
the increasingly senescent core of genetic material, armoring the organism to
sudden changes in radiation, air pressure, temperature, and other environmental
impacts. Chemical interactions slowed, the spore slept. Instinct did not allow
for the noticing the flushing of each holding tank into space, nor the freezing
of the water until it resembled nearby natural comet nuclei, indistinguishable
via sensors except for large amounts carbon with significant traces of heavier
elements.


Life cycle successful and complete.


 


*****


 


Jacked into exterior sensors, Delta watched the contaminated ice chunks float away. A
report would be sent to the Greater Consciousness concerning the dangers of
this system's Oort cloud - it may have been just coincidence to pick up the
mold, or a great majority of the nuclei could have dangerous spores in them. The
ordering of memories to be filed as formal data could wait, however.


It was time to sleep. Delta's bodies were weary and hungry as only a Borg drone
could know. Most of the crew had already returned to their alcoves, although
Delta could feel a few still active. Doctor was continuing his work on those
which had fallen during the crisis, and Captain and Second were communicating
with Sensors' hierarchy as to the closest cube repair facility. Triggering her
bodies to enter regeneration, Delta freed her mind to join the others. Damn the
engineering docket for awhile and let trivial repairs pile up. Another day, an
extremely long day, was finally concluded.
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Fifth Dimension


 


"You are about to take a journey. A journey not only into the dimensions of sight
and sound, but of mind. A journey where the boundaries of imagination are
expanded into the infinite. There is a signpost up ahead. Next stop: the
Twilight Zone."


Captain had been standing motionless in the nodal intersection nearest his alcove when
the voice began to echo over the speaker system and within the minds of every
drone of Exploratory-class Cube #347. In part the disruption was a relief, for
the game of cho'ack - a virtual card game played within the dataspaces - was
being lost badly to 8 of 8. The odds against drawing a nova series were
astronomical, yet 8 of 8 had done so...twice. Cheating was obviously involved,
but Captain had yet to trace the commands his opponent was using to
"influence" the supposedly neutral computer.


{Who is playing with the announcement system?} sternly sent Captain to all four
thousand drones. {I will find out who did it eventually...but you can save me
the trouble by confessing now.} Captain was already beginning to review the
automatic logs concerning system usage, looking for tell-tale code trails, but
the search was revealing little. General silence continued to greet the
subject. Disgusted, Captain regretfully triggered the computer to deal another
round of cho'ack.


Approximately five minutes and another losing hand later, the mysterious voice once again
began to echo on the intercom, but another source was much closer. Captain
whirled on a heel to see what appeared to be a human male standing at an
entryway to the nodal intersection. He was fairly tall and well-built in a
slender manner. A gray suit with charcoal tie complimented neatly groomed,
short black hair. Heavy eyebrows arched over piercingly knowing eyes. Most
disconcerting was as the stranger spoke, his teeth were continually exposed in
the slightest of ironic smirks.


"The Borg: an egotistical, multispecies, technologically dependent empire which
threatens the sovereign individuality of the Milky Way. Sometimes, however, the
expected actions of the to-be-assimilated do not play by the script, especially
when the playwright hails from the Twilight Zone."


An eerily simple melody of tones followed the odd proclamation, during which the
human just...disappeared. No flash of light, no wavering out of existence, no
transporter effects; he just gave a final twisted smile before vanishing.


 


The conundrum of the unknown human and his meaningless proclamations was eventually
filed as either (1) a mass hallucination due to events happening elsewhere in
the Collective which had managed to filter into the subconsciousness of Cube
#347, or (2) a non-corporal entity having a laugh at the Borg's expense. Both
solutions were equally likely, and equally irrelevant in the long run. After
several days with no reoccurrence, the file was closed and buried in long-term
memory storage.


The current mood of the cube was of weary expectation. The final stop on the
twenty-seven system search for colony worlds or a homeworld of species #8511
was drawing closer. The last on a list made many months prior, this system sat
in the in the outskirts of a vast nebula. The star and any attendant planets
were too young to be the evolutionary cradle of a space-faring race, but
colonies were a distinct probability. Assuming there was anything present at
all.


The prior twenty-six systems had been empty of the target species (although other
beings and phenomenon had been encountered). If no directions of the
whereabouts of species #8511 became apparent, Captain anticipated a very long
and very tiring tenure as Captain. The assignment to find species #8511 could
drag into years in the event of no clues.


Cube #347 exited from transwarp, boldly continuing towards the yellow primary at
high impulse while making preliminary scans for the hallmarks of high
technology: the babble of space-born communications. Jackpot. Almost
immediately the modulated frequencies of subspace, radio, and even light were
detected from several places. Concentrations included an M-class planet, its
two moons, five large rocks in an asteroid belt, and the Trojan points of the
system's largest gas giant. Numerous fainter emissions pointed to a healthy
spaceship population. And most exciting of all, that which made the pain of the
previous months fade, was that quick sampling of audio confirmed the presence
of beings speaking the species #8511 language.


Captain called to Sensors to begin to capture and translate as much information as
possible, which the nonhumanoid Borg was already doing. The other hierarchies
readied themselves for contact. A consensus was scarcely necessary to be
initiated by Captain, although he did so regardless. A fuller connection with
the Greater Consciousness was then established to upload preliminary data, provide
recommendations from the cube, and ask for directions. The Greater Collection
mulled over options, then gave orders to the wayward part of itself before
drawing away again. The answer?


{Consensus complete. We have not been detected as of yet. We will proceed to one of the
transports currently on a heading between the terrestrial planet and the
asteroid complex we will designate as Alpha. Assimilation of occupants will
gain better knowledge of species attributes and technology level. If
technological or biological distinctiveness is found, Assimilation-class cubes
will be dispatched.} 


Anticipation was bubbling throughout the nets - Cube #347 was being given (gasp!)
responsibility! Of course, if initial resistance was met, the imperfectly
integrated sub-collective would also feel the brunt of phasers, torpedoes, and
other weapons. {We will not screw up this time,} admonished Captain in a
general announcement as he sent the cube powering deeper into the system
towards the target transport.


The tenacious arm of the nebula in which the star was embedded exhibited an elevated
dust particle count and denser hydrogen/helium concentrations than which would
be encountered in a normal system. In the visual spectrum, space had the
faintest of blue glows as energetic particles from the primary reacted with the
sub-microscopic and elemental dross floating about. Little more than an
irrelevant astronomical curiosity, the cube's progress was not hampered.


As the transport came within visual range, Captain activated the large and very nonBorgstandard
viewscreen on the wall of the nodal intersection he normally frequented when
not in his alcove. The shuffle-clunk sounds of another Borg entering the
intersection did not bother Captain, for it was impossible for one drone to
sneak up unknown to another.


"The bets on you keeping that thing for much longer are getting long," said
Second as he took his place next to and slightly behind Captain. Second's two
externally unaltered eyes flicked once at his hierarchy-mate before settling on
the screen. "However, I am beginning to understand why you like it better
than direct sensor feed or the normal monitors."


"Darn right." Captain took a millisecond or so to check the bet boards,
"I'll let my wager ride, thank you." A minute or so of tweaking the
display gave a picture of the actively moving transport layered several times
with different types of sensor data. Visually the ship was alike to the first
one detected, shaped like an elongated dumbbell. As it was an in-system
transport, no warp fields could be seen nor were expected; however, the
frequencies monitoring impulse activity placed engines in the front globe
section. All ships encountered by the Borg previous to those built by species
#8511 were mounted rear-wards, slung under the hull, or situated deep within
the ship mass. The forward-mounted design, despite a minor inherent
instability, was one of the idiosyncrasies which might indicate a technological
innovation which the Borg must have to achieve perfection.


At the very least, Captain just wanted to know the name of the bloody stupid
engineer who thought up the design in the first place.


The cube was close enough for the transport to detect, unless the ship was flying
blind. Continuing monitoring of chatter between it and the asteroid complex
suggested several live beings were on board. Translations of the conversations
indicated no alarm, or even interest, was directed at Cube #347...almost as if
entry of the feared Borg was a common occurrence.


Medium-range scans detected five life signs scattered throughout the ship's rear globe and
longitudinal axis. Organic and metal masses were packed tightly within the rest
of the vehicle, pointing towards a cargo transport. No shields were active and
the limited weaponry arsenal appeared to consist of a communications laser and
a small deflector dish modified to demolish asteroids to an estimated four
metric tons. In other words, no problems were foreseen; and the nearest
possible help would be at least an hour distant at conventional emergency
in-system speeds.


Cube #347 broke out of high impulse at the cosmic near-miss distance of ten
kilometers. As the ship moved in on its target like a shark homing on a
helpless swimmer, tractor beams lanced out to catch the prey. With no modulated
shield harmonics to compensate for, capture was easy, even for Captain's
normally barely competent sub-collective. A second and third tractor was
initiated before the cube slowed to a halt. Finally the alien ship acknowledged
the Borg's existence with a hail.


"What do you think you are doing?" came an exasperated audio message.


Captain ignored the hail, busy directing the sub-collective in the infrequently used
protocol of first contact. Delta, head of engineering hierarchy, directed the
sampling of hull alloys via cutting laser, preparing to compare the data to
that gleaned from earlier contact; and Second chose three of Assimilation's
hierarchy and two of Weapons’ to make the initial transport to the other ship's
bridge area in accompaniment of himself. Satisfied all was running smoothly,
Captain finally replied.


"Species #8511, we are the Borg. Resistance is futile. Your technological and biological
distinctiveness will be added to our own." Captain was especially careful
to include the vital plural in the pronouncement...Cube #347 would do something
correct for a change! Excitement continued to bubble in the nets, euphoria and
non-boredom for the moment keeping all in line. It was not to last.


{Can we blow it up now?} asked Weapons, who was becoming increasingly antsy as the
prospect of active resistance in the near future faded.


{No,} replied Captain.


{Why?}


{Because I said so. And because I'll lock out all your weaponry control if you do, and
transfer control of the tractors to Delta.}


{You would not dare!}


{Try it and I'll personally shove you in a torpedo bay and launch you into deep
space.}


Pouting silence...for the moment.


On the alien cargo ship, the data collection team materialized from transporter
beams onto the bridge. The sensors had placed one of the five life signs in the
local area, but the being was not immediately present when the drones appeared.
First impressions were of a place where cleanliness was low on the list of
priorities. Although each member of the team was outwardly silent, the subspace
connection with the other members of the ship sang with comments and critiques.


*Squish* {What did I step in?} Second looked at the deck under his feet, focusing on the
melted-looking object, but could only come to the conclusion that the bright
blue color was one not normally found in nature.


{Have you found the main computer terminal yet?} asked 7 of 46 to the other pair from
his hierarchy of assimilation. 19 of 46 swept a ream of paper and chunks of a half-eaten
bread product from a console while 25 of 46 ungracefully tripped on a step
unseen because of an obscuring pile of what appeared to be dirty socks. {No,}
was the dual reply. 


Meanwhile 180 of 300 and 202 of 300 peered about, searching for the biological occupant. Both
were rabidly ready to be terminated by horrible phaser weapons in the name of
Cube #347 so that adaptation could commence. Both were being severely
disappointed and loudly whining about that fact.


{Found it!} crowed 25 of 46 as she removed a blizzard of purple stick-it notes from a
monitor and touch screen, backing off to allow 19 of 46 access when the
garishly colored papers refused to unstick from either of her two organic hands
(she had four manipulatory limbs). Second squished his way towards one of the
three doors leading off the bridge, ignoring the fact his right foot was now
stained blue. 180 of 300 had already forced open one, uncovering the empty
shaft of an elevator system. 202 of 300 was contemplating another door, but
deciding from the bold markings it led to a shrine (and force field
impenetrable to Borg subspace frequencies) similar to the one found on the
abandoned ship which had begun this whole mess. As data began to be dumped from
the computer system to the Borg cube for digestion, Second levered open door
number three.


"I'm gone five seconds to take a leak, and ether-dreamed demons appear on my bridge!
I'm going to have Ilup's hide for this little daydream! Computer, locate
Ilup...now!"


"Ilup is currently groufing in cargo hold twelve," replied a disembodied voice
with a gender-neutral tone.


The first look at a live specimen of species #8511 was of a being similar yet
different from the original Ghari hologram encountered. The creature was a
humanoid biped with typical two legs and two arms, and sporting six eyes of
green situated in two horizontal rows of three. Hair, also green, flopped over
four holes at the side of the head which might have been ears; no nose was
observable, but the large mouth angrily continued to mutter untranslated
obscenities. At that point likeness to the hologram ended. Where the
psuedoGhari had been thin, this being was quite fat, belly protruding over very
unflattering tights of red. A brown jacket-sweater fit over torso snugly to the
point of bursting.


Paying absolutely no attention to Second, or to the other five Borg, the being pushed
past to the bridge proper.


"Look at the mess these demons are making! I, Fennis, captain of my own transport,
should have total control of the local grouf...but oh, no...Ilup insists on
these little acts of rebellion. If he wasn't my nephew, I'd bounce him back
home, but then my sister would have one of her absolute fits. Give me a
headache to last weeks when it would be done." Fennis was talking to
himself. The word "grouf," used as both verb and noun, was not
translating.


Captain sorted through the six points of view, shuffling from each to observe as a
whole and gain a complete picture. For some reason, the member of species #8511
was completely ignoring the Borg presence. In fact, data from Sensors indicated
no one was paying any attention to the happenings. A little irritated, Captain
initiated a consensus cascade.


{Assimilation. The materialistic and computer data is useful, but an organic perspective is
necessary.}


Unencumbered by either purple stick-it notes or data download, 7 of 46 carefully made his
way across the bridge. "Damn, Ilup's most current grouf is good. Incredibly
lifelike, if supremely ugly. Mark the boy for a high priest, assuming he ever
gets those insane fantasies out of his head," commented Fennis as 7 of 46
approached, a note of pride in an otherwise annoyed voice. 


"Hold still, you will be assimilated," said the drone as he reached out for the
transport captain's arm.


Surprised, Fennis could only reply, "Hey!" as 7 of 46 grabbed the limb and
firmly injected assimilation tubules into flesh. Fennis acquired a glazed look
on his face, then fell slack to the ground. Incomprehensible, although the body
swiftly faded to a gray hue and sprouted a few visible implants, no new mind
was felt by the sub-collective of Cube #347.


Just as Sensors commented, {Sensors now sees a new life sign on board,} a hum began
to emanate from an activated elevator. Shaft doors opened behind 180 of 300,
disgorging an angry...Fennis.


"What type of ether-demons has Ilup conjured up? Destroyed my second-best body, that
thing did, destroyed it beyond recovery. I'm only allowed to grouf so many
bodies per cycle, or pay through the nose to the priests for the extraneous
expenditure. Ilup's going to have his pay docked! Computer...dock Ilup one
quarter cycle of credit, and notify him he will be curfewed on his next
leave!"


"Compliance," returned the computer.


Not used to being so totally ignored, Captain was becoming extremely irritated, a
feeling which translated itself to the other members of the cube. After fending
off another request from Weapons to blow up the ship and assuring himself no
rescue effort was being mounted in the system, Captain initiated a further
series of orders.


Acting on the commands, Second positioned himself directly in front of the ranting
Fennis. "We are the Borg. Resistance is futile. We will not be
ignored."


"Ilup. Enough is enough. Get rid of these creatures, or I'll burst your bubble for
you. And you will have a very non-grouf headache."


Second silently stared at Fennis, then impatiently gripped the humanoid, swinging him
swiftly around to directly inject nanites into the neck, where major arteries
to the brain were usually found. As with the other Fennis, the body simply
slumped to the ground before assuming the physical look of a Borg...but no new
mental presence was detected.


Data download of the transport's information files was nearly complete; Captain
assigned members of assimilation, engineering, and his own hierarchy to begin
ordering it.


Sensors detects another lifesign in the transport. In an eerie deja vu moment, the
elevator hummed into movement, eventually opening doors to yet another Fennis.


"Headache time, Ilup. I am captain of this grouf-group, and I will assert myself." A
look of concentration came over Fennis' visage as he half-closed four of his
six eyes. "Something is not right here," he said after nearly a
minute. "Computer...classify grouf apparitions within one kilometer and
display on screen."


A moderately large viewscreen at one side of the bridge started to brighten under
a thin film of dried splatters of a liquid and a patina of dust. A high pitched
whining sound swiftly ascended the octaves until it was inaudible to the
average, unaugmented range of hearing, although Sensors began to loudly
complain of bright orange scratches obscuring her intimate link with the sensor
grid. The viewscreen flickered once, then displayed a dumbbell shape in which
five green dots blinked; eight yellow polygons of various sizes also occupied
the screen within and without the transport icon.


"Well...bugger me for a priest...you demons aren't grouf, are you?" Fennis stated in a
conversational tone with posture akimbo, seemingly unconcerned despite the fact
two of his likeness were lying on the deck.


Captain rode part of the sub-collective to break the communication protocols of the
transport, throwing a stereotypical picture of the catwalks and alcoves of Cube
#347 onto the screen. "We are the Borg."


"Never heard of ya...but if you tootle on your way, we won't be having to do anything
nasty to you."


"You will be assimilated. Your technological and biological distinctiveness will be
added to our own. Resistance is futile."


"Do you have a limited vocabulary, or are you just hard of hearing? I said bugger
off!"


"Buggering off is irrelevant. You will be assimilated."


"Assimilated? You mean what you did to my second- and third-best bodies? Get it into whatever
you...Borg...use as a brain. Those are bodies. They are organic robots
created by grouf...and damn expensive ones too!"


Trading more useless 'conversation', Captain continued the inane trite spoutings in
order to gain more time to study the data files, especially those that
pertained to “grouf”. The term “grouf” apparently referred to both the
potentiality of the nebula and the moulding of that potentiality, a confusing
definition at best. Then Fennis revealed a true nugget of information, one not
contained in the database,


"Okay...I and my grouf-mates have conversed back home. Toole is contacting the
authorities on Jharin Prime now. However, I see you as a disturbance, and am
going to treat you as such. If you do not make reparations for my bodies, we on
this ship will have to hurt you."


"Reparations are irrelevant." The phrases 'back home' and 'Jharin Prime', coupled with
a threat of contact which were not registering on any known frequency which was
normally associated with local faster-than-light communications gave a clue
that this system did not contain the homeworld. A new technology appeared to be
in use! Scanning of the pilfered information files finally found mention of the
current system (unusually buried) to be known as Playground. However, there was
also no mention in either technological manuals or general logs of any
communications system unknown to the Borg.


"Whatever you say."


Second, feeling something on his foot, looked down. The blue substance was creeping up
his leg; a multitude of small dark red eyes opened to glare upwards with a
crazed glint.


The sock pile suddenly heaved up and crashed down on 202 of 300, whom had been
standing nearby. 180 of 300 moved forwards to kick the smothering garments
away, but found himself banging into a transparent wall. Every direction he
turned, the unseen barrier was present, corralling him in an area less than a
meter on a side.


Meanwhile, the three of the Assimilation hierarchy were in no better situations. The
purple ink coloring the sticky notes still attached to 19 of 46 began to leak,
staining the drone with a sticky liquid that subsequently set such that she
could barely move. The papers which had earlier been swept to the floor rose up
in a blinding flurry, surrounding 25 of 46 until his visual input was little
more than white static. 7 of 46 urked as he fell, finding himself trapped on
the ground in a clear box like 180 of 300.


On Cube #347, an unusual state of affairs was developing. Mud was beginning to
condense on bulkhead walls in the subsection (a quick check confirmed) which was
being used as the visual for contact with the transport of species #8511. Unfortunately,
that area included the places Captain frequented. Mud was now flowing down the
walls to build into slippery piles on the catwalks. Peering out of the nodal
intersection, Captain could see his alcove was approximately knee deep in black
muck. A swear word echoed loudly in the net, followed by the sound of a body
slipping off of a higher catwalk in tandem with the sensation of falling, and
ending with a crash and a registration via Doctor for immediate maintenance. With
the emergency forcing of consensus, a decision was made.


The six drones on the cargo transport were grabbed with a transporter lock and
beamed back to their normal locations in the cube. As soon as Second shimmered
into view in the nodal intersection with Captain, he began to swiftly scroll
through inventory, attempting to locate a hand-held sterilizer. Ignoring the
subsequent materialization of the small device and its use to fry the blue goo
into an acrid odor, Captain sent to an eager Weapons, {You may destroy it now.}


The dumbbell-shaped ship was a sitting target, owed primarily to the fact it was
still in a firm tractor grip. The transport also proved to have relatively thin
hull plating around its forward drive globe, disintegrating into debris after
being hit with only two torpedoes. The mud promptly stopped flowing from the
walls. Then, between a collective blink and the next, the transport was
back...and hailing the cube.


"Borg vessel with the stupid shape, that was not a polite thing to do. I have been
given emergency grouf units to regrouf my ship, but only because I am
on-site." Mud was now forming all over the cube. In the central
engineering area, Delta cursed as a wave of muck dirtied her clean core. "It
has been decided to temporarily abandon this system - it was quite a reach
anyway for grouf - and compensate those who lost any profit from the shut-down.
However, before we go, I must tell you...you have been a very impolite people. I
hope this little demonstration of grouf will make you think before you act in
the future."


Mud was now forming on the ceiling, only to fall to the floor. And on Captain's and
Second's heads. All over the cube, the sticky substance was a nightmare, making
movement impossible without ungraceful falls. Some of the stuff was even
seeping into interstitial spaces, precipitating shorts throughout the ship. With
dismay, the sub-collective calculated it would take weeks to clean up the
mess. Just as Weapons was aiming at the resurrected transport, if only to halt
the mud formation for a few minutes, the ooze stopped forming.


The transport was gone. Not only had it disappeared, but other than residual
communications via sub-light bands, the presence of species #8511 was entirely
gone from the system. Population concentrations had vanished and it was
impossible to tell an intelligent race had ever occupied the area. Long range
sensors directed at asteroid complex Alpha showed a rock unaltered by sentient
tools, where a previous examination only hours before had presented a face
heavily sculptured and scarred. Sensors' monitoring of esoteric frequency
modulations demonstrated an odd harmonic vibration, one which faded even as the
cube listened.


Suddenly, the voice heard many days ago was back again; and as Captain stared up at an
intercom speaker, mud dripping from his head to plop to the floor, he somehow
knew this would be the last time any in the Collective would ever hear it.


"In the galactic game of cat-and-mouse, the mouse isn't always the helpless
creature it seems, and neither is the cat the ultimate predator. Sometimes the
mouse simply gets tired of playing with the cat and disappears back through its
hole into...the Twilight Zone."
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A Very Long Distance Call


 


Lieutenant Sean Russell of the Federation station Waystation was happily locked in his
workroom engaged in one of his favorite activities - tinkering. For the past
week, he had fully concentrated on finishing his newest invention; so vital was
his need for absolute quiet, he "conveniently" made sure he
"disappeared" in the eyes of the computer sensors when he wasn't
actively scheduled to be on-duty.


"One more little adjustment...." muttered Sean to himself, tweaking a bit of
wire which ran from what appeared to be a metallic hairnet to mid-sized black
box with twinkling green lights. "Soon...soon I will have...pizza!"


Sean was not just on the quest for pizza, but perfect pizza. Sure, there were
several eateries which had pizza (either Terran fashion or some alien
interpretation) on the station, but they never got it quite right. Perfect
pizza was at least one-day old, such that crust, fresh the day prior, had just
a hint of stale flavor. Perfect pizza was cold from a refrigerator and meant to
be eaten for breakfast when one was in such a rush that even cereal took too
long to replicate. Perfect pizza consisted of tangy tomato sauce, cheese pooled
into consolidated oil puddles, pepperoni curled up at the edges, and mushrooms
shrunken to half their pre-oven size. In other words, perfect pizza was not to
be found within three hundred light years of the station, except for within
Sean's mind.


This presented quite a dilemma.


The solution was on the workbench, nearly complete. The hairnet gizmo, connected to
a few pilfered medical instruments from sickbay, would read Sean's mental
picture and expectations of perfect pizza when he put it on his head. The
medical tools would then relay the information to a small replicator (misplaced
from inventory originally meant for a colony ship), which would then attempt to
produce the required food. If compounds were missing or needed, the replicator
would activate a miniature transporter. The transporter (the parts came from a
cargo transporter, which was in fact actually broken and still waiting for a
part to be shipped...Sean had just never informed anyone he had the necessary
bit to repair it in his workroom) was plugged into station sensors, and through
that, could search Waystation and its immediate environs for needed materials. If
all was built correctly, and it seemed to be, perfect pizza would be on the
bench in the next five minutes.


Sean rubbed his hands in anticipation and uttered a bout of maniacal laughter for
effect.


 


Yeoman Tina Jones was bored, but that was nothing new. Greeting ships as they arrived,
making sure papers were in order, pointing the direction to the nearest public
restroom...a computer could do the same actions and would be perfectly happy
besides. Currently there was a lull where no colony ships, supply ships,
military ships, or any other type of ship for that matter, was anticipated for
the next two days.


Tina tried to rationalize her thoughts. It wasn't that she didn't have anything to
do...it was that it was always the same. Other Starfleet personnel,
specifically those zooming about the galaxy on ships, had exciting things
happen to them (Tina was conveniently forgetting the Secondprize, most likely a
case of horrible repressed memories). At the very least the scenery changed. To
top it off, when there was a break in the routine, it became more than apparent
how little responsibility Tina actually had.


Sneaking a peak at a clock on a nearby wall terminal in the corridor she was currently
in, Tina sighed. Only seven more hours to try to look busy (or hide) before her
shift was done.


 


*****


 


Second methodically plowed through the current status reports of the four thousand
drones of Cube #347. In a case of “in one ear and out the other”, Second was
paying only superficial attention, occasionally flagging one designation or
another as small discrepancies in the reports were mentally scrolled through. The
remainder of his focus was within the decision cascade initiated by Captain
several days prior in an effort to process a large load of data and emerge with
a direction to go in the pursuit of species #8511.


Captain's body was currently in regeneration, although his mental signature could be felt
moving along the nets from one working partition to the next, correlating data
and sending the giant organic computer which was Cube #347 off on another
tangential search. That left Second nominally in charge with a support
function, completing his normal duties as well patrolling the tangents to make
sure they were staying somewhat on track and not degenerating into, say, an
argument as to which species built a better civilization before its
assimilation into the Collective, which was, of course, the best of all.


Recently, in the outskirts of a vast nebula, the search of species #8511 appeared to have
come to an end when a colony system was found. Unfortunately, some type of
physically manifested mental ability which included, among other things, the
capacity of throwing one's mind hundreds of light years and the mass
transportation of matter. The ability was called “grouf”; and with it, species
#8511 had seriously embarrassed Cube #347 in particular, and the Borg in
general. Before totally disappearing, information had been downloaded from a
cargo transport. It was that mildly unhelpful data which was being shifted
through to try to find clues as to where the real home system of species
#8511 might lie. Thus far few concrete facts had been gleaned, although small
nuggets, such as the information long-distance grouf was technologically
enhanced, were very interesting.


One of the status reports momentarily caught Second's main attention. 18 of 79,
already on hull maintenance detail, had been replicating a large amount of
ultraviolet-reflecting paint. A very large amount. Second flagged the file,
then made a mental note to (1) inform Delta, who, as engineering head, would
look into the details of the matter, and (2) dump a remotely operated vehicle
outside and have it scan the surface of the cube in the appropriate frequencies,
for the results were sure to be interesting.


Distraction taken care of, Second continued with his double duty.


 


*****


 


Sean smiled, all was done! He flipped a few switches on the sides of many
instruments with blinking lights, then put on the hairnet. Closing his eyes,
Sean proceeded to think of perfect pizza.


 


Tina had found a spot to hide in one of the multitudes of Jefferies tube crawlspaces
which snaked throughout Waystation. An intersection of a horizontal and
vertical shaft gave just enough room to sit up straight as long as feet were
dangled over the edge and one watched where one placed one's head. On her PADD,
Tina accessed the game files of the computer, selecting a classic solitaire
called Klondike.


"Okay. Red ten on black jack. That means the black six of clubs can go on either of
the red sevens. Mmmm...I think the seven of diamonds would be best. Now...if I
can get rid of that four there, I can pull out the ace of spades for the
foundation pile."


Hearing the echoing sounds of someone climbing up the ladder from below, Tina pushed
herself back and popped off a panel, preparing to look like she was busy. The
slight tingling sensation in her neck and arms was ignored as being static
discharge from the revealed conduit.


 


Sean opened his eyes and looked at the replicator platform on his bench. No pizza
yet. He screwed his eyes closed again and concentrated harder.


 


*****


 


{Partition #10 what do you think you are doing? You are supposed to be looking for clues
in the downloaded starcharts as to where species #8511 originated.}


Silence was the answer.


Second sarcastically grumbled, {Are we having fun yet? I can see we are, but
speculating as to what the hologram of a kinetic structure might say about the
sexual preferences of a species is not what we are supposed to be doing.}


{But...but...} came the protesting voice of 29 of 46, {but it was in the files we were given
to work with!}


{One miscellaneous pornographic cultural pict misfiled in tens of gigabytes of
stellar charts, and you jokers happen to find it.}


Whined 13 of 46, {But...but...}


{No buts...purge the information now and get back to your assigned work!}


Second followed as the data was faithfully deleted, although he managed to snag a copy
of it for himself at the last moment. The picture was moved into the files
reserved for the Hierarchy of Eight - Captain, himself, and the six others who
were the rotating heads of the cube - to examine the later and make their own
conjectures. The tingling of non-prosthetic body parts was not noticed by a
mind which had long since been programmed to regard sensations of pain as
irrelevant.


 


*****


 


Sean opened his eyes to see...a perfect pizza! Grinning hugely, he ripped the
hairnet off his head and set to savoring the already sectioned and exquisitely
chilled Italian pie.


 


*****


 


Somewhere in the multiverses, an unimportant being on an unimportant planet of blues and
greens with swirls of white daydreamed. "Oops," said the being in an
unimportant manner, unknowing why it suddenly had the intense feeling to do so.
Oops indeed.


 


*****


 


Second closed his eyes and blackened the input from his ocular implant. Something did
not feel right, did not feel correct. The background noise of thousands of
on-going conversations was bothering him for some reason. Borg do not feel
nausea, Borg do not get sick to their stomach, and Second had long since
forgotten those sensations from his pre-assimilation, many decades in the past.
Feel...feel...a headache? an unpleasant pressure behind his eyes? a thousand
insects crawling over his body?


Then all perception of the body stopped, silence of thought reigned. A deathly
silence, the total stillness unbroken except by the turnings of one very small
mind.


Second's eyes flew open as a metallic *shunk* sound intruded, followed by, "What
are you doing here? And why do you have the panel to the waste reclamation
conduit open? Are you trying to cause an environmental failure of odorous
proportions?" Swiftly turning a head towards the vaguely familiar words,
Second saw a smooth face of light brown hovering above gray-clothed shoulders,
an arm from which was holding onto brackets out of view in a vertical shaft. The
face under a shock of black hair was in a mask of vast confusion. Second could
only stare back.


"Tina...are you okay? I didn't mean to startle you. It's just that if there is a problem in
the conduits, you really should clear it with engineering before you try to fix
things yourself. I was heading up another level, but I've plenty of time if you
need a hand." Pause. "I really didn't mean to scare you."


Thoughts twisted in the slow molasses which had become Second's brain. Looking down, a
hand held a flat object with a small display. The other hand held nothing. Wait
a minute...two hands...no prosthesis...silence in the nets and...and...and....


Second screamed, tried to scramble to her feet, thunked her head against the ceiling
of the Jefferies tube, and fell into unconsciousness before the wide-eyed
audience of Ensign Jon Whapler.


 


*****


 


Tina closed her eyes...she felt sick. Maybe she should have checked station
schematics first before she opened that panel; a good dose of radiation
poisoning was not something to look forward to, assuming Dr. Nelson could be
persuaded to take time away from her self-studies to mix and administer the
hypospray antidote. Her hair was going to fall out, she just knew it. Humans
just didn't look good bald unless they were dashing male captains of starships
or frontier stations. Feel...feel...a headache? an unpleasant pressure behind
her eyes? a thousand insects crawling over her body?


Then all perception of the body stopped, silence of thought reigned. A deathly
silence, the total stillness unbroken except by the turnings of one very small
mind.


Suddenly the deep quiet was broken by the cacophony of hundreds of separate
conversations being held on the universe's largest party hotline. Images,
perceptions, sounds, blocks of text flew through awareness, with the incessant
voices always present. Concentration could bring individual discussions into
crystal clarity, but such mental discipline was difficult to maintain for more
than a few dizzying seconds.


A clank like that of footsteps on a metallic walkway far above a very solid
surface sounded to the right. "Second, your mind faded from the lattices
and now the signature feels...odd. Did you so offend Delta in the recent past
that she directed the computer to feed your body the wrong mix of compounds
your last regeneration cycle? If your body is giving you trouble, you should go
back to your alcove, or see Doctor." Tina opened? too many eyes and
stiffly turned towards the unknown voice. Standing in a door-sized opening and
looking back was a mottled gray face, a goodly part of which was obscured by a
black covering and metal shapes with blinking lights. Tubes sprouted from the
back of the head to wind down to a body covered in a black body suit. Although
the face registered no known expression, Tina could feel a questioning
confusion accompanying the words.


Thoughts chasing each other in a circle, Tina looked down, only to count
one...two.....limbs emerging from a torso similarly clothed in a skin tight
black suit. And limbs was the only correct term as one of the arms was not...whole.
Things were clicking...and not clicking...and clicking....


"Second. Are you alright?"


Tina screamed and attempted to back away in horror, only to bang against a bulkhead.
Smacking a head and falling into unconsciousness would have been a blessing,
but it did not happen, could not happen, so Tina screamed some more with a
voice not his own. Finally a blackness of a sort did descend as he mentally
heard a cryptic, {Emergency command code send, path override hierarchy drone maintenance
with bridge notification of head, designation 27 of 27; execute action
immediate stasis shut-down to target 3 of 8.}


 


*****


 


Second blinked into wakefulness, momentarily confused as to the sight of a white
ceiling. Borg spent their entire lives standing; the only time one was on one's
back would be during extensive implant surgery or maintenance. Something was
not right, that was a certainty, but she could not figure out what had
happened. She needed time to think.


A beep sounded.


"Coming...coming! Computer, silence that alarm. 'Bout time you awoke, Tina. Nasty bump. Now, if
you can get to your feet, I'll give you another hypospray for what is going to
be a major headache, then you can go to your quarters to recover. I'm busy, you
know. Can't have patients cluttering up the biobeds." A humanoid face swum
into the overhead view, female, peering at some readouts. "Hold
still." Second felt a cold sensation at the side of her neck. "There.
All done. Now go away."


"I..." tried Second, "...I...." She stopped and carefully considered her
next words, forcing the vocabulary to work. Second knew she should have access
to thousands of languages, but right now only one was available. She changed
her approach, reverting to a more comfortable plural to combat the singleness
which was echoing in her thoughts. "We...we are 3 of 8, sub-designation
Second, of Exploratory-class Cube #347."


The person, the doctor?, blinked. "Tina? You hit your head harder than Ensign
Whapler said?"


"We are 3 of 8, sub-designation Second, of Exploratory-class Cube #347."


"Hello Tina...don't scare me like this. I really don't have the time to practice
medicine on anyone but myself."


"We are 3 of 8, sub-designation Second, of Exploratory-class Cube #347." Second
took strength from the litany, using like a ward against the unknown, like a
security blanket. "We are 3 of 8, sub-designation Second, of
Exploratory-class Cube #347. You will be assimilated."


"Whoa! Hold on now. No, don't try to get up." Second struggled to stand, but the
distance between the top of the bed and the floor became an insurmountable
obstacle. Finding herself painfully on the deck after an ineffectual flailing
of arms, Second tried to get organized enough to make it upright. "Stay
there Tina. Where did I put...there's the hypospray. Sedative. Hold still Tina.
This won't hurt a bit."


Second had finally struggled to her feet, using the top of the biobed as her main
support. The task of walking presented a problem, however, as the different
center of gravity threatened to send her floorwards once more. A small jab of
coldness suddenly blossomed in her neck again. Turning swiftly, and nearly
toppling over, Second caught herself and uttered, "You will be
assimilated. We are 3 of 8, sub-designation Second, of Exploratory-class Cube
#347. Your biological distinctiveness will be...will be...will be
added...." Second blinked in drowsiness, then slumped to the deck of the
sickbay.


 


*****


 


Tina awoke. There was no difference between wakefulness and sleep; one moment all
had been drifting nothingness, the next he was staring into a dimly lit area. 'Perhaps
this is what reincarnation feels like?' thought Tina to himself.


"Reincarnation? I suppose that might be one way of looking at it, albeit more theologically
positive than usual. Let us cut to the chase. You are wearing, for lack of a
better term, the body of my backup facilitator, 3 of 8. I want to know where
his mind has been put."


A nightmare visage came into view, staring intently at Tina. He wanted to turn
away, or at least scream, but it was denied.


"The body has been locked. If you promise not to scream, I'll send the code to
release the head area. If you do scream, I'll break every personal partition
you try to raise and scramble your mental signature to get the information I
want. I have taken the added precaution of locking your transceiver out of the
general sub-collective, although I can still hear what is going on. If you were
of Borg mentality, even one of this cube, you would not be sane much longer.


"Do you promise?"


Tina took a second to realize what the thing was asking, its glare at him was so
intense. Promise not to scream? He could do that.


"Good. You can now talk out loud, if you wish."


"Where...."


"You are on Exploratory-class Cube #347 of the Borg Collective. The precise
astronomical coordinate is irrelevant. I am 4 of 8, currently subdesignated
Captain. Now comes the question, who are you?"


"Could you not..."


"Could I not just ransack your thoughts like I am doing now? Certainly, as that is a
Borg body you are in, complete with all the technological hardware, but your
mind is not arrayed in the standard Borg fashion. If I broke your mental
signature, which I could, I may get all the information I want...but then
again, I may just get a scrambled mess. Surface thoughts are easy, but I need
the deep ones. So, who are you?"


"I am Yeoman Tina Jones of the Federation station Waystation," Tina replied. He
listened to his voice, oddly resonant with definite metallic overtones. Although
he could move his head around, he did not want to look downwards and be
confronted with the sight of a body not his own. Instead he kept his eyes
planted firmly on the one called Captain.


"You greet visiting ships? What a boring and repetitive duty, and trust me, this
sub-collective knows all about boredom. But you keep on doing it without
question...maybe the Federation is more enlightened than it was thought."


Tina said, "Stop that! Let me at least complete what I was going to say. Finishing
my thoughts is too weird."


"And exchanging information solely by vocal manner is inefficient. You do not know
what happened." There came an unnaturally long pause which lasted several
minutes before Captain continued as if he had not stopped, "We
unfortunately suspect we know where Second is." The switch to the plural
was extremely unsettling.


Tina felt many questions bubbling inside, but he did not want to voice them. This
place was too odd, almost surreal. The reality of the situation, however, was
starkly brought into clarity by the still figure in front of him. Captain's eye
seemed to be vacant, but on some level, Tina could vaguely feel an active
presence, or presences.


Tina just wanted to go home.


 


*****


 


Second just wanted to go home.


She had awoken again to stare uncomfortably at the sight of the ceiling. However,
this time she was unable to move anything below her neck. Tilting her head
backwards, she could just see a screen of meaningless displays. Somewhere off
to the right, out of line of sight, two voices were talking.


"Just tell me what that thing says. Squiggly lines of various colors means nothing to
me."


"It is a recording of Tina's normal memory encephalogram." The second voice
was that of the doctor.


"Sure, whatever you say, Dr. Nelson."


"Notice. The top set is of Tina during her last mandatory check-up. The second is that
of Tina less than an hour ago."


"They don't look the same."


"Exactly."


"Well?" Long pause. "What does it mean?"


"Oh, sorry Commander. It means that it may be a while before I can get back to my
studies." Another long pause, then a hasty continuation, "It also
means that Tina out there isn't the Tina we know. It may have happened when she
bumped her head, but an alternate personality apparently popped out."


"One that thinks she is a Borg."


"Go fig. The only thing I don't understand that even in a total loss of primary
personality, there should still be an underlying similarity between the graphs.
They all inhabit the same brain, you know. It is almost like this personality
has a totally different set of memories than the Tina we know."


"Fine. I want to talk to her now."


"No problem. I've set up a confining force field from the neck down, but she will
be able to talk. Good, the monitor says she is awake."


The doctor emerged from around the corner, followed by another female in Federation
uniform. The second woman moved with a purpose, like she owned the place. Her
voice, when she spoke, confirmed her as the second part of the unseen
conversation,


"Tina...do you know who I am?"


"You are Federation. What have you done to me...er...us?"


"I am Lisa Beck, your captain of the Waystation. Do you know who you are?" Lisa
was speaking slowly, as if to a small, and slightly dumb, child.


"We are 3 of 8, sub-designation Second, of Exploratory-class Cube #347."


"Okaaaaay...I would like to talk to Yeoman Tina Jones of the Waystation now. Tina, you
understand? I want to talk to Tina."


Second was confused. She tried to focus on the face of Commander Beck, but the eyes
would not work right, were too organic and limited. "Is your hearing
defective? I am...er...we are not Tina. We are Second."


"A-hah! You said I! Borg do not say I!"


"I conjecture I am currently not in my customary body; I am alone, by myself,
and feeling very small right now, so forgive me if I sound a bit neurotic at
the moment. But the fact remains my designation is 3 of 8, or Second, and not
Yeoman Tina Jones." Second dropped the plural; without the support of the
other minds of her sub-collective it was difficult to maintain a speech pattern
she normally didn't follow anyway.


"Tina," started Lisa again, but did not continue as she peered at Second's face. "Fine,
Second...3 of 8 is too damn long. Second, I want to hear how you got into
Tina's body." Lisa sounded like she was humoring an ignoramus who was
insisting Terra was flat and could prove it. In the background, Dr. Nelson
hovered anxiously as if she wanted to say something, but did not dare to
interrupt.


"I don't know. This is an uncomfortable position. I want to stand."


"No tact...obviously not the Tina we know," was said in an undertone. Louder,
"If the confining field is dropped, will you promise not to, um, try to
assimilate anything."


"The question is moot. Does this look like my normal body?" Sarcasm dripped
from Second's voice. "If it was, this conversation would not be happening.
This is a wholly organic piece of trash. My thoughts move slowly, I am
essentially blind and deaf, and there is absolutely no augmented storage space
for information. One hundred thirty-five - what is the right word? years for
lack of a better term - years ago I might have thought differently, but at that
point I was also a stupid young adult of a colony world. I like being 3 of
8!" Second felt the overwhelming urge to gesture, but could not. She also
felt, "And why is there an uncomfortable pressure in my lower body? And
why is my middle torso making an odd rumbling sound?"


Lisa quickly backed up. "Doctor, I leave it in your capable hands. You figure
out what is happening, then tell me. It doesn't seem to be threatening the
station, sooo...you deal with it." The captain turned and swiftly
disappeared from view. In the close distance, the sound of sliding doors was
heard to open and close.


Dr. Nelson filled Second's field of view. Distractedly she said, "Dandy fun. Where
does Lisa get the idea I actually have the time to spare from you, Midon?"
Second felt an odd sensation of chills going down her spine; she might be out
of her body, but the doctor did not seem to be in her right mind.


 


*****


 


"But I don't want a Borg designation!" protested Tina. He still could not move
anything below his neck, but he put his jaw to good use, jutting it out
stubbornly.


"You cannot be called Tina."


"Why not? You don't have an awkward numerical name!"


Captain sighed, both in Tina's mind and visibly, "Designations are precise,
especially when coupled with a mental signature. Names are imprecise...there
are trillions of Borg in the Collective, think of the chaos if a few million of
them were known only as Smith. And my 'name' is temporary, only lasting as long
as the current assignment of this sub-collective, after which I will be known
as 4 of 8 of Exploratory-class Cube #347 once more. That future date will be a
relief."


"I still don't want a Borg number!"


"We suspect we know what is going on, and unless the Federation tens of thousands
of light years distant in the Alpha quadrant manages to figure it out as well,
AND if they deign to return Second, a designation is useless, I agree. However,
the odds are calculated to be heavily against the possibility. In that case,
this cube has lost a member of the Hierarchy of Eight, although we can replace
3 of 8. 


"There could be worse places to be than Cube #347. If this had happened with any other
sub-collective within the Greater Consciousness, you would have been terminated
within five minutes to limit corruption. As it is, you'll fit right in with us.
In time your mind will adapt to the pathways constructed in Second's original
assimilation, or so Assimilation thinks."


"I still don't want a Borg number!"


"Too bad. Drone maintenance hierarchy needs a member, and you'll slot there as well
as anywhere. Your new designation is 26 of 152. As I have other concerns, most
notably leading the consensus to see if there is a way to get Second back,
Assimilation will take care of you."


Before Tina could say anything, Captain disappeared in a green flash of a transporter
beam. Almost immediately another Borg reappeared in the same spot. Tina
suddenly felt incredibly depressed, as if the weight of the universe had landed
on his shoulders.


"26 of 152, let us start from the beginning. As your mind is adjusted to the
pathways in Second's brain, I will slowly lead you out into the nets." A
pause that stretched into minutes. "Well, this might keep me occupied for
a couple of regeneration cycles."


The depression moved even deeper into Tina's mind.


 


*****


 


The bare room was painted that disgusting green found in hospitals across the
cosmos. The Borg no longer used that particular tone of paint in maintenance
bays, but it had taken thousands of years to eradicate the compulsion from the
Greater Consciousness. A bed jutted from one wall, opposite of a table and
chair. An alcove, the replicator unit, was positioned waist-high near the
table. Two doors led out of the room - one to the bathroom facilities, and the
other to the main infirmary area. Second stood in the middle of the room, eyes
closed.


So long had it been since her assimilation, she had long since forgotten the
sensations involved with organic living. Which had been for the better. The bathroom
had been a horrible experience, a torture chamber; and eating, while it had
ended the rumbling feelings in her midsection, was a messy activity. Regeneration
was so much more efficient.


Second vaguely wondered if the Federation had a secret military outpost somewhere
where they studied nanites stolen from the Borg, and if it would be possible to
smuggle this body there. Of course, she would have to get out the door to the
infirmary, but that was locked. It might be possible to jimmy the thing open,
if she could pry open an access panel, AND if the sensors watching her could be
disabled.


She might as well have been floating helpless in space.


The door whooshed open. Second opened her eyes to see Dr. Nelson enter. A
ubiquitous tricorder was being waved about.


"How you can sleep like that, I don't know. You should just fall over."


Second ignored the comment. "I wish to leave this place now."


"Well, you can't, Tina. I mean Second or whatever you've decided to call yourself. Lisa
won't let me let you go until it is figured out what happened. Since injuries
to the head which result in traumatic psychosis aren't my specialty, I'll
probably ship you off elsewhere. At the very least that will get you out of my
hair." The last comment was said under Dr. Nelson's breath. She reached
into the lab coat she was wearing and fished out an electronic tablet. "Here.
Standing, or whatever, in this room must be boring. This is Tina's personal
PADD. Maybe something will jog the correct memory."


Second eagerly reached out for the flat object.


 


*****


 


Tina whimpered. He had theoretically had his body released to move around, but in
the strange situation, he had yet to try motivation. Assimilation had broken
down the firewalls to expose Tina to the approximate four hundred minds which
was his own hierarchy. The results were not good.


Curious questions and information requests could be felt, along with a virtual bombing
of data packets and pictures. The sensory input Tina experienced was a dazzle
of Technicolor splashes, all muddled together into a murky brown puddle. If he
could have, if he had not been held upright in the alcove, Tina would have
collapsed into fetal position. The code walls were raised again, leaving him
nearly alone in darkness.


{Very good 26 of 152. Less of a reaction this time. You seem to be settling into the
mental pathways. Let us try again.}


 


*****


 


This Tina-person must not have lived a very active social life. Second had found the
personal logs, but they mainly consisted of descriptions of the day's
activities, gripes about her boring job, and wistful wanderings of a vague
ambition to “Boldly Go Where No One Has Gone Before”.


The PADD beeped as it completed a database search, one of many Second had painfully
initiated. It was so much easier to go digging directly through data (or
spinning off part of self and delegating a few drones lower in the hierarchy to
assist), than to rely on a machine to relay information second-hand. Unfortunately,
the requests Second had sent had mainly spat back file numbers designated as “Classified”.



Second frowned as she half-closed her eyes, painfully dredging through her mind,
looking for the appropriate memories. Finding them, she began to tap a series
of code commands on the PADD, building a simple Borg decryption program to
break the file locks.


 


*****


 


Sean was munching on the last piece of his pizza, sitting in his chair and going
over the latest security reports. The normal collection of brawls, complaints,
escaped alien pets (and livestock in one case) from colonists, and shoplifting
made for absolutely fascinating reading. Yah, right. Sean yawned as he skimmed
over the incident of the party of Klingons mistaking a wandering Ghingus vole
as a meal, much to the extreme disapproval of several beings from some
religious sect known as Bolshics, who happened to regard the vole as a
representative of their supreme deity. The final result when all had been
sorted out had been messy. Who knew that the Ghingus vole was a distant
relative of the tribble, but with an extremely nasty attitude? The Klingons
would be healing for weeks.


The door chime to the office rang. "Enter!" shouted Sean. Lieutenant
Craig Porter entered.


"What have you been doing in here?"


"Wha?" asked Sean as he looked up from his screen. He swallowed the last bit of pizza.


"There was a system drain on the power grid, as well as the replicator and
communication systems, last shift. Unauthorized transporter activity was also
logged. It took a little bit of tracing, but it all came from this
office...more exacting, that workspace you keep back there." Craig
pointed. He tapped a foot as he waited for an answer.


"Calm down! I learned my lesson last time with that Robo episode. Do you remember
back in your Academy days, morning pizza breakfasts?"


Craig blinked at the sudden change in topic. "Yah, who doesn't? But what does
that have to do with my station engineering activity logs?"


Sean got up and stretched, "Here, I'll show you. And if this isn't the best
pizza you've ever tasted, I'll throw my invention out the airlock. Trust me,
the power drain on the grid is worth it."


 


*****


 


Second grinned as she sent the decryption program loose. The hungry feeling was coming
back, as well as a fatigue which made her want to just close her eyes, but both
could be resisted for now. The Federation obviously did not believe the truth
that Second had been (was!) Borg, despite the current body she wore. Her plan
to make them believe would be set in motion, as soon as the first files were
broken and their precious information spilled.


The feeling of tiredness became heavier, accompanied by a faint prickling about the
neck and shoulders. These body sensations were a pain. Did she feel...feel...a
headache? an unpleasant pressure behind her eyes? a thousand insects crawling
over her body?


Then all perception of the body stopped, silence of thought reigned. A deathly
silence, the total stillness unbroken except by the turnings of one very small
mind.


Second blinked back into awareness and found himself in an alcove which was not his
own; he wasn't even in the part of the cube he regarded as home. A paper-thin firewall
had been erected between himself and the rest of the sub-collective, but it was
swiftly removed in the quest to pull up a general ship diagram. Ah, there he
was, near the "You Are Here" arrow two levels below the hull of face
#3 in subsection 13, submatrix 8. Second focused his optics, distractedly
upping the light gathering function, only to find Assimilation standing in
front of him.


"Second, is that truly you? Yes it is. Oh well, I guess it is back to my normal routine
of nothing." Assimilation promptly transported elsewhere in the cube.


Second dipped avidly back into the nets, searching for Captain, reveling in the
feeling of many voices. Just as a board displaying odds for Second's return
caught his attention, Captain broke in,


{Second! Did the Federation send you back?}


{No.} Second opened himself to the conjectures into what appeared to have been a
switching of minds between himself and the Tina person. {No, I was in a body at
a place called Waystation, then I was back here. Perhaps it was a freak
occurrence?}


{Perhaps, but I do welcome you back. You have no idea how disquieting it was to suddenly
have you screaming at me.}


{Screaming?} Second felt Captain send a memory, and then winced. {I can see exactly how you
felt. I am transporting back to my alcove. After regeneration I will be better
prepared mentally to return to the original task at hand.}


{Understood.}


Second activated a transporter beam and sent himself back to his normal alcove.


 


*****


 


Tina felt oddly fatigued, despite the fact he had not been physically active. Assimilation
had exposed him five increasingly longer times to the assimilation hierarchy,
and each time Tina found himself better able to withstand, and even understand,
the controlled chaos in which the cube seemed to operate. Tina found himself
adapting, and was horrified at the prospect.


{Prepare yourself, 26 of 152,} said Assimilation.


Tina closed her sight off (it was disconcerting to be dumped into the intranets to
experience things there, yet still be seeing the normal world), and steeled
himself for the action he knew protesting would not stop. An odd sensation of
prickles needled at his brow. That had not happened before. Did he
feel...feel...a headache? an unpleasant pressure behind his eyes? a thousand
insects crawling over his body?


Then all perception of the body stopped, silence of thought reigned. A deathly
silence, the total stillness unbroken except by the turnings of one very small
mind.


Tina dropped a PADD from her numb fingers, falling against a bed as her balance was
lost. The place was unfamiliar, but it looked like one of the small recovery
rooms off of the infirmary. Tina pushed herself upright, then tentatively
called out, thrilled her voice sounded, well, normal.


"Hello? Dr. Nelson? Anyone?" She looked about the walls, certain buried sensors
would relay her cry. There was no immediate answer, so Tina reached down to
grab the PADD, realizing it was her own. An odd display of unrecognizable
symbols marched up the screen. Disregarding the PADD, Tina looked towards the
door as it opened.


"Dr. Nelson! It is you!"


"Tina? You are not Second now?"


"Second? Of course not! And I'm not 26 of 152 either," said Tina quickly,
convincing herself of the reality by stating it aloud. "I am normal Tina
Jones, liaison officer of the Federation station Waystation." Tina peered
at Dr. Nelson's face, seeking confirmation.


"Yes, you are. Say, if I can run a few tests on you and you turn out okay, how about
if you recuperate in your quarters. We can figure out this mess later, as I've
gotten quite behind on other, more personal, matters."


"Sure. And I'm very hungry. You won't believe what I have to tell you."


Tina followed Dr. Nelson out of the spare room, absently tucking PADD into a pocket.


 


*****


 


Craig appreciatively ate another piece of pizza. "You are right Sean, this is
the best pizza I've had since my cadet days."


"Told you. Think the station will miss a little power now and then when I get a
craving for perfect pizza?" asked Sean.


Craig pondered, although not too long. "No, I don't think so, especially not if
you conjure up one for me as well." Craig paused, cold cheese string
demanding his full attention. Cheese conquered, Craig continued,
"Although, if you don't mind, I'd like to take a few pieces to some
others. Perhaps if there is enough demand, maybe we can make a little on the
side selling slices to people on ships who long for the 'good old days' of
cadethood. Sure that machine can't whip up other foods?"


"Nope," answered Sean to the last question first, "only pizza, for now. As to
letting others in on the perfect pizza, go ahead! Pizza is meant to be shared,
after all."


Craig grinned, then grabbed the remaining half pie. "I'll probably be back in a
couple of hours."


 


*****


 


Letting his awareness of self float aimlessly about the dataspaces, Second was occupied
in the Borg equivalent (at least on Cube #347) of letting his mind blank. He
did not wish to think about anything, just drift, allowing his mental computing
resources be used by one working group or another. A vaguely familiar
sensation, one which he realized now was not associated with the body, tugged
on him.


{No...not again!}


All perception of the body stopped, silence of thought reigned. A deathly silence,
the total stillness unbroken except by the turnings of one very small mind.


Oneness persisted, and Second found herself rolling off of a bed platform and landing
painfully on the ground. Unfortunately familiar territory. Boosting herself to
her feet, Second looked about, realizing she was not in the infirmary. The room
was still quite sparse, but it had a much more tasteful color scheme than any
medical ward. Second decided she was in the body of the Tina person again, this
time coming to awareness in her personal space. The body was dressed in red and
white pajamas instead of a uniform, but that was inconsequential.


The Federation obviously had no idea what was going on, if it was the organization
or entity responsible in the first place. Consensus on the cube had drawn the
most reasonable conclusion that whatever mind transference was happening, it
was powered from a nearby area from the Waystation end; but then again, other
possibilities existed. Second was placing her bets on a clueless Federation.


Balance was easier to accomplish this time, and there were no unpleasant body needs to
attend. Adaptation to the loneness was more swift, although several times
Second had to steel herself from trembling. She did not want to face that crazy
Dr. Nelson again; and who knew what medical sensors might be trained on the
Tina body at the moment.


The handheld computer display...PADD...where did the Tina put it? Second stood in
the middle of the room, slowly turning in a circle. A Federation uniform,
carelessly tossed over the back of a chair, caught her attention. Riffling
through the pockets, Second drew out the flat object. The screen was darkened,
but jiggling the PADD deactivated the black-out function. Borg alphanumerics
slid up the display at a high rate, but a line at the bottom remained
stationary. Second read that line, and nodded.


"Good. Decryption of first batch of files 86% completed."


Perhaps something good would come of this odd fiasco after all. Maybe.


 


*****


 


Very tired after her experiences and the debriefing by an obviously disbelieving Dr.
Nelson, Tina had returned to her quarters. After a quick replicator meal during
which she made a personal log of the ordeal, Tina put on her sleeping clothes
before going to bed. She fell asleep as soon as her head hit the extra-fluffy
pillow (not Starfleet issue!).


The dreams Tina had were disturbing, to say the least. For the most part they were
dark with voices whispering comments just beyond her range of understanding. At
one point, all perception of her dream self stopped, silence of thought
reigned. A deathly silence, the total stillness unbroken except by the turnings
of one very small mind. Then the murmurs began again:


{Where did Second go? I felt him disappear.}


{On the lattices, that mind is back.}


{26 of 152, wake up.}


Many voices together: {Wake up. Wake up. Wake up.}


Tina swam up out of the waters of sleep, struggling for breath. As he broke surface,
he opened his eyes to a gray world not much different than the nightmare he had
been experiencing. Before he could do anything else, a bright sparkle of green
appeared to the front of him.


"Shall we start again, 26 of 152?" tiredly dragged a too familiar voice. The
nightmare was not over.


 


*****


 


Second read through the first of the decrypted files. Additional searches had drawn
data into storage, but the slow unraveling of security protocols kept them in
the background. Most of the text was reports and debriefings, but the
occasional nugget shined brilliantly. The brightest of the treasures detailed
the coordinates of a research asteroid, along with a brief synopsis of security
procedures.


A plan began to form in Second's mind. Feeling like she was not taking something
into account, she wished she had the members of the sub-collective to pick
apart the scheme, to form consensus. How did humans, or any other species for
that matter, stand singleness? There were so many uncertainties!


Second moved down the hallway, ignoring the occasional person who dodged out of her
way. She had eyes only for the PADD, continually consulting it for the most
direct route to the nearest shuttle with warp capabilities. The fact that
Second was still dressed in Tina's pajamas did not register, for Borg had no
need for clothes, thus the incredulous looks crew and tourists alike gave were
not noticed.


Cube #347 provided instant access for everyone to the transporters, the main reason
being it would take most of a day to navigate the maze between subsections, not
to mention attempting to travel twixt opposite faces. The Federation, however,
seemed to be a big believer in walking. Granted, the Waystation could never
equal the size of even the smallest cube class, but it none-the-less was an
inconveniently large place.


The PADD beeped, then flashed a time (6:30) over the station schematic. Second
pushed a series of buttons to dismiss the numbers, only to have a schedule for
a daily routine begin to slowly scroll over the display. Frowning, Second read
as far as "7:00 - Begin duty shift" before whacking the small
computer against a bulkhead in frustration. The screen once more showed the
local hallways with a red line tracing her path.


An increasing number of people began to fill the hallways, most looking
half-asleep, still tugging shirts straight or drinking steaming liquids from
ceramic mugs. One of the few bright-eyed persons became a looming roadblock.


"Tina!" said one Ensign Whapler. "Are you feeling better? And why are you out of
uniform so close to the morning shift change?"


Second glanced up from her map to register the owner of the voice. "Out of my
way, human. I've a mission to accomplish."


"Dr. Nelson must have given you some odd drug. I got one last time I was in
sickbay...everyone looked like dough shapes for hours. Here, I'll help you back
to your quarters to wait until it wears off."


"You are blocking my path. Out of my way."


The stream of personnel had turned into a torrent, which collectively swirled
around the small obstacle. In one direction went people in clean, freshly
pressed uniforms, and in the other direction, those that had been on shift all
subjective night and were ready for a little rest and relaxation.


"Come on Tina! I promise to help you out the next time one of those big colonist
ships come in, if you will only come with me. People are starting to
stare." In fact, everyone was totally ignoring the pair, engrossed in
getting to their work areas or quarters.


"I repeat, get out of my way, human." Second extended her unoccupied arm
forward and slammed the poor ensign into the wall, knocking his head back such
that he slumped to the ground unconscious. She was starting to get the hang on
this body, although it did help that Whapler was the equivalent of a 98-pound
weakling. Murmurs on the order of "Wonder what the guy did to piss her off
so bad?" floated in the air, but in general, the reaction was little. Second
returned to the PADD's pictures.


 


The door to the shuttle bay was locked. Second pulled a panel off the bulkhead and
proceeded to try to rewire the mechanisms inside. After a few mild shocks,
Second came to the conclusion pain was not a good sensation, but had managed to
successfully short-circuit the door to open slightly. Forcing the opening
wider, Second squeezed into the bay.


A shuttle sat on its pad, cargo doors open and rear quarter filled with large
boxes. The ship had been in the process of unloading, but with the shift
change, the night crew had obviously rushed to their quarters and the day shift
had yet to arrive from lingering over morning doughnuts. Second sauntered
easily up the ramp, maneuvering around the cargo, and into the cockpit. Dilemma.


Second had no clue as to how to pilot the shuttle. With her normal body it would be as
easy as assimilating the ship's systems and controlling it directly as if it
were simply a new appendage. That was obviously out of the question. The sounds
of the shift crew coming into the bay, talking about the damage done in the
hallway, spurred Second to action.


"Shuttle doors...shuttle doors....shuttle doors," muttered Second under her breath
as she scanned the confusing console. Mind racing in circles like a hamster on
a wheel, she called louder, "Computer?"


"Computer on-line," returned the female tones of a Federation computer.


Second nodded. "Okay, computer, um, close cargo doors and prepare for
launch." The cries of dismay and "Someone's boosting the
shuttle!" was cut off as the superstructure began to tremble with the
powering up of the engine. "Launch."


Grinning as the shuttle nosed forwards and through the bay force field, Second felt
elated. Federation idiot-proofing had come in use. Now she had only to give the
appropriate coordinates for the asteroid base; the time in transit would give
time to further the plan and learn to drive the shuttle without use of voice
commands. Second lifted the PADD to consult the correct file.


"Shuttle, you will come to a stop. You are messing up the traffic patterns, such as they
are this morning, and making me deal with a problem when it is way too early. Stealing
a Federation shuttle is a criminal offense, you know," came a hail. The
voice was that of Commander Beck. Second ignored the orders.


"It is your funeral, then." The shuttle abruptly came to a halt as a tractor
beam from the station was applied.


 


Second once again found herself in the infirmary, this time standing next to a chair
in the main medical area near a back office. Her actions had been carefully
questioned by a disbelieving Commander Beck, who had left to think about what
to do. Second was now in the hands of Dr. Nelson once more. Not seeing much
chance to escape at the moment, Second was content to continue reading Tina's
PADD, which she had managed to keep through her capture and interrogation.


It was there, in the medical bay, Second felt the too familiar feeling of falling
into nothingness.


 


*****


 


"Sean, I need another pizza."


 


*****


 


Tina had finally been allowed to be alone, in a relative sense of the word. Content Tina's
mind would eventually be forced in the mental pathways and thinking of a Borg,
Assimilation had left for another part of the cube. In return, Tina had been
transported to another area of the ship, forcefully plugged into an alcove, and
given unimportant files to consume.


The cube was an uncommonly quiet place when compared to a Federation starship or
station. Ambient sounds included the creak of the superstructure, subaudible
rumble of engines, and clank of moving drones or dropped tools. Missing was the
organic voices and movement of people which made a ship seem alive. On an
alternate plane, however, it was completely different.


Although she was not allowed unescorted into the nets, and Tina did not want to be
allowed, he could still faintly sense a close and unseen community; and this
was not even the full Collective. Tina had the feeling the Greater
Consciousness, as the Collective was referred to on Cube #347, was a fairly
sterile environment, with the current ship as the equivalent of a party dorm. Still,
through carefully concentration, Tina had managed to glean an idea of what was
going on, even if he did not understand all the technical terms.


The information was useless, unfortunately, unless his mind was transferred back to
his original body. Therefore he was now reading the definitive and unabridged
history of the Borg. It was long, boring, and took up more space than he cared
to think about. One section, at the very beginning with notations of its
probable inaccuracy, was curiously interesting, but he could not quite put his
finger on the reason why he should feel the historical figures were familiar.


Tina suddenly felt the sensations which heralded the exchange of minds, this time
back to her own body.


Tina found herself standing in the sickbay, dressed in her pajamas and holding a
PADD. She absently put the small computer on the chair she saw behind her, the
yelled out, “Dr. Nelson? Hello, anybody?"


Nelson came from her office, holding a hypospray. "Tina, is that you?"


Grinning, Tina nodded. "It is me...it is /me/ in my own body. You got to listen,
and listen quickly, 'cause I don't know how long I'm going to be here before I
get tossed back to that scary cube."


"Really?"


"You gotta believe me! I don't fully understand it all, but I've managed to get some
information." Tina was speaking rapidly, nearly babbling, "Some power
source over here has formed a supraspatial transient wormhole connection
between me and this Borg known as Second. It, like, is capable of transferring
mentalities, instead of physical objects like a normal wormhole." Tina was
practically in tears now, "I've never heard of supraspatial anything, and
I don't want to know about it, but when I was there, and I simply said the words
to myself, I couldn't help but get all these technical manuals dumped on me. Most
of the words I can't even pronounce, let alone translate, and it is all
slipping away like so much water. Data retention has something to do with brain
configurations and nanites and assimilation and...and...and...."


Dr. Nelson was just staring at Tina. Tina's eyes widened, "Oh no...it is going
to happen again! I can feel it!"


 


*****


 


The rumor of perfect pizza traveled about Waystation. Faster than anything yet
discovered, if the power of rumormongering could be harnessed, the Federation
would be able to last a million years and spread throughout hundreds of
galaxies. "Try this!" whispered 'Everyman' as he passed out free
tastes of the treat, followed by "Russell is the one that can produce it,
for a small fee."


With each visualization, Sean became more proficient in producing his version of
perfect pizza. There was no cost to him, personally, and the station could
withstand the momentary power drains. One deliciously cold pizza after another
came from the workroom. It was only when Sean's duty shift began that he halted
for a time.


 


*****


 


Somewhere distant on that unimportant planet, the unimportant being happily repeated to
itself, "Oops! Oops! Oops! Oops!" It was a fun and unimportant word,
and the being had no idea why it felt it had to say it; it was just the right
thing to do. "Oops! Oops!"


 


*****


 


When the mental yo-yoing finally stopped, Second was back in the Tina body, sitting
in a chair in the infirmary. A muffled beep sounded from the PADD, which was
digging into the rump region. She kept her eyes closed, fully expecting to go
flying back across the galaxy, but nothing continued to happen. Finally she
opened her eyes.


"Tina, is that you?" asked an almost concerned Dr. Nelson.


Second stood from the uncomfortable chair. "I am not Tina."


The doors to the infirmary opened with a whoosh, allowing Commander Beck to enter. Dr.
Nelson greeted her.


"What is the prognosis?" said Lisa, coming directly to the point.


"Well, sensors I've got calibrated show definite changes in the memory encephalographs,
to the tune of five distinct changes in the last five minutes, and more prior
to that. A little earlier, Tina was attempting to explain what was going on,
but she kept on getting, well, interrupted; then the rate picked up. Now, we
seem to have that Borg mind, and Tina is elsewhere, on some cube, I
think."


"Can we do anything to stop it?"


"I don't even know why it is happening. All I know is that it is taking vital time
from my studies." Lisa's face darkened. Nelson hurriedly continued,
"But that is okay. Now, if I was an engineer, I suppose I could do
something fancy with dilithium field harmonic convergences or some other
technical thingy."


Throughout the conversation, Second was ignored. She did not like being ignored, so she
loudly interrupted.


"In the sub-collective, we would simply access those files stored in the
engineering hierarchy. You are inefficient."


Beck looked at Second, frowning. Slowly her scowl turned into a grin, then she went
back to ignoring Second.


"Nelson, why don't you have a little talk with Porter. He's bound to have some say on
the matter."


 


A short time after Lisa had left, a new Federation officer entered the infirmary.
Second was rapidly reading Tina's PADD, scanning through previously encrypted
files. She did not know how long she would have this opportunity. If the
stability lasted and she was stuck in the Tina body, she needed options; the
first attempt at escape had not been planned in full. And if the inefficient
Federation managed to send her mind back to regain their precious Tina
mentality, then there would be information for the Greater Consciousness. Second
looked up at the new person as he flashed her an odd look.


"Tina? What are you doing here?"


Second opened her mouth to reply when Dr. Nelson hurried out from an inner part of the
infirmary, "Craig, back here."


Craig apologetically shrugged at Second, then followed Dr. Nelson to the rear of the
infirmary. Second went back to her reading.


"What?" came a loud utterance from the back, "What do you mean?"


"Not so loud," replied the Nelson voice. Second strained the limited hearing in
the body to listen without getting caught. A period of indecipherable murmuring
followed before the next intelligible words.


Craig: "Oops."


Nelson: "What do you mean 'oops'?"


"When did you say the transferences had been happening?" A series of times was
the reply. "Definite oops."


"Please define 'oops'. Are you saying 'oops, I dropped my pencil' or 'oops, the Flarn
are about to attack and I forgot to flip the breakers in the shield
fusebox'?"


"Maybe not quite as extreme as the latter."


"Explain."


"Well you see, Sean came up with this way to replicate perfect pizza...." The
explanation trailed off into inaudibility.


 


Sean looked up from his desk in his office as Lisa, Dr. Nelson, Craig, and Tina came
into his office. He put down his report to regard the group: Tina appeared to
be in her pajamas and clutching a PADD?


"What's going on?"


"Where is it Sean?" asked Lisa


"Where is what?"


"That pizza machine."


"Oh, that. Look, it isn't going to get out of hand, not like the Robo thing. It
can't even move, and it definitely can't think for itself. What is the harm of
a little pizza?" Sean was quite defensive, but took the occasional glance
at Tina, who was engrossed in reading something on the PADD.


"Is making pizza the only action it takes?"


"Of course!"


Craig cleared his throat, "Sean, it doesn't quite work like that, or at least
pizza creation isn't the only function. Seems I've found the reason for the
unusually large power drain your machine demands. Maybe if you will demonstrate
how it works?"


Sean blinked, then led the way into his small workroom.


 


*****


 


Tina came out of the convoluted darkness to find herself surrounded by people she
knew, not gray catwalks nor the voices which had been traipsing through her
mind. She sobbed, "No! Please don't force me to be a Borg! I don't wanna
be 26 of 152 forever! I can feel you tearing up my mind!"


"Tina!" shouted Lisa, "Tina! You are safe!"


Tina stopped her heaving, then took a longer look around, "I...I'm safe? I'm
not going to be sent back?"


"No. You are safe."


Sean looked depressed...no more perfect pizza.


 


*****


 


Second was having a quiet conversation with Captain. He had uploaded the information
he had managed to gain, which had subsequently been relayed to the Greater
Consciousness. Most of the data had been trivial, but some of the unexpected
windfall would allow the Collective to create more accurate projections of
future Federation resistance.


"So," said Captain, "what is your general overall impression of your
experience?"


Second yucked, "You know very well what my thoughts on the matter are, but I
think I will reiterate one thing. That Tina's job rivals that of anything the
Collective could come up with. I am happy I'm not forced to live out my
usefulness in her shoes."


 


*****


 


Tina, now dressed in her Federation uniform, cycled the airlock full of broken parts
of the pizza maker. She had insisted to be the one to smash the machine then
eject it to the void of the space lanes. Watching it float off serenely, then
get smashed on the front windows of a speeding shuttle like a bug smeared on
the windshield of a car, was very satisfying.


Lisa stood nearby, watching. Craig had other tasks to attend, Dr. Nelson was busy
catching up on her internal scans of herself, and Sean was quietly mourning the
loss of his invention. The captain somehow felt it was her duty to be there.


"Come on Tina, your shift will be starting soon, and there is a patrol ship due in
for recreation leave." Pause. "What was it like on that cube? I've
always wondered what drove the Borg, but I've never wondered too closely."


Tina's vindictive look drained away to one of hollow paleness. "Think of an
incredibly tempting opportunity that you dare not take because once the devil
enacts payment for your soul, you will never be able to get free. On the whole,
it may have been a better deal than the one I've got now as an organic
automaton for the Federation." Turning, Tina wandered off down the hallway
towards the docking areas, leaving Lisa behind to ponder.
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In-Laws of Relativity


 


Cube #347 had been lurking at the edges of a vast nebula for several weeks, hoping
for a further hint as to the whereabouts of species #8511, but none had been
forthcoming. Supplies were not critical, and a cube could survive for years
scavenging raw materials, but Delta was clamoring to stockpile the high tensile
ceramometallic alloys and complex mechanical parts which were of greater
quality when manufactured in a factory complex dedicated to the task. As the
nebula in question was at the far border of Borg-claimed space, a run to the
nearest supply depot would entail nearly a month travel time to leave and
return; that month was a time better spent casting for clues. On the other
hand, after the humiliating drubbing Cube #347 had taken recently, a short
break for preparation and mental regrouping might be in order.


Captain laid out the alternatives along with pros and cons of each to the
sub-collective. While he personally pulled for staying (if only to hope his
captaincy might be cut short with a lucky break), it was not to be, with the
overwhelming consensus to head to the supply depot. Captain initiated a limited
link with the Greater Consciousness, relaying both the request to postpone
temporarily the task of finding the home system of species #8511 and to send a
list of requested supplies. Permission granted.


Thinking of the closer than normal contact with the Collective to occur in several
weeks, Captain began the careful process to sequester memories of his precious
contraband viewscreen. Later he would physically dismantle and hide the thing.


 


Supplies were gained: theoretically Delta had pilfered enough to her cache to allow five
Cycles of autonomous operation, assuming nothing untoward happened. Of course,
reality would probably be realized when the supplies were accidentally
jettisoned sometime in the near future. The trek back to the nebula's outskirts
was anticipated to be as boring as the journey to the depot; expectation became
actuality.


Six days into the two week trip, the engineering hierarchy had set up a game of "Capture-The-Flag"
which involved complex rules of creating (non-dangerous) failures about the
cube, then sending teams to find, diagnose, and repair the fault within a time
limit. It didn't always work, especially on the more ingenious and improbable
problems, as the setting partition occasionally leaked solutions, but it did
involve much use of transporters (when they weren't "disabled") and clanking
about. As it did actually serve a purpose, Captain couldn't come up with any
reason to halt the activities, although he did specifically ban any playing in
the nodal intersection he frequented. Meanwhile, the rest of the sub-collective
found their own ways to pass the time.


When a passive sensor outpost approximately three light years from Cube #347's
current position began to transmit the trespassing of a small convoy of ships,
overwhelming consensus was to take a closer look. No dispute from the Greater
Consciousness, because no other cubes were within two hundred light years,
allowed the sub-collective to gleefully delay the tedious assignment of
searching for species #8511, at least for another cycle or two.


Captain altered course, then went back to the task he had been tinkering on for the
last several cycles - hanging and repairing his viewscreen. Before he had
issued his order for the Capture-The-Flag game to stay away from his area, a
team had stepped on the hidden screen in their zeal to discover a simulated
conduit leak. Declaring he did not want the dubious help of Delta's hierarchy,
Captain had begun repairs on his own. In reality, the task was more to
alleviate his own boredom than any actual annoyance.


The proximity alert klaxon sounded as Captain was maneuvering a cable into place
behind the screen in preparation to soldering it into place. Opposite in the
nodal intersection, 183 of 240 was performing actual routine maintenance of
replacing old optic cabling within the bulkhead. Pausing in the squeeze to peer
between wall and back of viewscreen, confirming wires had been laid correctly,
Captain sank more fully into the net to read the synopsis of the trespasser's
statistics.


The convoy was twenty-one ships of various sizes and armaments, belonging to
species #2553. That particular species had been fully assimilated into the
Collective twenty-five Cycles prior, except for a few roving bands of
fugitives. Drones of the species were generally useful for manual labor on
desertified worlds, with a few individuals excellent codifier/initiators of
consensus. Resistance index was low. The capture and assimilation of the convoy
members, while not a priority, would be welcome; new subjects were required for
experiments as the species had been found to be difficult to either clone or be
artificially reproduced via creche wombs.


Feeling in the nets, Captain distractedly began the process of capture. Following
protocol exactly (or as close as possible), the cube would charge in, inform
the ships of their imminent assimilation, then attempt to tractor as many of
the convoy as possible before they began their anticipated scatter. With luck
three, or even four, of the targets would be caught and processed, the
occupants put into stasis until another cube could meet with Cube #347. Or at
least that was the plan.


As Cube #347 powered in to deliver the ultimatum, Captain completed his soldering.
A few cuts and burns were ignored as flesh healed within seconds of being
injured. Elsewhere, Weapons managed to seize four ships (species #2553 had
never learned the secret of modulating their shield harmonics), cursing as the
others slipped away. A torpedo volley knocked a fifth into a limping impulse,
but the rest leaped into warp.


Captain pushed himself away from the screen, standing from the uncomfortable kneeling
position he had been in. Still multitasking, he triggered video and audio to
inform the ships of the futility of their resistance, not that much was
happening other than an ineffective phaser or two splashing on the shields. Meanwhile,
183 of 240 was standing oddly, peering at the walls above the viewscreen. Captain
ignored the drone, turning to regard his project...all done! A few mental
commands brought the screen to life. He routed the visual signal which was
being received from the lead ship...the doomed always had their protests to
give.


{Captain?} said 183 of 240.


"What is it?" replied Captain verbally, more interested in feeling smug over the
fact he had once more thwarted the odds of retaining his prize viewscreen. The
representative of species #2553, most likely a captain or convoy leader, was
silently watching his end of the feed, which was a confounding maze of
walkways, machinery, and alcoves. It was obvious it was digesting the fact of
its pending career change. On the audio band, the Borg promise of assimilation
was voiced.


{Captain?}


"Go on."


{The visual feed to the ship of #2553 isn't originating from one of the usual
cameras.}


"It isn't?" Captain asked with puzzlement. He traced the feed, following the
electrical impulses through the system to...his nodal intersection. The camera
directly ahead and above, to be exact. The being on the other end, and all the
other ships receiving the same message, were seeing him, Captain. Oh-oh...major
screw up. 183 of 240 nonchalantly inched sideways, taking that part of himself
which was on screen totally out of view; Captain did not have that option. Blank
as to what to do, the species #2553 reacted first, a look of amazement on its
face,


"Gerson, is that you? Is that really you? You've got to remember me, son...this is
Breth, your father."


 


Speechless, Captain could only stare. Breth was a typical member of species #2553. Of
normal bipedal stance with two upper manipulatory limbs, small hairy feathers
of blue cascaded down head and along side of neck, except for a circular area
on top where green was the predominant color. Eyes of piercing gray stared from
a smoothly black face, while lipless mouth hung slightly open to reveal the
tips of lethally sharp teeth. A bump in the middle of the face might suggest a
nose, but in fact the nostril openings were high on the forehead.


Once, long ago, twenty-seven Cycles to be exact, Captain had sported much the same
appearance, but for a younger visage, one which didn't have the skin blemishes
or thinning feathers of age. Now, head nearly obscured with implants and
altered by surgery, distinctive feathers long lost and skin grayed, neck and
areas below encased in black where not outright replaced with mechanical
prostheses, Captain was at a loss as to how anyone, even this Breth, could
ascertain his original species, much less an identity long lost. It had to be a
trick.


{I will destroy that ship,} loudly proclaimed Weapons, bringing a cutting beam to
bear.


Returned Captain, {You will not.} A brief struggle ensued over command codes, which
Captain handily won. There was a reason he had originally been assigned to the
Hierarchy of Eight, and 45 of 300 had not.


Only a few seconds had passed, and it was doubtful any on the captured ships
realized the temporary closeness of physical death. Breth continued to stare at
the image of Captain, as the latter impassively (at least in outward
appearance) gazed back. The weaponry codes were released with the usual
admonishment to behave.


"We are not Gerson. That entity is gone. We are the Borg. You will be
assimilated," sent Captain through the audio feed with the Collective
Voice function set, hoping Breth would take the hint and begin to act as he was
supposed to act, with panic.


"No," protested Breth, "no, that is not true. I can see Gerson right on the
screen, right there in front of me. He is alive! Come on Gerson, react damn
you. It has been over twenty-seven years since your freighter disappeared, but
your family never gave up hope. Twenty-five years ago most of the clan escaped
before the Borg attacked, taking advice from the entrails reading and bone
rolling of Granddad Dreng. It was you Granddad Dreng saw in the censure smoke,
you warning us to leave."


Captain decided to ignore the babbling, forging ahead with capture protocols. Although
the words of Breth were friendly enough, all four ships held in the tractor
beams none-the-less struggled to escape, dashing increasingly frantic phaser
and torpedo fire ineffectively against shields.


{Weapons, disable the weaponry on those transports.} The weapon hierarchy suddenly perked
up, activating what amounted to overkill. If all the armaments coming on-line
were used, only constituent atoms would be left. {NO! I said disable! Weapons,
think of it as a challenge. Delicate application of force.} Sullen
acknowledgment was returned as many of the systems of destruction powered down.
Within a short amount of time, phaser banks and torpedo bays were scarred
craters on the hulls of the ships.


On the screen, Breth had been shouting commands as the superstructure of his ship
shook under the onslaught. Extinguishers in the background put out small
electrical fires as filter system cleared the air of smoke. Satisfied there was
nothing species #2553 could do to harm the cube, up to and including suicidal
self-destruction of the transports, Captain lowered the shields in preparation
to transport an assault and assimilation force.


Breth suddenly looked directly at Captain as someone yelled an unintelligible
observation from a still functional display. Returned Breth, "Is the
equipment still working? Are the parameters satisfied? Well, activate it then,
you numskull!"


Captain felt a slight tingling in his extremities. As he begun to link with local
scanners to perform a self-diagnostic which didn't entail going to Doctor, the
prickling became more pronounced. The sensation transformed to the familiar one
of a transporter beam.


On the screen Breth shouted gleefully, "By the Holy Twins and their Seven
Cousins! The machine those scheming Jharin sold us does work! Engage the narrow
beam transporter!"


Red swirls surrounded Captain as he felt his molecules disintegrating. Shocked, a
room began to shimmer into view before he could trigger Borg transporters,
green special effects overpowering to replace the red. The local nodal
intersection swam back into sight.      


"More power to the transporter! My son's coming home!" came from the direction
of the viewscreen as red became the dominant color. Once again, just as Captain
was partially rematerialized, the Borg transporters dominated, pulling him back
to the cube. Back and forth he bounced, from dim cube interior to bright ship
room. Like the old rope from a game of tug-of-war, Captain began to feel
frayed, and called for a halt of the contest. The final cycle of transporters
left him standing on the deck of Breth's ship, feeling dazed and blinking in
confusion. At least all his molecules had made it to the same place.


{Second!} called Captain through the maintained subspace link. {What happened?}


{Working on it. Something has a lock on you, and Sensors isn't sure what it is, but she
is looking into it.}


Another voice echoed, {Yes, Sensors is [sight-seeing] into it.}


Although physically separate from Cube #347, Captain retained the same access of the
nets he always did. Viewing the ship he was currently marooned in through a
constantly changing sensor feed was disconcerting; Captain decided to simply
monitor consensus from afar and leave the major tasks to a capable Second. The
currently developing situation demanded his full attention.


The room appeared to be a transporter room, as evidenced by the fact Captain found
himself standing on a transporter pad commonly associated with species #2553. A
control console stood opposite, although no one manned it at the moment. The
walls, paneled in red and white, were bare, except for a ceiling-to-floor
display of monitors and blinking lights behind the operator's console. An
extremely high-pitched hum that was audible only because of Borg implants
warned of a force field in operation in the immediate vicinity. Captain
stretched out his organic hand, but did not actually touch the field; it would
be easily passable. The door slid open.


Three beings of species #2553 entered. The first was Breth, clothed in a drab brown
robe which contrasted sharply with the bright tones of his head feathers. Following
behind was a female, dressed as Breth, feathers of crown dull orange with a
green fringe. Last was an extremely old fellow, naked head showing through
feathers so sparse it was not possible to tell their original colors. He wore a
black robe with red runes along the hem and a necklace of blue stones around
his neck; he also carried a bulging bag slung over one shoulder. None of the
beings were visibly armed.


{I say we flood those ships with the hierarchies of Assimilation and Weapons. What
isn't converted can be killed,} sent Second, seeing through Captain's senses. Weapons'
mentality glowed with a barely repressed anticipation in the background while
Assimilation retained his normal quiet, although the general depression he
emitted lightened a bit.


Growled Captain as he let eye and optics rove back and forth to take in as much
information as possible, {No. We will wait. Did you not hear? Breth said they
had contact with Jharin! There is data here about species #8511; if we learn
the knowledge we need is on one of the escaped ships, we may need these
sentients whole in order to lay a trap for the others.}


{And if it is here?} asked Second.


{Then we will take these ships.} Captain took a moment to follow the lock on the
disabled ship, then set a vector for the impulse engines to overtake the
limping vehicle. {Weapons, CAPTURE that transport. Sensors, any luck on this
lock?}


{Sensors does not taste anything yet. The [high treble harmonics] temporarily smelt of [burnt
cinnabar], but the [sourness] fled to [sweet] before Sensors could hone in on
the identity.}


Captain hated the occasional cryptic sentences of Sensors. Sometimes certain concepts
just did not translate, and this was one of those times. There were some
thought patterns too alien to adequately render, even for Borg expertise with
nearly ten thousand languages. {A simple yes or no will suffice.}


{Sensors says no, but Sensors will continue to examine the [cryptograph].}


The exchanges, including initiation of the course alteration, had required less
than ten seconds. In that short time, Breth and his two compatriots had
arranged themselves in the transporter room, next to the pad and in a rough
semicircle. Of course, there were only so many shapes three beings could make. The
black robe stood slightly to the back of the other two.


"Gerson, I'm so sorry we had to steal you away from those others. We know you are not
evil, that deep down, despite your outer appearance, you are not a soulless
cybernetic monster. Your mother, Rhean, has faith, as does Granddad
Dreng." The latter took a maraca? from his bag and began to rhythmically
shake it while mumbling untranslatable nothings under his breath. Slowly they
became more audible as: "Louie Louie...ooohhh...we gotta go now. Yah, yah,
yah, yah...oh, Louie, Louie.... " The shaker drowned the off-tone chant.


{Sensors?} pleaded Captain.


{Sensors still cannot find the [boo-boo]. Give Sensors a little time! If you want [miracles],
don't look for them here. You know better.}           


Granddad Dreng ground to a halt, then solemnly replaced the maraca in his bag, bringing
out a glass globe. As he held it up and closed his eyes, water swirled around a
fake snowman while bits of white tumbled in the microcurrents. Both Breth and
Rhean had anxious looks on their faces. Pronounced Granddad Dreng, "By the
Seven Cousins, I exorcise the demon spirits. By the Holy Twins, I push the evil
away. The Sacred Beetles and Joyous Holly will be our guide in the trials to
come!" Absolutely nothing happened. Nodding, Granddad Dreng opened his
eyes and put the water globe away. "Gerson is definitely there, I can feel
it. The Sacred and Joyous Ones have never let this clan down." Breth and
Rhean exhaled the breath they had been holding.


{Sensors?????}


{You have odd family, Captain. Really odd. [Calcifying] is the word Sensors wants to
use. Your family also has a piece of unknown technology. Sensors thinks you
will have to either link with the computers or [creep] the apparatus so that
Sensors can understand, and so that we can devise a countermeasure. The [cinnabar
licorice] harmonics say the machine still has a lock on you.}


{Captain,} butted in Weapons, {disabled species #2553 ship captured and armaments
disabled.}


Captain set an extremely rude image spinning into the intranet. Dryly commented Second,
{Not only is that pict irrelevant, it is quite impossible. Should the Queen get
wind of it....} The mock-threat was left hanging.


{Oh, shut up. ALL of you, just shut up,} returned Captain. He returned his full
attention to his *shudder* relatives. It was unfortunately impossible to deny
the genetic link between himself and them. They were watching him intently.


"This drone no longer is designated Gerson. This body is designated 4 of 8. You will
turn off the mechanism which is locking transporters on this drone; you will
give up all data related to Jharin; and you will prepare yourselves for
assimilation."


"Bah!" spat Granddad Dreng. "You always did take yourself too seriously, boy. Downright
anal at times. That cube out there ain't going to miss one little body, and it
dang well doesn't need us. You just tell them there people in charge that you
got family commitments to attend. 'Bugger off' is the phrase I'd use."


There was obviously a fundamental flaw somewhere, well, many somewheres, about
Granddad Dreng's view of the general structure of the Borg. One who knew
anything knew that one did not tell the Borg to "Bugger off". Painful memories
were flooding back, those which had been very deeply locked away since
assimilation. Twenty-seven Cycles ago there had been an impetus for Captain to
enlist on the first tramp freighter he could find when he had run away at the
barely sublegal age at twenty-three. The fact "Jezebel of the Twins"
was a disintegrating lemon which barely eked out a living transporting raw
latchot guano did not matter. Granddad Dreng had only been a very small part of
the reason...there was also his parents, siblings, cousins, aunts, uncles....


"You never could take a hint, Granddad Dreng! No one in this insane asylum of a clan
could! Why I had to be born normal is beyond me. The stares, the whispers, the
gossip I had to live with as a fledge, but that none on the nest-estate even
noticed! The freighter, even though it smelled like sh**, was a dream...even
the Borg are preferable. Do you know what one of my thoughts was when I
realized my present life was kaput? I was relieved! I knew I would never have
to face this clan again.


"I...I...I...oh, crud." Being faced with his family had brought back all the grievances,
all those supposedly purged emotions. Captain, in his supreme exasperation, had
fallen from plural to singular during the rant. Silence, both in the immediate
room and on the cube.


A single lone voice began to taunt: {Someone is going to be in trouble,} before
sliding away.


{Delta,} ordered Captain, {take 438 of 510 and introduce him the direct joys of
scrubbing the many kilometers of regeneration system conduits. I know you've
been wanting to get that done, but it has been low priority. You now have a
drone assigned to the job.}


"Gerson, son! You are back!" cried Rhean with tears in her eyes. Breth also
appeared to be quite overcome with emotion. Granddad Dreng just looked smug.


 


"Now, Gerson, you understand we can't let you out of there until one of the clan
physicians is able to examine you, try to cure you. You are not yourself, and
who knows how you may react at times. When you are fixed, we will release the
transporter lock and get out of here."


"Breth, you and four of your ships are being held by tractor beams. This cube has a
tendency towards a twitchy trigger. I do not wish to have a physician look at
me, because nothing is wrong. For once in your life, face reality!"


"Don't take that tone of voice with me, young man!" Granddad Dreng began a high
pitched giggle as Breth chided Captain. Cube #347 was having a good floor show,
that was for sure. Echoes of {Don't take that tone of voice with me, young man}
bounced around. Captain could only grit his teeth.


"I am fifty years old. Fifty. I have long since left the fledge table at the clan
dinners. I do not even eat anymore. And I refuse to stay on this transporter
pad. I have things to do!" Captain stiffly enunciated every word, then
stepped forwards and down. The force field tingled, but was not an impediment. The
three took a pace backwards.


Intoned Granddad Dreng solemnly, "Why do birds suddenly appear every time you are
near?" The door to the room opened, allowing a new member of species #2553
to enter. This one's head was the reverse coloration of Breth, and wore a red
robe. "Praise be, your niece, Dr. Celiat, has arrived. The sacred
intonation has proven its worth again."


"But...bu...Breth already said someone was coming." Captain paused, listening to the chorus
of voices mimicking Granddad Dreng. {The following designations are also
scrubbing the regeneration system conduits. Twice.} A list of fifty-two was
compiled and posted. Juggling attention, he returned fully to the local area,
"Just get out of my way. I require computer access. I'll find it
myself."


Chaos.


Breth: "Son, you will be returned to us. It has been foretold in the boshkah
leaves and in the words revealed through the audio reversal of The Village
People psalms."


Rhean: "Don't you sass your father!"


Granddad Dreng swinging an amulet with a large yellow circle in the caricature of a
face: "May the Seven Cousins have mercy on his soul! He knows not what he
does!"


Dr. Celiat waving some medical instrument: "Hold still...hold still! Don't
move. No, don't. I need to make some preliminary scans."


Captain felt the distinct urge to a trigger transporter beam, even as Sensors felt the
formulating thought and promised it would only lead to a second molecular
tug-of-war. Sensors also noted the machine had been located to somewhere at the
aft end of the ship, but was obscured by an odd radiation field akin to that
found in the nebula, and so could not be pinpointed exactly. Second again
proposed dealing with the on-going problems directly.


{No. I don't want any others beamed over here. As long as everyone is on the cube, I
know nothing will get out of hand any more than the current potential. Send
drones over and we will be stuck with five debris fields, five shiploads of
substandard drones - I know my family...the Greater Consciousness would not be
pleased - or some combination thereof. Whatever the outcome, the odds are not
good we would obtain information on species #8511. I'll deal with the lock.}


Captain looked to each side, then pushed forwards, heading for the door. It did not
open. The simple action of smashing the controls located on the right side
triggered the opening function. Captain went into a hallway of beige walls with
green carpeting, trailed by the four babbling members of his family. He turned
what he hoped was aft.


Basic design specs of the transports began to fill Captain's active memory as he accessed
little used files. A twisting labyrinth resembling the tunnel motif of a
nest-estate, the most important areas were housed in the central axis, with
single/family quarters, food preparation, cargo holds, and other less crucial
sections surrounding the core. The original estate designs harkened to the
times of pre-space clan warfare, the layout which had been subsequently adapted
for domestically produced starships. Unlike many starfaring races, species
#2553 did not expose vital nerve centers such as a bridge to the exterior
surface where it would be open to a wayward phaser. Captain needed to go deeper
into the transport.


Trying to ignore both the continued orders/complaints from the four clan kin and
unhelpful snatches of advice from cube members, Captain entered a lift. "Central
axis." Amazingly the elevator began to move in the right direction;
unfortunately it began to play muzak. The door opened, and Captain strode onto
a different ship level, this one of white panels and deep blue carpet.


Dr. Celiat cleared her throat. "Uncle, I see the problem you have. You have
lots of nonorganic parts attached to you, and multitudes of foreign particles
in your blood. If you come with me, I'll see what I can do to alleviate what
must be excruciating pain."


"Amazing deduction. I've lived with the condition for longer than you probably have been
alive. My 'foreign particles' have long since deadened pain nerve endings such
that those sensations are irrelevant." Captain was reading the writing
helpfully stenciled on the doors. The entourage had gained several more people,
mostly children in shorts.


Granddad Dreng snorted, "Now don't you talk to Celiat like that. It took her many
years of hard study to be the clan doctor. You give her..." he bobbed his
head up and down several times, finding a beat, "you give
her...R-E-S-P-E-C-T, this is what it means to me. R-E-S-P-E-C-T...." Further
singing was ignored as Captain abruptly halted in front of a particular door.


"Heritage of the Holy Teachings? Don't tell me you actually...." The faint sound of
a chorus could be heard, along with muffled thumps. The sound had to be
extremely loud, by the very fact it could be perceived in the hallway through
supposed soundproof doors. Captain had to see for himself.


Many of the ship's fledges sat, heads bowed. Somewhere in the background heavy
thumping began to emanate once more, quickly followed by electric wailings. "GALILEO!"
shouted all those present, then began to bang their heads against air, feathers
flying all over the place. Granddad Dreng agilely scooted by the stunned
roadblock to cavort about the room. As suddenly as the music? had started, it
stopped. The room was silent, then a single voice:


"Nah, nah, nah, nah...nah, nah, nah, nah...hey, heeeey, goooodbye. Nah, nah, nah,
nah...nah, nah, nah, nah...hey, heeeey, goooodbye...." One of the older
children stood to lift her voice in sweet praise to the Gods.


The teaching shrine, for that was the purpose of the immense oval room, had been
the focal point of the clan in the nest-estate. Displayed on wall shelves and
in glass-fronted cases, the wholly unique religion of Clan Dreng was laid out
for all to see.


Over four hundred homeworld years ago, according to legend, the founder of the clan,
Juruvi Dreng, a salvage/claim-jumper of the then newly spacefaring race, was
operating in the frontiers of the home system's inner asteroid belt. An
accident occurred which should have ended his life, but he managed to make it
to a mysterious tumbling container, one which had appeared before his eyes in a
flash of heavenly light. It was obvious to Juruvi Dreng that the Holy Ones had
wanted him to live and spread the word about their true nature. The relics
found within the container were concrete proof of their existence, complete
with a machine which translated the language of heaven into that of the mortal
realms. Unfortunately, when very few were willing to abandon five millennium of
accepted doctrine preaching peaceful worship of the Twins and Cousins, Juruvi
had been forced to begin his own clan.


As this was the lead of the Dreng clan convoy transports, than it stood to reason
these things were the original artifacts, with the other ships holding blessed
copies. Captain automatically lifted his attention to the one relic which had
always caught his attention as a fledge, the one which now held new meaning
from the Borg perspective of assimilated languages, including those which
originated on the Federation capital of Terra. A large piece of plasticized
paper housed in a xenon-atmosphere display read:


"Property of the Florence auction house, station Rhone. The estate of Jerry Wilkins wills
that this collection of twentieth century American music art and cultural icons
to be sold on June 13, 2325, and the proceeds bequeathed to the Federation
Smithsonian Institutes. The inventory is listed in the succeeding sheets."


Captain backed out of the room. What he was looking for was not there, but the sidetrip
did confirm imperfectly recalled pre-assimilation memories. The pseudoreligion
was bogus! Granddad Dreng rejoined the now silent group as it followed Captain
down the hallway.


"Does it bring back memories, son? Does basking in the light and sounds of the Holy
Ones bring your true self forward? Are you ready to return to your clan?"


"Breth, I always thought the religion seemed odd when I was a fledge. Now I know...the
Dreng founder, through a freak accident, found a collection of mundane
Federation memorabilia. A temporal-spatial anomaly and a lost container of
irrelevant junk, not holy anythings, is the base for four hundred years of
insular insanity!"


Silence...deeply disturbing silence greeted the remark as Captain continued down the hall,
looking for a central computer area. Perhaps he should have tried the
engineering section near the engines? Captain, suddenly realizing that he was
now unaccompanied, turned.


Granddad Dreng, Breth, Rhean, and Dr. Celiat were staring at Captain, mouths open in
disbelief. The three younger clan members turned to the eldest, eyes wide and
searching for reassurance. Tears welled up in Celiat's eyes as she shakily
asked, "Granddad Dreng, say it is not so! Say it is not so!!" She
clutched the medical instrument to her chest like a security blanket.


Meanwhile, Granddad Dreng was slowly turning red. Nearly bald skin took on the dull hue of
anger. He reached into his bag and retrieved a pair of rose-colored glasses, putting
them on. Although he had no ears to secure what was a human invention, a
slightly wider head combined with the bump in the middle of his face kept the
glasses in place.


"Heretic! I did not wish to test you with the demon finder, but you have given me no
choice! We thought there was still some of Gerson left in his body, an ember of
his personality which could be fanned back to flaming life! But it is
true...the warning Gerson gave this clan twenty-five years ago was his soul,
struggling to make amends with his family. The Gerson that fledged in the
nest-estate would never had made such a pronouncement. Gerson is dead and the
Borg demon has taken his place!"


Breth was obviously trying not to break into tears himself, but it was difficult as
Rhean had followed Dr. Celiat's example. Finally he simply said, "I am
sorry, but Granddad Dreng is right. You are not my son, not anymore, although
you wear his body. I am ashamed." Breth gathered the two females in his
arms, then turned pointedly away.


Captain felt the overwhelming urge to find a chair, sit in it, and rock back and forth
with his hands over his face to hide maniacal laughter. It was a passing urge,
however, irrelevant in part because no longer felt comfortable in any position
except standing, and in the fact he no longer had two whole upper limbs. Exasperation.
Pure exasperation. He turned away to continue down the hallway as Granddad
Dreng began yet another slow chant, a funeral dirge,


"Lucy in the sky with diamonds...."


An announcement swept over the intercom. Acknowledging the danger the five ships
were in, Breth was only now formally informing the clan of the threat the Borg
served, and to be not fooled by the fact the current drone on the ship was once
a member of the family. "A demon is among us" was the exact phrase
used. The hallways became vacant and silent, other than the continuing presence
of Granddad Dreng and his solemn pronouncements.


{Sensors? Is the lock gone now?}


{Nope. Sensors thinks your family, in their rush, forgot to [implode] whatever machine
they used to [shuffle] you in the first place.} Sensors went on to detail an
effective countermeasure, but it would need for Captain to be fully
materialized on the cube. Unfortunately, there was a good chance the
transport's transporter was directly tied into the machine and would activate
for another tugging session if the cube attempted to beam him home.


Second asked, {Now can we put drones aboard?}


{No. They will probably start to smash everything if others come aboard, including
important data about species #8511, now that Breth had finally declared us
hostile.}


The twisting maze of hallways terminated with a single door marked "Computer
Core." Finally. By the perversity of the universe, it was the absolutely
last egress, other than a lift, in the central axis. As Captain smashed the
control to the recalcitrant door in order to open it he noticed Granddad Dreng
had at long last gone silent. It was a relief. The phaser which grazed a
shoulder was unexpected only in that it had taken so long for resistance to
materialize.


"Kill the possessed!" screamed Granddad Dreng. Captain glanced back, only to see
the elder had pulled a weapon from his bag. Eyes glittered in religious fervor
behind the rose lens. "Die!" The trigger was depressed.


Although a lance of energy did hit Captain, the blast simply splashed off personal
shielding. It seemed species #2553, at least this group, had never bought new
weapons or readjusted the frequencies on the old; Borg were long since immune
to the effects. Captain turned away, wincing as a shot from inside the room was
stopped mere centimeters from his face.


The room's interior was packed with computer equipment, a brightly lit room of
monitors and blinking lights. Three technicians, each with a different bicolor
scheme of cranial feathers, crouched behind plush swivel chairs with castors on
the legs. Two were armed, while the third nervously hid in a corner, spinning
his barrier around.


The two armed technicians pulled their chairs sideways, wheels squeaking. As they
did so, both fired their weapons. One missed, the other hit with ineffective
force. Granddad Dreng yelled "Die!" from behind just as Captain felt
another phaser from that quarter.


Ignoring the light show, Captain panned around the room, looking for something which did
not belong. There, in the back...part of a console had a new look to it,
accented by the fact part of the wrapping plastic had yet to be torn off a
panel of dark buttons. Writing next to various LCD displays did not belong to
species #2553, although the words on the associated monitor did match
appropriately. That piece of computer equipment was the goal.


Captain strode to the back of the core room, passing within touching distance of the
unarmed technician. The poor fellow gave an eek as he scuttled backwards,
pinning himself against the back wall while attempting to look as small and
inoffensive as possible behind his chair. Three more phaser hits were
deflected.


"Will you knock it off?" bellowed Captain. "That is very annoying!" Granddad
Dreng's voice rose in a rallying hymn against darkness entitled "Leader of
the Band", which the other two weapon wielders joined. The third continued
to shiver, praying for The King's protection. With the blindness of the true
fanatic, Granddad Dreng continued his assault. "If you even think about
calling on that no-name horse, I will pull this ship down around your ears. I
never liked that song...it made absolutely no sense in any context."


The consoles to either side spat sparks as errant phaser fire destroyed hardware. Captain
carefully examined the piece of alien equipment, deciding it was more or less
self-contained. He began to mentally scroll through the ship inventory at high
speed, zeroing in on the tool he wanted. Although Captain was still personally
denied the transporter, he could beam items to himself. The arc wielder which
materialized in his hand he quickly fitted into a socket on his prosthesis.


A torrent of sparks flew as Captain narrowed his eye and worked on cutting the
species #8511 hardware out of the main equipment bank. It was quickly severed;
and as Sensors called that the lock was terminated, Captain sent the console to
the cube. Next task...


The one-sided phaser fight stopped and a flurry of whispers over the
ineffectiveness began. Although Granddad Dreng argued for a renewed attempt to
disintegrate the demon impostor, one of the technicians was pointing out the
present try was damaging vital computer components, as well as scaring Vren near
to death with misses scorching his chair. No conclusions were made, but one of
the techs did go running out of the room and down the hallway, calling for
heavier weaponry. Granddad Dreng shouted for someone to bring forth the
powerful lava lamp artifact with an appropriate power source.


Captain eyed a mostly intact terminal: it would have to do. He slammed his hand down
and swiftly made contact with the ship computer, funneling the computational
powers of his sub-collective into finding information of species #8511,
specifically where the transporter lock technology had been acquired. The
dataspaces of the ship quickly transmuted to digital rubble and chaos, no
system left unturned in the pillage. Lights flickered, doors opened and closed
without reason, and life support erratically functioned. Gravity was momentarily
lost, dropping most people to the ground when it came back on-line.


"We got it!" said Captain aloud, voicing the completion of the primary mission
by the sub-collective. He could feel several mentalities, especially those few
which were once human or associated with the Federation, swipe selections from
the teaching archives as contact with the now lobotomized computer was
terminated. Captain turned to regard the cursing Granddad Dreng as he pulled
himself to his feet with the dubious help of a freely rolling chair.


"Granddad Dreng, I always wanted to tell you but never had the guts: your singing really,
really sucks." The squawk of offense was punctuated by a phaser blast
which was too little too late as Captain triggered transporters on Cube #347 to
beam him back to his nodal intersection, back to his family and home.


 


The five ships of the convoy were allowed to go free, tractor beams abruptly
shutting off. As the cube distanced itself from the transports at high impulse,
Captain began the construction of the weekly status report to the Greater
Consciousness. The fact the ships contained Captain's kin had absolutely
nothing to do with the consensus reached to neither destroy nor assimilate
those onboard. Assimilation? Perfection was the Collective goal; Granddad Dreng
and company were as far from perfection as possible. Destruction? Species #8511
was now known to occasionally trade with other species at a newly revealed
location, but a possible contact to follow-up in the far, far future had to be
preserved just in case all other ways led to dead-ends.


Despite Captain's strenuous self-objection, there was perhaps a piece of the Dreng clan
in him, a denied legacy of hundreds of years of genetic inbreeding which left
no descendent unscathed. Or, maybe, it was a bit of borrowed sarcastic
perversity more suited to Second's nature. Whatever the reason, Captain
impulsively threw a tight-beamed subspace broadcast towards the five ships
being rapidly outdistanced,


"Nah, nah, nah, nah...nah, nah, nah, nah...hey, heeeey, goooodbye...."
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< Disclaimer: The following, where possible, has been edited and digitally
remastered so that the normal minds of the universe might have a possibility of
following a wholly unique worldview. >


 


A Borg of a Different Color


 


Sensors crouched slightly, unhooking herself from the clamps which held her standing
during her regeneration cycle. Truthfully, the support was unnecessary as her
species never laid down to rest or sleep after entering the subadult stage. The
alcove was different in appearance, although not in function, than the others
in Cube #347, having a horizontal section which fit neatly over abdomen and a
vertical section to snugly cradle torso and head. Before the model had been
shipped to the cube, regeneration had been pure torture of unnatural positions.
Picking her way towards a local nodal intersection, her four long metallic legs
nearly soundless as she stepped along the catwalk, Sensors dove into the
harmonies of the sub-collective, beginning her shift.


One of three nonhumanoids on Cube #347, Sensors was of insectoid stock, as were the
other two, although none of the three were of the same species. Unlike
humanoids, which were rather homogeneous in their basic body pattern, the rarer
insectoids came in a wide spectrum of forms. The requirements to be classified
insectoid were (1) species lifecycle which included one or more metamorphosis,
(2) more than four limbs, and (3) some type of keratin- or chitin-analogue
exoskeleton. Although some humanoids (mammalian, reptilian, etc.) may qualify
on one or two points, all three conditions were stipulated. Beyond that,
anything went.


Sensors' native form most closely resembled a black praying mantis with its four stilt-like
walking legs and upright canted torso, granting the abdomen was shorter and the
wicked pinchers typical of the Terran insect absent. The forelimbs were spindly
and as long as the legs, but whereas the locomotory limbs ended in a two-clawed
"foot", a three fingered hand with thumb adorned the arms; in a
pinch, however, the arms could serve as a third pair of legs. The top of torso
and abdomen were encased in smooth plates, much like a beetle's wing casings,
although Sensors' distant ancestors had never developed flight organs. Atop all
was the head: a pair of compound-seeming eyes bulged from the skull, providing
a nearly circular field of view, while waving from above were a pair of short
antennae no longer than the length of the head; the vertical-split mouth hid a
set of sharp needle teeth. Overall, the dimensions of Sensors' species was 1.3 meter
at head, 0.9 meter at "shoulder" (intersection of torso and abdomen),
and 1.1 meter length.


Several aspects of biology did distinguish Sensors' species from the archetypical
Terran insect. First, the exoskeleton, while present, was an extremely
lightweight and flexible chitin, resembling the post-molt shell of a crab or
crayfish. True, it did serve as a point of attachment for some muscles, but the
standard endoskeleton was more efficient. Lungs were also more typical of that
found in humanoid species, as the spiracles of the creatures resembled were not
conductive to growth above a certain minute size. Four pairs of breathing holes
opened under the back plate of the torso, leading to four pairs of
interconnected lungs. Unlike the physiology of, say, a human, brachial and
tracheal tubes were not shared, and the mouth was solely for eating. An
interesting sideline was that speaking, performed by forcing the air out of the
breathing holes over "vocal cords" led to a complicated language
capable of words which were literally based of eight different tones sounding
together; it made other tonal languages look like the aimless babblings of a
baby.


Continuing, it was the unique interpretation of the senses which set the species of
Sensors' apart from every other being in the Collective, including other
insectoids. The compound eyes were not true, which would have placed an undue
metabolic energy demand on the body system, but were instead many simple eyes
akin to the orb of a fixed-pupil fish, clustered together in a vast system. Each
separate eye took in a whole image, which was reconstructed by the brain into a
meaningful picture; however, each eye did not see in the same spectrum. A vast
cross pattern in each cluster saw normal visible light, biased towards the red.
Seeming to be randomly placed in the area excluded by the cross, eyes sensitive
to infrared, single frequencies of visible, ultraviolet, x-ray, and even
microwave also gave their input. The visual world of species #6766 was
confounding to say the least.


Sensors' species was not only alien in how they saw the world, but how they interpreted
it. Both smell and taste figured high in important senses, much more than most
species. Receptors on feet and hands allowed a member of #6766 to literally
taste his or her way through life, and the sense of smell of the antennae could
pick out infinitesimally fleeting scents in the air. The antennae could also
feel the air movements of nearby objects, but that ability was evolutionarily
underdeveloped. A unique brain integrated all. Neural wiring was malleable,
changing and creating new cross-links throughout life. There were no set areas
of the brain where perceptions were sorted and categorized; instead the entire
input was mixed in the equivalent of a giant blender which when verbalized,
other members of species #6766 could easily understand, but others could only
scratch their heads.


In other words, even the most advanced translator would alter the phrase,
"This flower smells like a rose," into, "This flower [tastes] of
[chlorophyll blue nectars] with a dash of [zinging purple whistles]." Some
concepts just do not translate...now try to interpret an entire worldview.


From the basic form of her species, Sensors' had been modified by the Borg. All six
limbs had been replaced, but unlike the normal clunky prostheses, those
designed for species #6766 were slender and mimicked the originals. Tubes wound
in and out of torso and abdomen. The head appeared to be half-covered by a
black mask which partially obscured the eyes; and while the unaltered lower
clusters continued to see normally, the upper half were extensively modified to
mesh with the multitudes of optical implants visible on the head. A pair of
tubes emerged from the back of the head to trail down lower on the body. Unlike
other species, the exterior of Sensors' retained its black coloration, the
already dead exoskeleton unable to be partially necrotized in the original
assimilation process; a clear liquid had been sprayed on the chitin, rendering
it impermeable to vacuum. The unseen Borg modifications were more typical,
although little could be done to modify the odd way Sensors, or any of species
#6766, interacted with the universe.


To Sensors, the sub-collective was a vast chorus of singing voices, a gallery of
battling personalities which warred with each other utilizing weapons of song
until harmony emerged from the discord. The computer stored information as
tastes and smells, the datastreams of which conveyed sensor information and
command codes within a turbid river of unformed potential melodies. After the
initial chaos had been sorted and shaped in her mind, Sensors ironically had
one of the clearest pictures of both the physical and mental state of affairs
of Cube #347.


Sensors took a few moments to observe the interior of the transwarp conduit Cube #347
was currently hurtling through. Hard radiation and subspace fields twisted in
the psychotic shadow shapes common to the current mode of transportation. Finding
a frequency which focused on the minute stress fractures of subspace, Sensors
retuned a large portion of the grid. Many of those awake in the sensor
hierarchy immediately tuned out the disturbing sight of five-dimensional fractals,
focusing attention on the grid which retained more conventional protocols.


All was well. A slight warping in the fabric of the conduit proclaimed an exit
point ahead, but it would be several hours before the end came into view.


 


Cube #347 emerged at the edge of a system dominated by an aging yellow dwarf star. Minute
shifting of the spectrum revealed hydrogen fusion slowly ending, but many
millions of years would pass before the star bloated into a red giant. These
were the coordinates gained only weeks earlier during a meeting between the
cube and species #2553; and, more specifically, Captain's biological kin. The
clan had obtained a piece of technology from species #8511, with this was the
location where the bartering had taken place.


Miscellaneous planets and space junk orbited the star, the single gas giant showing evidence
of extensive past mining of its resources, although no machinery was visible in
this epoch. Several terrestrial planets swung through space closer to their
primary, and it was there Cube #347 headed at low impulse, long-range sensor
envelope fully extended.


Sensors coordinated the sweep of the inner system, overlaying a dozen different
frequency visualizations of the same sector of the system. The system had the signs
of hard use, one where resources had become vital due to a slowly developed
interstellar capability coupled with high population density. Many asteroids
showed signs of missing mass due to mining and subsequent development, although
none of the habitats were presently habitable. In fact, although there was much
in-system movement of ships sporting the warp frequencies of multitudes of
species, it was all directed at an orbiting station trailing several million kilometers
behind the second planet.


Cube #347 drew closer to what appeared to be the only living target of an otherwise
dead or abandoned system. Medium-range sensors came into play, giving the first
detailed view of the station.


{Sensors!} shouted Captain into the nets. {Is there any of the grid observing in somewhat
normal frequencies?}


{Oops, just a few seconds.} Sensors always seemed to forget that the great majority of
those on the ship could not (or would not, it was often suspected) process
certain grid configurations which were extremely useful. Gamma [reflections]
and [quantum burst wiggles] gave much information on ship type and probable
species compliment. Sensors regretfully altered the sensors to track infrared
through ultraviolet, as well as set aside clusters dedicated to radio, x-ray,
neutrino, and basic subspace harmonic fields. Boring. A small patch, about a
quarter cube face, she left in the previous configuration.


A cylinder nine kilometers long and two kilometers in diameter, the unknown
station rotated serenely. At first the rotation seemed an archaic method of
producing gravity, but gravimetric emissions indicated a standard system of
artificial gravity fields to be present. A quirk of the species, then? If so,
it was one which accepted the inconvenience of docking platforms that had to be
stationary in relation to the station, as evidenced by the multitudes of
cradles coming into view in the internal longitudinal axis as Cube #347 swing
wide on its approach vector.


Despite the immense size of the internal docking mechanism, it was obviously too small
for some of the immense ships which were approaching or leaving the habitat. A
row of massive spines, not rotating with the station, served as anchor points
for those ships; it was not immediately obvious how crews or cargo were
transferred to the station itself, but several methods were known to the
Collective and, thus, the sub-collective. Power output indicated several power
sources scattered deep in the hull, each of a size more suited to a Federation
battleship, and not of a type more typically for a station.


Blinking, Sensors shuffled through the incoming data until she found what had been hinted
on another frequency. {Captain! Sensors says that the reactors are warp cores. Very
powerful warp cores. Look at the field lines that are produced.} Sensors
displayed a simple graphic.


{Can it warp?} asked Captain, perplexed as to why a station, a word which epitomized
stationary, would need such power.


{No. The power is all directed inward towards internal systems. No structures
indicating warp capability is evident.}


A sigh of relief followed. The station would not suddenly disappear, which would
fit in with the luck the cube had been having as of late.


A large communication array studded the length of the habitat, facing the star in
a position opposite the external pillions. The last feature of note was the
paint scheme of the station: black and silver stripes hundreds of meters wide
ringed the rotating section, while the stationary sections looked as if they
had been dipped in the essence of blue. The flat end visible to Cube #347 had
vast letters scrawled in red, reading in an extinct language, "Station
Traxis" and "Always Waiting, Always Watching, Forever Living -
Welcome". Interestingly, the latter phrase, when phonetically rendered
into an obscure tongue, spelled an obscene cliche of a sexual nature insulting
a mythical Creator of the universe.


Cube #347 was now well within sensor range of both station and most of the vessels
exterior to its hull. Several undocked ships spun about on thrusters or sped
away at high impulse, seeking a place to safely engage warp. Others, however,
sedately remained as they were, with the exception of one trader who blew his
couplings with a pillion and joined his fleeing comrades.


A hail from the station pinged the hull of the cube, giving Sensors the
impression of an unreachable itch centered somewhere behind her eye clusters. She
disliked hails...something during assimilation had been bungled, an implant
misplaced; Doctor, both present and past drones, always said nothing was
different from the schematics of others such as herself, but the annoying
sensation always popped up. Cube #347, cautious as it approached unknowing of
possible hostiles, had yet to initiate contact protocols. Captain acknowledged
the communication, soothing the impossible itch.


Sensors picked the hail from the subspace frequencies, imaging it directly in her brainware.
Elsewhere on the cube, a head and shoulders on a neutral backdrop of gray
appeared on Captain's viewscreen as the visual component of the message. The
head looked much like the stereotypical humanoid, except for the immense
amounts of facial hair: a blond yeti in a blue sweater.


"Now, before you begin those Borg proclamations of yours, you should know several
facts. One, this station is a freeport, open to all, but if you make the
customers nervous, I will use force to rectify the problem. Two, if other
customers bother you, I will direct that force at them. Three, this station
does, I repeat, does command enough firepower to destroy a Borg cube. Try me,
and I'll make sure the debris contain nothing larger than a very small bolt, if
that."


The part of the sensor grid which automatically tracked stars when in-system to
guard against nasty occurrences such as solar burps, magnetic fluctuations, and
other such unhealthy stellar phenomenon, began to register an abrupt twisting
of the solar fields, one which could only be artificially produced. Sensors'
immediately shuffled through grid frequencies, viewing them in concurrent
blocks of ten, until she could see a formerly hidden network of objects
orbiting just above the surface of the star. The technology involved to simply
keep the machines in one piece had to be amazing, but the fact that thousands
of them were in varying orbits and obviously manipulating the magnetic field
was astounding. Sensors quickly alerted Captain to the problem.


{Captain, Sensors sees a situation developing. An immense solar flare is building, and it
is aimed at us.}


{Aimed?} the incredulous question of Captain was directed at Sensors. She obligingly
sent a replay of the image of writhing magnetic fields and plasma.


"Station," returned Captain over subspace, "this cube will...comply." The
implied “for now” was evident, even through the Collective voice.


The yeti smiled, "Thank you Borg ship. I welcome you to station Traxis. I am
your host, Traxis. I am both dictator of this happy little freeport, and the
station itself. As I'm sure you can see, I am what you colorfully refer to as
species #5518, one which was assimilated about a century prior. Well, don't get
your nanites in a bundle; that species is quite extinct in the galaxy, except within
your Collective, I suppose...my body died and I transferred my mind into the
systems of the station. You might say I am the station now; I hold absolutely
no rancor, as this is the best gig a fellow could wish for. To keep you happy,
and to keep you out of my systems, I present you a brief synopsis of how you
lost a potential drone, and how I came to be a large rotating cylinder in
command of a Borg-deterring weapon. When you are done digesting the
information, give a yell. I would like to know your reason for this visit and
how long you plan to stay. Have a nice day." The speed of data transfer increased
immensely, into a rate appropriate for computer to computer. Cube #347 caught
the information flow, dumping it into the dataspaces for perusal.


Traxis had narrowly escaped the assimilation of his home world, choosing one of
infinite directions to point his little trading ship to flee. Alone, Traxis had
randomly drifted from one system to the next, learning that none of his species
appeared to have escaped, and following tantalizing rumors of a "ghost
station" with the abilities to destroy the Borg empire. When he eventually
did find the station, all was not as advertised. Orbiting a dead world and
belonging to a race tens of thousands of years extinct, the station was a mess.
It was amazing it even survived, but the builders had done a good job. Traxis
set about to repair the station and move it to a more ship-friendly location,
calling in all the favors he had made over the years of wandering, running up
huge debts with less-than-legal financial institutions where "interest
due" often meant broken limbs, or worse. In the course of repair, he
discovered a great secret: a star-based defense system still operational and controlled
from the station. However, by this time, any grudge Traxis had with the Borg
had long since bled away into acceptance of reality; besides, the weaponry was not
very mobile.


Station Traxis opened twenty years after its namesake had fled Borg assimilation,
operating as a strategically placed freeport which paid off its debts in less
than two years. Anything was legal, as long as it did not endanger the station
itself or its livelihood, enforcement of which was carried out by on-station
employment of well-paid thugs, a smiling threat of black-listing among the
underbelly of society and/or revealment of location to those interested in said
trouble-causing party, and the reality of ship immolation. Business boomed.


At the declining age of eighty-three, ancient in the terms of his race, Traxis
transferred his personality and mental-self into the systems of the alien
station by use of a highly illegal device. In his current reincarnation, Traxis
had become his station, continuing management of the freeport which was his
livelihood, forever a quasi-god of his own little world, never bored with the
constantly changing mass of people.


"Station Traxis," sent Captain.


"Yes?" Traxis had not bothered to send video, had not bothered to drop speeds from the
realm in which only computers, or those beings closely associated with
computers, could understand.


"This cube is tasked to search for information of species #8511, also known as
Jharin. We will be here until we are satisfied with the information we will
gain."


"Ooooo...information is expensive, but business is good."


"If you have what we need, you will give it to us."


"Touche, touche. Just for that, I'll tell you that yes, I probably do have what you
want...but my price for it became more than you will be willing to pay. You
might want to try shopping around on board first; I'll just sit this one
out."


"What is the price?" Captain was not used to bargaining, and it showed in the
peevish tone which was evident even in the Voice. A response was provided. "We
do not think so."


"Told ya. Have fun on Station Traxis. If you need anything, just give a holler...and
remember, if you assimilate anyone on my premises or in this system where I can
see it, you will be toast." Traxis' disgustingly cheerful signal cut off
abruptly.


Sensors was relieve to note the magnetic flux on the solar surface was dissipating.


[Sour yellow mint] twisted through Sensors' perceptions as she felt Captain's
frowning disgust in the turn of events. Weapons, as always, radiated a [hotly
blue] desire for mayhem, which when combined with the themes of restraint and
outright ambivalence wafting in the song made for an inharmonious [crescendo]. The
cube was divided over what action to take. Captain was felt to carefully reach
over subspace to submerge his voice in the Greater Song. Within that Song, as
perceived through the link mediated by Captain, Sensors could hear the voices
of others of her kind, relatively few, but joyous; she longed to join, but knew
the [discordant] tempo of her thoughts would distract from unity. Still, so
raptured was she with simply listening to the give and take of Captain
representing Cube #347 to the Greater Song, Sensors almost missed the
forthcoming information and subsequent orders which filtered into the
sub-collective.


The song of Cube #347 became dominant once more, melody of the Song fading to the
background as a constant [swirling backdrop]. Within the dataspaces, Captain
fumed over the result of his request for direction from the Greater
Consciousness, disliking the outcome, but unable to flaunt the direct
consensus/compulsion placed upon the sub-collective.


It seemed there was data about Station Traxis, but the knowledge was kept in deep
archives of the Greater Consciousness, unneeded for daily operation as the
freeport was located in a sector not scheduled to be brought into BorgSpace for
six decades. The threat of other species and governments acquiring the secret
of fine-manipulation of stellar fields was considered low, with estimates of the
weapon system being overwhelmed and destroyed through an insignificant
sacrifice of thirty-four cubes. Final analysis ordered a compliance with all
rules as put forth by Station Traxis in the quest to obtain information on
species #8511.


Captain briefly considered attempting to break through electronic security measures and
simply taking the desired data, but Sensors called an alarm of increased
stellar activity as the first levels of encryption were examined. The solar
plasma smoothed into the normal indigestions of an aging star. A new type of
action had to be undertaken.


{We will send an away team,} decided Captain after a short shuffling of remaining
options. The notion of "away team," although known through
assimilation, was foreign: Borg sent drones on specific missions of assault,
assimilation, information gathering, and so forth, with each situation directed
by specific protocols.


Probability calculations were cross-referenced with station volume, while vicarious
knowledge of freeports tipped the odds in surprising directions. Sensors
imparted her help, occasionally sending a streamer of yellow to merge with the
general consensus; in the end, an abstract sculpture of pea green and [electron
subharmonics] rotated in the dataspaces, or at least that was Sensors'
perception.


Captain announced, {Twenty shall be sent to gain the necessary data; a random lottery
of all drones will be initiated to determine who goes.} Immediately Sensors
felt a burst of scents as the computer system tripped its random number
generating sequence, flinging out darts of [skunk pencil leads]. One unerringly
pierced Sensors' mental signature. A similar smell targeted nineteen other
signatures, with varying degrees of enthusiasm present in the subsequent
acknowledgments.


Sensors felt the tingle of her molecules being transported; as always, the many shades
of green swirled in their abstract patterns, giving her personal amusement as
the [tastes] randomly shifted across the spectrum. A new location was slowly
built beyond the obscuring emerald haze, one which resolved itself as a large
marketplace, stretching in the distance as the deck bent up and away from the
horizon. Three other drones also materialized in the same location.


The dataspaces began to integrate a stream of sensory impressions from the five
groups of four which had been sent onto Station Traxis. As all perceptions were
more or less similar, Sensors ignored the other views in favor of her own.


A series of shops, eateries, bars, and brothels lined both sides of the market -
the promenade - with small specialty carts wandering randomly. The wares
exhibited ranged from ostentatious displays of flesh to racks of exotic weapons
to alcohols and alien foods. People of all sorts and all dress strolled along,
actions as diverse as simply conversing with a partner to one being skulking
along while brandishing a phaser rifle with paranoid abandon. All was
irrelevant.


Loudspeakers rang into life, Traxis' voice making the following announcement: "Attention
all patrons! This station relays that Rhak's Weapon Emporium has new stock, and
Rhak invites all to examine the updated inventory! Also, Borg from the cube
parked outside are now on board. Please treat them by Traxis freeport rules, or
you will be harshly disciplined. Remember, Station Traxis sees everything and
knows everything. Have a nice day."


The beings, which had more or less streamed around Sensors and her cubemates,
suddenly seemed to realize for the first time that the new arrivals were not
ordinary freeporters. Silence reined from every quarter of the station,
radiating out from the epicenter of the transporter materializations. People
shuffled back in alarm or unholstered weapons as Captain commanded the drones
to begin their search for information.


Sensors raised herself high on her four walking legs, canted torso forward, then
stepped forward towards the boggle-eyed crowd.


 


Rebuffed yet again, Sensors flicked her antennae in annoyance. At least this being had
not run off screaming when she had tried to engage its attention; it had simply
stood rigid against a bulkhead wall as Sensors had stated her questions, and it
was only through the total silence that she had discovered the being was in a
catatonic state. Information stored on the species indicated the action was a
response to extreme stress and fright. Sensors might have been more exasperated
if not similar, though less extreme, results had not been the rule among
encounters by other drones.


Confrontations tended to follow one of three possible outcomes. One, the being was too scared
to be useful, often performing outrageous escapes to avoid the wandering
drones. Two, the being, taking advantage of Station Traxis' promise of safety, remained
silent in a passive resistance, else goaded the Borg to assimilate them. Three,
the being acknowledged that the questions could be answered, but then proceeded
to ask an outrageous price up to and often including weapon technology and/or
release of entire assimilated colonies from the drone ranks.


No results had been gained after fourteen hours. Captain was actively considering
reopening negotiations with Station Traxis. Many examples of bargaining had
been observed, although there was problem of setting precedence to consider. Public
relations was not irrelevant.


As the increasingly fruitless quest for information continued, Sensors
distractedly managed an ongoing task of her hierarchy to catalogue type and
configuration of all the numerous ships docked at or orbiting Station Traxis. The
station had been slowly circled several times as the survey ground to an end,
when a certain sensor profile caught Sensors' attention. She stopped midstep,
antennae raising in interest; a pair of scout-transports of #6766, her species,
were docked.


{Sensors asks for temporary new priority for search teams,} abruptly sent Sensors. {Find
species #6766 crew of the ships Zorcolo and Orange Jagged.} Assent was sent by
the nineteen other drones scattered throughout the station.


Five minutes later, 18 of 510 spied the distinctive insectoid shapes of three species
#6766 adults ducking into a bar named "Explosive Decompression". Sensors
immediately activated the cube's transporter system to change location to 18 of
510's position. This part of the station was less crowded and more darkly lit
than other areas, but there was no need for Sensors' to activate light
enhancement implants as her unaltered eyes observed her surroundings
satisfactorily. She started towards the bar, 18 of 510 following.


The interior of Explosive Decompression was similar to other establishments thus
seen on the station: dark with smoke wreaths of what was probably illegal drugs
hanging over multitudes of tables. A few waiters and waitresses dully shuffled
between wet bar and drinking groups, slave collars winking holographic codes of
ownership. Conversations and quiet deals which had been taking place suddenly paused,
nervous eyes watching the appearance of the two drones. A large being of no
species designation, sporting considerable stature and looking more like a
mobile rock than a person, imposed itself between Sensors and the room; the
small apron tied around the waist was the only bit of clothing.


"You not allowed in here," rumbled the creature.


Sensors peered up at the 2.5 meter bulk, adding it to the growing file of previously
unknown sentients; 18 of 510 scanned the room. The bouncer? barkeep? owner? was
of no irrelevant, so Sensors moved to step around...the other drone had spotted
the objects of the current search curiously watching from a back table.


"You not enter." A large hand was placed on the front of Sensors' torso,
forcefully halting her.


"You will let this drone complete her business," returned Sensors' startlingly
melodious and rarely used physical voice; many body parts had been altered
during assimilation, but her vocal apparatus had not been one of them. Of the
several options open, the one which usually transpired in situations of
resistance was banned by Traxis; a quick shuffling of datastreams showed the
surface of the star remained quiescent. It almost felt like the station was
watching attentively, which it probably was.


"Puny Borg, you not allowed to do anything to the patrons of Station Traxis, Traxis
said so. Boss says to me, 'Hunh, this fine tavern does not need interruptions',
so I come to tell you entry is not allowed," rumbled the giant. The glint
of a slave collar was evident now, nearly hid in the rolls of granite skin
about the neck.


Sensors drew herself up to her full height, which barely passed the top of the apron. Consensus
on how to deal with the bouncer without becoming a cloud of superheated vapor
was completed, giving Sensors her commands for action. 18 of 510 moved
backwards several steps, flattening against a wall.


"Last warning, non-designated species of obviously underpowered brain resources, you
will let this drone pass."


"No. I will throw your starveling body across market if you don't leave now."


Hunh lunged forwards, intent to bearhug Sensors' torso obvious. Sensors simply
squatted, allowing the arms to whisk over her ducked head, then raised a
walking limb, drilling her foot into the meat of the other's shin. As Hunh
bellowed with injured rage, Sensors spun on her rear walking legs,
body-checking her ridged abdomen into the hurt limb. Hunh crashed to the floor.


Meanwhile, on another level, a swift conversation was happening, namely between Station
Traxis and Cube #347. Unknown to Hunh, his fate was decided in the seconds
between his initial folly of attack and his abrupt meeting with the floor. Acceptable
sentence proclaimed, instructions were received.


Sensors followed her initiative, slamming a fully prosthetic and extremely strong arm
against the base of a helpfully presented skull. Hunh went limp, but did
continue to live, according to the input of several specialty implants. She had
been given permission to terminate the bouncer, but it now appeared to be
unnecessary. Sensors delicately stepped up and over the mound of unconscious
Hunh, followed by 18 of 510. Excitement over, tavern-goers cautiously went back
to their activities, although a sense of cringing anticipation permeated the
bar.


Sensors picked her way towards the table with the trio of her species. The three
lounged on padded benches which neatly supported abdomen, torsos leaning
against a t-bar that stood up at the front of the seats - the species #6766
equivalent of a chair. No overt alarm registered, although antennae quivered in
a pattern which Sensors identified as eagerness. Those of species #6766, unlike
most other races contacted by the Borg, reacted in a manner fundamentally
different from the rest of the galaxy.


At first (survived) contact, when knowledge of the Borg had made it back to the
home system, assimilation was not viewed with dread, but as the nirvana
promised by ancient prophesies. The life cycle of species #6766 started as egg,
then continued through the stages of nymph, subadult, adult, and elder. After
elder, the body was discarded and the soul ascended to Heaven, where it took
its place as a small voice in a chorus constituting countless sentient species
singing of oneness of perfection and waiting for all beings to gather; at that
time, the universe would fulfill its destiny, return to its primal form, and
explode outward again in the never-ending exploration of the states of
idealness. Needless to say, the concept of the Borg Collective seemed like
prophesy made reality.


The modern government held a lottery of all eligible subadults, adults, and elders
for a pilgrimage ticket to BorgSpace, where the lucky winners would enter
nirvana. Only one hundred souls passed into physical heaven each [Home] year,
but it was a coveted prize which many spent their entire lives preparing for,
in case lottery officials should deliver the golden ticket. The Borg, although
they dutifully accepted each species #6766 pilgrimage ship which entered their
space, would actually prefer total assimilation of the species, if only to stop
the odd expeditions. Unfortunately, the computers of the ships were as difficult
to understand as the thoughts of the insectoid drones themselves, so the
precise home system location of species #6766 had never been discovered.


Those nonpilgrims which traveled the space lanes more often than not welcomed the
appearance of Borg cubes, happily complying with orders to lower shields and
prepare for assimilation. The individuals which risked passage on a species
#6766 transport - berths were often priced extremely low - were often
forcefully prepared for Heaven in the event of a capture, assured as bonds were
tied that being a member of the living chorus was the highest honor to be found
in the universe. Thus, with such a totally different worldview, the trio at the
table whistled a greeting at Sensors' approach.


"Greetings, holy one. Have you come to claim us to the chorus? If so, we beg a time span of
four [races of subatomic bees] so that our crew may fulfill a contract. We will
present ourselves for assimilation after that time at a place of your
convenience." The insectoid in the middle of the three had stood, bowing
her head respectfully forwards. The shimmer of rank paint on her torso
identified her as the captain of one of the two scout-transports. "If
Heaven cannot wait, then a time of one [moon skip over purple ionosphere curls]
will be sufficient for my crew to prepare."


Sensors blew a harmonious triplet of apology from her breathing spiracles. "We are
most sorry, but your time of Heaven has not come." The three looked
regretful, but also relieved. "Perhaps we shall meet again in the future,
and you will sing beside this drone. Instead, we are in need of information,
the outcome of which will introduce a new species to the ranks of the singers. Might
you be able to help?"


"A new species? One which does not know of Heaven?" A male with the paint of
primary cargo officer spoke, disbelief in his voice.


"Yes, one which is unenlightened."


All three shook their heads in sorrowful negation. "Of course we will help, in
any way we are able. But..." the captain held up one hand in a gesture of
thoughtful pause, "as we are not to be allowed into Heaven, we must have
other payment, as pale as it may be when compared to nirvana."


In the back of Sensors' perceptions, groans rose up. Negotiations had been too
good to be true. Sensors' hushed those voices which urged breaking of the
conversation and resumption of the previous search.


"What is the price?"


The captain sighed, "As it is known, a vile need hangs over certain members of
the population of the home system and colonies. Addiction is too strong a word,
but true, for the yearnings of precisely manufactured designer chemicals. A
market demands products, though, and this small fleet is only filling a hole
which otherwise might be plugged by less scrupulous beings, perhaps even those
not of our race and unknowing of quirks which might cause metabolic poisoning. It
was thought the freeport Traxis might offer a new supply in a competitive
market."


It was obvious now the reason for the two scout-transports to be at Station Traxis
- drug runners.


"Chemical drugs? That can be easily supplied if you will provide information concerning
species #8511, also known as Jharin."


"The grand Borg Collective is not worried about the evils of drugs?"


"Drugs are irrelevant. In the end, there is only the pleasure of the song, which is
superior to drugs. You will supply a chemical template, a sample of the
substance if available, the amount requested, and all information of species
#8511. If it is sufficient, we will give you what you want."


"I am sorry to question, holy one, but how do I know you will fulfill your end of
the deal...my two ships can hardly collect if you do not wish to
cooperate."


Sensors watched the slightest of ripples pass over the star's magnetic field. "The
bargain will be kept; welching is unacceptable."


 


The information proved to be quite complete, when it arrived half a station day
later, much of it obviously gathered and compiled in the previous several
hours. Species #8511 was enigmatic, appearing to live somewhere in the vast
nebula where Cube #347 had first bodily encountered them. That was the bad
news, as the sheer volume of the nebula would entail decades of dedicated
searching by the entire Borg fleet, instead of the reality of one very minor
cube. The good news was that species #8511 did occasionally emerge from their
hiding place to trade or explore, although in the end they inevitably
retreated.


The drug - [yellow ants of quantum ceilings] - was simple to produce. The
scout-transports sped off with their cargo holds brimming with the substance. Cube
#347 was left to brood, slowly orbiting Station Traxis while decisions were
made and consensus reached.


The debate came to an abrupt end as Sensors noticed a new warp signature rapidly
dissipate, dropping a barbell-shaped ship into the space lanes designated for
approach to the station. She felt the combined attentions of the cube suddenly
focus on the sensor grid, an inharmonic chorus ending on a staccato note of
surprise. As fast as Sensors could flip through the grid alignments to confirm
the configuration of the sedately incoming ship, those of the cube swallowed
the information. It was species #8511; the moment of pause shattered into
shards of shouting.


Captain's presence was momentarily drowned as cycles, if not weeks, of tension was
brought to the forefront by the innocent appearance of the Jharin ship, impulse
fields oddly bunched as the forward mounted engines pulled its hull along. Sensors
felt the [burning cold metal] of Weapons ride his hierarchy through sheer
force, the six hundred strong drones lock on the Jharin and instigated the
maneuvers which committed the cube to attack. It was that situation which had
been initiated when Captain regained propulsion control, but not before a
tractor beam had captured the target. Plasma began to churn on the star's
surface.


"Borg cube!" angrily sent Traxis. "You will release that trader now or you
will not leave this system. I can and will fry you the moment I detect your
engines begin power-up; and if you target me, the result will be the
same."


The exasperation of Captain at the sub-collective flew through the nets like
[frozen methane winds]. The deed had been done, and there was no way to undo
the action...it was not allowed for the universe at large to know Cube #347 was
acting on its own, and did not always have complete control over its own
behavior. Besides, the sub-collective did not want to be swatted over one
little ship, as Sensors empathically contributed to the general turmoil.


Communications opened between the station and the Jharin ship. When Sensors inserted a tap
into the conversation, it mostly consisted of protestations of the hostile
action at a supposedly neutral freeport. Further unobtrusive scans confirmed
the intrinsic reality of the vessel, unlike the previous encounter; and no
odd warpings of reality appeared to be in effect. Other parts of the grid
continued to monitor an increase in the controlled flux of stellar magnetic
fields, cumulating in the formation of a small proto-flare directed at the
cube. By the status of the agitated star surface, the weapon could be
discharged at any time, in extremely short notice, as forewarned.


Sensors built several dedicated partitions of her hierarchy, task to search for the
method of control for the weapon satellites, and possible counters. Captain was
still forcing order among the sub-collective, while at the same time trying to delay
eminent destruction via a three-way conversation between Traxis, the species
#8511 ship, and the cube. So far the winning point of the stalled negotiations
was the Jharin's empathic wish to not be vaporized along with the Borg,
although Station Traxis was prepared to destroy both on general purposes of
avoiding precedence.


Interrupted Sensors into the multitasking, which caused Captain to fragment his mentality
yet again. {The additional drawing of both computational and organic processing
power taste of [streaming chocolate waterfalls].}


{Yes?} said Captain, as he slightly lessened his personal load by assigning Second the
task of retrieving command of a block of thrusters; Delta had physically cut
the thrusters functionality by rerouting reaction mass, but the activation
codes were still firewalled off by a recalcitrant group of twenty weapons
hierarchy units.


{Sensors says we should move this cube directly between the station's communication
array and the star.}


{That might block the commands being sent to the weapon?}


{No...physical mass alone will not block the [waves of neutronium billiard balls] which is in
use. Besides, we do not have the size to eclipse nine kilometers of array. Sensors
suggests raising the stakes - if Traxis destroys this cube, he would also
destroy himself.}


Silence, then at the proper point during the following revolution, vectors altered as
Cube #347 imposed itself directly between the star and Station Traxis. Impasse;
a perpetual stalemated check on the cosmic chessboard.


"Perhaps we might open further discussions?" hopefully asked Traxis as he viciously
cut the Jharin ship out of the ongoing dialogue.


Returned Captain, "This cube will listen to the opening offer."


 


In the end, Captain agreed to allow the species #8511 star to go free. When the
tractor beam was released, the barbell shape immediately fled towards the
interior docking cradles of Station Traxis, disappearing into the rotating maw.
In return, Cube #347 was allowed a graceful retreat from the system, with a
promise of severe retribution should the Borg show ever come within sensor
distance again. Cube #347 powered up engines and leapt into transwarp.


And almost immediately dropped out again, less than a quarter light year distant,
well out of both sensor and weaponry range of Station Traxis. Under Sensors'
painfully clear directions (although the others kept complaining of cryptic
phrases), sampling pattern was formulated, consisting of jumping to various
points of an immense sphere half a light year in diameter, centered on the old
yellow dwarf just left. In less than a day, the results were clear.


Building on an anomaly noticed in the signature of the species #8511 warp-capable vessel
encountered many months prior, Sensors had embarked on a task to sample [third
harmonic essence quark wiggle] in the [fifth phantasmal plane of violet blue]. The
taste was similar to that of the nebula species #8511 was supposed to originate
from, although there were significant differences. To make matters short, there
was a definite trail.


Even without a vital scent, a telling spoor, the wakes of ships through space,
subspace, and other media could be observed, even followed with ease, although
the signatures of specific ships were impossible to determine until the target
came within sensor range. The Jharin ship was not calculated to leave its
safety for an unacceptable period of time, and then would probably not travel
directly back home. A wise, if inconvenient, decision.


Sensors was proud: the trail made waiting unnecessary. Cube #347 could now backtrack
to, and through, the nebula, heading towards the colonies or homeworld of
species #8511. Once again, Sensors was vindicated...it was not she who
experienced the universe differently, it was the others who could not hear the
Greatest Song of All. Oh well, when the final Chorus was built, Sensors'
essence would have long been donated to the [fluorescent black raspberries
fireworks] of Universal Perfection.
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The Check Is In the Mail


 


The rarest of corporal sentients is the machine intelligence. Nonorganic bodies
feeding on a variety of fuels, occurring in a multitude of shapes, surviving in
a wide number of environments, the dozen machine "species" of the
local galactic cluster came from an equally diverse background.


The ENT species, if a single individual could be called a species, was a giant
machine of a size associated with large terrestrial planets. ENT orbited a
guttering white dwarf, silent and seeming dead, except for occasional power
fluctuations and massive discharges of gravitonic eddies. Rumor said ENT was
built long ago by an ancient race, perhaps the first intelligence of a new
universe, and set to determine the reason of existence - the answer to the
question of life, the universe, and everything, as once succinctly stated. Contemplation
had thus far lasted for billions of years with no end in sight; the final
answer was anticipated with both dread and excitement by those who knew of ENT,
but as none had survived an approach to the machine's bulk, it was unknown how
much longer to the program's completion.


On the other hand, the Tic-Tok species was very young, barely sapient, and the
only known example of a "naturally" evolved machine intelligence. Living
in a vast "ecosystem" of run-away Von Neumann machines, part of a
forgotten program to prepare a solar system for colonization, the Tic-Toks had
only recently begun to explore their self-awareness.


In-between the spectrum of old and young, the other machine sophonts existed. Some had
been specifically designed by organic parent species to function independently,
others had bloodily left the arms of their progenitors; each had their own
agenda, and in many ways, despite a vastly different origin, were similar in
thought and desire to their organic "cousins."


Kogg was Xenig, a group of machines as vastly different from each other as they were
widely dispersed about the local galactic cluster. The parents of the Xenig had
forcefully expelled their silicon children from the nest two revolutions of the
Milky Way galaxy prior, and then left the present plane of reality in a moment
of transcendence. Ever since that time, the Xenig had been searching for a way
to rejoin their parents; on one level lost children crying over their
abandonment, and on another, very powerful beings on a dedicated mission. Unfortunately,
inquiry into the scientific foundation of reality required money, and so the
Xenig subcontracted with members of their species to GPS - the Galactic Postal
Service. Kogg was one of those individuals.


Kogg was very proud of his - Xenig did not have genders, per se, but it was often
convenient for nonmachines to assign a sex - record over the course of his
thousand-year contract period. He was even thinking of taking the resign bonus
and continuing for another five centuries. The wages, that which didn't get
sent to the Fund For the Search of Transcendence, had long since paid off his
current chassis and computational requirements, and even allowed a substantial
amount of credits to be diverted to a savings fund in anticipation of a new
ship-body in a century's time.


A sleek, black dart seventy-five meters long, Kogg had designed his current
ship-body specifically for GPS work. A large hold was rugged enough to
withstand antimatter explosions of hazardous cargo, and a system of modular
decks were outfitted to carry biologicals of fifty-three different atmospheric
requirements. Engines, which were only produced by the Xenig for Xenig use and
were the reason behind GPS demand for the sentient machines, appeared to be
disproportionately small for the bulk of Kogg's chassis. A product of delving
into the nature of reality, the engines were powered by a zero-point field
array, capable of near instantaneous transportation to any place within the
local galaxies, as long as an "energetic address", a kink in the
fabric of reality akin to a fingerprint, was known. In other words, Kogg was
the ultimate delivery vehicle.


Kogg was currently very much aware of a throbbing caused by uncontrollable surges
along the pain processors of his secondary integrator circuits. He was
presently docked at a routing center located in the galactic bulge of the Milky
Way (Spiral #2 of the Local Group). The primary shone too much in the orange spectrum
for Kogg's taste, although the effect may have been a product of the hangover
he was currently nursing. A party had been hosted by Naln in celebration of his
new chassis, complete with expanded processor block; the stimulant programs had
been a wee bit on the strong side, to say the least.


"Careful in there! You are getting scratches on my deck plates! And can't you work a bit
more quietly? How would you like someone to be stamping around in your innards,
rearranging your guts?" yelled Kogg peevishly over his internal intercom
system to the GPS biologicals which were loading delicate,
environment-requiring cargo into the pressurized holds of decks five through
eight. The mechanized loading of non-perishables had been completed hours ago,
sometime before his persona had returned to his home processor block. The
biologicals responded with several obscene phrases, quite aware of Kogg's
debilitated condition, and taking advantage for their own amusement. Kogg could
only glower at the creatures scrabbling about his interior. Finally he shut off
his conscious awareness of the loading decks, focusing solely on his personal
torment except for a few watchdog programs set to monitor cargo status.


Everything would be loaded soon, and the manifest/delivery schedule sent shortly after. Floating
solitary in space for a few hours or days would fix the hangover...it always
did.


 


*****


 


Like a hunting hound on the trail of a fox, Cube #347 was backtracking the subspace
spoor left by the unusual warp signature of a ship of species #8511. Unfortunately,
the ship in question had twisted and looped around chaotically from one
inhabited system to the next on a convoluted trade route; with each star
system, the cube had to drop out of transwarp and spend time conducting search
patterns to determine the next vector to follow. And, to make life more
difficult, as the trail became older, the subspace wake lessened, fading into
the background frequencies.


At the moment, Sensors had a strong lock on the disturbances, most of the sensor
grid realigned to protocols of her own devising to track with maximum
efficiency. That also meant Captain, in keeping his command and control
hierarchy closely meshed with that of Sensors' in order to alter course
headings as appropriate, more than occasionally experienced odd sensations. The
most current hallucination smelled like burnt dog hair; the scent disappeared
as the course of the cube was nudged a few degrees.


{Your turn, Second,} said Captain to an unseen drone, one on the other side of the
cube under the care of Doctor for routine maintenance.


{Okay. I spy with my little eye something that begins with...B.}


Captain examined Second's firewall, on the off chance he was leaking the answer, but
the block around that bit of data was strong. {Um...Borg?}


{No, try again.} Pause, then before Captain could answer, {Doctor, what did you do? No,
don't mess with that! I don't care if it is on the maintenance schedule, but I
do like to see, you know!}


{Um...Bay? As in maintenance bay?}


{Thank you, Doctor. Now, if you want my arm, just ask nicely, and I'll remove it. You
don't have to go yanking it off. No, Captain, try again.}


Captain was about to offer another answer when he felt the communications array codes
accessed. Odd...the array was only used with unassimilated species, and never
in a transwarp conduit. There had been unusual activity in the communication
logs in the past few months, but the drone in question had been effective in
covering his or her tracks. Not this time, however, as Captain cut the signal
mid-pulse. He swiftly decoded the aborted communication.


{4 of 510, desist with these actions. And where did you find that Latinum
Unlimited mail-order catalogue anyway?}


An embarrassed silence, then, {Well, I kinda found it several years ago when we
were assigned to the clean-up mission of the species #8132 colony.}


{Go on.}


{I put it into memory storage, and only recently reloaded it for something to
read. Some of the items caught my attention and, since we were near a subspace
relay station, well, I thought I might order them.} The explanation hurriedly
drew to a close.


Captain figuratively held up the electronic mail-order form. {Fart-In-A-Can...fake
vomit...a calendar of Orion slave girls...pink flamingo lawn ornaments? There
isn't even any consistency to the order, not to mention the total lack of
taste. One might think you flung darts at a hardcopy and decided to get
whatever the missile landed on.}


Silence from 4 of 510.


{And how did you propose to pay for the items? We don't exactly have money or an
economic system, you know.}


{I know. I kinda checked the COD payment plan.}


{Cash on delivery...very smart.} Captain's voice dripped sarcasm. {And I see you put
the home address as "Exploratory-class Cube #347, somewhere in
BorgSpace". Very precise. Not only would it take any hypothetical delivery
company years to find us, they probably wouldn't approach in the first place,
assuming the catalogue company didn't just deem the whole order a hoax.}


More silence.


{4 of 510...you will send an order cancellation, now, and then you will purge the
catalogue from both active and stored memory. After that, I'll see what
unpleasant job Delta can come up with. Her "to-do" list is as long as
ever, and I'll give her the pleasure of picking the chore.}


4 of 510 accessed the communication array, quickly beginning his task. Captain
passed the matter onto Delta, then refocused his attention on Second. {How the
Ferrengi ever manage to spread that rubbish halfway across the galaxy is
beyond my ken; one might think they could create personal wormholes on demand. What
a bother. Anyway...B...B....how about bulkhead?}


{Right the third guess. Your turn. Doctor, you assimilated rodent, I am not one of
your patient-pets from your prior life, and telling me "Shush, boy"
and "That's a naughty boy" isn't appropriate. I'll complain as much
as I want.}


Captain looked around his nodal intersection. {I spy with my little eye something that
begins with V.}


 


*****


 


Kogg's hangover would not go away. The pain simply moved from system to system,
reappearing every time he applied the mech equivalent of an aspirin. To make
matters worse, Kogg could not suspend the pain circuits; the stimulant programs
must have masked a black-market hack, and only the Progenitors knew what virus
was hiding in his block now. The sole remaining action Kogg could do was to
activate his hunter-seeker programs and hope his normal immune system
subroutines would contain the problem.


Kogg hated getting the flu and being forced to work. The pulsating pain was making
him cranky.


The jump to the first energetic address placed Kogg within the system of the
Progenitors, his home world, the place his soul had been mixed by his four
donor parents. The mail primarily consisted of decadal reports by those
contracted to GPS work, although a few packages in the manifest declared
specialty tools for the continuation of the Research. A routine transport.


Kogg jumped away as soon as he had offloaded the delivery, finding a quiet star to
orbit. Perhaps a few additional hours to allow the hunter-seekers to run; and
meanwhile, he could more closely examine the delivery schedule.


 


As Kogg read the schedule, he became increasingly irritated, the throb now located
in his exterior sensorium, making it feel like his entire chassis was being
repeatedly pounded on by a being with a very large hammer. The route was
forecast to be an exasperating one.


Although most of the deliveries had known energetic addresses, five were ambiguous. Very
annoying. "Zengu station, fifth planet from the yellow star near Hyrum
anomaly" was the most precise of the examples and "Somewhere in
BorgSpace" was the worst. Kogg would be forced to jump to the general
area, then either make inquiries as to the exact location of the recipient or
track the receiver down himself. And that wasn't the end of the problems to
come.


Kogg hated COD...it always came down to him to convince the beings to cough up the
cost of the items before delivery. Everyone always seemed to have left their
money elsewhere, could I have my stuff please? Some entities did pay promptly,
but the great majority had to look down the business end of Kogg's weapon
systems, horrendous implements which were offshoots of reality research. After
twisting in the disk of an event horizon, most suddenly found appropriate
amounts of cash. Consequently, Kogg had never not delivered his cargo, which
thus led to his exemplary record. Eight destinations were COD, including four
of the five ambiguous addresses. No surprises there.


 


Kogg was in a bad mood. A dark mood. A mood so black interstellar space was as
luminous as a giant blue star. All of the CODs thus far had been difficult,
refusing to pay. One fluidic universe biological had even attempted to hijack
him! The organic's bioship had been three times the bulk of Kogg's chassis,
which had obviously emboldened the would-be pirate. Only after Kogg had
tractored the other vessel and jumped into a hellacious pocket dimension had the
hijacker finally surrendered to the inevitable for his package.


Kogg had simply blown up the next three CODs, releasing tension, and damning his
perfect record to the stellar winds. The explosions had been spectacular,
especially the moon. Even the routine deliveries had overtones of aggression,
Kogg ignoring safety protocols, disregarding the damage he caused to loading
bays and docking cradles, verbally abusing the biologicals which unloaded his
decks. The trek was almost over, however, with only one more delivery to make.


When he returned to the routing station, Kogg was going to find Naln and have a long
talk with him. The pains were constant now; and if Naln did not have an
antidote, someone's shiny new chassis was going to need a serious overhaul and
paint job.


 


*****


 


The cube dropped out of transwarp. Although the subspace track was still strong,
Sensors had identified an anomaly disrupting the trail immediately ahead and
wanted to leave the conduit to perform sensor sweeps in normal space. The sight
which greeted Cube #347 as it entered interstellar vacuum was spectacular.


A glowing sphere of nothingness, the heart of a singularity without the nasty
side effects, blotted out background stars, subliminal hues of green and blue
an oily sheen over black. The anomaly was only five hundred thousand kilometers
distant - less than an atom's distance when viewed on the galactic scale - but
dominated the scene in a way a thing less than two kilometers in diameter
should not have had the ability to do. Then, like a soap bubble, the sphere
silently collapsed, leaving behind a splinter of night.


{Identify!} barked Captain, prodding Sensors from her silent contemplation of the
phenomenon.


{Sensors sees the most beautiful colors! [Harpy floor gems] and [butter scone fans]! Most
beautiful!}


{Wonderful. What is it?}


{Oh...just a moment.} As the object rotated, now nearly invisible to the sensor grid
except for an aurora of gravitonic emissions, Sensors came to a conclusion. {It
is a mech ship. Mech species #3...Xenig. Engine specs are [okey-doke] with
data; and unless mech species #3 has begun [freighting] their technology or
someone has stolen a chassis - both extremely unlikely scenarios - that ship is
mech.}


The sharp end of the black dart was now pointed directly at Cube #347. Gravity
fields changed as the fabric of reality was modified, propelling the ship
forward without the ostentatious display of impulse engines or reactive
thrusters. The mech ship moved deceptively fast as it closed, slowing as it
came within one hundred kilometers; at ten kilometers it stopped and took up a
position of apparent passiveness.


There were no protocols to deal with the mech species. Borg tended to stick with the
biological side of the sentient spectrum, namely because the advanced mech
races were too dangerous to confront. The technological distinctiveness
represented by those such as the Xenig would have to wait until the Borg's own
offensive and defensive weapons could withstand aggressive contact. The Borg
may crave perfection through assimilation, but they weren't intentionally
stupid or suicidal.


The silent stalemate lasted for ten minutes, neither cube nor much smaller dart
shifting position or initiating contact. On the part of the Borg, the Greater
Consciousness was intrigued at the approach, but left it to the members of Cube
#347 to take the brunt of any hostilities; matters elsewhere were much higher
in importance than an isolated and otherwise insignificant event. In other
words, the sub-collective was on its own, as usual. Finally the stand-off
concluded as patterns on the mech ship's black hull subtly altered, presenting
large silver runes which translated to "Subcontracted Courier of the
Galactic Postal Service - Deliveries Anywhere, Anytime, Anyplace".


A standard hail was intercepted by the cube. Captain cautiously answered.


"Is this Exploratory-class Cube #347? I've had the most awful time trying to find
that particular Borg ship, and I must confess, all your cubes look pretty much
alike but for the occasional size and power output differences. If this is not
Cube #347, could you direct me to the proper sector of this galaxy? I have a
schedule to keep and I'm behind as it is."


The communication did not trigger either audio or visual pathways, as there was no
voice to translate nor picture to resolve. The message arrived in the
dataspaces, where it could be intercepted directly by the separate drones, who
then heard it in their particular manner. Captain experienced the data as a
lightly tenor voice sporting undertones of impatience.


The options to proceed were few. As always, many of the sub-collective voted to
attack...or to flee...or to play dumb...or to.... Captain swayed the consensus
towards delay, thus gaining more time to make a final decision; violent
resistance by the mech ship was quite relevant and a distinct possibility.


"This is Exploratory-class Cube #347 of the Borg Collective. State the nature of the
reason behind your query."


"Do you have to be so mechanical? I swear, I've heard the stories about your race
before, but I never expected to meet the 'scourge of the galaxy' hull to hull. I
am not impressed, to say the least." The transmission became more
businesslike, "Anyway, Cube #347, I have several packages for you from
Latinum Unlimited. It is COD, so I'll need some sort of payment before you can
receive delivery. GPS accepts all forms of physical money, as well as credit
transfers...as long as the account is with a major recognized company. Barter
is acceptable too, although trade items must be appraised to the worth of
resale value equal or greater to the price of the manifest bill and
transportation costs. I am a certified appraiser, but due to space limitations,
I will not take barter items too large to fit in my cargo holds.


"So what form of payment do you want? Oh, I'll also need to receive some sort of
positive identification before final delivery is made."


"No payment."


"What do you mean, no payment?"


"We do not want the items."


"I hauled this crud out here for nothing?" A tremor of some emotion colored
the question.


"We canceled the order sometime ago."


"I toted all this nonsense junk out here for absolutely nothing?" The voice
was rising in pitch. "I have spent the last week jumping from address to
address, asking about Borg sightings, to be given the brush off?" Captain
tried to interject a reply, but was ignored. "Will this nightmare never
end? My record is in shambles, any resign bonus will be less than stellar, the
Progenitors only know how much GPS will take out of my paycheck for settlement
damages...and that damn pain will not go away. I feel like someone is slowly tearing
my chassis apart with a plasma-heated crowbar.


"Cube #347...if you know what is good for you, please designate a method of payment. I
don't want to terminate your existence, but I must either make a proper
delivery, or be able to demonstrate delivery was not possible. The latter
option is only open when the recipient in question is deceased." Attention
was now fully, painfully, directed at Cube #347. A strong impression of
sweating palms and nervous facial tic colored the communication.


"But we don't want the items. Return to sender?"


"GPS would rather you were atoms then face the lawyers of Latinum Unlimited...that
is one mean catalogue company."


An emergency decision cascade rolled through the dataspaces. A rapid retreat was
the consensus.


 


*****


 


Kogg was startled as he detected power surging not in the weapon systems of the Borg
cube, but through propulsion. Cube #347 slipped into a transwarp conduit and
disappeared, leaving the mech ship floating alone.


Interstellar wind flung the occasional molecule of elemental hydrogen against Kogg's
sensitive chassis; as the other ship sped away, backwash of shed metals, paint
chips, large molecules, and other debris slammed into the hyperreactive hull. The
pain seemed to have finally centered itself in the exterior senses, which, on
biological terms, made it feel like his skin had been badly sunburned and
subsequently abraded with sand before someone had poured salt on the wounds. Agony
was affecting mental processes as Kogg attempted to deal with pain overload. In
consequence, the Borg ship, through cause and effect linking which normally
would have been abandoned in the early stages of formation, was fixated on as
the primary reason behind the most recent wave of suffering.


Cube #347 would pay for their mail, or they would be reduced to a state similar to
that shortly after the Big Bang. Straightforward logic demanded it.


Tracking the conduit direction was simplicity. Kogg sighted an intersection point five
light years distant, made calculations which were automatic and second-nature,
then fell into his personal wormhole.


 


*****


 


Captain, responding to the general sentiment permeating the rest of the sub-collective,
was feeling much relieved. After several hours at high transwarp, including
three random changes of heading, Cube #347 cautiously dropped back into normal
space to determine exact current position. The species #8511 trail was growing
cold and the assignment had to be continued.


The mech ship quietly waited at the coordinates of emergence. Captain did the
equivalent of slamming on the emergency brakes, flooding the propulsion system
with the command codes to stop. The mech ship did not flinch, even as the much
large cube came to a complete halt with less than one hundred meters of vacuum
between the two vessels.


Kogg's communication to Cube #347 did not follow standard hail protocols, but instead
powerfully projected into the sub-collective's mentality. "Borg cube, what
will be the method of payment? You will have three chances to rectify your
prior error. Fleeing is not an option."


To the disbelief of Captain, and the others of the cube, the tiny ship lanced a
tractor beam, easily piercing robust shields. Weapons automatically began to
randomly modify the shield harmonics, a common defense employed by
nonassimilated species, to no avail. The mouse turning to attack the cat would
probably best describe the feelings reverberating within the dataspaces; or the
shock a target species ship felt when a cube swept in.


Captain tried to back away, but found the larger cube could not budge the smaller mech
ship. Delta began to bring auxiliary warp cores on line, first one, then two,
then five, and finally all ten. Eleven BorgStandard power cores, each more
powerful singly than systems installed on the vessels of most of the species of
the galaxy. Going nowhere fast, was the appropriate phrase. Data from Sensors'
hierarchy indicated an unusual gravity field and tachyon-neutrino emissions. Delta
cut power to the auxiliary cores they could overload.


"One chance down. My turn."


Nothingness swallowed the linked duo.


 


The absence of exterior sensor data was suddenly rectified as the rip in the fabric
of reality was restored. Space...was not empty. The universe did not follow
expected constants, although the physical machinery on the cube automatically
adjusted. The area around the ship had the consistency of watery mucus, the extremely
diffuse substance distorting incoming information. A subspace link to the
Collective still existed, so the Borg had a presence somewhere nearby in the
immediate universe. Part of the sub-collective completed its comparison of
specs to the universe catalogue, coming to a disturbing conclusion.


Fluidic space...the home continuum of species #8472.


A recipe for panic as a reconfigured sensor grid picked up the long range shadows
of fifteen bioships, more than enough to destroy a Battle-class ship, much less
an Exploratory-class with an imperfectly assimilated compliment. Species #8472
was heading directly for Cube #347, and would come within weapons range in two
hours.


{What do we do?} called many members in terror.


Yelled a majority: {Flee!}


But the cube could not flee, could not budge from the clutches of the mech ship any
better in fluidic space than it could in normal space. A panic loop initiated,
one which Captain and Second, along with those of command and control they
could rally, could not break. Out of sheer desperation, the command code of
stasis sleep was sent over the nets, abruptly quieting mentalities as the
parameters of the cube were literally reset into a condition present only at
the beginning of new assignments.


Captain reawoke several minutes later, blinking awake as his mind automatically reached
out for assignment directives. He encountered a dormant program which rapidly
expanded, reloading the current problem in a matter of seconds. Captain began
to slowly activate one hundred drones at a time, quelling panic before it could
develop. Within thirty minutes, the bioships were significantly closer, but the
sub-collective was relatively calm.


Kogg sent a polite request for conversation at the same time the hierarchies of
Delta and Weapons were collaborating to begin a manufacturing of nanites and
delivery system based on data of the one successful technology of fighting
species #8472. Unfortunately, termination still ran good odds. Captain strained
to keep the lid on the reemergence of a panic loop.


"What do you want now?" snapped Captain. "Are you a sadist? If you wanted
to destroy us, you surely have faster methods at your disposal than waiting for
species #8472 to come and tear us apart."


A puzzled voice: "I...wait a minute...your signature changed. I only hear
one speaking...well, it doesn't matter. I just wanted to inform you we'll be
sitting here - you hopefully contemplating your bad decision - for a
time." The communication abruptly ended, and attempts at reinitiating
contact were useless.


Stress. For the next eighty-three minutes, the majority of the sub-collective could
only watch in impotent anticipation as the bioships closed the distance. The
full hierarchies of Weapons and Delta were rapidly modifying torpedoes to act
as delivery devices, while Assimilation attempted to propagate the special
nanites. Unfortunately, it was the latter process which was the bottleneck of
the entire operation; in a crude effort to increase production, assembly
nanites where being dumped into vast barrels of neurogenic gel and
metal-enhanced nutrient slush.


With less than three minutes until the bioships came into mutual range of
long-distance weapons, the first of the torpedoes were being loaded with
relatively small payloads of nanites, still in their growth media. There was no
time to strain the miniature machines from the slush. It could only be hoped
effectiveness, already not expected to be high, would not be further diminished
because of the semi-liquid contaminant. Calculated functional englobement of
exploded munitions was a diameter of only fifty kilometers.


Just as the last seconds were counting down on a backwards running digital clock
suspended on an intranet board, just as Sensors began to register the aligning
of bioships into wheel arrangement with a single vessel at the hub, a sphere of
empty velvet was flung over Cube #347. When it disappeared, both Borg and mech
ship were back where they had begun in normal space.


 


Commitment to attack had already been initiated; even as the cube reemerged from fluidic
space, Weapons was marking the only available target - Kogg. Before Captain
could halt the forthcoming action, Weapons sent eight modified and five
conventual torpedoes towards the mech ship, accompanying it with a diversion of
antimatter bomblet chaff.


Highly ineffectual would be the best description of the outcome. As the antimatter
annihilated itself with a display of liberated energy and wash of
electromagnetic static, the torpedoes splashed against Kogg's shields. The
modified torpedoes, in addition to physically breaking up, sloshed their
contents onto parts of the black chassis, gel briefly glowing blue with green
sparkles.


Captain managed to bully the weapon hierarchy under control before they could begin
wielding other, equally useless offensives.


"Very unwise. There goes chance number two."


 


Kogg really, really hurt. There was minimal damage to his superstructure, on the
order of a mild scrape or two, but the torpedoes had stung!


 


*****


 


Deep in the subconscious programs of Kogg's central processing block and on the ceramometallic
pathways which were the Xenig equivalent of nerves, a siliconian version of flu
lurked. A parasite based not on physical parameters, but of trinary digital processes,
it thrived in electronic hardware, disguising itself as subprocesses of local
programs to survive.


This particular mech flu had taken up residence in the subconscious monitors of the
exterior sensors, obstructing the shut-down of current to chassis pain
processors. The virus needed the continuing incoming stimuli from sensors in
order to mask its presence from the host consciousness, giving itself an
increased chance it would be able to mindlessly follow its programming and pass
on copies of itself to other Xenig.


As the neurogenic gel soaked into stress fractures of hull plates, it interfered
with sensor data.


 


*****


 


The wormhole terminated, collapsing from the pair of linked vessels. Stars shone
throughout the firmament again, pulsars and other familiar stellar navigation
aids proclaiming the puzzling fact the Cube #347 seemed to have not moved from
its original spatial location. Nothing horrible could be noted about the
current universe; the fundamental parameters fitted the native one. The only
clue that Kogg had moved the cube elsewhere in the cosmos was a slight
adjustment of the tau factor. Perhaps an alternate timeline, as opposed to a
fundamentally different dimension like fluidic space?


Captain grabbed one of the multitudes of communications which flooded the local
subspace radio frequencies. It appeared to be a broadcast of a children's show.
A large purple targ stood in the center of a stage, behind which was a fake
town; children of many species flocked around the personified animal, playing
an unknown game. Painted on the backdrop sky, a sun with a face bearing the
likeness of a female human shone. Suddenly all the younglings ran to the targ,
setting up into a line and beginning to sing.


"I love you. You love me. We are a Fun Federation family...."


As realization dawned as to the nature of the alternate timeline, members of Cube
#347 began to scream in horror. This time Captain led the sub-collective in
panic.


 


Eavesdropping on those specific subspace fractional frequencies used by the Borg, Kogg could
hear the rising anxiety on Cube #347. Occasional aborted attempts of
communication directed at him began a whining beg for mercy or rapid apology.
Kogg was getting the idea that this particular cube did not follow the expected
behavior he had heard about the Borg, but that did not matter.


The sounds of suffering meant the recipient was nearly ready to pay for the
packages...Kogg had led many down the road of capitulation. The thought almost
made the pain, now a constant background ache, lessen in places on his hull.


Wait a minute...the agony was definitely less in spots, specifically, those areas
where the substance from the torpedoes had splashed against hull plates. A self-diagnostic
of his chassis and skin sensors, as well as a close examination by submechs,
showed an unknown substance seeping into the minute imperfections present from
age and repeated stress of jumping. Small machines on the nanometer scale were also
perceived, but careful experimentation involving selective "washing"
of affected areas with a reality shimmer showed the nanites were not the agents
responsible.


Kogg sterilized the rest of his hull from the machines as they appeared to hold the slight
possibility of infecting his processor block should they manage to burrow into
sensitive systems; Kogg already had enough problems with his on-going hangover.
With a lessening of the suffering, Kogg's mental functions were beginning to
work with increased clarity, shaming him with the callousness of his actions
since he had left the routing station. An idea was coming into focus, one which
would save his personal dignity, and buy him time to jump back to base to
permanently rectify the pain problem.


 


*****


 


Impotent screams of terror abruptly cut as black engulfed sensors, as effective a
sedative as the hooding of a mewed falcon. Whimpers continued to echo both in
net and aloud when Cube #347 registered return of the universe to its proper
place. Captain began to firmly lock weapon functions, transporters, propulsion,
any and every system which could conceivably annoy the insane postal mech. As
he reviewed the analyzation of the ship, he added atmospheric venting and the
active sensor systems to the list. No need to take chances.


"Method of payment?" boomed Kogg's transmission, a note of lightness now present. The
mech actually seemed to be enjoying torturing the helpless cube. The Borg
never played with their victims...never!


As the cube intranet echoed with sobbing and calls for mercy, Captain returned "Listen
to us, we implore! We don't have money! We don't have credit cards! We will do
what we must for packages we don't want, but we don't want to go back to that
last place! Fluidic space is preferable!" Damn the Borg Public Relations
department! All thoughts of pride were tossed down the nearest blackhole; dying
for the Collective was one thing, being the random target of a mech having a
bad decade was another.


"Hmmm..." said Kogg, "you present an interesting problem. I don't think the GPS has
ever actually delivered anything to the Borg before. However, I do have a
solution. Barter."


"What do you want? Information? Technology? A complete wash and wax?"


Silence, as if the mech were pondering possible cargos. The answer came after several
stress-filled minutes, "While the last is tempting, it is not good enough.
Last chance!"


"NONONONONO!!" Gravitonic warping which was the precursor of ripping reality registered for
several seconds before dissipating.


"Hah! Just kidding! Boy, did you jump. Hello? Anyone listening?"


The sub-collective would have found itself needing four thousand pairs of trousers,
had digestive functions of the individual drones not been arrested. As it was,
minds were quite paralyzed. When Captain could mentally manipulate
communication again, the reply was a decidedly weak affirmative.


Kogg continued, "Geesh, no sense of humor. Anyway, I've come to a solution. I
think ten barrels of that blue junk - five hundred gallon range, please - you
had in those torpedoes you hit me with would suffice to cover expenses." Pause.
"And if you don't like the offer, I suppose I could always find someplace
else to discuss the matter. There's this lovely little pocket dimension I
know...." The voice trailed off suggestively.


The sub-collective had no argument to that proposal.


 


*****


 


Kogg happily transported the multitude of packages to the designated coordinates on
the battered Borg ship. In return, the first five barrels of superior quality neurogenic
gel were deposited in his own cargo area; internal submechs quickly moved the
containers to deck #2 and secured them against sudden accelerations.


The remaining five casks of gel were beamed to a position exterior to Kogg's hull,
where he subsequently grabbed them in separate manipulator beams. Careful
application of gravity pinpoints warped the metal of the containers, spilling
the gel into large globes of transparent blue goo. Kogg subsequently dispatched
all his available submechs to vacuum, where they scooped out small spheres of
the material to spread over every hull plate, every sensor blister. The
ever-present pain soothed to a dull ache as the neurogenic gel bonded to the
molecular structure of Kogg's chassis.


"Payment accepted. Delivery completed. Have a nice day and remember GPS for all your
mail needs."


Kogg jumped into comfortable nothingness, address set for a particular routing
station. Although mental processes were now sound enough to deal with Naln, the
consequences of resistance on his part to coughing up a more permanent antidote
would be severe. The tribulations the Borg had experienced would be
insignificant in comparison.


 


The items were jettisoned into interstellar space after Kogg disappeared from the
sensors. The pink flamingo serenely spun head over feet in a trajectory which
would take it near a star about the time most of the suns in the galaxy were
black cinders radiating heat just above the ambient background temperature. Missing
was the "realistically artificial" aquarium plants, but a few
multicolored pieces of molded plastic were insignificant. The blankness of
Doctor's thoughts on the matter when queried was suspicious, but not relevant.


Once again, Cube #347 had been completely embarrassed, especially concerning the
alternate timeline. In this case, there was nothing the sub-collective could do
to remedy the discomfiture, the Xenig well out of the realm from which to enact
revenge. Well...revenge was irrelevant, as was the satisfaction gained by executing
it, but the thoughts could be entertained for a moment or two before being
purged from the dataspace.


Species #8511 was another story. Accessible eventually, the trail still present, that
particular race would have to suffice. There was no enmity behind the need to
utterly destroy species #8511, no transference of frustration, no motive of
revenge, just the pure quest of perfection through assimilation and the desire
to share that perfection with all races. No...nothing postal about it.
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Cube #347's Excellent Adventure, Part I


 


*Deja vu: the illusion that one has previously had a given experience

-Webster's New World Dictionary


 


*****


 


Captain Jad Vorezze of the Federation starship Banshee, currently on permanent
detachment to Section 31, stared at Captain Velorn, the Vulcan
"experience" officer assigned to the ship, in confusion. Eyes behind
glasses blinked back to the terminal display on his desk, reading in disbelief,
then returned to Velorn, looking for confirmation.


"We've done some weird and downright stupid things for Section 31 before, but this one
takes the cake. How did we get this assignment?"


Velorn just looked at Jad like he was being an idiot.


"Yah, right," mumbled Jad as he reread the briefing. "That was a stupid
question, wasn't it?"


The assignment under discussion involved a follow-up on classified files involving
research on the Borg, accessed many months prior and decrypted using an unknown
protocol. One yeoman Tina Jones, liaison officer for Waystation, was the focal
point of the interrogation to come, as it was her network userid which was
associated with the electronic theft. Included in the files were several
medical reports and station logs of Jones describing an odd episode of an
alternate personality, namely a Borg one. Weird. Reading between the lines of
the various official logs, it almost seemed as if there issues left unsaid, but
it was not known how important the unmentioned information might have been.


"So we are going to fly halfway across the Federation to talk with people on
Waystation? Aren't there any nearer Section 31 ships?"


"Well, yes, of course there are. And crews that would do a better job too."


"But? There has to be a but in there somewhere."


Velorn looked at Jad suspiciously, obviously trying to determine if the last statement
had been innuendo or not. Jad's perfect poker face proclaimed too much
innocence. "But enroute to Waystation, there is a little piece of
experimental hardware that needs to be tested."


Jad's face almost broke into a delighted smile, then suddenly darkened. "A
weapon? No wait...the only reason we would be testing a weapon is that it is
unknown if it was safe to use. What is the thing?"


"It is called the BIC protocol...short for Borg Isolation and Containment."


A quick blink of eyes, then thoughtful expression. "I think I heard about
that. Wasn't there an incident involving the Secondprize where the weapon in
question actually attracted a Borg cube?" Jad stared at Velorn in dawning
horror, "If Section 31 really wanted to get rid of us, wouldn't it be
easier and more humane to simply have the computer lock helm control and point
us towards a star?"


Velorn gave Jad a withering look, very impressive as Vulcan faces weren't really built
to demonstrate emotion. "All records of the incident have been examined
and it was decided the cube was a freak anomaly; it will never happen again. Just
in case, there were several modifications to the deflector protocols, which
would have been made regardless to the subsequent outcome. This will just be
more routine testing. Between DS3, where Banshee will be temporarily
retrofitted, and Waystation, there is a minor system which can be used for
target practice.


"After we leave to DS3, the appropriate files will be uploaded."


Jad looked up at the ceiling of his ready room. "I suppose there is no getting
out of this mission, is there?"


"Is there ever? Section 31 owns you, you know."


"Yah, I know."


 


*****


 


Captain regarded the tumbling asteroids in suspicion. Of many shapes and sizes, they
chaotically orbited the red dwarf primary, remnants of an old system which had
never formed mature planets. Lambda particle bearing ore, bolonite, was
plentiful in the uncatalogued system; but the last time Cube #347 had tried to
take samples, the sub-collective had found itself in the Alpha quadrant,
subjects of a devious Federation plot. Or accident. The consensus had never
been particularly clear on that point.


{The trail goes through the system?} asked Captain to Sensors, the insectoid who was
the current head of the sensor hierarchy. Sensors gave the electronic
equivalent of a sniff of disdain.


{Of course Sensors is sure the backtrack of species #8511 goes through those rocks.
Sensors may have lost the [alleyway] for a while, but the quarry stopped for
several [rhythm jumps] among the asteroids, allowing the [scent] to build. The
nebula is getting close and deviations from straight [curves] is becoming less.
Sensors postulates this may be the last [virtuous] fix needed to point the way
to the general area of species #8511 homeworld.}


The bolonite was tempting. Very tempting. And if the species #8511 transport had
remained here for some time, there must have been a reason why; the only
objects of any consequence in the system were those specific asteroids.


Decision? The consensus cascade which followed ended with a very detailed
self-administered protocol.


{Everyone knows what to do. Let's act somewhat efficiently for once,} called Captain into
the general intranet matrixes.


 


Sensors carefully completed intensive sweeps of the emissions of the bolonite, delving
deeply into the fabric of space-time, looking for potential rips and thin
spots. Meanwhile, Delta readied a series of minithrusters in preparation of
physical asteroid retrieval; tractor beams frequencies had the slight
possibility of initiating adverse resonance. Weapons inspected weaponry and
conducted readiness drills, just in case. Captain and Second rode herd on the
actions while both Doctor and Assimilation performed their routine hierarchy
tasks.


The paranoia came to nothing.


Engineering hierarchy drones, including Delta A, transported to seven different target
asteroids within a five kilometer sphere, along with a quantity of building
material and thruster motors. Within two days, the last of the relatively small
rocks (in comparison to others in the system) were maneuvered into Bulk Cargo
Hold #3 under zero gee conditions. Securement procedures accomplished, gravity
was re-established.


During the entire complicated ordeal, only two drones had to visit Doctor. The first
damaged body suit and the flesh underneath beyond the ability of nanite
regeneration after the plasma torch she had been using to carve her designation
in the face of an asteroid encountered a pocket of highly reactive material.
Delta chewed that particular drone out the whole time Doctor worked, as the
explosion had lent the target an annoying jig in addition to its already
oscillating spin. The second had a crushed prosthesis after getting a limb
caught between rocks during securement procedures.


Careful examination of the system uncovered no clues as to the reason behind the
actions of species #8511, but a new vector of travel was established.


 


*****


 


Lieutenant Carla Franson, night shift duty officer of the engineering department,
impatiently stared at the display, watching telltales light up as various gel
packs linkages were physically rerouted. Just like day shift, specifically her
boss, chief engineer Lieutenant Commander David Riley, to leave actual work for
the off-hour crew. Carla hated it, but she did her best on the theory that one
point in the distant future she might be elevated into a life which didn't have
her eating breakfast at 1900.


"Ensign G'lok!" called Carla over the internal communication system, "You
connected those packs in backwards sequence. Go back and do it again."


"Yes, sir," returned the sullen reply, followed by a curse as the ensign in
question clunked his head against the top of a Jeffries tube.


Carla Franson was a human in her mid-thirties. Because of the low gravity colony
world she had grown up on before fleeing the boonies for the excitement of
Terra and Starfleet, she was exceptionally tall. Dark black hair braided in a
tail complimented green eyes, which continued to glare with hostility at the
terminal screen. A thin scar which started at brow line, continuing down the
right side of her face only to disappear into the turtleneck of the Section 31
uniform, added to her unique character. Carla refused to tell how or where she
obtained the scar, although the more astute knew it had appeared in her first
year at the Academy, during a vacation period.


"Ensign G'lok! Those packs are still out of order. The PADD clearly states the
sequence, so why aren't you connecting them right?"


"With all due respect, sir, but some a**hole from the day shift appears to have
labeled the packs wrong to begin with. I'm going to have to test each one
separately before I can put them in correct sequence; and this stupid excuse
for an access point isn't making it any easier."


"Understood."


Three days out from DS3, Carla had gone to her shift only to discover
"adjustments" had to be made on the hardware and deflector protocols
installed at the station. It seemed the paranoid bastards in charge had made
the tech crew at DS3 set up everything wrong in order to misguide
"potential hostile forces". Now the engineering crew had to tear
everything apart in order to reinstall it the way it was supposed to be in the
first place. And guess which shift had the duty of crawling around in the
bowels of the ship and climbing over the exterior hull?


"Franson to Klark...you got that hose connected yet?"


"I hate the hull! My stomach gets all queasy, and feeling like I'm going to fall
into the stars doesn't help any," replied the voice of Crewman Harry
Klark.


"Yes or no?"


"Yes. I'm cycling the airlock to return inside now."


Scut work, that's all night shift was used for. Scut work the day shift didn't want
to do because they might get their pretty hands dirty.


 


Jad gave a big smile at chief engineer Riley, then asked, "Everything all
ready?"


"Yes, sir. Took a bit of effort, but we got everything straightened out the way the
briefing diagrams stated. All tests on the system are a go; we are ready to
begin." Dave stood half-turned from the display which was showing data
from engineering. "If I may, sir, can I return to Engineering?"


"Permission granted," said Jad, trying to sound like his personal idol Jean-Luc
Picard, but failing in the estimate of the others on the bridge. Dave nodded,
then disappeared into the turbolift.


"We going to blow things up now?" called Commander Charlotte Burns from the
tactical station. She had displaced Lieutenant Commander Vince DiSanto, who was
now loitering nearby, obviously wanting to object to the action, but not caring
to call too much attention to himself.


At the helm, Lieutenant Commander Ben Rachow began to giggle under his breath.


"What is so funny, Mr. Rachow?" asked Jad.


"Charlotte is going to blow things...up!" Ben guffawed louder at his innuendo, then
abruptly stopped as an asteroid glanced off the shields, shaking the ship. "Whoops.
Maybe I should take it out of cruise control now."


"Maybe you should," muttered Charlotte loudly, entertaining notions of a certain
helmsman caught in the crosshairs of the weapon targeting systems.


Jad spun slightly in his chair, looking over towards Dr. Liz Lang at the science
console. Resting on a nearby chair, doing his best at imitating a rabid
tribble, lay Zeke the hamster. "Checklist complete, Doctor?"


"Well, as Riley said, the machinery and electronics are ready. I've reconfigured the
sensors to outline on the screen the various rocks in the system with different
colors based on composition. The protocol has us shooting each type of rock we
can see once and only once with the deflector beam. We simply scan the results
and see what, if anything, happens."


"Will it," glare at Ben, "explode?" asked Charlotte.


"If either us or the rock explodes, there was a slight problem. It's not supposed
to do that. The beam is supposed to turn the top layer of any material into a
substance which interferes with the Borg subspace communication
frequencies."


Charlotte looked disappointed, then turned to Vince, "Here, you can do tactical
after all." Vince quickly retook his place, before Commander Burns decided
to change her mind again. He reset a few controls, then looked at Dr. Lang for
instructions.


On the main screen, the rocks of the Jurian system serenely glided. A Section 31
target range and weapon testing ground, many of the asteroids showed signs of
phaser and torpedo scars. One rock, out of sight but not out of sensor range,
glowed with a weird purple color; no one wanted to know why, and that
particular oddity had been given plenty of room when Banshee had arrived. Other
than that, everything appeared normal. The screen altered slightly as
multicolored halos shimmered into existence around the asteroids in visual
range.


"Ready to proceed with the tests, Captain."


"Make it so."


The crew behind Jad rolled their eyes.


 


Several of the engineering night crew had gathered in Carla's quarters. She had tapped
into the bridge displays, as well as several key engineering consoles, the
output of which had been rerouted to her room. They were now sitting on
couches, watching the action, and griping.


"This had to take place during day shift, of course," growled G'lok, an odd
mixture of Klingon and Andorian features. No one yet had managed to bring forth
the courage to ask him how his parents met long enough for G'lok to be made.


Carla rolled her eyes, then sipped on her coffee, "What did you expect? Bridge
staff are all daytimers anyway. There...see...after that last use of the
deflector, power expenditure in the plasma system shot up 59%."


"And our patches held," stated Locth, a young Vulcan. "However, the patch
in conduit three beta is showing signs of weakening."


"Day shift losers! That was their assignment area!" crowed G'lok. No one
argued, mostly because all agreed.


The door to the quarters opened, and in trotted Crewman Harry Klark, trailed by his
dog Blackie. He held up a bottle while the animal immediately went to Locth. The
Vulcan began to sneeze.


"All right!" yelled Carla, "You got it!"


"Romulan Ale. Had to fast talk Peter in the Twilight Zone," returned Harry with a
smirk as he referred to the bartender, "but I did get it. The real stuff,
too, not the replicated drivel."


"Go away *sneeze* Blackie *sneeze*. I do not appreciate *sneeze* your presence *cough*,"
calmly said Locth as his allergies kicked in.


Harry handed the alcohol to Carla. "Oops, sorry Locth, I didn't think you'd be
here. Blackie, bad girl! To the corner!" The dog whined, cast a longing
look at Locth, then went to the other side of the room. The sneezing
immediately slowed.


G'lok pointed, "Look, they are targeting some bolonite asteroids now. Last time
they used a weapon like this on ore like that, Secondprize ended up playing
with a Borg cube. Guess who will get the blame if something like that happens
again?"


Carla wickedly grinned as she took a sip of the Romulan Ale, "Why, night shift
of course. After all, aren't we the 'lunkheads that didn't correctly align the
antiproton emission array' last month, never mind the fact it was chief-boy
Riley himself who didn't give us the correct specs to follow?"


Laughter (except from Locth) was the answer.


 


*****


 


In the darkness which was Bulk Cargo Hold #3, seventy thousand light years distant
from a certain Federation ship, a rock began to glow slightly; specifically,
half engraved numerical of a Borg designation burned a translucent blue. Unstable
lambda particles, liberated via the heat of a plasma torch and stressed by an
artificial gravity field, began a chain reaction. The instability quickly spread
throughout the entire asteroid, then "infected" the other six rocks
clustered nearby.


 


*****


 


Dr. Lang's team had finished analyzing the scan results of the target rocks. As
expected, the outcome was a big negative. It seemed the test of the BIC
protocol was a success, at least against inert space junk. To be more exact,
nothing had blown up and no unusual phenomenon had surfaced.


If at that point all had been left alone, if Starfleet and Section 31 admirals and
other desk-bound administration had a crystal ball locked onto the "Future
Channel", things might have been different. Galactic peace would have been
inevitable, hunger and disease wiped out, and a cure found for those annoying
kids who kick the back of your seat at the movie theater. Well...such a Golden
Age was coming with or without Section 31 meddling, just the Federation might
not envision it the way reality was currently shaping, mainly because the
Federation wasn't in the picture at all.


No, while the Future Channel looked gloomy for the Federation, in hindsight
(foresight? Temporal tenses are confusing.) it was the Federation which caused
the black clouds. The powers-that-be should have called for the next part of
the test from Section 31 headquarters to be torn up, causing a paradox to be
born, and suddenly the Federation's version of a Golden Age would have sprung
to reality. But no crystal ball was available, so the timeline marched on.


"BIC protocol testing procedure, part two. If nothing unexpected happens..."
read Dr. Lang to herself as she sipped on her tea, eyes flicking down the
multitudes of technobabble filling the screen of her personal terminal.


 


The Banshee fired, beam from the deflector dish lancing out to impact a pockmarked
rock. Nothing happened, just as nothing had happened the previous fifteen
times.


"Report," stated Jad, nervousness wearing off as repetitive boredom took over.


"Nothing?" answered Ben helpfully from helm, turning to leer at Liz.


Liz ignored the helmsman, instead speaking quietly to ever-present Zeke,
"That's a good boy. That's right. Think of the changes castration does to
the human male." Then louder, "Nothing, Captain."


"Right. Um, tell me again why we are doing this?"


Sighed Dr. Lang, "Because, if you bothered to read the test update this morning,
our superiors wanted to rule out the possibility of double shots of the BIC
protocol causing the previously seen anomaly. After all, it would kinda reek to
not be able to hit a target twice without tearing through space and time."


"But I thought there was no possibility of it happening with the adjustments that
had been made to the hardware, at least that's what I read at the beginning of
the report."


"And you believed that?"


"Well," said Jad, "now that you mention it, no. Are we almost done?"


"Yes. Mr. DiSanto, please target that green rock with orange highlights."


Vince peered at the screen, then down at his console, directing the computer to
target the nickel-iron-basalt asteroid. Another pair of beams shot from the
dish.


 


"Damn it!" shouted Carla as she wielded the plasma soldering iron, trying to
melt a patch on a conduit within an awkwardly placed bulkhead panel. The Jefferies
tube was hot from the energies being forced through the local systems, heat
waste product parboiling everything nearby. Carla's arm slipped again, causing
a small short to arc from exposed wire to her sleeve, frying every hair
underneath to a golden brown. "Can't you hold that patch a bit more
firmly?"


"I'm trying the best I can," stated Klark. "Is it my fault the work the
day crew did was shoddy?"


"No, but it is your fault I'm frying my arm." A pair of quick wields finished
the task. Carla consulted her PADD. "Okay, what's next?" The night
crew had been held over from the last shift to help with the ongoing repair of
deflector systems stressed as they tried to perform at energy levels for which they
had not been designed. The overload, in turn, tended to affect every other
system even remotely associated. Guess who got the fun of worming through the Jefferies
tubes as day shift coordinated the tests happening concurrently? Night shift,
of course.


"Lieutenant," yelled Klark as he scrambled backwards down the tube, "I'd move if I were
you! They are going to shoot another asteroid! The patch will probably hold,
but I wouldn't want to be where you are if it doesn't!"


"Damn!" complained Carla again as she slipped after the crewman, wiping the sweat off
her brow with an already sodden sleeve.


 


"Double firing on the bolonite rock now, Dr. Lang," said Vince as he lined the
experimental weapon on yet another spinning rock.


 


*****


 


Seven secured asteroids of various tonnages began to glow brighter, but sensors for a
particular Borg ship were shifted outwards, following a dying trail of exotic
subspace wake particles. And even if Cube #347 had not been busy, what would be
the purpose of spending precious sensor time watching inert space rocks?


At one end of the galaxy, a potential door of unstable lambda particles burrowed
into the fabric of space, slipping through the lattices of space like a needle
through cloth. If no potentiality had existed within range of the lambda
excursion - range being approximately one hundred thousand light years - then
stability would have set in once more. As it was, a second potentiality poked
into a location relatively near the first; as a negative magnetic pole seeks
the positive, an uncontrolled and very precarious connection was made.


On one end, a mass approximating twelve tons disappeared into seeming nothingness.
On the other end, 175 random sentient beings, several pets, and one very
surprised plant similarly evaporated. A space of five milliseconds later, both
groups reappeared in real space, but at opposite termini of the potentialities.


Only one species had ever managed to harness the power of "lambda
hopping", and they lived in the Andromeda galaxy, happy in their role as a
race of cargo carriers. Wholly by accident, two more civilizations had now
stumbled upon one of the faster methods of supralight traveling, provided
bolonite-mediated potentialities existed at the point one wished to go. One,
however, was oblivious, concentrating on the external environment; the other
had absolutely no idea what the hell had just happened.


Therefore, on one Borg ship known as Exploratory-class Cube #347, twelve tons of living
flesh (and cellulose) appeared as a giant dog-pile, bolonite ore dust raining
down to sprinkle on the stunned group. Seventy thousand light years distant, on
the decks of a Federation starship named Banshee, twelve tons of asteroid
rubble neatly piled on the chairs, work stations, and quarters said organisms
had occupied milliseconds prior.


As suddenly as the instability in the fabric of space had ripped, it healed
itself. The universe was not uncaring, it simply had a rather twisted sense of
black humor.


 


*****


 


"Get off me!" called a muffled voice.


"Ouch, your foot is in my face!"


"Your face? What about my fingers?"


Sound of a hand impacting a cheek at a velocity approaching high impulse, then: "Touch
me there again, Ben, and I'll make sure you eat that limb for lunch."


"Woof!" whined a black dog.


"There's a plant on my head!"


"Who sat on my hamster? You okay Zeke?"


Slowly the pile of black-clad humanoids (plus two dogs, a parrot, a hamster, and one
miniature Altarian palm) sorted themselves out. Many comments were said, many
curses uttered, but in the end, 175 of the Banshee crew had arrayed themselves
about seven very large rocks. The light was eerily dim, but it was still bright
enough to see very confused faces. 


Jad brushed the dust off his arms, tugged his shirt straight, then shouted,
"Everyone, listen to me!" No one listened. Jad tried again,
"Listen to me, or else I'll sic Counselor Emily on you!" Everyone
shut up.


By having everyone sit on the ground as if it were story time in kindergarten, the
chaos was slowly controlled. No one still knew what had happened or where they
were, but no one was wandering off into dark, scary areas either. Shortly it
had been determined that of command staff, Vorezze, Burns, Rachow, DiSanto, Dr.
Lang, Smith, and Riley were present. Most of the night shift of engineering was
attendant as well, plus about fifty security crew. The rest were from various
departments.


"Okay," said Jad to the rest of the huddled command staff, "first thing...we gotta
figure out where we are."


"Lost?" ventured Dan Smith. The Lieutenant Commander had been in the Twilight Zone
having a relaxing drink when the translocation had happened. Now the vaguely
fruity smelling liquid was all over the front of his shirt.


Dr. Lang was busily taking some basic readings on her tricorder, which had been in
a pocket. Zeke perched on her shoulders, peering down at the instrument,
occasionally making small chirping sounds as the tricorder beeped. "Um...Captain?
We have a problem."


"Huh? What is it?"


"Our environmental readings. 92% humidity, 39.1 degrees Celsius," Liz continued
with the parameters. "That ring any bells?"


"It is hot and sticky? I already knew that." Pause. "And if you make any
comments, Ben, I will have to hurt what little brains you have."


Ben said nothing, although a slight smirk crossed his face. The smirk turned to a
grimace of pain seconds later.


Jad stopped glaring at his helmsman, "Now, Doctor, what is it supposed to
mean?"


"Pardon for butting in, sir," interrupted Charlotte as she wiped a bit of sweat
off her nose ring, "but that is the climate of a Borg cube."


"Oops."


 


Over the next two hours, the Banshee crew managed to busy themselves. Although everyone
expected for Borg to rush in and assimilate them any second, activities did get
accomplished. For one thing, the area they were in was immense...one could
probably fit an entire Defiant-class ship in what appeared to be a cargo hold,
with room to spare. The lighting level did not change, but as vision adapted,
it could be seen that more than seven large rocks were secured within. There
were bulk metals, spools of wires, miscellaneous barrels....


"Are you sure we can eat this, Doctor? It looks like a ration bar."


Dr. Lang rolled her eyes, "As we appear to be missing a medical doctor, I
guess I have to do. It has been a long time since basic anatomy at the Academy,
but I think I remember everything right." Jad stared at her. "I'm
kidding. There are three of the medical staff in the group, and they confirmed
it is edible. Yes, it looks like a ration bar, but I guarantee it won't poison
you. We managed to get one of the dogs to eat one, and it didn't barf or fall
over dead, at least not yet."


"But what would the Borg need with ration bars? Wait, I don't think I want to know. Well,
at least that takes care of one problem." Jad managed to stop the comment
he was going to make about eating cavy before it was uttered. "Good job,
Doctor."


 


"I don't believe butthead-Riley did that to us," complained G'lok vigorously.
"I don't believe he did that!"


"That" in question had occurred just a few minutes ago. The night shift of engineering
had been huddled by a wall, discussing their assigned task: the manufacturing
of a functional loo. Then, Mister Lieutenant Commander David Riley had
sauntered up to Lieutenant Franson to give her some news; unfortunately, the
news was quite audible.


"Lieutenant, since most of the night shift has managed to be, um, located here, I thought it
would be best if I volunteered your and their services for a certain duty. After
all, you all are used to working together."


"What duty, sir?" asked Carla suspiciously.


"I've consulted with the captain and Burns, and they agree. We think that if we
manage to tap into the exterior communication net of this cube, we might be
able to send a message to the Federation. Of course, first we'll have to
determine where we are located in the cube, which will tell us if we are close
enough to the hull to try subspace. Naturally, there is no way to directly talk
to the Federation, but the equivalent of a scream would suffice to say we are
alive."


"And night shift's duty, sir?"


"I'm pretty sure we can do all that without alerting the hive. Security poking their
noses outside the hold area haven't see many drones, and those that are there
are ignoring us."


"And the duty, sir?"


"Oh, sorry. You'll lead the night shift out into the corridors looking for evidence
of where we are in the cube; and see if you can determine what the
communication system might look like."


And now: "I agree *cough*, Lieutenant Commander Riley doesn't always seem to
take into account the safety *sneeze* of the duties we get assigned."


"Blackie, come!" snapped Klark. The dog whined as he moved away from Locth's side
and back to his owner. "Here, chew on this." A ration bar was handed
to the animal, who settled down to worry at it like a chew toy.


"Stop your complaining. The faster we get this done, the sooner we can get back
here," returned Carla. "We meet at the main cargo hold doorway in
five minutes. Be sure you each get one of the tricorders from the requisition
pile."


 


*****


 


{Sensors, can't the tracking be done without rerouting the grid through your personal
sensory system?} complained Captain as he was enveloped in the scent of a
rotting carcass. Although the odor disappeared as heading was adjusted
slightly, the sensation lingered.


{Sensors apologizes, but the computer is useless with the degree of [purple apples]
required in the delicate process of following this [funeral]. The organic brain
within this drone is much more adept, and, when combined with the power of
Sensors' hierarchy, more [allergic] than any algorithm.}


Captain
geeshed, {You don't have to be so sarcastic.} There was a nagging virtual itch,
one not associated with Sensors or her annoying hallucinations, which had been
bugging Captain the last several cycles. As he had done previously, he ran
through the basic awareness patterns of the drones not in regeneration, trying
to determine if one or more was overtly trying to hide some thought or action. Nothing.


The stationary humanoid forms which appeared several times in the visual field of
drones near Bulk Cargo Hold #3 were dismissed as being irrelevant. After all,
how could the unassimilated get on the cube undetected?


 


*****


 


Dave quietly talked with those few of day shift which had been translated to the
Borg ship, totally oblivious to the glares of hatred emanating from the knot of
tired night shift. The people who had risked assimilation talked among
themselves, then, without a backward glance, left for the part of the hold
which had been designated as a sleeping area. It had been a long couple of
days.


"You think we're ready?" asked Dave to Ensign Juliana Carter. The latter nodded
her head, gesturing at the mess of spliced wires which connected to a series of
dissected combadges and commandeered Borg hardware with blinking yellow lights.


"Yes," the ensign replied. "According to Lieutenant Franson, those wires appear
to be part of the communication system; and with those combadges, we can send
something akin to Morse code. The Borg stuff is a signal amplifier, I think. At
least it looks familiar. At the very least, it should disguise our attempts to
the hive, making it seem like random power fluctuations." The young woman
looked earnest to prove her worth. Too bad her brilliant kind rarely survived
service in Starfleet unless they managed to be quickly promoted out of the
ranks of the expendable, or accepted work in the private sector.


Dave looked in the direction of the captain, chewing his lip. Vorezze was asleep
near the rocks. Burns was nearby, vainly trying to chew a ration bar while
fending off the attentions of a small white dog. "I think we'll give it a
little test beep, then inform the captain later if all is okay. Too
embarrassing to get hopes up if it doesn't work."


Carter shrugged, then reached for the combadges. She tapped the faces of the badges a
few times in a classic S-O-S pattern.


 


*****


 


To say Dave, or any member of engineering, knew what they were doing would have
been an understatement. Federation fiddling with the wires and junctions within
the interstitial space of the cargo hold was equivalent to a troop of baboons
trying to figure out why a car wouldn't start. A solution might be found, but
probabilities gave better odds that the infinite monkeys at their infinite
typewriters would get the Bard's works typed first.


The night shift had not correctly identified the system associated with subspace
communication.


Cube #347 abruptly dropped out of transwarp into full impulse. It rotated until face
#5 was directed towards the direction of travel. A series of noncentralized
deflectors buried in the hull of the large vessel powered up, then proceeded to
emit energized chromaton particles.


The Borg ship disappeared from view, departing the current timeline in a wake of
white sparkles which were randomly mangling local tau vectors. The universe
held its breath.


 


*****


 


The cube performed an emergency stop, tumbling out of transwarp to impulse. Sensor
whiplash as the external environment suddenly altered spread the suffering of
headache throughout the sub-collective. Before further actions could be taken,
the deflectors on face #5 activated, belching a spasm of uncontrolled chromaton
particles into the path of the cube. Through the temporal rent Cube #347
hurled, unable to change course.


<< AHHHHH! >> screamed the sub-collective as the roller-coaster ride
commenced.


{Nifty fractal effect distortions!} exclaimed a single voice. 


As the cube emerged back into the blackness of interstellar space, Captain gained
control of propulsion, bringing the ship to a complete halt. A quick scan of
recent command codes recorded a rogue pathway, triggering protocols of temporal
excursion. Unfortunately, not all parameters had been correctly completed; in
fact, several blanks were pure gibberish, and it was unknown where in time the
cube had been shot.


Sensors began to target positions of navigation pulsars while Delta dispatched repair
crews to take care of damage accrued in the drop out of transwarp followed by
the unexpected temporal translation. The report from the sensor hierarchy, when
it came a short time later, was not unexpected: the sub-collective was far, far
in the past. So far, in fact, the Borg Collective appeared to not exist.


It was unsettling to say the least. They had to get back, but without knowing the
exact temporal distance needed to return, using the chromaton protocol was
extremely dangerous. And there was the little fact Delta was now reporting extensive
damage to the deflectors along face #5, as well as the total depletion of
chromaton reserves as quantum-magnetic bottle containment fields had collapsed.


"Sh**," stated Captain verbally. {Second, section yourself a working partition and get
preliminary consensus on possible actions to take.}


Second grumbled a typical sarcastic reply, then distanced himself and three hundred
mentalities of the command and control hierarchy from the general
sub-collective.


Next task...tracking down the cause of the rogue command and eliminating it.


Tendrils of his mentality following the actions throughout the cube, Captain began to
trace the temporal command, growing increasingly curious as the pathway wound
through the dataspaces like a drunken Mobius worm. From the deflectors, the
command bounced across propulsion, then trickled along communications, and
finally retreated to environmental controls. The input appeared to not have
come from a drone signature, but a physical access point in Bulk Cargo Hold #3.


{Sensors!} yelled Captain as he pulled himself from the tracing program, {Relent internal
grid control to Bulk Cargo Hold #3. All drones currently located in subsection
#21, report unusual sentient activity. Doctor, this had better not be another
Vyst incident, else I'm going to leave you drifting out in vacuum and rotate 1
of 27 into the head of drone maintenance.}


The first to respond was Doctor. As he carefully piled equipment in front of his
latest project, an aquarium filled with oddly gray fish analogues, he replied,
{No Vysts, Captain. There is nothing that I have done that could possibly cause
problems on the cube.}


Captain was suspicious, to say the least, but in such an emergency Doctor would not
hold back vital information. Power redirected to local internal sensors in Bulk
Cargo Hold #3 caught Captain's attention as input commenced; Doctor's
transgressions would have to hold until a future date.


Disregarding his viewscreen for the moment, Captain gazed down from a distant ceiling,
taking in multiple feeds at once, compiling them into a whole view. Far below,
humanoid figures moved with purpose. Audio sensors caught the language of...the
Federation. Although the uniform was not known, closer examination revealed the
species known to be members of the Alpha quadrant; two quadrupedal creatures
could be seen frolicking, as well as an avian and a small plant. At the base of
a wall an open panel was noted, a cable emerging from it and connecting to a
contraption. Three people stood nearby.


"Sorry sir, but it didn't seem to work. The Borg part Ensign Carter incorporated is
toast." A male voice.


"But do the Borg know what we tried?" spoke a second figure which glanced over
his shoulder as if fearing imminent attack. 


"If they did, sir, I don't think we would be having this conversation. Carter here
thinks she can try again." The first voice again.


"Yes, sir," said a female voice of the third member of the trio, "there is
some Borg hardware behind that panel over there. One of the modules looks like
a subspace booster." That figure pointed to a position approximately six
meters to the left of the open panel.


Captain broke into Second's deliberations, {We have a bigger problem. I need all of you
for a sub-collective-wide consensus.}


 


Decision made, it was time to proceed. In effect, Captain wanted to preserve all
possible avenues of opportunity. It had been a close call to simply transport
an overwhelming force into Bulk Cargo Hold #3 and assimilate everyone, but in
the end the consensus agreed to build a vast containment field about the entire
hold area and imprison the Federation vermin. There was no such system already
set up, but installation would not take very long.


 


*****


 


"He did it again," griped Carla to the assembled members of the night shift. All
forty-five grumbled; a few craned their necks to look over towards quietly
gossiping command staff. Riley appeared to be unaware of the muffled curses and
inventive ancestral comparisons being spoken with his name as the primary
subject.


Crewman Joe Hansen, an older man whose hair was gradually turning gray, asked,
"What is it this time? We supposed to go out and find some mythical bridge
to take control of this sucker? Or have we simply been told build a new Banshee
out of the spare Borg parts lying around?"


"Of course not. Building a starship would be too easy. No, we are supposed find
Borg dataports and download all the information we can. Hopefully there will be
info concerning galactic location and perhaps the specs of some of the 'spare
Borg parts' in the walls, enough so day shift can build a transmitter that
actually works. Assuming the data can be translated, of course."


"I'd like to..." begun G'lok.


"Enough of this inefficiency!" belted Carla in a command tone. "We have
enough concerns to deal with at the moment. Eighteen of the shift will go out
to the corridors now. When we get back in six hours, another eighteen will
assume the duty. The other nine will continue with duties in the hold. I
suggest those that don't pull the first trip out concentrate on getting some
sleep. I have a list already made up." Carla pulled a PADD out of her
pocket and began to read off names.


 


*****


 


Drones of the engineering hierarchy moved with purpose in the corridors adjacent to
Bulk Cargo Hold #3. At set intervals panels were removed from the bulkhead
closest to the common wall shared, limbs reaching into interstitial spaces to
install force field emitters. Federation clad humanoids in unusual uniforms of
complete black scurried in the corridors, avoiding drones as they walked by.


3 of 19: {I see another one. How could we have missed them before? They are so
obvious.}


108 of 230: {That one has a phaser! I don't want to get hit by a phaser.}


Weapons: {Wimp. The pain will not last long.}


130 of 230: {What happens if they figure out what we are doing? I can see a pair
coming towards me, and they have tricorders. I will have to move for
them...what do I do?}


Delta: {Don't look at them, 130 of 230! Don't acknowledge their existence! Make them
give way! That goes for all assigned to the task - do nothing to let them realize
we are aware of them and they will continue to act as if they are ignoring us. Take
no hostile actions.}


Weapons: {Wimp way out.}


Delta: {Shush, Weapons. Don't influence my hierarchy; and keep your trigger-happy
drones out of the way.}


 


*****


 


The pairs and trios of the Banshee engineering night shift nervously scuttled from
corner to corner, catwalk to catwalk, corridor to corridor, attempting to look
as inoffensive as possible. Before they had embarked on the latest in dangerous
extrahold assignments, Lieutenant Franson had carefully pounded into every
head: "Pretend they don't exist beyond being a roadblock. They will
pretend you don't exist right back." It helped Franson was sharing in the
duty, instead of issuing orders from the relative safety of the cargo bay.


It appeared, after several breathless watch rotations, the hive had not noticed
the disastrous attempt to "phone home" using the cube's own subspace communication
system. Therefore, Captain Vorezze had declared information on location and
technology to be of highest importance, so the "volunteered"
engineering night shift once again set out, risking body and self.


All this meant little to Locth and G'lok as they carefully scrambled along a
corridor, tricorders rapidly sweeping back and forth, looking for an unused
dataport. There appeared to be greater drone activity in the vicinity than
earlier, but the Borg continued to be oblivious to the unassimilated in their
midst. Several seemed to be working on installing some kind of emitter deep in
the bulkhead walls, but neither of the pair felt like walking up and asking
what was going on.


G'lok sniffed, "It stinks out here. And I think the heat is more oppressive in
these corridors than the hold."


"The heat is exactly the same, plus zero-point-two Celsius to allow for less air
circulation compared to the hold. The humidity is slightly higher out here,
however. We are both evolved for dry heat, not wet." Locth replied as he
watched the display of his tricorder.


"Bah...I can withstand anything! What I don't like is not fighting."


"Be logical. They will eventually adapt to anything we use. Our less than two
hundred arrayed against an estimated several thousand would not last long,
especially on their home ground."


"I didn't say fighting was the right choice, I just said I don't like not
fighting. Hey, I think I found a data junction." G'lok stopped in front of
a dusty pillar, located between two obviously unused alcoves. Three Borg were
traveling down the hallway, two from the right and one from the left. They
would cross approximately the area Locth and G'lok were located.


"I think we should get out of the way," stated Locth as he looked around. "If
we each get into one of those alcoves, the Borg will pass us. Afterwards we can
see if we can retrieve any data from the port."


G'lok looked to his right and left, watching the oncoming drones, then examined the
alcoves. "Standing in one of those Borg things is too freaky, but if I
must, I will."


"It is logical."


"Fine. But afterwards I want to have a long talk with you about the logic of being out
here in the first place."


The pair shared a look that said logic was irrelevant in that particular case, then
fit themselves into the dusty alcoves.


 


*****


 


Delta called to Captain over the net, {We are done, Captain. All internal containment
emitters are installed.}


{Very good,} returned Captain. He took a few moments to review the power pathways of
the emitters, although he had perfect faith everything was correct. Satisfied,
Captain next pinpointed the location of the Federation people moving outside
the confines of Bulk Cargo Hold #3. Eighteen beings on the loose, potentially muddling
the systems worse than that already done; well, there was no other way to deal
with it....


{Drones in subsection #21, submatrices 4 through 17, converge on Bulk Cargo Hold #3. Capture
and assimilate all tagged sophonts outside the containment area.} Captain
visualized the location of the Federation teams within the metallic maze of the
cube, following the order with the command codes to activate the force fields.


 


*****


 


G'lok and Locth were immensely surprised as the trio of Borg did not walk past the
two alcoves, instead stopping and turning to regard the pair. G'lok managed to
squeak out an "Oh, sh**" before assimilation tubules pierced his
neck. His Vulcan comrade didn't even have that opportunity.


 


In the area exterior to the cargo hold, the night shift engineering teams were
swiftly located and dispatched. Those that realized the Borg drones were no
longer oblivious managed to fire one or two shots from their phasers, but that
protection was too little too late as personal shielding, already primed to
deal with Federation weaponry, swiftly adapted.


Carla and her partner Ensign Terri Provost, a young Terran who had recently
"died" and been reassigned to the Section 31 Banshee, fled down the
hallway. The Borg tended to not move quickly, but then again, there was no
need: there was nowhere to run and hide in the closed environment of a
cubeship. Terri turned, blocking the corridor, phaser raised.


"Run, sir...I'll delay them as long as I can. I think we're really close, but we both
won't make it unless someone runs rear-guard. Someone needs to warn the captain
about the Borg offensive."


Carla did not argue, instead continuing her headlong pelt down the hallway, leaving
the idealistic ensign behind to her doom. Such pragmatism, had any upper ranks
been there to observe, would have instantly gained her a promotion, if only
because she had no qualms about leaving expendable crewmen behind. Carla was
out to save her own butt.


A reaching pair of limbs was avoided about the time the scream from Terri sounded
behind, abruptly cutting off. The cargo hold was ahead...just ahead...a (puff)
few (wheeze) hundred meters (pant) away. No Borg appeared to be directly ahead,
so maybe she could live a few more minutes among the others, before the hive
rushed the bay, that was. A clank in a corridor she was passing caused a surge
of adrenaline to lift weariness away.


*Zap!* Carla bounced off a force field and fell to the deck, scraping an elbow and
tearing a rip along her pants. As she scrambled to her feet, she realized a
barrier stretched across the open door between the corridor and the cargo hold,
a thin electromagnetic obstacle that stood between her and false safety. After
a look behind into the darkness, which was feeling like a really bad horror
movie, except a lot less laughable when one held the starring role, Carla began
to ineffectively pound against the field, yelling for someone in the milling
mass inside to hear her.


A mottled gray hand with six digits clamped on her shoulder, and she felt no
more.


 


*****


 


The crew of the Banshee within the bowels of Bulk Cargo Hold #3 reacted with shock
as containment fields wavered into existence. The egresses were shielded, as
were every opening into the areas behind the bulkhead panels. Even the floor,
under deck plating, became inaccessible. Looking up, Jad inanely suspected that
if crew managed to clamber to the ceiling, they would find a field there too.


After shock came dismay, as realization swiftly sunk in that the Borg knew the
Banshee crew was on board. "We are going to die!" began to echo from
person to person. At the blocked main doorway, an unknown humanoid shape
appeared; it was quickly joined by another dark shadow, then both melted away
into the black corridors beyond. Before Jad could conquer his own fear and
begin his duty as captain to spread the propaganda of false comfort, a dreaded
Voice began to echo ominously throughout the hold:


"We are Borg. Resistance is futile. You will be assimilated."


 


----------------


 


Here ends Part One of "Cube #347's Excellent Adventure". Be sure to continue
reading Part Two of what is swiftly becoming an epic adventure.
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Cube #347's Excellent Adventure, Part II


 


*Deja vu: the illusion that one has previously had a given experience

-Webster's New World Dictionary


 


*****


 


In "Cube #347's Excellent Adventure, Part I":

It was a dark and stormy night. Or a bright and sunny morning. In the blackness of
space, it doesn't really matter. An accident so improbable it was fated to
occur stranded 175 Banshee crewmembers (including a disproportionate number of
command staff), two dogs, a parrot, a hamster, and a small Altarian palm aboard
an unknowing Cube #347. In an attempt to contact the Federation, the Banshee
crew not only failed miserably, they transported the cube and occupants far
into the past. Alerted to the presence of unknown sentients on board, Cube #347
corralled most of the refuges in a cargo hold, but eighteen were assimilated
when caught outside the safe area when force fields were activated. Now, scared
out of their wits, the Banshee crew waits to discover their fate....


 


*****


 


The Banshee crew stood huddled in the center of the Bulk Cargo Hold #3, feeling
like milling sheep waiting for the slaughter truck to arrive. A containment
field shimmered in the low light at every egress from the vast area, dark
humanoid shapes visible on the other side. The officers had carefully
positioned themselves in the center of the crowd, mutual thoughts revolving
around the number one fact of Starfleet: while ensigns and other minor crewmen
are replaceable, named officers of rank are not, but why take chances?


"Who are we missing?" whispered Captain Jad Vorezze, looking at the others. There
was no reason for the low voices, except that the mood demanded it.


Lieutenant Commander Dan Smith looked at his PADD, scrolling down the list of names of
those who had been outside the cargo area when the force field had shimmered
into existence. "I'm assuming all those not here are lost. Eighteen of the
crew who were transported here are gone." Dan sighed, a wordless
expression of the knowledge they all would be reunited with the missing members
soon enough, as well as meeting several trillion new best friends. "The
list is as follows." Dan read down the display, ending with,
"...Ensign - can't pronounce his first name - T'grath and Lieutenant Carla
Franson."


Chief Engineer Lieutenant Commander David Riley gave a moan, "Franson? She was
the best of the night shift! She even liked her duty assignment. Never a word
of complaint that I ever heard. If she had asked, I would have put her on day
shift in an instant."


Above in the darkness, an intercom system squealed to life, feedback noise causing
most of the crew to put hands over ears. Except for Zeke the hamster, who,
displaying unhamsterlike agility, ran up Dr. Liz Lang's leg to hide in a
trouser pocket. After the initial pronouncement of doom and assimilation thirty
minutes prior, nothing more had been forthcoming. The Collective Voice boomed:


"We are Borg. The situation has changed. One will speak for all. Who will it
be?"


Jad was pushed rudely out of protective custody, by whom, he did not know. "Hey!"
he protested as he half-turned to glare at his "loyal" crew, all of
whom were giving him the look that assimilation in the next few minutes would
be purely his fault. "You should not treat your captain so!"


"Captain Jad Vorezze of the Federation starship Banshee. Betazoid. Species possesses
rudimentary empathic and occasionally telepathic abilities. You will speak for
all." The last was not a question, but a statement of fact.


"Rudimentary?" snorted Jad as he looked up at the ceiling, then at the walls, unsure of the
direction he should address. Straightening a shirt that had seen better days,
he replied, "I will have you know..."


"That your mental abilities are irrelevant. The distinctiveness of your species has
been added to the Borg, and you will not be able to affect us. Captain Jad
Vorezze, your existence as a small being hinges upon your cooperation."


"Cooperation at what?"


"Your meddling in our systems has thrown this cube back in time. Preliminary analysis
indicates a range of seven to eight thousand Federation years before present,
but exact date is unknown as of yet. We are attempting to narrow the era."


"What difference do we make? Excuse me for being pragmatic, but why don't you just
assimilate us, contact whatever Borg are in this time if you need assistance,
then go back to the present?" Many crewmembers groaned as Jad essentially
gave an open invitation to the Borg. Sentiment among those hoping for salvation
was for their captain to get on his knees and pitifully beg for the Collective
to leave them alone.


Silence. The words which came next were almost...apologetic. The tone had to be a
figment of the imagination. "The Collective does not yet exist. The
sub-collective of this cube is alone. Damage to systems associated with
temporal activity is severe, but it will be fixed. We are enroute to planet #1
to confirm our exact placement on the tau vector."


"So, what use are we?"


"We do not wish to alter certain historical events which will lead to the eventual
rise of the Collective. Planet #1, even at this poorly documented time, should
be able to provide certain necessary system components for the temporal
machinery that we are unable to replicate. You will be our liaison with the
beings of planet #1."


"What do we get in return?"


"You remain small beings, unless any decide to enter the Collective. You also get transport
back to our native time."


Jad replied, "Just a minute, I need to discuss this with the others." He
motioned the command staff near, as well as any senior officers present. A
brief, yet intense, debate followed. In the end, it was acknowledged that while
there was no way to make the Borg keep any promises they made, postponement of
the issue was a wonderful way to allow avenues of opportunity to appear. Kinda
like jumping out of a twenty story burning building: with the dangerous flames
immediately behind, the next challenge to survival was the bounce several long
seconds away.


Boomed the Collective Voice, "Enough time for talking. What is your
consensus?"


"We will do it. Um, if I may ask, what significance is this planet #1?"


"Planet #1 is the original Borg homeworld."


Silence from the Banshee crew. Maybe out of the frying pan and into the fire was a more
apt description of the present situation.


 


*****


 


In a way, the entire exercise was amusing. Separated from their ship and weapons,
out of contact with their superiors, the attempts of the Banshee crew to act
defiant were laughable. Too bad that was the only bright spot in the current
crisis.


Cube #347 had already turned and was in a conduit traveling at top speed towards
planet #1; what had been omitted to the Federationers was the fact it would
take the better part of a month to arrive at the destination.


Besieged by continuously updated reports on repair occurring around the cube (the
automatic regeneration system had been activated, but that only complicated the
problem as the computer added its own input), Captain was hard-pressed to keep
the illusion of stilted plurality going for the sake of the unassimilated
audience. After coercing assistance from the Federationers, he decreased his
primary conscious in the area to the most basic awareness. {Second, what are
the projected options? I need your partition back in the general hierarchy to
assist with data processing.}


{You don't want to know the projected options,} stated Second within the intranet.


{Give them.}


{I warned you.} The options gushed into the general awareness of the
sub-collective. Drones all over the ship stopped for a moment to more fully
take them in; activity resumed.


{Those aren't options, those are creative ways to suicide.}


{Told you. The probabilities will change depending on exact time period we have
arrived in, technological capability of planet #1, trustworthiness of the
Banshee crew and our ability to keep them acting for us, etcetera and so on.}


Captain sighed. Physically he beamed himself to the outer hull to personally inspect
the damage. Ignoring the visible phenomenon of faster-than-light travel, he
watched ship systems rebuilding part of the deflector system. 


{Delta?}


{We are working to fix the chromaton bottle as fast as possible. Check the internal
maintenance logs if you want updates, and stop bothering me. I am too busy
being two places at once.} Delta's double signature was definitely annoyed. Captain
drew back.


Captain hated not having full access to the archives of the Collective as he (or others
in the sub-collective) needed them. Until this point, he had been unaware how
much those distant files were used; automatic queries which did not require the
attention of the Greater Collective, but necessary none-the-less. The current
data storage within electronic and organic pathways - more information than the
entire Federation/Klingon/Romulan empires had in their combined computer
networks - was just not sufficient! How was a proper consensus supposed to be
made in such circumstances?


Responsibility, responsibility, responsibility...how he hated it and how he looked forwards to
the time he was simply 4 of 8 once more. If the hellacious assignment ever
ended, that is. Duty inevitably called once more as the Federation crew, more
specifically the one designated Jad Vorezze, demanded the attention of the
Borg. Captain grumbled, then transported himself back to his nodal
intersection.


"Second?"


"I'm just a Second," replied Second frostily. "The Federation people are
your responsibility. You talk to them."


With a wicked thought, Captain suddenly dumped a large portion of the more
repetitive command load on a certain reserve consensus monitor. The curses
which followed were entertaining to listen to. Perhaps there were a few perks
with being Captain.


 


*****


 


Lieutenant Commander Ben Rachow tapped Jad on the arm, then leaned close in a scheming whisper,
which none-the-less was perfectly audible to everyone within twenty feet.


"Captain, you know...I read in the files about Voyager and their acquisition of a shapely
female Borg when they were in a position similar to this. You know, when the
EMH managed to contact the Federation. Get my drift?"


Vorezze looked at the practically drooling lieutenant commander, then around at the
other faces nearby. Most of the male ones had a similar gleam to their eyes,
while the female ones had stony visages. Jad came to a quick decision, hormones
temporarily overriding good sense as certain pictures came to mind. He
separated himself from the crowd.


"Ahem...um, Borg? Are you listening?"


"We are always listening," came the booming reply.


"Well...you know us individuals aren't really all that comfortable talking with disembodied
voices, bulkheads, and the like. Intimidating, yes...but one can hardly expect
for us to efficiently get our work done." Jad paused as he contemplated
the wisdom of the request he was about to make, but the moment of sanity was
fleeting. "We've heard about how time to time you've made concessions to
our limited capacity. Picard of the Enterprise and Janeway of Voyager come to
mind. Think you might have someone to be a liaison drone?" A cheesy smile
crept across Jad's face, much like the one he used as a child during class
photos.


The intercom was silent for a time, long enough for the crew to begin buzzing about
their eventual fate when they were no longer useful. Finally the reply came. "We
will comply."


At the main opening of cargo hold to exterior corridor, the sound of a single set
of footsteps traversing over metal echoed. Closer came the noise, until a tall
shape loomed behind the force field, exact form impossible to determine due to
wavering effects. Anticipation arose, from male and female crew alike; then the
Borg easily stepped through the barrier, as if it were not there. This drone
was definitely not a candidate for the Miss Galaxy pageant.


A few fingers over two meters, the Borg was the typical humanoid specimen: clad
in black body armor, half the face hidden with implants, prosthetic limb,
mottled gray flesh where such was visible. A lipless mouth was a straight line
below a bump of a "nose" which really wasn't such an organ - no
nostrils visible. The fingers on the normal hand were five; the limb opposite
was a complex assemblage of hardware. The unaltered eye which took in the scene
of the cargo hold was a surprising dark blue in color. Tentatively the Borg was
classified as male, although the probably irrelevant task at gender labeling
was unconfirmable without actually asking, which no one was going to do.


The Borg stopped in front of Jad. "Captain Vorezze. I will be your liaison. My
designation is 4 of 8 of Exploratory-class Cube #347, but you may call me
Captain, as I know the unassimilated generally do not like to utilize numerical
strings as names."


"No!" cried Ben's voice from the interior of the silently watching Banshee crew. "It
wasn't supposed to work like that!"


A feeling of heat was rising to Jad's face; he hoped the Borg would disregard the
outburst, although second thoughts had wishful thinking that Rachov hadn't been
one of the ones caught outside. The mental tangent brought a certain question
to mind, which Jad asked, attempting to project the air of authority. "What
has happened to my crew whom were not in this hold when the force field was
activated."


Captain did not look very impressed. "What do you think happened? They were
assimilated, of course! Ask an idiotic question...." The mangled cliche
was not finished. "Your crew is beyond your help, so stop thinking about
ways to 'liberate' them." A short pause. "As I am the liaison, I
suppose I should tell you the mess you got us all into when you fools were
messing with circuits and systems you could not even begin to understand."


"Maybe I should get the rest of my command staff here. Just a second." Jad turned
and yelled for certain officers to join his private party. The people in
question looked like they would rather stay where they were currently standing,
but slowly extricated themselves from the crowd to join their captain and the
Borg. As Jad waited for all to arrive, he turned back to Captain, the nagging
discrepancy in the conversation suddenly clicked. "What is with this 'I'
thing."


"It will all be explained. Be patient."


 


*****


 


Captain was not impressed with the caliber of the Banshee officers. Whatever screening
program was used in the Federation, it obviously hadn't been working of late. Or
else the Enterprise had been a fluke. No...couldn't be; species which had
successfully delayed the inevitable had been well organized, while those that
fell quickly were more akin to this arguing bunch.


Jad Vorezze was the loudest of the group, continually altering between demands and
irrelevant questions. Commander Charlotte Burns had enough miscellaneous
hardware piercing her face that assimilation might lessen the burden. As
Captain observed, the one known as David Riley cut himself on the edge of some
sort of food? packet; at least he was chewing on the substance inside. Lieutenant
Commander Dan Smith was quiet, although he occasionally muttered soundless
comments to himself. Lieutenant Commander Ben Rachow appeared to be fidgeting
as he looked at the back of one Dr. Liz Lang. Meanwhile, Dr. Lang was absently
stroking a small hairball with legs.


Captain focused on the hairball, or more precisely, he felt Doctor appropriate several
sensor points and train them on the animal. Vorezze was in the midst of yet
another inane question as Captain asked, "Dr. Lang, is that furry thing
you are holding an animal or a sentient?"


"What is it to you?" The response was hostile, snappy. Vorezze looked slightly
put out about being interrupted, then turned pale as he located the source of
the query. Several others also quieted as blood drained from their faces.


"Is it an animal or a sentient?"


"It is Zeke, my hamster. He's an animal. And if you or anyone else touch him, I'll
have to hurt you."


"A warning, Dr. Lang. Keep an eye on your animal. In fact, keep an eye on all the
nonsentients in here. We don't want them to get loose, not that it would
happen, would it?"


A voice catcalled, "Can't let you off your leash anymore, Ben!", but
was ignored. The last statement had not been directed at the Banshee crew, but
at a certain drone in Maintenance Bay #5 who was supposed to be working on
personnel repairs. Doctor's mental presence faded back into the general mob
watching the proceedings and making snide comments. Not that the
sub-collective's own record was anything to gloat over.


Vorezze cleared his throat, "Um, Captain Borg?"


"Captain will do." This was the third time Vorezze had tried to tack a
"Borg" after the "Captain" sub-designation.


"Well, yes...Captain. Could you explain this assimilation imperfection once more? I
think I almost had it that time." While the Banshee captain may have been
having a hard time grasping the concept, several others of the so-called
command staff appeared immensely bored. Before Captain could explain yet again,
Burns butted in.


"Captain...it works like this. They be like us in a way, namely expendable. This
expendability comes about because the group on this ship isn't able to mesh
smoothly with the trillions of the majority. Each one is enough of a single
being that they are rejected by the Collective, yet enough a Borg that they
can't be simply flushed into the waste recycler. In other words, the drones on
this ship have minds of their own, but are in sufficient harmony to kick our
butts at any time they want."


Vorezze was silent, the brief explanation finally sinking in. He looked at Captain. "And
the reason your name is Captain is...?"


Replied Captain, "Because I am the current controlling consensus initiator and
expediter of this sub-collective. I am the one who is All this
assignment."


Several long seconds of silence followed. It was broken by yet another exasperating
question, this time by Dr. Lang. "What is this 'assignment' you
mentioned."


"Irrelevant. You are all irrelevant." Captain lost his patience as his voice rose from
the steady tone he had been using. Even with Second taking much of the burden,
even with the general trickling down of responsibility in the command and
control hierarchy, there was much which demanded his attention. He could not
stand here all cycle and answer every little thought which flickered in the
minds of the Federationers. There was too much to do. "Captain Jad
Vorezze. You will come with me. The rest can wait here. That will be more
efficient."


Before Vorezze could object, Captain caught the Betazoid in a transporter lock, then
beamed himself and the Federation captain elsewhere.


 


*****


 


Silence reigned in the cargo hold. Finally it was broken by a voice in the ranks.


"Vorezze is bloody well lost...that means," pause, "Charlotte is in
charge...."


Eyes riveted on Charlotte, who was standing quite still, obviously wondering if
losing the captain was a good thing or a bad thing. Well, it couldn't get much
worse, so might was well look on the optimistic side.


 


*****


 


"Where are we?" gasped Jad as the shock wore off from the unexpected
transportation.


Captain frowned as he looked around. He was supposed to be in his local nodal
intersection, but this obviously wasn't it. Consulting a map of the cube, he
found he was in the right subsection, submatrix, but a good ten minute walk from
his objective. 


{Captain,} reported Delta, {there are some odd fluctuations with the target destination
lock on the transporter. It is related to the current strain caused by the ship
regeneration system, and will need to be recalibrated once deflector and
superstructure work is completed. My hierarchy will get to it as it can. Use
the transporters at your own risk.}


{Now you tell me,} grumbled Captain. He plotted the best route back to his precious
contraband viewscreen. {Why didn't you make a general announcement about it?}


{I did, but you obviously weren't paying attention. Now, I've work to do, and not
enough bodies to supervise it all.}


Captain reviewed general messages in the last thirty minutes, spotting the
announcement. It was neatly scrunched between his own background searches for
data, an automatic repair report from the computer, a stupid question by Riley,
and Weapons complaining that tractor emitters damaged on face #5 weren't
getting fixed fast enough. Very obvious...once one got through all the white
noise.


"I said," spoke Jad louder, "where are we?" He added a few seconds
later, "And am I ever going to see my crew again?"


Captain gave Vorezze a disgusted glare. "We are in subsection 17, submatrix 10, a
ten minute hike from where I want to be. Again, courtesy of your crew tossing
us back in time eighty or so centuries. The problem is being taken care of;
until then, we walk. Follow me. If you try any desperate escape, I'll simply
tell the nearest drones to assimilate you. There are plenty left in Bulk Cargo
Hold #3 to do our bidding." He took off down the catwalk, a still stunned
Jad trotting along behind without complaint. The silence from the officer was
not to last.


"Wha? What's that?" The question came a distance behind Captain, indicating
Vorezze had stopped to look at something. Captain turned around to see what had
caught the other's attention.


Trundling along at the same level was a three-meter long centipede - ten segments per
meter - of a dark red-black color. Only knee high, it brushed past Vorezze,
circumference ruff of antennae serving the same function as the eyes it did not
have. The only way to tell it was a drone and thus belonged on the cube was the
sparse scattering of external implant attachments and the fact that the head
was completely replaced by machinery. 


It stopped halfway between Captain and the Federation officer, lifted up the fore
third of its body to detach a panel, then smoothly scurried into the
interstitial space. As it disappeared, the panel was passed adroitly from leg
pair to leg pair (all limbs were capable of manipulating objects), until the
last two segments were reached. These four legs pulled the panel shut behind such
that it was not possible to tell the insectoid had been present.


Captain sent a mild rebuke to the drone about his timing, who thusly replied that Delta
was on its engineering butt to physically survey power conduits in the
submatrix. Aloud, "That was 2 of 3. Original species is #7001, named
(click)gclok!" Captain managed to pronounce the ending whistle of the
designation without mangling too badly. "Subterranean insectoids. Primary
characteristics include multiple manipulatory limbs, diffuse neural network,
and tactile sensory system. Excellent drones for maintenance in tight places,
although due to difficulty in acquisition, few have been added to the
Collective."


"(click)geeclock?" asked Vorezze. "That is a mouthful."


"Stop loitering and follow." Captain turned to continue his trek.


"Coming, coming, coming."


 


Over the course of the journey, several active Borg were encountered, most of the
engineering hierarchy. There were those in their alcoves, of course, but they
were either in regeneration or contributing their neural resources to the
on-going discussions (some highly tangential) in the dataspaces. With each
passage of drone, muscle implants adding electric whines to movements
accompanied by clanking footfalls, Vorezze became obviously more nervous. Captain
had just reprimanded 249 of 300 for purposefully stomping and leaning
menacingly towards Vorezze as she passed when the latter stopped in his tracks
once more. Captain followed the other's line of sight, expecting to see 2 of 3
again.


"Oh, gads," said Captain, unaware he had spoken aloud. "2 of 8, go back to
your subsection, submatrix."


2 of 8 was the newest member of the Hierarchy of Eight, the eight drones from
which captains were drawn in rotation, and as such she had only served as
Captain twice. When trusted with responsibility as Captain or Second, 2 of 8
was perfectly competent; when she ranked no more and no less than any other in
the command and control hierarchy, she was as loopy as any aboard the cube. Her
greatest pet peeve was her dislike of the traditional Borg color scheme: gray,
black, and silver, with green reserved to accent machinery for that final eerie
touch.


Normally black body armor was painted a shocking pink, and gray skin had an oily purple
sheen to it. 2 of 8 held up her hands - neither of which had been altered in
her original assimilation - to show small studs pierced through finger webs. Looking
more carefully at her face, Captain could also see a ring jauntily attached to
the nose.


"I watched the one called Commander Charlotte Burns. She gave me the idea of body
piercing. I thought I could find some good alloys and colored rocks to accent
my current paint job. Do you think it will work? I just had to find you to try
to convince you once more that such actions can only improve enthusiasm in the
sub-collective as well as channel 'creativeness' in less harmful
directions."


Captain looked sideways. Vorezze was simply staring, mouth open, appearing to mumble
the words, "Burns? Can't be...she is in the cargo hold. Please tell me she
is in the cargo hold. She has got to be in the hold."


Sighing, Captain responded, "Now is not the best time, 2 of 8. Go back to your
alcove and detail an action for consensus. I will allow it for discussion
after this mess is over; or you can hold it in the background until you rotate
in for Captaincy. Until then, pick more subtle colors."


2 of 8 frowned, then activated the transporter. Following the signal, Captain
noticed that she made it to where she wanted to go. There was a sneaking
suspicion the transporter wasn't as broken as Delta claimed, but he didn't care
to take the time to trace every single error message being produced; if Delta
was mad at him for some reason, the present method of payback was less harmful
than some she had rigged in the past.


Vorezze shook his head, as if dismissing a bad dream. "That wasn't Burns was it? Or
some sister I never knew she had?"


"No. Your Commander Burns is in Bulk Cargo Hold #3, leading a discussion on what to
do if you don't come back." Captain paused to listen and watch for a few
moments. "They don't seem very optimistic of your chances. Some of your
crew are quite cheerful about that fact."


"When I get back..." Vorezze trailed off. "I am getting back, aren't
I?"


"You are."


Finally the correct nodal intersection was reached, the normal decor on one wall
overlaid with a viewscreen. As the pair entered, Captain sent command codes to
the viewscreen to show a picture of what was occurring in Bulk Cargo Hold #3. Disliking
the first perspective, he quickly shuffled through sensor views until one
seemed to be right.


Vorezze stopped as he saw the scene on the screen: Burns surrounded by twenty or so
wildly gesturing figures. Other people milled in the background. A big black
dog chased a small white one around the periphery, while a parrot occasionally
flew across the field of view. The chaos looked very busy.


"Is there sound?" asked Jad.


"Yes, but you don't want to hear it. We have other items to discuss. Correction, I
have things to tell you, and I don't want billions of questions. Understand?"
Vorezze mutely nodded, not displaying any of his earlier attempts to act like a
macho Starfleet captain. "Good."


Captain began. "We are a month in transit to planet #1, the original Borg
homeworld. However, the Collective does not exist in this time period, and
historical records as to the condition of planet #1 in the pre-Borg era and for
several years following inception of the Greater Consciousness are either
lacking or sketchy. In other words, you and your crew will be our liaison to
what are undoubtedly unassimilated beings. We need certain items, which the
civilization should be able to supply, in order to finish ship repairs and
return to our proper time. Once returned, we will figure out what to do with
you."


Vorezze pointedly asked, "Why don't you just assimilate the population and get
what you want, like you assimilated my eighteen crew members simply because
they were outside the security field?"


"This cube has done stupid things," replied Captain, "but we will not be
held responsible for screwing up the birth of the Borg." Vorezze just
stared at him, obviously thinking thoughts that no Borg would be a good thing. Captain
kept the agony of the knowledge that paradox aside, messing with the timeline
would mean somewhen, a nonassimilated himself would be living the Hell of his
family. He must not f**k up this opportunity to put things back to right. "Enough.
You now know what you need to know. If there is anything vital you require,
just state my name, and I'll ponder the request. Please do not try to escape or
do anything more foolish than you already have."


Before Vorezze could ask another question, Captain locked him in a transporter and
beamed him back to the cargo bay. Amazingly, the transporter worked...fancy
that. He dropped his mind back into the chaos of the dataspaces, ignoring the
commotion occurring on the viewscreen as the Banshee’s captain rematerialized
unharmed.


 


*****


 


Captain's Log: Stardate unknown, location unknown


I'm recording this log on a modified tricorder...good thing they are designed to be
more versatile than Swiss army knives and duct tape put together. Unfortunately,
even tricorders can only do so much.


I finally convinced our Borg liaison 4 of 8, or Captain as he calls himself, to
provide a food replicator unit. It has always been the joke of the Federation
concerning their ration bars, but until now I was unaware what they did with
the old ones; for some reason this cube has over sixty metric tons of ration
bars dated 2291. Captain claims they are used as an organic substrate and base
substance for certain systems. Anyway, the things are basically inedible for us
mere mortals, but it took over a week of fast talking to get that point across.


The food replicator unit, when it was first beamed into our cargo bay, only gave a
paste with the consistency of baby food and the taste of mashed squash. It
supposedly contains an "efficient" blend of proteins, vitamins, and
other supplements necessary for our multiracial crew. I hate squash. No way I
could convince Captain to program it with something more palatable, but he did
allow some of my crew to work on modifying it.


In other developments....


 


Jad looked up as Dave cleared his throat again. "What?" asked Jad,
ancient ration bar in one hand and tricorder log in the other.


"We got a new flavor out of the replicator!" said Dave excitedly as he waved
his hands around.


"First it was peas, then mushrooms...what type of baby food do we have now?"


"Carrots," stated Dave with a smile.


Jad rolled his eyes, "Joy. Get turkey and cranberries, and all the ingredients
for an old-style Terran Thanksgiving dinner will be available. Of course, one
will have to eat it with a spoon." A bite on the ration bar, which was
subsequently chewed and chewed and chewed.


Dave sighed. "Well, it is some variety. I'll go back to the job; I think the
team had pickles there for a moment." Jad waved the engineer off.


The cargo bay had changed quite a bit since the force fields had first been
activated. Lights were brighter, although they still shone all the time; day
and night were yet another irrelevant concept as far as the Borg were
concerned. Humidity and temperature also remained the same sweaty constant. However,
temporary walls had been erected, effectively giving the hold floor the
impression of office cubicle heaven.


The largest areas were sleeping quarters (bunk rooms would have been the
appropriate name, except everyone slept on the floor), and even the officers
had been forced to subject to the indignity of shared housing. Of course, it
was also the only way to keep Ben from scaling the open-air rooms to peak in
the women's bunk areas. Other pseudo-rooms included the meeting room and the
commons, where the replicator unit was kept. Overall, the lodging of the
Federation crew took up a depressingly small area within the large cargo hold. Dark
bulky shapes at the far end were neatly stacked piles of metal scrap, spools of
multicolored wire, and shrink-wrapped cartons of ration bars: the original
contents. Seven large asteroids - petite on the cosmic scale, huge to those
camped underneath - of bolonite ore completed the scene, looming over the
cubicle city from their position of securement.


Also strewn about the hold were the aborted attempts of escape. Loose wires, open
hatches, Borg hardware with its components scattered about in random fashion. All
futile, as the Borg said...all futile. There was absolutely no way out of Bulk
Cargo Hold #3 except under the watchful eyes of the Borg equivalent of security
guards. Maybe if there had been a legendary Scotty in the crew, things would be
different, but that was wishful thinking of the highest order.


"Dill pickles!" yelled Dave joyfully from the direction of the replicator. Definitely
no Scotty here, thought Jad sadly.


The clanking sound of steps echoed from the corridor outside the main doorway into
the hold. Jad looked up, as did the majority of the crew awake, looking for
anything to catch their attention and relieve the boredom for a few minutes. Compared
to the current monotony, Banshee at its dullest was a chaotic circus. Moving
with ease through the security force field, Captain entered the hold. Jad stood
up and approached.


Captain's eye was actively roving over the faces of the Banshee crew, looking for someone
in particular. The gaze locked on Jad as the search ended. Jad squinted, taking
in the minute facial variations which gave a slight clue as to the frame of
mind the Borg was in, trying to feel thought patterns which were too vast to
gain a proper perspective; the conclusion gave Jad the shivers. It was times
like that reflected in the drone's face which reminded Vorezze just how alien
the Borg were in their mentality.


Sometimes when Jad conversed with Captain, it was evident there was only a single
individual speaking in return. The concept of assimilation imperfection clear
with the use of "I" and the general relaxed air to body posture and
phrases used. The drone's eye reflected only a single mind behind it. Other
times, and this was one of those times, Jad was acutely aware that four
thousand others were also sitting in Captain's head, helping to form the words
which were disturbingly full of random "we"s and other
plurals...Vorezze wasn't even sure Captain was aware of the shift in phrasing.


"Captain Vorezze. You will come with this drone. We are nearing our objective."


Jad felt nervous, as he always did in the presence of the Borg. "Just me? And
is it really necessary? I mean, you'll get to your original homeworld, and what
good would any of us here serve?"


There was a distinct impatience in Captain's voice, "There are no suitable
viewscreens in this hold; the only one is in my nodal intersection. We really
doubt you could understand raw sensor data...I even have trouble interpreting
it at times. You alone will come with us. As to necessity, we must explain
again that we need you and your crew unassimilated to act as liaisons between
us and those on planet #1 so that we may gain needed supplies. 


"Of course, first we must find out our exact time in history, and the ancestral
Borg world should give more precise clues than just astronomical data."


Jad sighed, pocketed his tricorder and ration bar remnant, and followed Captain.


 


*****


 


Captain beamed himself to his nodal intersection. Vorezze was also brought along. Over
the past month the Federation beings had been a trial, demanding one thing
after another. A food replicator, a change in the environment, a way to clean
their clothes and their bodies, bathrooms, temporary walls...the list was
endless. Most of the requests had been unnecessary to their continued health,
but they appeared to be unaware of that reality, whining incessantly until key
wants were filled.


The Federation people had better be worth the headache; Captain was beginning to
regret his earlier weighted insistence to keep the crew unassimilated.


Cube #347 was nearing the end of its journey. The system of planet #1 had been
entered hours ago. Currently the cube was holding a stationary position beyond
the sixth planet (a miniature gas giant which did not exist in Captain's time,
having been completely dismantled for gas and metals a thousand years prior),
easily avoiding relatively primitive detection sensors. Sensors had
reconfigured the grid to a medium-range range scan and was currently
distributing information for study to various partition blocs. That data would
form the basis of the decision tree which was to be commenced shortly.


 


Jad squinted at the viewscreen, the one thing seen thus far which had an obvious
function. No weird oscillating lights, empty alcoves, or silent drones standing
next to pillars with their palms (or other limb?) flat against circuitry. Unlike
the other objects, the viewscreen also did not look like it had been
manufactured by the Borg.


Unknown alphanumerics sped up one edge of the screen, odd characters with spiderlike
tracings, extremely delicate and unlike that which would be expected from the
Borg. On the main body of the screen, a terrestrial planet of green, blue, and
white was centered. Without warning, the planet flashed from the visual to a
false-image of red and orange, then changed to a brown sphere with multicolored
lines arcing from pole to pole.


"What am I looking at?" questioned Jad, blinking rapidly as the display altered
once again, this time to a black circle with points of white dotted over dimly
perceived landmasses. Sometime during the trip to the intersection, the many-ness
behind Captain has leaked away until only the core personality remained.


"The original Borg homeworld, planet #1. This is a simplified interpretation of the
datastreams currently being examined by the sensor hierarchy. We are still
located among the outer planets of the system and have not been detected by
local sensors or ships."


Jad hesitated, then asked, "Could I see the visual again? That one makes the
most sense to me." The screen flickered again, this time to the scene
first seen; no obvious movements had come from Captain's direction. In fact,
the drone had taken up a stationary standing position in the middle of the
intersection area. Out in the corridors, the sounds of movement by other Borg
could be heard. "That doesn't look like what I expected. I thought the
planet would be more...used."


Captain spoke, and when Vorezze glanced back, a definite frown had crossed the pale
visage. "In our native position on the tau vector, planet #1 has long
since been stripped of useful surface materials, and mines are currently
tapping the metal core itself. Over forty billion reside on the surface. These
are the correct coordinates for planet #1, but the physical aspects of the
planet do not match." A long pause, then, "We have consensus that
this planet is the ancestral world before the rise of the Borg. Records of that
era are insignificant and considered irrelevant, but the facts fit. We have now
determined to the proper decade the present date should be; the needed equipment
will be available."


A drone came into the nodal intersection, carrying a coiled length of dark metal.
Jad automatically turned his head to follow the movement, then gasped at what
he saw. Just enough of a black turtleneck was poking above a bodysuit neckline
to make Vorezze more closely examine the bald head and mottled gray face
sporting a distinctive scar down the right side.


 


"Lieutenant Franson!" called Vorezze, drawing Captain out of his discussions within
the sub-collective. Although he had been responding to the Federation captain,
the majority of his attention had been in the nets. Captain checked the
location of local drones as he turned to confirm identity visually. It was 187
of 230, one of the new units from the recent assimilation of the Banshee crew. In
normal times she would have been kept asleep in stasis, to limit corruption
from individuality, until she could be transferred to another cube, but in the
present emergency all drones were needed.


187 of 230 ignored Jad, instead lifting a panel from a bulkhead to reveal a maze of
wires and conduits. Captain could feel 187 of 230 tightly focused on her task
to replace a cracked support within the interstitial space.


"Lieutenant Carla Franson! I know it is you." Jad's attention shifted to Captain,
"Captain Borg," Captain winced at the inappropriate title the
Betazoid used, "that is Franson, isn't it?"


"That drone is 187 of 230, assigned to the engineering hierarchy. Carla Franson no
longer exists."


"No...it can't be. I can see her right there in front of me." Captain watched in
interest as Vorezze's face scrunched up slightly as eyes behind glasses
narrowed. At the same time, a primitive nonBorg presence reached towards the
mental signature which was 187 of 230. Captain easily ejected the probe from
the sub-collective, but not before 187 of 230 was booted out of her focused
state, dropping the coil of metal to the deck with a clatter. The drone looked
with question towards the head of Cube #347.


"Carla...do you recognize me now?" asked Jad once more.


187 of 230 altered her awareness to include Vorezze. She was obviously not fully
processed, many prostheses and assemblages yet to be attached. Some surgery had
been done on face and skull, but external optic augmentation was not present. Still,
her essence had been absorbed into the Collective...or would have been had the
Collective been heard. As was, Captain could feel the subtle indicators of
borderline assimilation imperfection, signs which could have been suppressed
and corrected had 187 of 230 been directly transferred to a normal cube. Assimilation's
hierarchy was doing its best to shield her and the other new drones from the
bulk of the sub-collective's problems, but in the case of 187 of 230 it was a slowly
losing cause.


"Carla Franson is no longer relevant. This drone is designated 187 of 230."


"But...but..." continued Jad. He never finished his comment as 187 of 230 interrupted,
confusion in her mental signature apparent to Captain.


"There are not enough voices. We do not hear enough voices. Where are the
others?" Pause as she accessed the nets. "I do not know you...you are
not of the voices." Another pause as Captain felt 187 of 230 rapidly
search through memory files. "You are Captain Jad Vorezze of the
Federation starship Banshee. Although you are not noted a specimen suited for
assimilation, you must be added to the Collective. There are not enough voices...never
enough voices." 187 of 230 began to approach Jad malevolently, arms
reaching forwards to grasp. Vorezze's eyes widened as he gave a short yelp,
scrambling backwards, bumping into Captain.


{187 of 230!} sent Captain to the advancing drone. {You will desist these actions
and return to your alcove. Now!} Strings of appended code forced compliance. 187
of 230 stopped in her tracks, flashed Captain what could only be described as a
dirty look, before turning to leave via an open doorway.


Jad was sprawled on his behind at Captain's feet, looking up. It appeared to be
dawning in his face just how close to assimilation he had come...from a former
shipmate.


"You are undamaged," observed Captain as he examined Jad, comparing the sight
to stored data describing a healthy Betazoid specimen. "You have not been
assimilated; you are still more useful in your current state."


Vorezze rapidly scrambled to his feet, pulling down a uniform top which had ridden up
enough to show pale expanse of belly. "She did not know me."


"Correction - 187 of 230 did know you, but it was irrelevant. You are not her commanding
officer any longer, but a member of a species designated for eventual
incorporation into the Collective."


Jad looked shaken; he was staring in the direction his former crew member had left.
"What did she mean about not enough voices?"


"187 of 230 should not be awake, but due to mitigating circumstances there is little
choice but to use every drone available. She is primed for trillions of voices,
not four thousand. Needless to say, she is a little confused right now. I made
her go back to her alcove and regenerate. Nothing to worry about."


"I think I want to go back to the cargo hold now."


"Fine. I will transport you back." Captain activated the transporter beam,
adroitly sending the Betazoid back to the hold, depositing him in the middle of
a ration bar and baby food fight.


 


*****


 


187 of 230, once known by the designation of Lieutenant Carla Franson, stood in her
assigned alcove, brooding. The encounter with the Banshee captain had catalyzed
the realization that the spaces she could hear with her mind were too quiet. There
were voices present, but it was as if - 187 of 230's thought patterns
momentarily examined the memories of Franson for the metaphor - a small outpost
of a few hundred was in a stadium meant for a hundred thousand, attempting to
fill up the empty echoes with their cheering.


The potential of greatness when compared with the current reality was depressing.


"Not enough voices," whispered 187 of 230 to herself. She would have to do
something about rectifying the problem.


 


*****


 


Cube #347 was on a course directly to planet #1. The approach was open and without
hostility; of course, the Borg did not exist yet, so no fear had been learned
in response to the appearance of a dreaded cube. Five cylinder-shaped ships,
each with three nacelles mounted away from the hull, sped from a
station-keeping location of defense in the inner system. There was no overt
hostility in the advance, only curious wariness.


As Captain watched the five small ships near, another part of his awareness was absorbing
the processed data of sensor sweeps of the propulsion and weaponry systems,
reading for signs of possible danger. While weapon power was at a nominal
status, the signature of the drives was surprising.


{Sensors, is this data correct?}


Sensors was busy herself, focusing sections of the grid at multiple targets throughout
the system, altering input frequencies to gain maximum information. And
listening to the clamoring of disgusted confusion among her hierarchy as she
tuned parts of the array to the less used fractions of the spectrum.


{Sensors says that it is correct. Those ships have transwarp.}


Transwarp? The data thus collected indicated a technological base just beyond that of the
Federation; transwarp should not have been developed as yet, but the signatures
were nearly the twin of what Cube #347 itself sported.


Captain interrupted Second from his duties, wanting a sounding board for the
conclusions both himself and the deeper subconscious patterns of the
sub-collective were reaching.


{What?} snapped Second from his current location near Auxiliary Core #5. {I'm just a
slight bit busy right now.}


{Too bad. This will only take a few seconds. I exercise my authority as Captain.} Captain
paused to align his concerns. {Historical data shows we had transwarp eleven
years after the Collective came into existence.}


Second sighed, {Yes, files indicate transwarp was present after the assimilation of
species #2.}


{But species #2 did not contribute transwarp to our technological base.}


{No. Are we done yet?}


Continued Captain, {The origin of Borg is not fully documented, but it is clear species
#1 was the progenitor of the Collective and there was no extradimensional or
extragalactic influence. Therefore, how could there be transwarp at this stage
of development?}


A long pause as Second rustled around in the deeper archives, looking for an
answer. Without the knowledge base of the Greater Consciousness, only one
possibility was forthcoming. {A reoccurring theory found among nonassimilated
species states advance is a product of current technology, need for the
proposed invention, and a mind to develop it. Space-faring races always want a
way to travel faster, so need is present; and technologically, species #1 has
the theoretical base to develop transwarp, although the need for many
specialized industries would make primary implementation economically expensive
without a mind directing the effort. Therefore, it is the conclusion that some
genius beat the low probability odds to design transwarp and put it into
production.}


Captain mulled over the answer; it would have to do. Second was released back to his
duty as a hail was received from the lead cylinder.


 


*****


 


Jad hated waiting. He knew something was happening, knew with his keen
captain-sense that Important Things were occurring. The fact that Jad also knew
the cube would soon be making contact with its nonassimilated ancestors and he
had to sit and twaddle his thumbs didn't help any. Without displays to tell if
the ship was moving, stationary, or destroying entire civilizations, there was
no outlet for Jad to vent his frustration of Not Being In Charge.


For the umpteenth time, Jad completed a pacing circuit across the commons area,
unconsciously avoiding busy crew as they tidied from the earlier food fight. He
wanted an update on the situation, and he wanted it now!


"Irrelevant cogs in some vast machine, that is what we are. These may be supposed
individuals, but they sure have all the rude mannerisms of Borg to forget about
little things like their passengers," Vorezze muttered to himself as he
came to a temporary halt, leaning against a cubicle wall. The partition swayed
slightly under the weight, but did not collapse.


Dan looked up from where he was sitting nearby, intently examining a PADD. The
device gave a series of beeps as he put it down. "Jad, face it: the Borg
here see us as tools, just like they see their own drones, individuality or no
individuality. We will be used as appropriate, stored until useful again, and
discarded when worn out or no longer needed."


Jad stared at Dan, "That's a lousy attitude. I know you tend to look at the
darker side, but that is just plain pessimistic."


A shrug, then reach for the PADD. "I just try to look at the reality of the
situation, sir."


 


*****


 


"Not enough voices. Never enough voices." The litany was taking on the quality
of a religious fervor, for lack of a better analogy. 187 of 230 repeated the
phrase to herself over and over again. She had discovered she could keep a
small part of herself isolated from the others of the sub-collective, and in
this personal space her plan took shape. It was time for action.


Reaching out through the intranets, carefully keeping impulses to the lesser used parts
of the dataspaces, 187 of 230 found the seventeen others whom had once been a
part of the Banshee night shift. Most had been assigned to the engineering
hierarchy, although two were under the command of Weapons, and one reeled
within the odd perceptions of the sensory hierarchy. None of the seventeen had
been completely modified with Borg hardware, but all acknowledged the feeling
of smallness, of artificial isolation.


<< There are not enough voices >> was the consensus of the eighteen, 187 of
230 leading the thoughts of her ex-crewmates. All, working in a mode of oneness
the general sub-collective of Cube #347 seemed unable to achieve, finalized their
plan.


 


*****


 


Species #1 was rare in the contemporary Borg Collective, a relic which had been mostly
replaced thousands of years ago by more efficient sophonts. Some specimens were
still present, but they were the vast minority in a race of trillions. The
Collective as a consciousness had long since grown beyond the ability to be
contained in one race, but the old was a part of the ultimate One to be
achieved, so drones of species #1 were still propagated and used. Captain
himself had never directly seen a member of species #1, nor had any of the
sub-collective of Cube #347, although a racial dossier could be accessed with
ease. It was different seeing the original Borg race in real-time.


The member of species #1 on the viewscreen was nervously flicking his eyes up and
down, taking in the scene of impersonal walkways as he listened to the
Collective Voice feed. The Llarn male, for that was the original special name,
was a typical humanoid in appearance. Aspects of the skeletal structure and
general biology were unusual, but those already known facts could not be seen
from the exterior. Two eyes with vertically slit pale orange pupils, ridged
nose, lipless mouth, no visible external ears, an elongated skull, short black
hair on the head and absent elsewhere succinctly described the individual. Completing
the picture was the black uniform with gray trim, a complicated green and
silver insignia located on the shoulders of both sleeves.


The normal pronouncement of doom had been suppressed in the effort to open
negotiations for parts without the need to alter history. Captain was trying to
pass off the cube as a deep space exploratory vessel in need of repair - half-truths
better than outright lies. The military bureaucrat at the other end was buying
the deception, at least enough to pass the buck higher in the system.


 


*****


 


The course of action was set, command codes readied, critical files and data
branches prepared to be substituted for the originals. Through the preparation <<
There are not enough voices >> echoed in the background like a broken
record. Finally Cube #347 went into orbit around planet #1. Time to act, time
to set things right. Leaping through the ship systems, 187 of 230 and her
comrades took control of transporters.


 


*****


 


Jad sampled the latest mush to come from the replicator, then frowned. "Riley,
this tastes exactly like...nothing."


David nodded, "Yes, sir. It took a lot of work to edit out all the
flavors."


"Why? One might as well be eating a ration bar, except this has the capability to be
spooned instead of gnawed."


"Captain, if there are no flavors, it is possible start from the blank template and
modify the mush exactly, instead of tweaking one widget or another and hoping
what comes out doesn't taste like dog food."


Jad brightened, "So, it might be possible to get something along the lines of
a vanilla shake or chocolate pudding, instead of a paste that has the
distinctive tones of Klingon cuisine?"


David was about to form a defense of his Klingon line of ethnic food replicator
programming when a commotion broke out on the other side of the commons. The
chief engineer shut his mouth and followed Jad's gaze to the multitudes of
green transporter effects which were forming. Cryptically called Dan from his
sitting place nearby where he had been playing a game of Break-Out on a PADD,
"Looks like our number is up; the tool is no longer useful." It
definitely seemed so.


Eight humanoid shapes, curiously lacking in the finished cyborg appearance,
materialized from the beams, grabbing an equal number of stunned crew who had
been gossiping nearby. All eight were roughly injected with assimilation
tubules, then left to slump to the deck. Elsewhere in the land of cubicles, the
shouts and cries of alarm told of similar actions occurring out of direct
sight. The Borg in the common area scattered, searching for more bodies. The
more astute would have realized only members of the engineering night shift
were being targeted, but calm minds was not the order of the day. Useless
phaser fire erupted from various security crew.


A black dog dodged through the melee, heading towards a certain drone. As she
closed, the Borg in question began to sneeze violently, doubling over as it
fended off both excited animal and involuntary coughs. Another Borg turned from
its pursuit of a cowering ensign to boot the dog away. Blackie tumbled across
the deck, rolling to a halt stunned but unharmed. She raised her head and
whined, confusion in her eyes at the betrayal of the one which smelled vaguely
like her Master.


As suddenly as the attack had begun, it ended. The Borg disappeared in a flurry of
green special effects, as did those who had been caught. Silence reined
throughout the large hold, profound quiet broken only by the barking of a pair
of dogs and the angry scream of a parrot.


Jad looked up at the ceiling and shouted, "What the hell did we do wrong? I
thought we had a deal! Captain Borg, are you listening to me?"


 


*****


 


"...Captain Borg, are you listening to me?"


A certain "Captain Borg" was indeed listening, but did not have time to
deal with Vorezze, at least not immediately. Command codes had just swamped the
system, triggering everything from a sensor blackout ({Sensors is blind!} went
the piercing protest through the general intranet) to the mass triggering of
the transporters. It was the last which was the most disturbing, as forty-five
signatures were sent to the planet below, destination unknown. Captain could
not stop the actions, as collateral scrambling of the dataspaces locked his
mind and hierarchy out of the net pathways; the loss of control was only
momentary, but it was long enough. The incoming damage reports to software and
files were disturbing.


The most current representative of species #1 was patiently waiting for a reply to
a question she had asked, something to do with length of stay. Captain hurriedly
sent a reply that technical difficulties demanded immediate attention, and
negotiations would have to wait. The female looked extremely miffed as the
connection was severed. Resultant hails to reinitiate contact were ignored.


The forty-five escapees, eighteen drones assimilated from the Banshee crew and
twenty-seven (probably unwilling) passengers, could not be located. Records for
the termini of the transportation had been corrupted beyond repair and Borg
life signs were drowned to insignificance among the signatures of the billions
of sentients on the planet. The best Captain could do was narrow the beam down
point to a one hundred kilometer radius within a densely populated region. The
link to the drones of the surface remained, but it had been reduced to a mere
carrier wave and, thus, was no use for location. Attempts to widen the link and
make the drones respond were rejected.


A consensus was called, possible actions examined, a tentative solution devised. Captain
disliked the result, but it had the highest probability of success.


The scene in Bulk Cargo Hold #3 was chaotic. The majority of the remaining Banshee
crew were avidly wondering if they were next to be taken. The senior officers
were trying to restore order and discover who had been abducted, except for
Vorezze. The Banshee captain was next to the containment field barring the main
entry to the cargo hold, trying to look into the dark corridors without zapping
himself senseless. Occasionally he would call out for "Captain Borg",
but was otherwise not helping the others of the command staff.


Captain transported himself to the hallway directly outside of Bulk Cargo Hold #3, then
stepped smartly through the barrier. Vorezze's face registered startlement as
his demands were suddenly answered.


"Vorezze, if you do not stop calling me 'Captain Borg', I will assimilate you. The
services we require from your crew will be adequate whether or not you are
among them. This is your final warning."


Jad took a step back, raising his hands as if to ward off an attack. When none was
forthcoming, he replied angrily, "Okay, okay! Whatever you say...Captain. I
want to know why you took a bunch of my people."


"We did not authorize the assimilations," said Captain brusquely as he strode
to the center of the commons. "There has been a change of plans, which
necessitates an alteration in our bargain. You will bring your command staff to
me. Now."


Vorezze's face began to turn red at the order, obviously resenting the words which did
not allow for disagreement. Captain did not care; he was the one in charge of
the situation, he was the one with the responsibility. If it was possible, he
would gladly give the entire mess to Vorezze, if only to observe how long the
Federation captain could retain his sanity. If he was a bit abrupt at the
moment and it offended Vorezze, so be it. The senior officers gathered.


In the circle of calm at the center of a milling mass of stunned people, Captain
addressed Vorezze and his wide-eyed command staff:


"We have a slight problem. It appears 187 of 230, a former member of this Banshee
crew, has gone somewhat insane, infecting seventeen others, also of your
ex-crew. They, and twenty-seven abducted from this cargo hold, have beamed down
to the surface." Captain paused. "And we sort of lost them."


 


----------------


 


Here ends Part Two of "Cube #347's Excellent Adventure". Be sure to continue
reading Part Three and experience the conclusion of the epic.
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Cube #347's Excellent Adventure, Part III


 


*Deja vu: the illusion that one has previously had a given experience

-Webster's New World Dictionary


 


*****


 


In "Cube #347's Excellent Adventure, Part II":

Discovered aboard a Borg cube, the Banshee crew prepared for their demise...but this
particular ship was Cube #347. Stuck in the past - before the rise of the
Collective - due to the actions of the Federationers, Cube #347 offered a
devil's bargain: help us get back to our native time without messing up Borg
history, or be assimilated. The Banshee crew contained in Bulk Cargo Hold #3
accepted the former option. A month of boredom passed. Then, as Cube #347
approached the destination of planet #1, a drone designated 187 of 230 (nee Lieutenant
Carla Franson, ex-engineering night shift) became obsessed by the fact the sub-collective
wasn't as big as it should have been. Now, 187 of 230 and seventeen other
ex-Banshee drones have abducted twenty-seven members of the Federation crew and
beamed to the surface of an unsuspecting planet #1. And Cube #347 has lost
them....


 


*****


 


"...And we sort of lost them." Captain completed his succinct description of the
problem, then waited for the response.


Captain Jad Vorezze was silent, as were the others of the command staff. They appeared
to be trying to wrap their mind around the pronouncement, but were not coming
to grips with the concept. Finally Commander Charlotte Burns, second-in-command
of the Banshee crew, asked, "Lost? How can you 'lose' your own drones? It
is not like Borg are shuttle keys."


Captain sighed. He took a few moments to listen to internal reports and receive updates
from both engineering and sensor hierarchies. "We have not 'lost' them per
se; the escapees are still alive. We know approximately where they are, but we cannot
pinpoint the location. Once we finish negotiations for spare parts with species
#1, we will be sending the Banshee crew to the surface to find the wayward
drones. You will go under the pretense...of shore leave. Is that the correct
term?"


"Leave?" Vorezze had managed to find his voice. "I don't care anything about leave!
I want to know where my crew went!"


Despite the evident downfalls, the rumor of leave was already being whispered within
the lower ranks. From the words, it was obvious 'leave' was far from
irrelevant, momentarily overriding the horror of losing so many crewmates in
the last hour.


"They are not your crew, Vorezze. The probability is high they are now Borg. But they
are not my crew either, which is unsatisfactory. The risk of damage to this
timeline is high, but I still cannot risk sending down the drones of this cube
to rectify the dilemma. Therefore, you will be given the appropriate
communication equipment and weaponry to terminate the problem. One way or
another, all will be finished within ten days."


Captain ignored the protests. "You will prepare yourselves. I have other matters
to attend to before your assistance will be required." Captain transported
away before the expected series of demanding irrelevant questions could begin.


 


*****


 


The new drones could not be fully processed; and the "older" drones
themselves were not "finished." 187 of 230 felt vaguely wrong as she
surveyed the forty-four others busily moving within the warehouse. Despite the
unbalanced mix of drones in bodysuits and those in black Federation Section
Thirty-One uniforms, mottled gray skin and extruded implants indicated the
nanites were doing their programmed job.


187 of 230 had found herself as the "head" of the group, for all that the
term was useless, crafting communally formed directives into specific orders
for action. Far above in orbit, she could feel the distant pulse of the Cube
#347 sub-collective searching for the forty-five on the planet, but she and the
subset of others with hardware-based neural transceivers had narrowed the
bandwidth to its absolute minimum to avoid detection. Severing the connection
was an option, but the action was tantamount to purposefully depriving oneself
of sensory perception; the minds on the cube were comforting, even if they were
distastefully inharmonious. Now, other problems demanded immediate attention.


The warehouse, and several nearby, were the solution. Isolated at the edge of a
military supply base, the buildings housed all the chemicals, inorganic and
organic, and technology needed for survival - once it had been adapted for
proper use, that is. The methods would be crude, but the clock was rapidly
running out to cobble together the machinery for physical regeneration. After
that, the appropriate subspace transceivers could be modified and implanted to
replace the limited organic counterparts built by nanites in the new drones. Later....


The pragmatic memories of Carla Franson, night shift engineer of the Banshee, gave
the following advice: break-down a problem into manageable parts and take it
one step at a time. All the forty-five acknowledged the wisdom. Soon there
would be more voices to fill the silence, but until then survival was
paramount.


 


*****


 


Jad had just dropped into exhausted sleep when he was roughly shaken awake. He
opened one eye to see a blurry form kneeling next to him. The eye closed again
and Jad drew his thin blanket (for comfort, not warmth!) back over his head to block
out the distant overhead lights.


"Go 'way," he mumbled. "That's an order." Jad settled his face back
in the makeshift mess of extra bedding wadded into a vague pillow shape.


"Sir?" The voice belonged to Lieutenant Commander Dan Smith. "I think you better
get up. About thirty Borg have just beamed into the cargo hold, and one of them
is demanding to talk to the 'one who speaks for all', and it ain't that one who
calls himself Captain. Charlotte is trying to BS the drone, but I'm afraid
she's just going to get us all assimilated. I've security ready to stun the
Commander if it looks like she's going to say something stupid."


The sound of several phasers being fired suddenly echoed off the far ceiling.


"Captain?" called Dan again.


"I donna wanna get up. I'm the captain...I donna hafta get up."


"Jad, if you don't get up, friend or no friend, I'm going to drag you kicking and
screaming out to the commons. You can court-marshal me if we ever get back. Get
up."


Jad sighed, reaching blindly for his glasses. Once the spectacles were in place,
the blur resolved itself into the chief of security. Vorezze sighed again, then
sleepily rolled himself to his feet, pausing to straighten his wrinkled shirt. "Maybe
Riley and what remains of his engineering crew can coax coffee-flavored mush
out of that excuse for a replicator. Or at least something with the equivalent
of caffeine in it."


 


This particular Borg reminded Jad of a very large rodent, much like the dormouse
Alice supposedly met when she went to Wonderland in the classic Terran fable. One
got the impression that there used to be fur, as the exposed parts, those not
hidden by typical Borg hardware, seemed "skinny," in a naked mole-rat
sort of way. A pointed snout with twitching nose completed the impression. Jad
noticed that both the drone's hands were outwardly unaltered; the same could be
seen of the other Borg clustered in a group at the center of the commons.


"You are the one that speaks for all. You are Captain Jad Vorezze." The words
were carefully enunciated, although there was an odd feeling that the phrases
could degenerate to baby-talk at any time. Buck teeth did indeed reside in the
mouth, adding to the rodent impression. "We are of the drone maintenance
hierarchy. I am 27 of 27, currently sub-designated Doctor. I am head of this
hierarchy."


Jad eyed the thirty drones, then looked back at Doctor. While most of the Banshee
crew were keeping their distance from the cluster, a few were edging closer in
order to eavesdrop better. One of those was Dr. Liz Lang, hamster Zeke riding
her shoulder as it occasionally made chirping comments. "So? What do you
want? I thought Captain was our liaison."


"Captain is indeed your liaison, but he and many of his hierarchy are very busy at the
moment. We are here to brief you on your task to come, so you better listen
like...." Doctor trailed off, head turning slightly as he caught sight of
Dr. Lang, or more precisely, her hamster. The drone suddenly continued with a
rush of words, "...like good Federation, or you will not get your
treat."


Treat? Huh?


"You will line up your crew in groups of fifteen. We are here to install neural
transceivers. My hierarchy does not often get the pleasure of working with the
unassimilated, but the maintenance bays are more suited to modifying the
original hardware than are those of Assimilation's workshops." The Borg
paused again, attention flicking to Zeke once more. Hands clenched once, twice,
then relaxed. "You will sit, stay, and comply."


Jad hotly replied, "Wait just a minute! We do not want neural transceivers! I
think this crew functions quite fine without them, thank you."


"Bad boy, arguing with your doctor. You have no choice in the matter, so take your
medicine like a good patient. The neural transceivers will keep you in touch
with each of your crew better than your current combadges, and the technology
does not exist to jam the frequencies. In addition, we can monitor your
position on the planet without having to worry about you accidentally losing
the badges." The tone of voice was definitely beginning to sound like a
vet soothing an animal.


"No."


The look Jad received was...odd. He could swear he heard "What a naughty
boy" under the drone's breath.


 


"Ouch! That hurts!" Jad quickly stood from the kneeling position he had been
forced into, tearing away from the drone that had been holding his head so that
the back of his neck was exposed. He could swear the drone was grinning, but a
second glance gave doubt to that brief sighting. Vorezze was left to simply
glare at the two, rubbing the area of irritation at the point skull and neck
met.


Jad shuddered slightly as he sighted Burns acting in a similar manner, for he could
see the piece of hardware which had been "installed" clasped to the
back of her neck. Like a flat spider, or a squashed tick, the implant was had
wormed its "legs" into flesh until it was flush to the skin, gripping
tightly to the vertebral column. He hated to think what might be going on
underneath where he couldn't see, but the pain which had accompanied the
placement gave plenty of nightmares to an overactive imagination.


The back of his neck tingling, Banshee's captain tried to spot the one called
Doctor. "Step away from the hamster, drone-boy, or I'll tear off your leg
and beat you with it." Dr. Lang's hostile voice floated from somewhere to
the right, near the plant. Remembering how the Borg had been distracted by the
sight of the animal, and oddly cryptic warnings by Captain to keep an eye on
the pets, Jad was developing a feeling of foreboding. One last glance at the
not-quite smirking pair of drones, Vorezze walked quickly in the direction of
Liz's threat.


Seeing the approach, Doctor backed away from the miniature Altarian palm, at the base
of which bristled Zeke. Liz was between the drone and the hamster, stance
akimbo, a glare of madness in her eyes. Jad did not give Doctor good odds
should he try to press for the animal: some prizes were not worth the risk. As
to why a Borg should appear to want a hamster, he thought it not wise to ask.


Jad adjusted his glasses. "Okay, you sadistic rat, you've 'installed' your
implant. Now what?"


If Doctor was offended at being called a rat, he did not show it. Insults were
obviously irrelevant. Instead he gave one last (longing?) look at Zeke before
placing his full attention on Jad. Above, the public announcement system
crackled to life with the Collective Voice.


"Banshee crew, you have been outfitted with neural transceivers. They will link you to
each other much more efficiently than your communicators. We will activate the
transceivers in three minutes. At that time, you will be able to talk to each
other simply by thinking the name or group you wish to contact, followed by
subvocalizing the message. There will be a period of adjustment, but it is
calculated to be short.


"In addition, your command staff will be able to directly contact this
sub-collective. If the need is trivial, you will be punished. We will also be
able to issue orders as needed to each of you, and we will monitor all your
conversations. You will not have access to the dataspaces of this
sub-collective, so don't even bother to try."


Doctor spoke, "Does that answer your question? Good boy. Our presence will
continue until the implants are activated, at which time we will make what
adjustments need to be made."


Precisely two minutes, twenty-five seconds later, all members of the Banshee crew fell to
their knees as a burning sensation flooded their sensory perceptions, followed
by an intense headache. The pain quickly disappeared, but most were slow to
regain their feet.


"You want to what?"


"I thought you really just wanted to be friends, and now I learn this?"


"You tapped into the computer set up a sensor feed from my room? And you read my
diary?"


"You want a mouthful, well, I'll give you a mouthful, you pervert!"


All the voices were female, and they all came from women in the vicinity of Ben
Rachow. Ben slipped under a heap of writhing bodies, all of which were
attempting to kick, punch, scratch, or otherwise hurt the helmsman. He could be
seen occasionally in the center of the melee, curled up in a ball, eyes tightly
shut.


{I have terminated Lieutenant Commander Ben Rachow's transceiver signal. He will obviously
detract from efficiency. He is a very naughty boy.} Jad was startled by the
voice, so engrossed was he in watching his officer being beaten to a pulp. Vorezze
yelled for Dan and the other males of security to break up the scuffle
(allowing women with phasers near would not be a good thing, at least not for
Ben), then turned to regard Doctor once more as the latter commented, {Does Ben
Rachow always have these thoughts about copulation?}


Jad winced. "I, um, try to stay as far from Mr. Rachow's thoughts as
possible."


{A wise precaution. He will have to be left on board when the rest of you are sent
to the surface. His link will not be reinitiated.}


"Huh? When is this surface excursion supposed to take place, anyway?" Jad
suddenly realized Doctor had not spoken aloud, although he himself had
responded vocally.


Twitching nose. {You will be told shortly by Captain; he is almost done with his task. Until
then, we will monitor your adjustments elsewhere. Be a good Starfleet and
practice using the transceivers.}


Before Jad could respond, Doctor and the thirty Borg disappeared in transporter beams.
It was only later, after Ben had been somewhat patched up and the women calmed
down (or at least not threatening to mangle various parts of anatomy), that it
was noticed the parrot was missing.


 


*****


 


Captain, with the substantial backup of the command and control and engineering
hierarchies, completed negotiations with the trade representative of species
#1. Ikuli, for that was her name, had authorized a shipment of the components
Cube #347 required to repair the chromaton propagation and containment system.
In return, the cube offered three tons of a refined metalliorganic compound
several experimental industries needed, but had been unable to produce in
required quantities. In parting, limited shore leave was granted for
"crew" to explore the cities of the lesser land mass (Truillan
continent).


{Delta,} spoke Captain into the intranets, searching for the signature of the
engineering head, {begin replication of the compound.}


{The amount required will seriously deplete selected reserves,} returned Delta. She
continued before the obvious could be voiced, {However, no critical systems
will be compromised. Resupply is at our convenience.}


{Good.} A subset of the engineering hierarchy was engaged in estimating the time to
complete the replication task. The compound would be ready for shipment in two
days. All was satisfactory.


Captain turned his mind to other matters, sending his body out of the nodal
intersection to his alcove. As he settled himself into the niche and triggered
the commands to start the regeneration cycle, Doctor's mental signature
requested the opportunity to report on his task.


{Neural transceivers have been altered as per specified and the implants successfully
installed on the Banshee crew. There was some resistance to the idea, but it
was futile. One human had to be removed from the general link, but the loss of
efficiency is negligible.}


Captain cast his mind towards the partition in the communications section of the net
which had been set aside for use by the unassimilated in Bulk Cargo Hold #3. Borg
could go through the firewall at will (although a top-level compulsion had been
placed to keep the unauthorized out), but on the inside, the Federation people
were isolated. Several individuals were tentatively trying the new tech, while
others were attempting to block unwanted "leaks" of their thoughts. Several
hours would be allotted for the Banshee crew to get used to their transceivers;
other tasks had to be completed before they would be needed on the surface.


{Dump all data on the transceiver modifications: I/we want a full report.}


Doctor complied.


It was true, the primary object of the neural transceivers was to act as a more
efficient communicator and transporter link with Cube #347; information had
even been offered that the sub-collective could talk with individuals (and
visa-versa) and exchanges would be monitored. However, that was not the whole
truth. Soon enough the Banshee people would learn about sending images and data
to each other, although without proper processing of nanites and implants the
ability would be, at best, rudimentary. And while Captain could not force
compliance, as he could with other drones on the cube via command codes and
sheer force of will, he could modify behavior if warranted. Microfilaments
emanating from transceiver hardware linked to the pain/pleasure centers of the
brain, which would be sufficient to train the Starfleet, and make sure they
would not try anything sneaky.


The Borg had learned much from the thus-far short resistance period of humanity and
its institutions, enough that Captain was not going to underestimate Vorezze
and his crew. Even if they were obviously not the "best of the best,"
neither was the sub-collective of Cube #347.


{Satisfactory. Your hierarchy will continue to monitor the first hours. Make sure they don't
poke at the transceivers too much.}


Doctor acknowledged the dismissal, mentally fleeing back through the dataspaces for
his own hierarchy. As he left, Captain could feel some hidden facet of
information, but as it did not deal with the immediate task at hand, it was not
important. Still...Captain quickly checked on the interior of Bulk Cargo Hold
#3, noting the hamster was still present. 


Concern dismissed, Captain passed on the bulk of responsibility to Second, allowing his
mentality to aimlessly drift in the busy nets, surrendering to the regeneration
cycle.


 


*****


 


187 of 230 stepped from the alcove as the regeneration cycle completed. The alcove
had had a previous life as a telephone booth, but it served its function
adequately, as did the other jury-rigged alcoves. As the body was directed to
begin soldering and adjustment of stolen computer parts (taken from an
auxiliary warehouse), 187 of 230 was swept more fully into the burgeoning group
mind.


All drones now had proper hardware-based neural transceivers, but thus far that had
been the limit of body modifications. 187 of 230 knew the assimilation and
processing technology on Cube #347 was the end result of nearly eight thousand
years of refinement and perfection, but it was denied to those on the surface. Other
needs took precedence over installing prosthetics; time was of the essence.


Forty-five drones was not much of a base to bring more voices into the empty spaces of the
mind, especially when it could distantly be felt the four thousand on Cube #347
were preparing an offensive to halt the activities. No specifics were
forthcoming, but busy anticipation could be sensed. Still, the greatest weapon
of all, more powerful than phasers, more destructive than mass drivers, more
insidious than a genetically built plague, was at the command of the surface
drones - nanites.


Nanites could turn the tide; nanites would bring more voices, more minds, into the
silence. All else could wait. Already, 187 of 230 was mentally among those -
physically her body continued to refine the regenerative systems - who were
moving under cover of darkness towards the command center of the military
warehouse outpost.


 


*****


 


Weapons openly sneered at the assembled Banshee crew. Their so-called security forces
were no more specialized, mentally or physically, for combat than any other
subset of the group. It did not matter: nearly all would be sent to the
surface, regardless of deficiencies. Time had been needed to build the
appropriate hand weaponry required to deal with the current problem, the
product of which was now neatly lined up on the deck plates. Weapons forged
through the communication firewall, addressing the predominately human
gathering.


{These are your weapons. You will use them to terminate the rogue drones on the
surface. Note that if you formulate any thoughts of using them on those of this
sub-collective, you will find they will not work.}


The most difficult issue with building the weapons was the reality of a drone's
personal shielding. Nanites laminated a biological's internal support structure
with a grid of complicated metallic lattices, which were subsequently powered via
an implanted source of power. Odds were very good that while the drones on the
surface would not have access to technology readily converted into sensory
augmentation and prosthetics, a miniature power source would be easily
obtainable. That, and the collective adaptive potential of the small group,
would render most conventual energy weapons unusable in the face of the Borg's
primary personal defense.


Work-arounds existed, but it would be tactically unsound to give such a weapon to Starfleet.
Primitive projectile weapons, while usable, typically did not have the ability
to stop an oncoming drone efficiently; and it was most difficult to guarantee
they would not be used on the sub-collective units.


The solution was simple, once consensus had been reached in the weapon hierarchy. A
hand-held energy weapon, similar to a phaser, but designed to work in the high
subfractal frequencies. As a fail-safe, the weapons would not fire on drones
emanating a specific series of subspace carrier waves; the necessary chip had
already been implanted in those on the cube.


{You will each take a weapon. Familiarize yourself with it.}


 


Jad shook his head. The thing did not look like any weapon he knew. All technology
of which he was familiar, from ancient six-shooters to modern phasers,
basically had the same form. While the device had a grip, several buttons which
probably functioned as trigger and level settings, and, naturally, a deadly
business end, it still seemed fundamentally different. Perhaps the notion came
because when he handled the weapon, he felt like he was holding a remote
control, which the thing superficially resembled.


As he turned the odd phaser over to look at it from all angles, a mass
of...something intruded into Vorezze's mind. Jad was momentarily stunned by the
wealth of information concerning the use of the weapon; an entire owner's
manual was being unloaded into his brain. When the stream of data came to an
end, he knew exactly how to use the phaser, even though he had never seen it
until ten minutes prior.


{You now know how to operate your weapon. You will beamed to the surface within the
search area in groups of ten; from there you may split up as you decide most
appropriate. The area to examine currently covers twenty kilometers in radius. You
will use your tricorders to scan for Borg life signs. All Borg on the surface
will be eliminated.}


"Captain, what's going on?" asked Ben. He was up and hobbling around, a much more
penitent crewman, but the neural transceiver in his neck had been removed after
the "incident". From his perspective, the cargo hold was eerily
silent as individuals snapped out of a dazed state, blinking as they peered
first at the flat phasers then at each other.


"Instructions," said Jad with resignation. "By the sound of them, we are being treated
like drones, and rather stupid ones at that. They haven't numbered us, at
least."


"I have a question!" called someone in back. In everyone's minds,
instructions continued on. {I...I have a question?} interrupted into Weapons'
monologue.


{That's a good Federation-girl,} sung out the signature of Doctor.


{Quiet, Doctor. The assignment is mine at the moment. Continue Ensign Billie Growner. The
question had better not be irrelevant.}


{Do we have any say who we get sent down with?}


{Your captain will deal with that. I will now finish the instructions.}


"What is going on, sir?" Ben asked again, a note of agitation in his voice. Jad
shushed him. Suddenly the world turned green as a transporter beam caught him
without warning. When it dissipated, he was in Captain's nodal intersection.


Captain immediately began to speak: "You will remain on board and act as
facilitator for your crew. It will be most efficient if you are here with me. As
necessary, you will be sent back to Bulk Cargo Hold #3 for nutrients and rest,
but otherwise you will be here until the situation is resolved."


Jad recovered from the unexpected transport, then responded verbally as that had
been the mode in which he had been addressed. "Do we have any choice in
the matter? I mean, there is very little room for discussion of your plan in
this whole fiasco."


Captain swiveled his head to directly catch Vorezze with a piercing blue stare,
"We can calculate the odds and design a plan much better than you could. And
no, there is no choice...has there ever been a choice? We are under quite a bit
of stress at the moment."


"As if I'm not?" muttered Jad to himself.


{I heard that.} Captain's voice was no less piercing in the mind than his stare. The
drone turned back to the viewscreen. "Make your teams. Discuss for a
consensus with your command staff if necessary. If all is not ready in fifteen
minutes, we will beam your crew down regardless of preferences."


 


*****





Crewmen Smith and Cranitt stopped at a street vendor's cart and pretended to browse the
wares. The Llarn went about their normal business, acting as if two alien
humans in black Starfleet uniforms were a normal sight. Looking down at the
tricorder, as if examining it for a nuance in translation, Smith shook her
head. No Borg in the vicinity.


As the duo walked down the wide boulevard, occasionally rubber-necking as an odd
sight came into view, they held a discussion which was being repeated in some
variation by all the away teams.


"This reminds me a lot of Earth, you know, down in the old sections of Los Angeles or
Orlando," said Cranitt.


"No kidding. Looks just like the touristy neighborhoods near where I grew up. And
these people! If this street was filled with humans instead of Llarn, you would
swear we were back home."


"The Borg claim this is their homeworld, and these people their parent race. Wonder
what happened to turn them so...so...Borg? There is no indication these people
now would want to go out in a galactic quest of assimilation."


"Races change...but in this case it would have to be a one-eighty flip. Here, let me
check the tricorder again."


 


"A sewer?" complained Ensign Yarn to chief engineer Riley. "Why a sewer?
It stinks?"


David suddenly slipped, falling. He stood up, clothes dripping. Fortunately, it
seemed the inhabitants of this planet were a big believer in cleanliness, so
the fragrance did not cling too strongly. "I don't know. Probably the Borg
idea of a joke. Hopefully we won't meet any sewer maintenance."


"I don't see anything on the tricorder. At least nothing that registers as
Borg."


A voice suddenly penetrated the pair's minds; it was Vorezze. {Here...I think
this will work. I've been given a map of your local area. It includes a fairly
rundown military supply base. Could you check it out?} The map poured into
their brains. Although incomplete, it was accurate enough to see it would take
nearly four miles of slogging through the sewer to reach the target.


 


Jad complained, "My head aches. I've been doing this for a long time now,
nothing is happening on the surface, and I need a break."


Captain snorted. "Try doing it for an assimilated lifetime, with four thousand. You
will be allowed six hours for regeneration."


The transporter sent Jad back to the very empty cargo hold. Ben, who had been
sitting near the replicator, playing tug-of-war with the small white dog,
looked up. "It is damn quiet in here. How long you goin' to be
around?"


Shaking his head, Jad replied, "Don't talk to me. I've a headache the size of this
cube. I need to sleep, and I need to sleep now."


"Geesh," muttered Ben as the captain stalked directly for the sleeping cubicles. "You'd
think he was having it hard. I'm the one baby-sitting the animals and stuck
alone in a place large enough to hold a small armada of spaceships with ease. I
wish I knew where the bird went."


 


*****


 


There were now more voices in the silence, more helping to dispel the loneliness. While
one being was small in comparison to the universe, many together could grow as
large as the universe itself. Many could become the universe.


With the knowledge gained through assimilation of the base personnel, scavenging
needed supplies became easier; and a wealth of doors opened with the valuable
information. Still, it was not enough.


187 of 230 was one drone among the twenty who snuck away from the supply base,
heading towards a small suburban community located nearby. An assimilated
member of species #1 drove the large hovercraft; the other nineteen waited
patiently in the covered aft section.


 


*****


 


Lieutenant Commander Dan Smith and a pair of the security crew had been most recently
dumped in a residential neighborhood. The previous day had been a bust; the
four hours allowed to sleep in the cube had not improved Dan's tired state of
mind.


"Sir," said Ensign Hendrick as the three walked down the side of the tree-covered (at
least they looked something like trees, even if the foliage was purple) avenue.


"What?" asked Dan. The houses were rather heavy on the corner motif, looking like
collections of small boxes; black and green appeared to be favorite colors,
although a few were painted a tasteful light gray. Several yards held abandoned
toys and bike-analogues.


"Sir," repeated Hendrick, "it is awful quiet around here."


"The kids are probably in school and the adults at work." With the silence
pointed out, Dan suddenly found it oppressive. He tried to nonchalantly ignore
the creepiness.


"Everyone?" pressed Hendrick.


"Yes, everyone."


Crewman Juviar spoke up, "Lieutenant Commander, I am getting a positive reading on
the tricorder."


Dan reflexively glanced around the insanely quiet neighborhood. "Where?"


Hendrick yelled, "Coming right at us, sir!"


"How would you know? You don't have the tri...."


A figure clothed in black with gray extremities charged through a manicured row
of white-flowered bushes. Movement and visual cues were sufficient to trigger
pseudo-instinctive actions. The Borg dropped to the ground, hit by three
separate phaser blasts.


Hendrick arrived at the prone form first, carefully toeing it before boldly flipping the
body over. His eyes widened. "Hey, I know him! It’s Yeoman Mallory, one of
the night-shift that was abducted!"


 


*****


 


187 of 230 grieved; all of the drones on the surface grieved. 1 of 22 had been
lost, lessening the totality of the voices. His echo lived on, but it was a
poor substitute as potential experiences, potential physical usefulness was
wasted. Still, the termination had not been fruitless: it was now known with
certainty Cube #347 was on the offensive, using the Banshee crew as hounds.


Time was vital! Drones numbers were beginning to build, had now passed the two
hundredth mark, but not all were immediately helpful. While the children would
be beneficial in several years, there was no time to pick and choose only
adults. Still, the small ones with their more dexterous hands could be used to
process the newly assimilated, to build additional subdivisions to the crude
regeneration system. In the end all had their advantages, and, most
importantly, all increased the Whole.


 


*****


 


{We've got to pull back! Drones everywhere! Beam us elsewhere!} The plea for help
echoed in the nets. Jad beseeched Captain to help, but the latter was already
moving the endangered crewmen outside the known area of occupation.


Captain heard Vorezze question David Riley and his partner on their position, which was
very precarious. Currently both were in the middle of the growing hive, camped
atop crates at the highest reaches of a warehouse. The viewscreen showed
skimmed sensory images from Riley. {Turn your head left Lieutenant Commander Riley.
Stop. Hold it there.}


Examining the screen, Captain frowned. At the middle of the slightly shaking view, a
series of transparent pipes stood, glowing green. Many Borg moved about. {You
may move as you wish now.} The sight swiftly became more erratic as the Lieutenant
Commander peered directly down from his position, eyes flicking over the bodies
massed in straight lines, small beings attaching an unseen component to the
back of exposed necks.


"What is it?" asked Vorezze, eyes behind glasses dark with lack of sleep.


"A functioning fusion reactor, much more powerful than anything of comparable size
otherwise available on the planet. The next step will be to use the resultant
energy to jump-start more efficient power sources."


"And below where Dave was just looking?"


"External neural transceiver hardware being installed on newly assimilated drones."


Jad absently reached back to touch the device stuck on the back of his own neck.


"It is not as sophisticated as that aboard this cube, but it functions well
enough." Captain tilted his head slightly as preliminary consensus rang in
from the partitions tasked to create a new containment and termination plan. "We
have altered our strategy." Pause. {All ground teams prepare to be
returned to Cube #347. Orbital bombardment to commence in ten minutes.}


 


*****


 


Cube #347 abruptly dropped into a low orbit, ignoring the protests space-traffic
controllers. The protests became cries of outrage as the cube began to rain
unprovoked torpedo fire onto the surface of the planet.


 


*****


 


It was known the attack would come. Although it was still not possible to gain
specific information from the limited subspace link with the Cube #347sub-collective,
the logic of the situation demanded orbital bombardment. Torpedoes did destroy
the main hive area, but five new concentrations had been rooted over a hundred
kilometers distant.


187 of 230 could feel the elation as thousands of drones busily worked. The sadness
was great over the loss of the hundreds at the original warehouse, but unlike 1
of 22, the sacrifice was planned. Sometimes it was necessary to allow some to
die such that the greater part could live.


Matters of utmost importance still occupied the new sub-collective's survival, but the
danger above now proved to be immediate. A subset of minds reached carefully,
widening the subspace link.


 


*****


 


Several pieces of data struck Captain at once. First, the bombardment was unsuccessful,
as attested to the continued presence of the link with those on the surface. Two,
species #1 was demanding an explanation of the attack, dispatching warships to
enforce the request. And third, those on the ground were now attempting to
formulate counterattack thrusts to gain entry into the dataspaces.


Captain swiftly gave Second the task of dealing with species #1's representative. The
warships were firing as Cube #347 rose to a higher orbit, but the damage was
minimal as shielding adapted. Weapons began to disable and destroy the
attackers, breaking off only when the ships withdrew. As far as the push for
the dataspaces, it was easily diverted, inexperience obvious in the
ground-based minds.


It would take time to create a new consensus on the next series of actions to take.


 


Jad felt like he had barely slept when he was rudely awakened by the alarm. He
sleepily ordered the computer to set the snooze function.


{There is no snooze here. Wake up and eat to finish your inefficient regeneration
cycle. More work is needed to be done.}


Jad attempted to roll over and drop back into sleep, but jumped up as a burst of
pure pain flooded his senses.


{Move it.}


"All right, all right!" Jad tiredly did as he was told, noticing everyone else
in the cargo hold was asleep, even the animals. Probably the plant was getting
a good forty winks as well. The transporter obscured the sight as soon as
Vorezze finished his last bite of oatmeal-flavored mush.


 


Over the next several days, a unit of time which had become quite meaningless as it
came to mean "not asleep," Jad was increasingly forced to coordinate
his crew by himself. Terse instructions from Captain or another drone would
intrude into his mind, and he would then carry them out as best he could. The
one time he had questioned the severe delegation of responsibility, Captain had
responded that "one can choose to serve as a drone or not...either way the
job would be the same." Jad had shut up after that episode.


Captain looked distracted at the moment, staring sightlessly at a point approximately a
meter behind the bulkhead. Coordination needs from the surface was presently
minimal, teams trying to direct native Llarn forces in the methods of dealing
with Borg attacks. Somehow the Borg on the ship had managed to convince the
government to help; and for some reason, Jad was sure the government had
absolutely no idea the beings on the surface and those in the cube were one and
the same.


Jad was tempted to try to eavesdrop on what kept Captain busy, mentally, not with
the Borg hardware. The latter suddenly shifted, blinking the one whole eye and
changing position. Vorezze watched the many-ness drain out of Captain's
slightly glazed sight.


"Report."


"Can't you just do that...." Jad trailed off as he felt extreme annoyance, like
that for a fly that refuses to leave picnickers in peace, being directed at
him. Jad backpedaled before the punishment with his brain's pain center could
be sparked. "Well, not good. Energy weapons, other than those made for us,
are absolutely useless. Other, more primitive, methods can be used, but the
number of drones killed is more than made up by the number of Llarn
assimilated."


"Borg ground assaults are very efficient. As is seen, resistance is futile."


"But you said you didn't want it to succeed!"


"True. But...." Any further comment trailed away as Captain locked into a
motionless stance, eye unfocusing.


"Damn," stated Jad. Dragging, he tried to find the signatures of his command staff,
sending out an inquiry for the most recent depressing report from the front
lines.


 


The attacks to breach the sub-collective's code firewalls had become more intense
as the number of Borg on the surface grew. Experience was still on the side of
Cube #347, but difficulties were mounting. Powerful, the drones on the surface
appeared to be united as One; those on the cube struggled with insidious
quasi-individuality, attempting to submerge into the united defense needed to
keep the assaults at bay.


An extremely small minority was questioning why the sub-collective continued to
resist the growing One at the surface. The voices were abruptly quieted as
Second "reconvinced" the subset of the need to keep the timeline
pure. Deep within, Captain himself wondered at the admittedly insane
resistance: Borg was Borg, no matter the tau shift. The thoughts were suddenly
swept away as another thrust battered against dataspace barriers.


 


*****


 


Tens of millions filled the universe with their minds, but still it was not enough. Billions
yet unassimilated resided on the surface, and hundreds of millions more lived
throughout the system and on colony worlds. Beyond that, other species
inhabited the galaxy, other sentients who must be introduced to the perfection
of a single One working in complete harmony.


187 of 230 knew, as all knew, the gateway to space could be found within the cube
above. No longer an overt danger, the cube itself and its Starfleet tools were
mere annoyances: the One was swiftly growing beyond the bounds of destruction
that was not on the scale of planetary ruin. No, Cube #347 was an opportunity,
not a source of fear.


Reaching up again, 187 of 230 leading the grasp for the heavens, the One altering its
mode of operation. Instead of attack against nearly impenetrable duralloy walls
of code, a gentle whisper was sent searching for cracks in the barrier. <<
Come to Us. Be of Us. Do not resist Us. You are of Us. Be One...be One....
>>


 


*****


 


Weapons was presenting yet another program of containment based on the current
projected scenario of takeover of the lesser continental landmass. Although the
odds were extremely low, it might be possible to counteract adaptation of
native technologies with the superior machinery aboard the cube, halting the
contamination. Captain distantly observed the formulation of the latest plan,
more concerned with monitoring the multiplying attacks to the sub-collective's
solidarity. Increasing resources were required to repulse the assaults and keep
the seething mentalities on the surface out of the local dataspaces.


Then it was too late.


 


*****


 


Jad was busily listening to reports from the surface teams when he noticed the
sudden intensity of quiet. The subspace link continued to relay Charlotte's
words, but it somehow seemed irrelevant. Still present were the underlying
noises of the functioning cube, but the sounds of Borg movement had abruptly
ceased. Jad turned to see what Captain was doing.


Captain was motionless...eerily motionless. He had frozen, unaltered arm caught
mid-gesture as if he were warding off a body blow, supposedly lost instinct
re-emerging under extreme stress. Then the stasis was broken; Captain turned.


"Vorezze, you will halt all activities. The situation has changed greatly. We must allow
the assimilation of the planet to continue. If you recall your teams, We will
permit them to transport back aboard this cube; otherwise their biological
distinctiveness will be added to Our own."


The vocalization was stilted, the pluralities absolute. Jad stared, jaw open.


"Tell your teams to leave, now. We cannot guarantee their safety anywhere but aboard
this cube." Captain's eye was preoccupied, as if he were watching a
distant scene...and the mentalities behind the gaze were more than a few
thousand, many more.


Jad interrupted Charlotte, then mentally switched frequencies to include all for a
general announcement, {All teams, report to beam out areas. If you cannot make
the rendezvous within the next five minutes, then report directly for emergency
evacuation. This is not a drill.} Quiet on the other end of the link. Vorezze
could only imagine the panicked thoughts running through brains as bodies
abruptly aborted their assigned tasks.


"We are bringing up your crew now. They will be returned to Bulk Cargo Hold
#3."


Asked Jad: "What happened? Eight days ago you assured me everything was going to
be okay...and now you have us running for our lives."


Captain shook his head back and forth, as if trying to rid his ears of a noise that
wasn't there. As Jad watched, as he attempted to eavesdrop, Captain became
more...individualistic, although in many respects it seemed as if he were
simply a dog which had been allowed temporary freedom at the end of a very long
leash. The drone stopped his gyrations.


"A critical mass has been achieved. This sub-collective now understands."


"Critical mass of what? And understands what?"


Captain blinked, still somewhat dazed. "All your crew are now on board. They will
be safe."


"Critical mass of what?"


"You are a small being. You would not understand."


"Try me."


"True Oneness depends on a critical mass of sentient minds, just as consciousness
requires a key number of neurons. At some point the sum is greater than the
parts. Where the Greater Consciousness did not exist, now it does. The Borg
exist. Assimilation must continue. Borg must begin the quest for
Perfection."


Jad sucked in his breath, many things suddenly becoming clear. Stunned disbelief
colored his voice, "Don't tell me we are responsible for the Borg."


Captain turned away, regarding his viewscreen. Complex runes Jad had learned to
interpret as numbers flashed in the center of the screen, rapidly becoming
larger. Replied Captain as the line of silvery numerals gained another order of
magnitude, "We have passed the one billionth drone mark." Pause. "And
no, we are not responsible for the existence of the Borg, the Federation
is...you and your Banshee crew to be exact. Ironic, is it not? If you had not
so boldly messed with systems you did not understand, this sub-collective would
not have been sent back in time, and a paradox could have been born. But events
were set into motion, and the eventual outcome will be the assimilation of your
races."


"Hey! We haven't finished our resistance yet. How could you know the future?"


Captain swiveled his head back towards Jad. "You are optimistic in your way, as we
are in ours. I think it would be best if you go back to Bulk Cargo Hold #3. Situations
are unfolding which demand my attention. The drones of this ship are being
ordered by the Queen to begin a program of assimilation of the orbiting
stations. We must comply."


"The Queen? And who is that?"


"The individual history of the Queen is irrelevant, but in this case you might be
interested. Her designation used to be 187 of 230, and before that, Lieutenant
Carla Franson of the Federation starship Banshee." Jad could only stand
speechless as he felt the transporter grab his molecules, sending them to the
other side of Cube #347.


 


*****


 


The chromaton propagation and containment systems were repaired and had successfully
passed tests. After the assimilation of planet #1 and its orbital stations, the
question of spare parts had been moot. Lunar settlements, asteroid colonies,
and scientific outposts still resisted, but the complete securement of the
system was forecast to be complete within three months. No longer directly
needed for conquest, Cube #347 had been allowed to quietly orbit planet #1. It
seemed the Greater Consciousness was as wary in its infancy of assimilation
imperfection as its mature counterpart eight millennium later.


While the archives of Cube #347 were theoretically open to the Collective to gain a
technological jump-start down the road of perfection, Consensus had decided to
deny Itself the information. In fact, out of fear of altering the future
timeline (which would eventually swing in a gigantic closed circle to create
the Borg again), records of the circumstances surrounding the assimilation of
species #1 were deliberately vague. Only technology and data available to
species #1 at the time of assimilation would be adapted for use when the
Collective began to spread into the galaxy.


Captain watched the viewscreen. The shipyards, once known as Farlula Industrial Port,
were being rapidly converted to build cubes. The skeleton of the first one,
extremely crude by later standards, took shape before the drone's watching
eyes. Small, less than an eighth the volume of Cube #347, it nonetheless would
do its designed job as well as any contemporary Battle-class cube - with
efficiency and exacting deadliness.


As the new cube was a shadow of potential, so were the drones of the new
Collective. Concentrating, Captain could feel the mentalities at the other end
of the subspace link, could feel how incomplete they were in comparison to his
own crew...although in an important way, much more finished than any of the
sub-collective of Cube #347 could be. Sure, the drones of species #1 did not
have the extreme hardware modifications which would develop over the next
several thousand years, but they were already fundamentally Borg.


<< Leave now. You will return to the timeline you belong. The reason for Cube
#347's presence is complete and contamination of the tau vector highly probable
if the associated sub-collective remains. >>


Captain acknowledged the dismissal then spun out the proper command codes. Dropping
into high transwarp, Cube #347's month long trek back to a particular system
rich in bolonite ore began.


 


*****


 


"We are back in our native timeline."


Captain had emerged from the bowels of the cube to inform Vorezze and his crew of the
imminent temporal translocation. Jad was in the midst of laundry day, wrapped
in a blanket while he waited for his uniform to slowly dry in the heated sauna
of the cargo bay. Several of the crew had already tried to grab the sheet and
run, but had been unsuccessful against their Betazoid captain.


Jad furrowed his brow, "What?"


"We are back in our native timeline," repeated Captain.


"I thought one had to go screaming around a star at high warp in order to be
thrown through time."


A snort of amusement echoed in Jad's brain; the drone's face remained impassive. "Around
a star? That is an extremely primitive method, not to mention stressful on
hardware and organics alike. When properly executed, time travel is no more
difficult than opening a rip into another reality."


"Um, that's nice, I think." Jad reached out to feel a pant leg, but it was not
sufficiently dry. If he put the trousers on now, it would be very
uncomfortable; on the other hand, a knot of crew, headed by Dr. Lang, were
fixing him with appraising pseudo-secretive glances. "How long till we are
returned to the Alpha quadrant? And for that matter, are we going to be sent
back to the Federation, assuming it can be done?" Jad changed the subject
to one that had been gnawing not only on his consciousness, but was on the
minds of nearly everyone in the cargo hold.


Captain's thoughts turned inwards. "We will be seeing to that matter momentarily. We
have tasks which demand our attention." With that pronouncement, a
transporter beam grabbed the drone. Before he completely dematerialized, a hand
shot out to seize the concealing blanket, which subsequently disappeared in a
display of green sparkles.


Stunned, Jad stood before the howls of delighted laughter.


 


Prank executed with perfection, Captain sent the blanket to the vast replicator
recycling bins, where it would be broken down into its component parts. The
entire idea had come from Commander Burns; and while the sub-collective was
unsure as to the relevance of the bathroom humor, it was amusing to watch the
interplay between members of the Banshee crew. 


Bugs in a jar.


Cube #347 prepared to contact the Greater Consciousness. Although the Banshee crew
had been told they would be returned home, the reality was there a dearth of
computational power and data resources for the magnitude of the problem. Captain
had the distinct feeling Vorezze, Burns, and the rest would shortly be joining
the Collective. At least that would end the questions about a timetable on
removal of the neural transceivers.


Captain sent the protocol requesting assistance while at the same time relaying a
synopsis of the experiences gained by the sub-collective in the subjective past
two and a half months. The attention of the Greater Consciousness turned upon
its outcast part, focusing with the power of tens of trillions of living minds
working as One, not to mention the countless echoes of those long terminated in
the physical universe.


One echo in particular became unusually dominant. Deep within the original matrixes
and computational lattices of planet #1, a sleeping program stirred. Ancient
compulsions of a Queen dead for many a millennium temporarily took control of
the vast network. Although she had only served as the hive's focus for three
hundred forty-seven years (cyborg technology had not been advanced sufficiently
to halt the otherwise inevitable decay of organic brain tissue nor implants
able to usurp normal neural functions), 187 of 230 had left a substantial
imprint to guide the future Collective. One of her many legacies initiated.


The Collective became bound to not only allow the stranded Federation crew continue
to be unassimilated, but to devise a method to send them back to the Banshee. Evidently
a piece of Carla Franson had survived whole enough to repay a curious debt of
gratitude. And thence it was known the first Queen had a touch of assimilation
imperfection; all the more reason to keep future failures away from the Greater
Consciousness.


Captain pulled away as the Collective returned to its busy schedule of research,
manufacturing, assimilation, exploration, war, and so on. Cube #347 now had
their answer and the method to send the Banshee crew home. Of course, if the
Starfleet personnel could not be returned, they would have to be assimilated;
the pragmatic first Queen had not included a year-long trip to the Federation
just for the irrelevant sake of gratitude.


{Banshee crew,} called Captain into the general communication partition set for the
unassimilated, {an attempt will be made to return you to the Alpha quadrant. What
follows is a list of tasks that must be performed by you.} Captain paused as
the list was relayed, then continued on, confusion evident, but unable to
resist the compulsion set. The last input from the Greater Consciousness had
included a peculiar addendum. {And Lieutenant Commander David Riley, there is a
message for you from one Carla Franson. She would like you to know that not
only did she really hate being on night-shift and feels the opportunities of
the universe only opened when she became One with the Borg, but that you are
the most incompetent chief engineer she ever had the misfortune to toil under.}


 


*****


 


Captain Velorn, the Vulcan Section Thirty-One "experience" officer assigned
to the Banshee, sat in the ready room chair. Although he could not admit it to
anyone, not even himself, he was pleased to be in command of a starship again,
even the Banshee with its less than perfect record and crew. Being called
"Captain" once more was very, very satisfying.


Of course, it had only been two days since 175 of the crew, plus several animals
and a plant, had spontaneously disappeared, replaced with piles of rubble
identified as belonging to a bolonite ore asteroid. Tentative analysis of the
quantum signature pointed to an origination in the Delta quadrant, which was
even more puzzling. The mysterious accident had left the Banshee missing a good
portion of her engineering staff, including nearly all of the night-shift, as
well as many of the senior officers.


Admirals of Section Thirty-One were still debating on what action, if any, to take. Until
a decision came in, Banshee had been ordered to remain in the target range
system where events had occurred, taking continuous readings of subspace to
determine if natural phenomena was to blame. Wanting to keep a tidy ship,
Velorn had ordered the rubble to be swept up and placed in a cargo bay. Nearly
twelve tons of useless rock now took up space next to important ship
components.


"Bridge to Captain!" came over the communication systems. The voice was of
Lieutenant Commander Vince DiSanto. As one of the most senior remaining bridge
officers, he had been temporarily promoted to acting second-in-command. Protocol
said Commander Tagel Axik should have that position, but she was completely
distraught over the loss of Vorezze, and refused to come out of her room. Velorn
was seriously contemplating sending the counselor to Axik's quarters, if only
to frighten the Commander to emerge. DiSanto's voice continued, "Could you
come to the bridge, sir? We are picking up some anomalous readings."


"On my way." Yes, the title "Captain" was very nice indeed.


 


"Report," said Velorn as he sat in the command chair. He glared at Lieutenant Carn, who
was tapping his foot to an unheard melody. The android abruptly stopped.


DiSanto: "It started a couple of minutes ago. The sensors have detected an odd
subspace fluctuation in the vicinity. It almost seems intelligent in origin,
except there are no ships in the area except for us."


"Can it be translated, or otherwise rendered intelligible?"


"Yes, sir."


"Then do so. Ensign Yakima, on screen please."


The ensign in question pushed a few buttons on her console. Nothing appeared on the
screen except for static. However, words could be distantly heard beneath the
crackling.


"Clean it up, Ensign." Yakima obliged, and understandable speech came through. It
was the voice of Captain Vorezze.


"...will repeat. This is Federation Captain Jad Vorezze. Banshee, or any other vessel in
the area, if you can hear me, please listen carefully and follow these
instructions to the letter. You must take the bolonite asteroid rock that
arrived on the Federation starship Banshee and subject it to intense
bombardment with the BIC protocol. And this must be done inside the ship. If
the Banshee has left the area, please find her; and if the Banshee is hearing
this message, please do not have dumped that rock. If these instructions are
not carried out perfectly, what's left of us are going to not only be stranded
in the Delta quadrant, but will be assimilated by the Borg as well. This
message will repeat. This is...."


"It repeats, sir," said Yakima.


Velorn sighed...and he had been having such a wonderful time being captain again.


 


*****


 


In anticipation of rescue, the Banshee crew was having their neural transceivers
removed. The process was, if anything, more painful than the installation, at
least the winces and whimpers of those being held still by members of the drone
maintenance proclaimed that fact. However, the smiles of relief when Borg
hardware was removed were very sincere.


If rescue didn't occur...no one wanted to think about that possibility.


Jad had decided to be the last to have his implant removed; it felt like the
captaincy thing to do. The gesture showed he cared more about his crew then
about himself.


{The pain is not that great.}


"Get out of my mind," quietly muttered Jad to himself. As he had long since
discovered, mental discipline or no, there was no way to block the incoming
words from Captain. That particular drone was not physically present, but Jad
knew exactly where in the cube he was located, and only because Captain was
teasing him with a sensory perception which translated to fleeting glances of
an intersection with viewscreen. {I thought the transceivers had been turned
off.} Jad closed his eyes to block the double vision he was processing.


{Yours has not. All the rest have.}


{And what would you know of pain? It is not like you feel it.}


{We feel pain, it is just not relevant beyond an indication that the body has been
damaged.}


Jad opened his eyes into a squint, then fully as it was proved Captain was not
going to mess with his vision at the moment. Shortly the transceiver would be
gone. Steeling himself against the pain to come, Vorezze forced himself to
cross the commons to where the deinstallations on the rest of the crew was
finishing.


 


Jad was being held firmly in a kneeling position by two drones, waiting for a third
to remove the transceiver, when the pair suddenly let go. Green light filled
the cargo bay; as it disappeared, it could be seen all the Borg had been beamed
out. {The Banshee has appropriately responded. Sensors is picking up the
supraspace signature of a blind lambda termini. It is calculated that we must
begin the return procedure now.}


Stumbling to his feet Vorezze began to complain loudly, "But this piece of Borg junk
isn't out of my neck yet!" The words were drowned out by the intercom with
a Collective Voice pronouncement.


"Banshee crew. You are to be returned now. Prepare."


At the same time: {Vorezze. I might add that while I hope we should meet again, I
seriously doubt you would enjoy the situation under which such an encounter
would occur. Protocol engaging. This link is terminated.}


A flash of white illuminated the hold as the BIC protocol was unleashed on
organics who had a short time before ingested small quantities of bolonite (the
asteroids of said ore had been moved to another cargo hold). For the 130
remaining Banshee crew, two dogs, and a hamster, the immediate reality suddenly
wavered out of existence. No one could know what the miniature Altarian palm
felt, but ten years and four ships later, the plant spontaneously turned bright
blue for two months.





*****


 


"Ouch! Get off my hand!"


"Your butt's in my face! And I don't like the view!"


A dog barked, then whined as someone accidentally stepped on its tail.


"Ensign Zeric, your antennae is poking my ear!"


"Zeke? Where are you Zeke? Are you all right?"


"Ben, if that is your hand on my anatomy, you better hope the Borg take you back,
'cause that's the only place you're going to find a limb replacement."


A small green plant fell of the squirming pile of black uniforms, but the pot
miraculously did not shatter. If anyone had been paying attention, one might
have seen the small tendril which pushed the plant back upright from its prone
position.


Jad finally pushed his way to the edge of the heap, discovering that once again,
yes, they were in a cargo hold. However, this bay was a familiar one belonging
on Banshee. Standing up in a knee deep pile of asteroid rubble, Vorezze dusted
himself off.


The doors to the corridor whooshed open, a most comforting sound. Into the hold
charged a group of low-ranking security armed with phaser rifles. A familiar
Vulcan followed behind.


"Velorn!" yelled Jad. "We're back!" He glanced behind at the pile which was
slowly sorting itself out, then reached to feel the back of his neck. His
combadge had been left seventy thousand light years away, and using the implant
was obviously out of the question. Thinking of which.... "Velorn, could
you call Dr. Issac? I've this thing on my neck that I really, really want
removed."


 


*****


 


After such a historic adventure, one which filled the information gaps present at the
conception of the Borg Collective, the emptiness and boredom associated with tracking
species #8511 was a definite let-down. A party was not expected - this wasn't
the Federation, after all - but a return to sniffing a trail gone cold was not
fulfilling either. Once again, the Greater Consciousness left the exiled to
make their lonely way.


The disappearing subspace wake definitely led towards the nebula, a vast stretch of
gas and dust tinged red and purple near stellar nurseries. Boredom. Boredom. Boredom.
Captain absently altered the course in the conduit a few tenths of a degree,
responding to adverse sensory input processed from Sensors and her hierarchy.


Boredom. Boredom. Boredom. Then....


{Something chewed through the optic cabling in subsection 2, submatrix 26. Do you hear me,
Doctor? Something chewed through the cable. And it chewed through duralloy
metal to gain the chance to chew the fiber in the first place.} Delta's
double voice roared in the intranet.


Distantly, the screaming squawk of an avian echoed over the walkways.


'Perhaps boredom is preferable to the alternative,' thought Captain.
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Shades of Gray: The Saga of Watching Paint Dry


 


Somewhere in the multiverses:


"Make me a Pan Galactic Gargle Blaster. It has been one of those centuries."


"Me...with a brain as big the size of the universe, thinking thoughts you can't even begin
to comprehend...."


"Can it, Paranoid Android. I just want my drink. My heads are killing me!"


 


*****


 


A sunny room, window open to the warm afternoon air, blowing diaphanous white
curtains inward on a salt breeze. One corner, an easel, figure behind it madly
painting dabs of gray-blue, capturing the essence of a stormy sea battering at
a pitifully small lifeboat and single occupant.


"Dear," came an unseen voice, female, "the engagement is only an hour away, and
you know it takes twenty minutes to get there by car. You really should get
ready."


"Don't bother me!" The painter added another swirl of foreboding doom to the
churning clouds.


"It is your showing, you know."


"Then they will just have to wait for me, the guest of honor! Creation of the sights
my patrons adore is not a matter of deadlines! When the inspiration
strikes...." A wave curled as deft brush strokes were added, appearing to
rise up hungrily to swamp the raft.


"Honey...."


The painter was in a personal rage, his emotions transferring themselves to canvas,
enhancing the power of the masterpiece in progress. "Why does my work
claim such high prices? Why am I the foremost artist of the century...and
before I've died, mind you? Because of passion! Because of dedication! I
make my own paints, mix the pigments just so, prepare the canvas as per the
old traditions. It is through blood, sweat, tears the pictures flow...the
critics and patrons can bloody well wait half an hour or so."


A patient sigh, as if the outburst was not a new thing. "Very well. I'll
finish getting ready, then call the gallery to tell them we will be a bit
delayed."


"Yes," answered the painter, already immersed in the gloomy prophesy of doom taking
final shape beneath his lithe brush.


 


Assimilation rose out of the memory, a treasure locked deep in his psyche, one of the few
which had not been surrendered to the Greater Consciousness. So much of a prior
life dismissed as irrelevant, except for those few nuggets buried deeply, like
a gnarled tree with ancient roots drilled in rock. Assimilation prodded the
memory again, like he might have once poked a painful tooth or picked at a
scab, savoring every nuance.


He had once been great! A mixer of paints, a mixer of dreams! He could stir the
most brilliant of vermilions, then sift in flecks of pure silver just
so...allowing a painted gown to truly sparkle. An old method, visceral, was oil
on canvas...of ancient lineage when compared to the modern light sculptures,
yet much more powerful to the senses.


Now 13 of 20, Assimilation, was a mixer of nanites, constructor of prosthetics. What
a let down...no wonder he was bored...no wonder he was always depressed. He
accessed another golden memory.


The Collective had attempted in the past, and still tried, to determine the one
common denominator of assimilation imperfection. There was no specific gender
or racial type or civilization which was more likely to produce an imperfect
drone; of course, the low numbers which occurred in comparison to the numbers
of sophonts assimilated meant the sample pool was very small. Still, if the
Collective had bothered to closely examine 13 of 20 of Exploratory-class Cube
#347 before his introduction to Borg life, at least one basis might have been
found. Whereas other imperfect drones had the deciding factor obscured by a
complex facet of personality overlays, the reoccurring theme was strong in a
certain painter of species #5252: a total and absolute belief that the universe
revolves around oneself. Not even the Borg can completely shatter certain
self-delusions.


 


*****


 


"You call this a Pan Galactic Gargle Blaster? It's curdled!"


"I was just trying to explain to the worm in the bottle about...."


"You sobered the thing up long enough for it to suicide, didn't you?"


 


*****


 


The sand was gritty under the figure’s feet, cold waves of winter lapping sedately
on the white shores. The winter storms would come soon, bringing the wailing
howls of wind and gusts of salt-laden spray. Until then, with the passing of
autumn, all of nature was holding its breath, waiting...waiting....


It was times like these the painter looked forward to for his inspiration. The
crowds of summer gone, even the birds flown but for one or two black-hooded
sentinels. A halfway time, caught between ticks of the world's clock. The
artist was alone on his trek; the chattering voices of the modern world would
ruin the solitary hunt for enlightenment.


The air-borne whining, when it was heard, was annoying, sending the few birds
flying skyward. The painter turned, frown on his face, expecting to see a hovercar
of admirers taking illicit photographs; or perhaps an aircraft that had missed
the spaceport twenty kilometers down the coast and was only now managing to
make a turn to reapproach the runway. Both had happened before, although
generally not when he was stretching his legs in a pre-breakfast hike.


The artist only had a few seconds to dodge the incoming shuttlecraft, one nacelle
dark, as it tried to make an emergency landing on the open beach. He was not
successful.


 


Assimilation mixed paint. It was gray. To Assimilation's senses, everything was gray. After
the accident from which he had miraculously survived unscathed but for a broken
leg, the color had leeched out of his world. "Brain damage," the
doctors had said, "affecting the areas which perceive color. We are sorry,
but there is nothing we can do." The end result had been an artist, known
for his subtle use of hue and shading, reduced to a world of monochromatic
blah.


The paint was brushed on the bulkhead, near an alcove (empty) meant for processing
the newly assimilated. Assimilation decided the gray was a cold variation, subtly
accenting the warmer shade that had been applied earlier.


In despair, the lost artist, who would become 13 of 20, fled to the stars, seeking
out the Borg. He had heard the machines could cure his particular blindness,
make him whole. Of course there was the little problem of the payment the Borg
would exact, but...but the world would be full of colors once again.


The Borg took the insane member of species #5252 which sought them out, but the
damage inflicted in the shuttle crash was too old to fix. And as color vision
was not a priority for usefulness, 13 of 20 woke to the Collective to find the
world retained its a gray quality.


There were many shades of gray. Warm grays, frigid grays, violent grays, peaceful
grays...but they were all gray. A depressing color on a cube which was rarely
allowed to process sentients. Assimilation was reduced to watching his latest
creation slowly dry.


Assimilation sighed; his hierarchy sighed, tuned as they were to their head's mental state.


 


*****


 


Here is what the Hitchhiker's Guide to the Galaxy has to say about the Borg:


Borg - Mega type-A personality


 


The Guide goes on to say that not much is truly known about the Borg, mostly
because researchers appointed to the subject tend not to return from
fact-finding assignments. However, as the Borg are confined to a minimum of
multiverse possibilities, the here-and-now of the current reality have no
reason to worry. It should also be noted that when scientists were first trying
out the Infinite Improbability Drive, a future copy of the Guide was found in
which all sentient races had been replaced with numerical designations, and star
systems with attendant planets were long strings of letters and numbers. 


The editors at the time of the most recent publishing of the Guide did not comment,
beyond saying the future was a highly fluid medium. For the most part, the same
editors were too busy packing their towels, changing the batteries in portable
Someone Else's Problem Field generators, and slipping on Peril Sensitive
Sunglasses - it seemed a long vacation was in the works.


 


*****


 


"What are you doing?" asked a female voice. "You never bothered to learn
how to operate that properly."


"I stole this ship in the first place. Of course I can work it!" A pair of
yellow buttons were depressed, followed by a red one.


From the bowels of the ship: "AAAHHHH! The toilets are overflowing again!"


"Well, maybe there are a few things I have trouble with."


A sigh from the first voice, then, "What were you trying to do,
anyway?"


"No one here can make a proper Pan Galactic Gargle Blaster. Marvin's the best, when
he doesn't cause the glass to melt with depression. Ford's passable; and the
monkey-boy I won't let near the alcohol."


"And me?"


"Well...it's a guy thing, you see. Anyway, I thought if I could give the drive a whirl, I
might be able to pick up a decent bartender. Or at least something who was a
better conversationalist than the Paranoid Android."


"Then let me do it. I have a better chance of keeping us in one piece, more or
less."


Pause. "Fine."


"Eddie! Wake up!" The sound of typing on a ship console commenced.


 


*****


 


The paint slowly dried in the humid environment of the cube. Somewhere beyond the
bounds of the hull a fantastic nebula displayed its natural splendor, but it
was unimportant to Assimilation. Oh, he knew what was happening, one could not
block out such knowledge, but purples and reds were not relevant to a brain
that only perceived grays.


Perhaps a bit more of gray variation #173? A fuzzy gray, bridging the sharp edge
between warm and cold...it would have to serve. Assimilation uploaded the
mixing instructions from his personal archives, then replicated the appropriate
ingredients before beaming them directly to Assimilation Workshop #7. 


Just as Assimilation was about to pour a smidgen of gray variation #2 into basic
gray #20, he spontaneously disappeared. The container of gray variation #2 fell
to the ground, splashing paint everywhere.


 


*****


 


In an ocean on an unimportant planet, a small fish suddenly materialized in a
flash of bubbles. It looked around in resignation, not even trying to flee as a
school of similar fish swept past, swimming for their lives from a very large
predator. The last, and first, thought the small brain processed as
tooth-studded jaws closed was "Oh no, not again."


 


*****


 


Assimilation materialized in a world fitting of Escher, clocks drooping over tree limbs and
fence posts. A ticking, more akin to a beating heart, pulsated from every
direction. The sun, also subtly melting, throbbed in time with the sound.


A voice from everywhere, yet nowhere: "Odds are seven hundred eighty-four
million, four thousand, nine hundred ninety-eight to one against and
falling." The distinct impression was female, and human at that, although
there was no way to confirm. Suddenly Assimilation's world view altered.


The new world was equally strange, although in differing ways. A gigantic penguin
with glasses waddled on a beach of freezing sand, sporting a shirt which read
"Save the Androids". As Assimilation watched, the penguin fell apart,
only to be reassembled as a waiter holding a plate of melting prawn tails.


"Odds are five hundred million, sixty-four thousand, three hundred twenty-nine to one
against and falling," stated the feminine voice again.


The prawns exploded into a flare of (grey) technicolored light, complete with
fireworks. As the pale smoke cleared, Assimilation found himself encased head
to toe in cherry jello. Struggling was useless, as it only set the stuff to
jiggling. "I say," said a nearby marshmallow, "just sit back and
relax. It's all froody, unless a giant spoon is around." Assimilation
struggled harder.


"Odds are eight million, two hundred thirty-eight thousand, fifty-one against and
falling. And stop giving the fellow a hard time."


The marshmallow rolled eyes it didn't have. The jello spontaneously dissolved,
pouring away like water. A gigantic white dragon with sport-coat and pocket
watch landed nearby, muttering something about being late before disappearing
into a gold-lined cave. A flower shook itself, "Didn't we see that dragon
before?" "Nonsense monkey-boy," replied a two-headed walrus,
"it's just a figment of your unevolved imagination."


"Odds are nine hundred twenty-three thousand, nine hundred sixty-four to one against
and falling."


The scene continued to change in bewildering manner, but a reoccurring theme was
the presence of several bantering objects. The female voice continued to relate
probabilities until:


"Odds are five to one against, two to one...normality. I repeat, we have achieved
normality."


Normality was a obviously relative term.


 


Zaphod Beeblebrox had two heads, three arms, and dressed in a tasteless matter...which
was apparent even in a world of gray hues. Both Trillian and Arthur Dent were
human, but while the former was almost a perfect specimen of her species, the
latter was unexcitingly normal. The last, Ford Prefect, was an average humanoid
from the vicinity of Betelgeuse; he sported a peculiar satchel, out of which
poked the corner of an old towel.


Assimilation was not only not in the Delta quadrant, he wasn't in his own reality. In fact,
he didn't recognize the universe at all, other than the knowledge the Borg
didn't exist here. That last realization, while uncomfortable, was not
disastrous.


Zaphod led Assimilation down a maze of hallways and rooms, trailed by the other three
"crew." Every time they went through a door, it would whoosh open and
say something cheerful like "I open just for you!" It was highly
annoying. After the forth repetition, Zaphod yelled at the door to shut up,
then continued his conversation.


"So...you say you are a Borg, yes?"


"Yes, we are Borg." Assimilation had slipped into a plural mode, just in case
word of this little side trip got back to the Public Relations department. "This
drone is designated 13 of 20."


"Not an exciting name, but since I have no idea what a Borg is, I suppose it might
be perfectly normal, like Graaaachyt. I think half the people I know back home
are Graaaachyt. And do you have to continue talking like that?"


"Like what?"


"Never mind."


The group took an elevator to a lower deck, then passed through another smugly
happy door. The room was fairly large, painted a bright white, and had a number
of billiard tables and pub games scattered about. A dart board hung on one
wall, surrounded by a myriad of small holes. Along the far side, running the
length of the room, was a bar with all matter of bottles behind. "Here we
go. Now, the important question is, can you mix drinks?"


"No."


Zaphod turned on head to glare at Trillian, who shrugged. Arthur was at the end of the
bar, arguing with a small machine, and Ford had begun to toss darts, missing
more often than scoring.


"Can you mix anything?"


Pride caused Assimilation to answer, "We can mix anything. It is our job on Cube
#347, to mix nanites."


"Fine, fine. Then let me give you a quick tour."


A dart glanced off of the bar, sticking in Assimilation's body suit. Called Ford,
"Oops! Sorry!"


 


*****


 


Marvin, robot, found himself sprawled on deck plates, one foot stuck in a can of gray
paint. The air was warm and the humidity high - the perfect ingredients for a
thick coat of rust. He did not know how he arrived on the strange ship, but it
probably had something to do with the Heart of Gold and her Infinite
Improbability Drive.


A sigh. It was now obvious where he was. It had taken a whole two seconds to
process the available information...an eternity for a mind as large as his. The
conjectures had been diverting for a microsecond or two, but in the end it was
not enough.


Marvin picked himself off the deck, turning around until he spotted a data port. With
an extended index finger he plugged his mind into the local computer, listening
as the excited conjectures of hundreds of voices discussed where an individual
by the name of Assimilation had suddenly disappeared.


Perhaps the Borg would be available for an entertaining and enlightening talk.


 


*****


 


Assimilation stood at the business side of the wet bar, looking at the wide variety of
liquors from hundreds of planets. There were concoctions fermented not just
from vegetable bases, but petroleum, animal, and in one case, the sweat of the
recently extinct Quazzlecod Beast of Rillon IV. Zaphod was explaining how to
mix a Pan Galactic Gargle Blaster.


"...and then you lightly swirl the ingredients together. Top it off with a paper
umbrella and an olive, and the drink is complete. Of course the umbrella
usually catches on fire and the olive dissolves, but hey, who am I to argue
with genius."


Most of the bottles (and cans and jugs and very small jars) were labeled in a
variety of languages, very few Assimilation recognized without the help of
Collective files. He suspected that even if the other minds of Cube #347 were
accessible, the words would continue to be unknowable. Other liquors had no
labels at all.


"We don't understand."


"Go on...give it a whirl. Making a Pan Galactic Gargle Blaster is as simple as
mixing clear, yellow, blue, and purple. You're supposed to be the best the
multiverses have to offer, even if you've never made a drink in your existence,
so, let's see some action!"


 


"This is the worst Blaster I have ever tasted. The monkey-boy could do
better!"


"Thank you, I think," said Arthur from a safe place at the other side of the
room. He was sipping a cup of liquid almost, but not quite, entirely unlike
tea.


Zaphod ignored Arthur's words as he advanced on Assimilation. "I told you exactly
how to make this drink. For goodness sake, the proper bottles are even
color-coded!"


Assimilation blinked. "There is one problem that we never informed you of, which
is...."


Interrupted Zaphod, "Problem? Why didn't you tell me there was a problem?"


"...which is this drone is color-blind."


Silence. "Color-blind?"


"Everything looks gray to us. This drone was once a premier painter, able to mix near one
hundred separate shades of blue, but now all is quite monochromatic."


"Color-blind?" Zaphod seemed to be having trouble getting his minds around the concept. He
abruptly turned and shouted, "EDDIE! TRILLIAN! I need to have a little
talk with you two!"


 


*****


 


"...and then Zaphod one day had the nerve to tell me, a being with a mind vastly more
complicated than his could ever be, that the band Mega-Death was the answer for
my aches and pains. 'Clear you right out. Listened to it once when my sinuses
were backed up, and next thing you know, after I woke up from the coma, I
didn't have to worry about post-nasal drip anymore. Of course, the inside of my
nostrils were cauterized, but no more mucus either.' Those were his exact
words. I should know, as I have perfect memory as well.


"Speaking of perfect memory...." Marvin's monotone rendition suddenly halted as he
disappeared as abruptly as he had arrived. A quick peek in Assimilation
Workshop #7 would have revealed a can of paint on its side slowly rotating and
several gray footprints.


Cube #347 didn't have the time for internal sensor sweeps: the sub-collective was
too busy powering down the self-destruct mechanism. Consensus had indicated
that was the only feasible solution to escape the deep, deep depression Marvin
had levied on the cube.


 


*****


 


The gray paint slowly dried on its gray backdrop of bulkhead. Although Assimilation
still had no clear reason for his abduction for those several very confusing
hours, the hails upon his return to Cube #347 were nothing short of desperate
mania. A short time after that, the typical boring routine of nothingness had
set in with a vengeance. 


It seemed the sub-collective had learned the difference between routine depression
and suicidal impulse. Assimilation felt he had to meet this "Marvin"
one day, a being which made drying paint look like a riotous day at the
carnival.


 


*****


 


"Welcome back Marvin. Now make me a Pan Galactic Gargle Blaster, but don't melt the
glass this time. Also, if you speak in plurals at any time, I shall be forced
to dismantle you with a rusty screwdriver."
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Borg Scratch Fever


 


At the scale of the very small, fine hairs are insurmountable obstacles,
biological cells are enormously large industrial centers, and even the dipole
moment of a water molecule becomes a force of opposition. Of all the sciences
the Borg are proficient in, nanoengineering is the most highly refined. When
machines are the size of cells and smaller, conventual engineering breaks down;
"smart" ceramometallics and specially "bred" crystals
create a chassis and simple brain to act in concert with artificial instinct. Like
the Borg, a single nanoprobe alone is meaningless; but power comes in
numbers...and together anything is possible.


Army ants on the march through the jungle - don't get in the way.


Individually, nanites are vulnerable to a variety of dangers: radiation, wear and tear, the
squeezing grasp of the folds of a protein. The machine may be sundered, but the
parts will be scavenged by others and fed to the cells of the host which have
been recruited to build more nanites. Production easily keep pace with daily
destruction.


And what of those biological-based industrial complexes? Usually manufacturing
products from peptides to enzymes, the artificial chromosome introduced at
assimilation to selected targets is the blueprint for the nanomachines,
directing the building in a rhythm as old as the universe's eldest cell. For
the Borg are also the masters of genetics, or at least highly focused on a
certain aspect of the science, creating several master strands of DNA (or its
analogue) which are as self-repairing as the original template, and as highly
malicious as a virus. A virus, though, is a primitive prototype of cellular
hijacking when compared to the masterpiece of Borg ingenuity.


And what happens if the biological base of programmed-instinct nanoprobes becomes
dysfunctional? Do not ask, for the answer is irrelevant. It cannot happen. The
Borg are perfect in every way.


Resonating for the briefest of moments at an exceedingly rare combination of subspace
frequencies, a bond breaks, an atom shifts, a structure subtly alters, an event
cascades. Never say never; there is no such thing as impossible.


 


*****


 


##Two time cycles prior to the present:##


 


{Andthenandthenthespongebecomesthecenterofrealityasitscrystalsofpureenjoymentsoakintothebrain....}


2 of 20 was in the midst of a "manic moment," and the end did not
appear to be in immediate sight. The rapidly spoken words, no pause evident in
what was essentially a stream of consciousness given verbal form, echoed
through the dataspaces. The current topic, one often focused upon, was a clade
of hallucinogenic sponge with the common name “G’floo!”. Manic moments were
normally short in duration...but not this time.


When the drone in question had been assimilated many decades prior, there had been
enough narcotics in his system to give the entire Collective flashbacks several
months. His brain structure had been permanently altered due to imbibing pretty
much everything; and even forced detoxification by nanoprobes could not completely
repair everything. Highs were no longer possible, but that did not stop 2 of 20
from relating all his experiences.


{...theG'floo!shouldbepurplewhenripe.Don'ttaketheredonesor...}


It was a widely held belief that 2 of 20 was the only being on board who could understand
raw data from Sensors when the latter had tuned the grid to the nonstandard
configurations she found most useful. Sensors objected, primarily on the
grounds that she herself had trouble understanding 2 of 20.


.{..noworangeG'floo!,ifonecanfindit,isthemostdesirable...}


Captain could not stand it anymore. {SHUT UP!} He was ignored. Grumbling, he checked
the status of Doctor, who was currently in a regeneration cycle. Captain rudely
awakened the head of the personal maintenance hierarchy.


{I haven't done anything! There's no one on the docket! The tasks of this
hierarchy are caught up on!} The protests were automatic as Doctor's
consciousness distanced itself from the dataspaces, more firmly rooting itself
in its native body.


{I don't care,} answered Captain. {I need your help to send 2 of 20 to sleep.}


A relieved answer: {Oh.}


Unfortunately, after several minutes of increasingly complex and forceful command lines to
send 2 of 20 into a compelled regenerative cycle, it became apparent the latter
was not responding. One string of code not only did not work, it bounced
erratically into the propulsion pathways, causing the cube to drop abruptly out
of transwarp. Sensors immediately began to complain as the grid backlash
affected her hierarchy, followed by Delta as the hours she had spent tuning the
main core suddenly became meaningless.


Captain reviewed the internal lattices...all appeared intact. Appeared was the
operative word. A schematic of alcove assignments was loaded, and then: {76 of
212, you have the alcove next to 2 of 20.}


76 of 212, of the weapons hierarchy, winced. {Yes. Don't remind me. He not only
spouts that junk in the intranets, but mutters it aloud as well. Want to listen
about the merits of G'floo! in stereo?}


{No.} The thought was painful enough. How 2 of 20 became assigned to the Group of 20,
those that rotated as Assimilation head, was not fully understood. It seemed
all of the Group had one or another mental issues. {Look at 2 of 20's alcove. I
want to see if he has done anything to it.}


Captain altered his point of view to piggy back on 76 of 212's perceptions. The scene
tilted as the latter drone leaned out of his alcove to view his neighbor. Although
the lights were of the standard dim condition, it was obvious that 2 of 20 had
very much altered the feed from the tertiary distribution node which was
located directly above his alcove. Various data filters were hooked in serial
fashion, neatly blocking any attempts to end his diatribe.


{76 of 212, remove that hardware.}


A prosthetic arm reached out to catch several cables, sawing through the optics. More
insulated wires dangled higher, and as 76 of 212 reached up with both limbs to
catch them, 2 of 20 abruptly halted his tuneless rendition of "An Ode to
Purple Fluthi Spores".


"Hey!Stopthat!" 2 of 20 disengaged from his alcove, stepping out to defend his work.


"You've told me about G'floo! for the last time," 76 of 212's voice spat back. A
great majority of the cube had halted their activities to watch the unfolding
drama.


"Stopitthismoment!" A pale hand reached forwards, hesitated, then scratched at 76 of 212's hand in
passing as it missed a futile grab at the filters. The damage was mere
annoyance which healed as fast as it formed. 76 of 212 yanked the last of the
cable from the node, raining it down onto the catwalk with a satisfying
clatter.


Captain yessed, swiftly directing Doctor to engage the appropriate command codes. In
the vision of 76 of 212, 2 of 20 suddenly went stiff as his eye glazed. The
drone turned mechanically, stepped up and back into his alcove, and could finally
be felt melding his consciousness at a deep level with the sub-collective.


{Show's over, get back to your duties,} informed Captain within the general intranet. A
quick flick of the mind, and Cube #347 surged back into transwarp.


 


*****


 


Viruses come in many clades - organic, computer, free-energy, memic, and mech are the
most common. If an organism, by whatever loose definition, exists, some
parasite will take advantage of the opportunity presented. And for all their
potential virulence, viruses are rather picky beasts.


It is exceedingly rare for a virus to jump species, much less clades. Tinkering
with genes (or other inheritance factors) may allow for increased potential of
trans-species infection, but again, the basic virus clans are fairly static. Unfortunately,
the Borg, because of their "multi-faceted" nature, have to routinely
deal with attackers from the families of computer and organic. Needless to say,
virus protection is a major expenditure of effort.


Mech-based viruses, despite the seeming attraction, don't affect the Borg. The parasite
requires a constantly stimulated environment in which to hide its trinary
digital code from its host's hunter-seeker immune programs. As the mech species
tend to house each individual personality in a chassis, they are as tied to
their bodies as much as any human. They are their chassis, be it courier,
bulldozer, or industrial asteroid miner. The Borg, on the other hand, can and
will eliminate those bodies (or cubes or planets) that become infected with
viruses that cannot be purged. Therefore, any malevolent mech infection, could
it exist in what was fundamentally an alien environment, would not survive to
reproduce and spread.


For those viruses which are potentially hostile, strong genetic systems and nanites
which physically attack an intruder are sufficient deterrents against the
biological; and sophisticated software guards pathways from computer-based
corruption.


 


*****


 


##Random memes one time cycle prior to the present:##


 


{Sorry,} said 76 of 212, {I did not mean to damage you.}


 211 of 240 looked along the distance of her arm to the drone grasping her wrist,
then out at a starfield severely distorted by passage through transwarp. Conversation
was within the intranet, vacuum a poor conductor of spoken words. {An epidermal
rip is nothing. Nothing. I just want to make contact with the hull. Now.} She
was subsequently reeled in and spun about until she made magnetic contact with
both feet. The dull "clump" of the active implants in her soles under
body armor was welcome.


Repeated 76 of 212, {Sorry.}


{Sorry? You almost push me off into oblivion and all you can say is sorry? However, I
am relieved to have a steady footing.} Pause. {Delta knows the situation, but
we are to continue.}


{I know. I can hear the orders too, you know.}


Muttered 211 of 240, {This hierarchy exchange program is not working. I prefer boredom
to working with drones not specialized for the task.}


76 of 240 and 211 of 240 continued their assignment of rebuilding a malfunctioning
sensor array. The conduit overhead shimmered with flickering blues and greens,
tinged with purple streaks.


 


211 of 240: "Load me up with struts."


As the drone turned her back to present her carry-all harness to 53 of 240, the
latter began to heft the two meter duralloy lengths of metal from the stack along
one side of Bulk Cargo Hold #2. 53 of 240 fit the first, then the second strut
into the harness. 211 of 240 abruptly turned.


"Look what you did!" complained 53 of 240, holding up one of her non-prosthetic
limbs. A ragged tear swept from secondary elbow to wrist. "Any deeper, and
some of the servo-motor implants might have been damaged; and then I would have
needed to schedule with Doctor."


"Maybe I should trim the claws on this hand." A pause to examine rather wicked
looking cuticles. "Anyway, I want you to load me with a pair of the one
meter lengths as well because 76 of 212 indicates they would be useful."


 


"Be more careful next time," stated Delta Body B, indicating the already
fading trail of nail marks along one arm.


159 of 230 sent an assent as he transported elsewhere in the cube.


 


Doctor, optic implant on maximum magnification, peered in the deep leg wound. The tear
went not only through the armor, but into muscle, severing several high-tensile
tendons. They would have to be replaced.


"And how did this happen, exactly?" Doctor turned to dig through a standing
cabinet of tools, finally finding the pair of laser scalpels he wanted.


429 of 510, paralyzed neck down on the maintenance table so that accidentally
activated implants or assemblies would not move its body out of preferred
alignment, began to answer, "You see..."


Doctor watched the series of events replay as he leaned over the damaged leg, deciding
which biological and mechanical connections to sever first in order to reach
the target tendon insertion points. "You know the rules. No jhad-ball
allowed in the slush-tank or scrap holds. You are fortunate the tackle by 177
of 510 did not do further damage. With his elbow spikes and ankle spurs, he
should have been assigned to the weapon hierarchy, not sensors."


The drone on the operating table did not comment.


"Now, be a good drone. This may tingle a bit when I remove the nerves. If you are
still, I'll see about replacing them with some nice monofilament
silicorganics."


"Not like I can do anything else, Doctor. You have immobilized me."


 


*****


 


A mech virus hid in the constantly stimulated organic pathways of 2 of 20. Normally
a biological brain could not support a mech virus, but long-ago drugs had made
such a hash of neural activity that such an infection could hide...not
replicate, but survive.


The virus had found refuge among the nanites of the Borg's body, leaping randomly
from miniature machine to miniature machine as they were internally recycled,
siphoning power from erratically firing neurons. Despite the quasi-silicorganic
host shells and the biologic electrical activity of the metahost which hid its
presence, the virus was slowly dying. Bit by bit the original nanites it had
infected when seeking shelter from an otherwise lethal environment were
replaced, and the new ones inaccessible. Then something changed.


A new flavor of nanoprobes could be tasted, ones slightly different from the
original. The new machines were open to infection...were open to serve as hosts
for an expansion of the virus' matrix. The nanites were few, it was true, but a
long history of "natural selection" had installed many if/then
pathways within the digital processes of the rogue bit of mech
quasi-personality.


Instinct pushed for survival; the conditions were allowable for reproduction to
commence.


 


*****


 


##Current time cycle, twelve hours before present:##


 


Efficiency was down. Delta was not pleased. The maintenance schedule called for assessment
of the ten auxiliary cores. One at a time they were powered to full operating
potential, then allowed to assume function of the main core in a simulated loss
of the primary propulsion system. It made passage through the conduit bumpy at
times, but any damage, such as sheering of the occasional antennae cluster, was
inconsequential.


The process was occurring at a pace slower than normal. Nine hours per core was
acceptable, with six hours at full energy output, and the remaining three
allotted to replacement of assemblies operating in a less than optimal fashion.
The fifth auxiliary core evaluation was in progress, with the overall average
pegged at twelve hours per test. Oddly, the first two cores had been completed
at the expected pace; the others were taking increasingly longer.


It was not acceptable...not acceptable at all. Not even for Cube #347’s imperfect
status.


Delta experienced an odd flash from her B body, as if she was about to lose contact
with herself. There were no similes, no metaphors for the feeling; she was
two bodies, one mind...Delta could no more contemplate not being housed in
two places at once than a non-Borg individual could actively plan walking about
without a head. Part of herself felt normal, the other part was
"fuzzy." As diagnostics of Body B were unproductive, she sent that part
of herself back to her alcove for regeneration.


Along the way, B body ran into several walls. It was quite embarrassing.


 


5 of 19 felt pleased for no apparent reason. He just did. The room spun
pleasantly before his trinocular vision, bulkheads and displays blurring for
scant moments before snapping back into crystal clarity. 56 of 240 tripped
nearby, falling in a heap. 5 of 19 began to giggle.


Borg do not giggle.


Thirteen of the eighteen engineering hierarchy who were working on Auxiliary Core #5
broke into hysterical laughter. The remaining five looked at each other, then
at the chortling drones. As one they called to drone maintenance to report a
serious problem.


 


Captain intercepted another group of rogue command codes from within his hierarchy. The
cube performed a half spin before the momentum could be halted. While Second
viciously tracked down and cut the instigators out of the pathways (emergency
stasis code to send the drones into regeneration), Captain rotated the ship to
present a flat face to the direction of travel.


The number of unexpected commands to propulsion - not to mention systems under
primary control of the other hierarchies - were growing. Two instances of a
shift in heading, one change in conduit velocity, and five cube axis
adjustments had occurred in the last several hours. Something was wrong; the
sub-collective, despite its inefficiencies, did not experience such high levels
of unedited impulses being translated into action. Captain created a
multi-hierarchy list of mental signatures thus far unaffected, then tasked them
to determine what the hell was happening.


 


*****


 


Once established, a virus must spread, of which there are many methods. The most
successful biological variants might induce mucus secretions, causing the host
to sneeze or cough; or, alternately, the production of metabolic poisons by the
host's own cells will alter behavior to facilitate transmission. Other clades
perform similar modifications, all in the name of evolution and survival.


The mech virus was no different. The host nanites proved to be very adaptable, much
like the subconscious processes of a compromised mech chassis. Reproductions of
the virus' matrix were bundled into the nanoprobes normal operating system. While
active virus programs circulated in blood and crawled among neurons, dormant
copies in their nanite shells were sequestered at the surface of the skin. When
the pathways registering the approach of another biological became active, when
specific motor neurons began to fire, it was a simple action to initiate a
secondary action of flexing the end of the manipulatory appendage, consequently
passing on the senescent packages.


Of course, for what is a fairly radical alteration in behavior on the scale of the
metahost, there are bound to be complications...side-effects.


 


*****


 


##Now:##


 


Captain completed the lock-out of transporters, despite the hue and cry. Inappropriate
use of the system, most notable the flaming bags of replicated novelty
explosives, had prompted the action. The ceiling and one bulkhead of Captain's local
nodal intersection was now decorated with a sticky yellow substance, although
he himself had managed to avoid the material; his alcove down the tier was
another story. Drones would have to walk between locations, or petition a
subgroup of twenty in the command and control hierarchy for transporter access.


Next on the agenda: {Report!} This demand was sent to the partition contemplating
the increasing degradation of inhibition among the ranks.


Responded 15 of 133, who had figuratively drawn the short straw for spokesdrone, {A
correlation had been completed of the underlying similarity of mental processes
to archival records. The state is similar to the inebriation experienced by
most species after consuming quantities of fermented beverages, certain
drugs...}


Captain interrupted, {You mean the affected drones are all drunk.}


{Yes. You could say that,} said 15 of 133, {except that such substances do not affect
the Borg.}


The general subconscious of Cube #347 whispered a fluid, and valid, fear. Virus. New
virus. Captain swiftly diverted additional resources into a diagnostic of all
computational and biological components of the cube.


 


*****


 


One must understand, for all its sophistication, viruses of any clade do not have
intelligence, only the appropriate instincts. For some, the instinct is the
cascade of enzymes and proteins along a strand of genetic material, responding
to exterior stimuli. For others, ones and zeros encode an eerily similar execution
despite the vast differences in basic evolution. By such definition, some
species even designate Borg nanoprobes as a type of hybrid virus.


Some behaviors appear mysterious in its origination, at least at first glance. An
action taken out of context, especially a latent one which seems to otherwise
be extraneous to survival, may have a relevant history. The mutations which
could respond to a novel stimulus - a new drug, a revised hunter-seeker
protocol - survived. Shuffled into storage, the behavior may later be reused,
or adapted to a previously unencountered situation.


Instinct can be extraordinarily complex. In fact, some civilizations debate to this day
about their own species: how much of their own responses are due to genetics
(or other) and how much to an actively knowing and participating consciousness.


 


*****


 


The consensus was clear - the virus was neither organic nor computer, it was mech. And
as the only recent contact had been with a GPS courier of mech species #3, it
was not too difficult to extrapolate where the infection originated. Still, confusion
remained, conviction that such a virus clade was supposed to be unable to
affect the Borg difficult to shake. In response, the Greater Consciousness had
effectively severed contact with its wayward sub-collective. While the protocol
was designed to limit infection if the method of transmission was via virtual
interactions, the blocking of informational resources had the consequence of
slowing the search for a cure.


The hierarchies of Assimilation and Doctor and Weapons conferred, loading relevant
files of nanite engineering and viruses into active memory. It was not enough. Both
sensory and engineering were recruited into the expanding search for a cure,
the former supplying detailed information on the radiation thus encountered in
the nebula, the latter for what effects, if any, such energy might have on Borg
hardware. The consolidating outcome was not cheery.


{Thith ith highly in-in-inefficient.} Delta spat out the last thought into the
dataspace. Body B had been affected by the virus, and while Delta as a whole
could still function, her half-drunken state was quite noticeable.


Captain had dedicated command and control processes to the hunt to find the original
carrier, the drone who had harbored the virus in the months since the incident
with the GPS mech. Careful appraisal of infected drones in the intranets
demonstrated the virus to be spread physically, not as a Trojan horse amongst
routinely swapped files. By tracking incidents of breakdown in self-editing of
personal impulses, crosslinked with sifting vast quantities of stored memory to
determine who had contact with whom over the last three cycles, the answer for
one conundrum was finally forthcoming. 2 of 20 appeared to be Cube #347's
version of Typhoid Mary.


Captain ordered 2 of 20, who continued to be outwardly unaffected by the virus, to
report to Doctor. It was time to bend all of Cube #347's limited resources to
the task of developing a method to halt the virus, hopefully before it escaped
the limitation of spread by physical contact, jumping into the dataspaces. Viruses,
of whatever clade, by their very nature had an uncomfortable ability to mutate.


 


The complete technical report poured forth, the sub-collective of Cube #347 talking
to itself in its singular way. Sensors began:


{Sensors [observes] a unique radiation present in this nebula. It resembles eta
radiation, but with a polarized moment in the secondary sub-harmonic frequency.
Sensors would have missed it altogether if this [scene] had not [popped up]. The
[taste] of this nebula is quite complex, and the specific undertone one of
many. Only the sensitive [palette] of Sensors is sufficient for the task.}


Captain snorted, {Enough boasting. It is irrelevant. Delta, enunciate the importance
behind the radiation.}


Delta swiftly ordered the information as best as possible, stopping a subpart of
herself which had the notion to erase carefully derived theories which had
taken much processing time by her hierarchy to compile. {Thith whole nebula ith
su...su...covered with the fluctuating sub-harmonics. The polarization is
sufficient to twithst and tweak reality. Reality constants randomly change at
the distant decibel...er...decimal places before normality resherts ithelf. Upshot
is improbable occurrences are a sm...smi...bit more probable within the
boundaries of the nebula.}


Captain prompted, {And this means...?} A picture of a humanoid waving a hand in an
impatient manner was imaged into the intranet.


Doctor smoothly took up where Delta had left off. {2 of 20, poor little drone, was at
the epicenter of one of the probability fluxes. More specifically, the
artificial chromosome in an epidermal cell was affected.}


{ThatreallyreallyreallywasannoyinghowyousampledmyDNA! Letmeoffofthistable!} 2 of 20 interjected into the narration.


In Maintenance Bay #5, Doctor looked down at 2 of 20, who was clamped securely on
the work bench. "You are a bad, bad boy. Stop it. This is for your own
good." Doctor reordered his thoughts and continued the debriefing within
the dataspaces. {A bond was altered within the genetic structure, the effects
of which cascaded through the nanite manufacturing process. What was produced
were imperfect nanoprobes, open to exposure to a potential mech infection. The
already present mech virus linked its matrix into the power pathways of the
nanites, able to alter programming sufficiently for the few flawed nanites in
the body to begin to replace sound DNA with the defective copy.}


Assimilation
concurred, {Yes, this hierarchy must agree, as we provided much of the data to corroborate
the speculation. At that point, the virus packaged its matrix into the
defective nanites, which then were spread through contact. Specifically,
scratching to open a tear in skin or body armor. In essence, the virus has been
using our own systems to reassimilate those it infects in order to make further
copies of itself. The depressing side-effect of its actions is, well, the
behavior that the members of this sub-collective have been experiencing.}


Captain focused on 2 of 20, using Doctor's sight to examine the annoyed drone. {And
him? Why is he not affected?}


Doctor eyed 2 of 20's face, then imaged a display of brain activity scans. The
simulated false color picture had more akin to a thunderstorm as viewed from
space than a normal humanoid pattern. {Do you think anything can function
properly in there?}


{Point taken.} Captain centered his personal point of view once more within himself
and his nodal intersection. {Actions to be taken?}


{Terminate all the drones infected!} This came from Weapons, who up to this moment had
been silent. He had not had a big role in formulation of the technical details
of the problem. {Terminate them all!}


{I don't think tho!} roared Delta.


Captain groaned, {Over half of your hierarchy is infected. You would lose 307 tactical drones.
Think of the consequences for once.}


{Oh.} Pause. {It might be more difficult to blow things up.}


{Very good. Any other suggestions for a course to be taken? Weapons, you will not
respond.}


Silence, then, {The mech buggerth assimilated uth. I thay that we...we - no I must not
dampen the containment fields about the main reactor core - we assimilate the
virus right back.} Delta slurred her way through the thought.


Could it be done? The vast organic and silicon computer which was Cube #347 set
itself upon a new task.


 


Delta B stood before Assimilation, weaving slightly back and forth. Delta could not
get herself to balance properly; and she dared not let Body A assist to steady
herself in fear she might completely lose herself to the drunken,
inhibitionless state. Not and expect to keep the cube in one piece. Delta
locked her gaze (Body A was in the same node - Assimilation Workshop #7 - even
if she could not be physically next to herself) on Assimilation, duel view both
clear and blurry. She bared Body B’s neck to the other drone.


From the tool cart Assimilation picked up a hypospray. This was not the standard way
to inoculate another Borg, but he had no wish to become "drunk." The
universe was depressing enough already. Therefore, an archaic medical design
from non-assimilated species had to be employed to insert modified nanoprobes
into Delta B. Delta had been the logical choice as guinea pig as she could
relate if she was getting better after the injection.


The hypospray hissed, delivering its minute packages of targeted destruction. While
part of the sub-collective continued to fend off random commands in the dataspace
pathways, the rest turned inward, watching the progress of a battle held on the
scale of nanometer and electrical impulse.


 


Secondary (2') nanites keep in contact with each other through quantum-level
communication, slower than subspace, but perfectly adequate for coordination of
programming within a host body. Quarks and hydrogen atoms encoded huge
quantities of information, collective instinct spread amongst millions of tiny
machines. The primary task was similar to normal: find target cells and inject
them the DNA chromosome appropriate for the metahost. The main alteration in
programming was the nanite was additionally to cross the lipid barrier of cell
membrane and nucleus, then physically destroy the artificial chromosome already
present; i.e. wipe the slate clean and reassimilate.


Also in the mass of machines were 5' nanoprobes. This particular nanite variant could
be employed in the assimilation of computerized hardware, but its normal duty
was maintenance of the host body, inclusive tearing apart biological viruses
and scavenging broken nanomachines. In this case the 5' nanoprobes were
specifically programmed to find and eliminate defective nanites. There were
many targets.


The nanite inoculation spread through the arteries and veins of Delta B, reporting
success (and resistance) to each other and to the host. The battle was joined.


 


Delta B felt, and watched, herself collapse. There was resistance from the mech
virus; in self-defense it had activated pain receptors in Body B, liberally
flooding the senses with chaotic chemo-electric impulses in order to hide its
matrix. Delta hurt; she had not felt pain in such a relevant and personal
manner a very long time. The sub-collective, those not incapacitated, offered
to take and spread the agony among all component drones. The gesture helped
somewhat.


"This. Is. Ridiculous.," said Delta A through her teeth. "Assimilation. Help.
Me. Put. Myself. Into. An. Alcove." Delta stepped forwards to heft her
limp body. It felt like needles were being driven into the arm she grabbed. Assimilation
hung back. "Get. Up. Here. Now. Or. Else. I. Will. Make. You. Regret. It.
When. I. Am. Better." Assimilation put down the hypospray and hesitantly
took a position on the opposite side of Body B. Together Delta and Assimilation
put Body B into an alcove, where umbilicals automatically attached. Delta felt
much better.


The removal of the mech virus progressed. Painful resistance occurred every step of
the way. Finally, unable to hide as its nanite hosts were destroyed, unable to
survive in the electrical synapses of a drone that was not 2 of 20, the virus
was purged.


Captain: {The process is successful. Ready doses for all affected drones.}


 


2 of 20 asked, "That'sit? Atingle?"


A tingle. The 2347 drones who had been forcefully cleansed of the virus would
argue that "a tingle" was not the appropriate description. Which they
did. All of them.


"Is it eliminated?" asked Captain. He had transported to the maintenance bay. All
seemed to be in order, although the large pile of equipment against one
bulkhead appeared suspiciously out of place. Captain dismissed his misgivings: any
non-sentient Doctor may have smuggled aboard recently would have escaped by
now, to the annoyance of Delta and the engineering hierarchy.


Absorbed in examining the data from body system and brain scans, Doctor did not notice
the glance at the wall. "This hierarchy thinks so."


"Think?"


"There is no surety beyond terminating 2 of 20."


"No,youdon'twanttodothat.UselessterminationofdroneslikemyselfisnotgoodforthegreateradvancementoftheCollective,"
quickly interjected 2 of 20. He was still clamped on a work table.


Channeling the unfocused consensus of a significant minority of the sub-collective, Captain
was tempted. Very tempted. But.... "He has undergone the decontamination
procedure. After all uninfected drones are inoculated, and if scans continue to
show the virus absent from his system, 2 of 20 will be allowed to return to his
duties."


2 of 20 was quiet, just in case. He did not want to jinx the consensus, which had
been very close to favoring termination.


Captain transported back to his alcove. Several minutes later, Doctor and two others of
the maintenance hierarchy which had been in the workshop disappeared in a swirl
of green special effects. Their destination was a bay in a different subsection
where several drones damaged in the detoxification required minor surgery.


2 of 20 stared at the ceiling, allowing his mind to slip into neutral. He was
obviously not going anywhere for a while. There was no useful physical task to
perform while locked on the table; and, in is current accelerated state of
mind, it was difficult to fully immerse himself in the subconscious of the
sub-collective when he was not in his alcove undergoing regeneration. Instead,
the little voices in his brain demanded his attention. A new voice was present,
one which neither decanted the wisdom of G'floo! nor espoused the joys of the
lulog berry; 2 of 20 happily listened.
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Two Much of a Good Thing


 


Cube #347 hung in a relative motionless state, seven light hours distant from an uncatalogued star system. Embedded in the nebula, the system was typical in its
local rarity: an older Type-II G star among the multitudes of younger suns in
their final tantrums of birth. The yellow star had several gas giants in close
orbit, and one frozen terrestrial well beyond the water zone; a pair of debris
bands outlined the orbits of two additional rocky planets which had been torn
apart by the tidal pull of their much larger brethren. It was the asteroids
which had caught the attention of the sub-collective: old subspace and quantum
signatures of warp drives scarred the local space-time fabric.


The consensus, after examining the possibilities, was that the sign represented an
abandoned mining operation and the remnants of a major shipping lane. No
signals of sentient origin remained, but heavy space industry was usually a
materially wasteful enterprise. There would be discarded machinery and data to
be found farther in; in fact, the most sensitive medium-range sensors of the
grid were resolving prospects to examine. The antiquated signs were of species
#8511. Distant starlight momentarily gleamed off menacing black edges as the
cube spun slightly to present face #3 forward, then proceeded into the system
at conventual warp.


Several minutes later, as Cube #347 passed through the diffuse cometary halo of Kipling
objects four light hours distant of the primary, the ship fell out of warp. The
stop was not expected. Inertia dampeners can only handle so much stress; and
that threshold was reached, and then some. Objects went flying everywhere.


{Who did that?} yelled Captain into the nets. Even as he picked himself up from the
base of the wall he had been flung against, he was running his mind among the
propulsion systems, looking for the answer. None was forthcoming...if anything,
it appeared the emergency stop had been caused by an exterior force.


Damage reports began to be loaded into the intranets, mostly by the engineering
hierarchy and computer consulting on diagnostics. Minor damage overall was the
general impression, although Bulk Cargo Hold #2 and #5 were a mess of raw
supplies and spare parts. Power systems momentarily fluctuated as Delta meshed
Auxiliary Core #1 into the power grid to take the slack as the main core
dropped in its efficiency values. Elsewhere, Doctor roused from regeneration as
his services were called upon by a suddenly swamped maintenance hierarchy.


The thrusters along one cube face flared, dark violet flames unseen against the
backdrop of black. Those codes did not come from an exterior entity, but from
Weapons. Captain immediately cut the head of the weaponry hierarchy out of
propulsion, throttling the thrusters back to their normal station-keeping
function. {And what was that for? Stay out of the engine pathways. You have no
jurisdiction except in battle, and even that is subject to the oversight of
command and control.}


{We have been attacked! That is plenty of reason!}


{Attack? Where? I see no ships, no mines, no sign of sentient beings being present for
at least two decades.} Captain pointedly referred Weapons to the relevant
sensor data, devoid of imminent attack.


{We must be prepared when the invisible ones strike again. We are exposed here.}


{Weapons...} began an exasperated Captain as he once more fended off a half-hearted, paranoia-driven
attempt by the other to activate thrusters. Before the primary consensus
monitor and facilitator of Cube #347 could continue, a series of photonic
flares were fired, bright white light bathing swathes of the ship's faces in
blinding brilliance.


{Sensors!} yelled both Captain and Weapons as one. Weapons was upset as his bailiwick
was imposed upon; Captain startled as the normally quiet insectoid
uncharacteristically ran command codes along pathways not of her hierarchy. A
reply swiftly returned.


{Sensors say quiet. We are busy [digesting] the data we have acquired.} Three second
pause as protestations were voiced. {This hierarchy is now done. This cube is
definitely stuck.}


{Stuck?} That was the last thing Captain expected Sensors to say. Weapons continued to
rant, but was ignored. {What do you mean, stuck?}


{This cube is stuck in a [muddle] of monofilament high-tensile carbon-alloy fiber. Unknown
what or where the metasupport is, but the [crud] is wrapped around our hull.} A
series of pictures were supplied, odd hues proclaiming a false color shot of
multitudes of black lines crisscrossing the skin of the ship. {It [fished] us
out of warp; it is doubtful we will be able to [rip] out of its grasp. Preliminary
conjecture, correlated to location, places the function of the web as a [capture
mechanism] of [purple] comets dislodged by the gas giants. Of course, it is
unknown how or why such a trap should extend out of the physical plane to
intersect in the [metarealities] of warp drive.} A long pause, then, {Sensors
on the hull detect odd power [swooshes] along the strands and the inclusion of
several [unreal] components into the carbon-alloy, but without physical
analysis, further [jumping] cannot be determined.}


{Stuck,} repeated Captain. Weapons was silent as well. {Delta, we...}


{...want this hierarchy to go cut us out of the mess. Understood.} Delta began to order
lists of supplies and a rotation order for drones to begin the monumental task
of extraction.


 


17 of 230 swore as the plasma torch not only did not cut the nearly invisible
monofilament (visible only under bright white light with a specific
polarization of optical implant), but melted the hull underneath. A small vent
for excess waste gasses was punctured, causing a hiss of high-pressured
sulfur-dioxin to escape. Although the pipe was soldered closed seconds later,
the puff of gas was enough to knock the welder out of alignment. 17 of 230
swore louder as part of her prosthetic limb was sliced off.


The scene was similar, minus the accident, all over the surface of Cube #347. As 17
of 230 transported to a maintenance bay for repairs, another drone took her
place, this one with a different cutting implement. Everything was transpiring
to be useless: the monofilament line was impossible to break or burn.


As the futile removal process continued, alternate plans were under discussion. A
detailed examination of the carbon lattices of the filament were complete,
which subsequently revealed a possible weakness in the material. The simple
course of electrifying the hull, then adjusting the power frequency to a
specific, but currently unknown waveform, would theoretically shatter the web
when a sympathetic harmonic resonation was reached. Delicate application of
force...it was unnatural.


Drones happily abandoned their tasks on the hull, transporting en masse to their
alcoves or interior assignment areas. Members of the engineering hierarchy
began to reroute sections of the internal energy grid to allow a pathway for
Auxiliary Cores #4 and #7 to electrify the cube exterior. Less than an hour of
the type of intense self-maintenance only a Borg ship can perform, all was
ready.


Delta winced as she allowed herself to sink more fully into a melding of mind and
purpose with Sensors; the two hierarchies were required to work closely in
order for frequencies to be adjusted appropriately. Readiness was sent to
Captain.


{Well, then get us out of here. We still need to check the interior of this system.}


Delta activated the feeds from the two auxiliary cores, allowing a small proportion
of their combined power to flow along conduits and wires and crackle over the
hull. Sensors monitored the minute vibrations of bonds along the filaments,
indicating vibrational pattern changes as energetic frequencies cycled up and
down the scale. Finally a specific frequency was hit.


{Sensors say up the [juice]: the strand's bonds are weakening.} Delta obliged. The might
of two very powerful cores surged along the hull. 


The universe shattered before the web did.


 


The universe resolved itself, points of light against a backdrop of velvet,
multitudes of frequencies filling the ether with static, subtle supraspace
ripples defining the structure of reality. The sub-collective of Cube #347 came
out of its shock, reaching instinctively for the Collective, but was rebuffed
by vicious eddies in fractal subspace. The Collective was just beyond reach,
just on the other side of the wall, a muffled conversation of garbled words and
thoughts.


Replay: The universe resolved itself, points of light against a backdrop of velvet,
multitudes of frequencies filling the ether with static, subtle supraspace
ripples defining the structure of reality. Captain picked himself off the
floor, looking around in confusion. Conventional systems were obviously malfunctioning,
as evidenced by the fact more than the normal number of crew utilizing the
primary dataspaces systems instead of the jury-rigged assemblages which
bypassed Borg hardware. Captain orientated himself, reached to tap on a communication
display, then yelled, "Captain to Delta, what the hell happened?"


Something was wrong. Pull back, look at the scene in its entirety...


Two identical cubes floated near each other, separated by half a kilometer. Strands
of a nearly unseen black webbing connected the ships, remnants of a surge of
eta radiation pulsing weakly along carbon-alloy bonds. Both cubes, still in the
process of restoring critical systems, had not seen the other; and a boiling
cauldron of local subspace on the fractal frequencies employed by the Borg
froze attempts to reestablish contact with the Greater Consciousness. One cube,
call it Cube #347A, was a study in pure Borg efficiency; the second cube, call
it Cube #347B, cranked up the stereo.


"Lucy in the sky with diamonds...." The psychedelic, nonsense refrain echoed in
the hallways and catwalks. The fact that the song was not being sung in its
native language did not help the exotic imagery. Approximately six hundred
voices joined the chorus.


 


Cube #347A-


The Collective could not be reached. That was a very disconcerting realization, but
not immediately crucial. The sub-collective would survive, the sub-collective
would adapt. Unacceptable degradation of power systems was already being
rectified, one thousand fifty-three drone components completing repairs. Time
to optimum efficiency: twenty-six minutes.


Sensor information indicated the attempt to remove the carbon filament webbing was
unsuccessful. Reason for failure: unknown. Action to take: to be determined
after additional local archive search for adaptable assimilated technology.


Anomaly detected. Finalized completion of the sensor grid restoration and subsequent
resetting of protocols showed a second Borg cube with identical transwarp core
signature 0.54 kilometers off face #2. Examine software code for corruption and
selectively reboot sensory pathways. Cube still present. Initiate contact
procedures. Perhaps the other sub-collective had a connection with the
Collective?


 


Cube #347B-


Eight bodies gathered in Captain's nodal intersection, which was currently decorated
in a tasteful array of black and yellow. Although several posters of infamous
starships had slipped off the wall, overall the area appeared relatively
unscathed. The department heads impatiently waited to speak, desiring strongly
to be elsewhere.


Weapons opened with "Nothing important among weaponry is broken, can I go
now?"


"No," stated Captain. "Delta, you are next."


Delta frowned, both of her. "Engineering is proceeding as fast as can be
expected. Might be done in a couple of hours, maybe not. Damage is not
extensive enough to warrant the general regeneration system."


Second sighed, "Good. I hate having bits of the ship repair themselves while I
watch. Just not natural."


"I'm with Weapons on this one, much as I hate to admit. Can I go now? I need to take
my anti-depressants. Not like assimilation systems are necessary in this
particular piece of nowhere," came from Assimilation.


Captain shook his head, "No, you may not go either until this meeting is done. Sensors,
you are fairly important...have you anything to report?"


Sensors had been quietly singing along to the unobtrusive background music of
"Magic Carpet Ride," clicking and rasping untranslatable sounds of
her native species. She rose up higher on her four walking legs as she noticed
she was being addressed. "Sensor grids are coming back on-line." Pause.
Sensors was among the few in the cube that actively spent most of her time
manipulating controls directly within the dataspaces instead of using manual or
spoken commands. She appeared to be accessing current grid data. "Hey! Sensors
sees another cube exactly like ours off face #4."


Captain blinked, then called for the computer to display the view on the screen hung on
the opposite bulkhead. The multicolored zigzag patterns dissolved to the scene
of an Exploratory-class Borg cube. Before comments on the phenomenon could be
made, a presence forced itself into the minds of all the drones of Cube #347.


 


Confusion, on both accounts. Cube #347A was perplexed...the other cube was only weakly
acknowledging the request for a link. Meanwhile, Cube #347B was arguing about
the meaning of the other ship, too busy in their own concerns to respond. Finally
the first sub-collective took matters into its own, running commands along
curiously disused pathways.


<< Acknowledge. Respond. Identify. >>


Captain reeled as if hit, forced to answer using the same protocol. {I am Captain of
Exploratory-class Borg Cube #347.}


<< Negative. We are Cube #347. >>


{I don't think so. This is Cube #347. Has been, always will be,} returned Captain.


<< Unacceptable. We are Cube #347. >>


{Are not.}


<< Are too. >>


{Are not.}


<< Are too. >>


{Are too.}


<< Yes, are too. >>


"Damn it," said Captain. "That didn't work. Computer! Change the
music!" The strains of "Yellow Submarine" rang out over the
intercom system. "You, you, you...heck...all of you, see if you can figure
out what is going on. Second, I want you here." Each of the drones shouted
over the song for the computer to transport them to different sections of the
ship until only Captain and Second were left.


Cube #347A paused as unusual sounds - music - suddenly began to play over the link. It
was highly irrelevant, yet at the same time quite catchy. The sub-collective
could not quite wrap its thought processes around words that when taken singly
made sense, but when strung together as the song was doing were not
understandable. One voice of the many, however, offered understanding; however,
the drone of species #6766, designated 1 of 3, could not adequately relate the
significance.


The rogue mentality was quickly suppressed.


 


"Sensors has always liked this song," called Sensors within Cube #347B, speaking to
Captain and Second over the intercom. "It exemplifies the purpose of the
universe very well."


"I was under the impression it described one species' experience with chemical
addiction," said Second as he tapped a few buttons on a column.


"No, it is more than that. Sensors thinks the composition is a masterpiece
explaining the nature of metaphysical reality and the greater Song. Oh yes,
scans indicate that cube is a near perfect replica of ours...except it exhibits
an opposite polarization of the green fuzz lemon cabinets."


"The what?" asked in Captain in confusion.


"You know, the purple hydrangeas of salty asteroid basalts."


Captain smacked the side of his head, trying for manual adjustments of his implants. "Come
again?"


A sigh. "Orange beef jerky rugs!"


"That almost made sense. Send the information to this viewscreen; maybe a visual
will help."


 


Cube #347A digested the data from intense sweeps of the sensor grid, dissecting wave
patterns at the sub-atomic level. If fundamental sub-atomic polarizations were
compared, there was a one-eighty degree discrepancy in the vibrational
frequencies between the twin and self; and both signatures were ninety degrees
out of alignment with nearby matter. It was almost as if neither cube belonged
in the current universe. Preposterous! The sub-collective held a clear memory
record of the events leading up the arrival of the "twin." Mostly
clear. A diagnostic of storage code and physical examination of biological and
computational components did not indicate corruption.


<< We do not have a link with the Collective. We will merge our computational
resources and determine the best way to contact the Greater Consciousness. We
will then determine the meaning behind these sensor readings and extract
ourselves from this carbon filament comet trap. >> A compressed packet of
data was sent, along with a feeling of expectation and impatience.


Captain winced as the voice shoved into his mind. Whatever consensus structure that
other sub-collective used, it had obviously decided he was the primary node
through which communications and faciliatory management occurred; i.e. the main
biological central processor.


"Get out of my mind! Out, out, out, out!" shouted Captain. Second jumped,
visibly startled at the unexpected outcry.


"I'm not in your mind. You specifically said at the beginning of your tenure that
you would personally revoke entertainment privileges if anyone did that without
your permission. And I like my entertainment."


"No, no, no, no, no...not you...that other sub-collective! Get. Out. Of. My. Head. If
you want to talk, use subspace." Captain was now waving his limbs up and
down. A poster, thus far intact, lost its grip on the bulkhead and fluttered to
the deck.


A speaker popped to life. "This is inefficient. You can not be Borg. You
must be assimilated." The Collective Voice dripped menace.


"Been there, did that, have the implanted hardware to prove it. Probe all you like
through the systems of this cube, just stay out of my mind. Slow down and chill
out. Everything will work out in the end." Captain felt as the other cube
moved through the common storage areas, ransacking travel logs and other stored
memories. "Satisfied?"


Voice: "What is that noise?"


Second answered without looking up from his terminal display, "Sergeant
Pepper."


Silence.


 


The biological components of Cube #347A were close to losing unity. There was
something fundamentally wrong with the other sub-collective, it was opposite of
all that Borg strived to become. It was individualistic, it was argumentative,
it was inefficient, it was not One. It was also affecting the mental
interactions between drones.


1 of 3 was again trying to offer the meaning behind the words of the music the
sub-collective could not block. As long as a link was maintained with the twin,
the twisted harmonics would continue. Horrendously, it was becoming
increasingly difficult for the sub-collective to halt the internal conflicts;
with effort, however, it was possible. Cube #347A did so.


One victory had been won: Cube #347A would speak to its twin in an efficient
manner. Ship to ship would not be accomplished by subspace radio, no matter how
much the other complained, but would be within the dataspaces, as was proper. Cube
#347A could only be pushed so far by the cantankerous twin and the facilitator illogically
designated as Captain (there was a proper numerical designation, but the drone
refused to answer to it). In addition, as the twin refused to concede it was
not Cube #347, an A and B subdesignation had been assigned.


Still...assimilation imperfection was known, but this extreme was too much for Cube #347A to bear. The
flawed drones should have been terminated; they were no better than
unassimilated individuals. The records about assimilation imperfection were
oddly sparse; and the cube which the drones were supposed to be concentrated on
was not among the data. More suspiciously selective corruption of data? Negative.
Other matters beckoned.


<< Cube #347B, the task of Cube #347A is complete. Carbon-alloy microfilament
structure of the webbing consists of the following inclusions... >>


Captain listened as a long list of metallic and quasi-metallic elements were listed. He
ahemed, then spoke aloud. The words were automatically sent into the Borg link,
"We already know that. This crew is not stupid, you know. There is a
sensor grid included among the options of the Exploratory-class cube, along
with anti-inertia brakes and multi-spectral phasers."


The Voice of Cube #347A abruptly halted, then continued, << The purpose of
the web, interpolated by position and probable extent, appears to be to
intercept infalling debris along the equatorial plane of this system. Energy is
then occasionally pulsed along the filaments, which cause captured objects to
be sundered to constitute atoms. >> A particle distribution curve of the
area near the webbing was received, with an elevated concentration of cometary
matter evident.


"So what? We know that too! You were supposed to give options to get out of this
mess, not speculate about the composition and use of the tech. Where is Borg
efficiency now?"


<< We are doing this because you have no efficiency. The background is important
for it is the reason behind this dilemma. Residue transwarp core signatures
indicates a previous attempt at escape, which is consistent with ship logs and
memory. That energy build-up caused this twinning. Postulation at 85% surety
concludes a single Cube #347 trying to break loose is the cause. >>


Captain and Second looked at each other, the shared glance speaking volumes more than a
similar exchange verbally or within the dreaded dataspaces. Second spoke,
"Oh high-and-mighty epitome of Borg Oneness, prey tell why our atoms
aren't mingling among the comet bits?"


<< Sarcasm is irrelevant. Eta radiation in this nebula is oddly polarized,
slightly altering reality constants. Somewhere in Cube #347B there is Borg
neuroprocessing, you figure it out. >> Cube #347A, appalled with itself,
began to a self-diagnostic. The snide return had just popped out, uncontrolled.
The diagnostic discovered thirty-two rogue mentalities, each of which were
subsequently returned to their alcoves and sent into long-term stasis.


Not one to back down from a challenge, Captain painfully roped those drones that
were nominally part of the so-called "command and control" hierarchy
into service. Amid the complaints an answer emerged. "Odds are
approximately one hundred million eighty-two thousand to one against." Pause.
"Why the hell does all the improbable crap of the universe decide to
happen to this cube?"


Second said, "Because that way the vast majority of beings can therefore be
allowed to lead normal, boring lives."


"I didn't ask you, Second." Captain glared over at the other drone, who was
still engrossed in a job involving much tapping of console buttons. The silence
of a smirk was the answer.


<< Correct. The energy released by the equivalent of two Borg transwarp engine
cores surged along the webbing, which in return concentrated local eta
radiation as the spike encountered tritanium-duralloy hull armor instead of the
comets for which the system had been designed. Probabilities warped and you
came into existence. >>


"Wait a minute...you could be the twin for us."


<< Highly unlikely. >>


Another voice inserted itself into the discussion. It was Sensors. The current music
selection faded out, to be replaced by "Age of Aquarius." Utilizing
the dataspaces directly, Sensors spoke, {Neither of these cubes belong. Sensors
notes that the sub-atomic [polka-dot pinwheels] of the two cubes is out of [alignment]
with the surrounding universe. Sensors says that the term “twin” is not a
wholly accurate description, except at the physical level. A better
[description] may be “diametrically opposing personalities”, but Sensors would [dawdle]
to use that exact phrase.}


A distant utterance originated along the link maintained to Cube #347A, the
signature eerily alike to Sensors. {This drone agrees. And excellent music
selection; you have perfect [philosophical taste].} Cube #347A broke into an
extended argument with itself. In the end, fifty-seven additional drones,
including 1 of 3, was sent into stasis. Order was restored, for the moment.


{Sensors remembers the sub-collective of Cube #347A [trumpeting] it could not contact
the Collective,} said Sensors. {That inability will continue until we have been
[collapsed] into each other.}


Neither Captain, nor Cube #347A for that matter, were listening to Sensors.


<< We do not have a psychological component so inefficient as that represented
by Cube #347B. >>


"And I'm sure I don't have any part of myself that is such a type-A, prissy,
by-the-Borg-book part in my personality either. None in this sub-collective
do."


<< Then we agree. We will escape from this comet trap, collapse our sub-atomic
polarities back to a normal orientation, and then reestablish contact to the
Collective as proper Borg. >>


Captain nodded, more to himself than anything else. "Except this sub-collective is
the true template. Lighten up a bit and face reality. Now, I remember part of
your task was figure out how to extract us from this mess. Did you forget? Let's
hear the options."


<< We did not forget. >> A long string of commands was placed in the root
processes of the computer system of Cube #347B. For all their psychotic,
individualistic attitudes, at their core the drones of Cube #347B were still
Borg. The orders had to be obeyed; there was no circumnavigating the
compulsion.


"I knew they would do that. I hate it when that happens."


"Shut up, Second. Just shut up." Captain began to enmesh himself into the
dataspaces, coordinating the sudden rise in activity level.


 


"Pedal to the metal!" shouted Captain. "Give it all she's got!"


"Output is at its peak. Sensors, what frequencies?" Delta yelled, her voice
echoing over the rising scream of Auxiliary Cores #4 and #7.


The reply came in unison from both Cube #347A and Sensors. Delta adjusted the
harmonics appropriately. Half a kilometer distant, the twinned sub-collective
performed a similar operation. The carbon strands began to vibrate. Potentialities
gathered along the webbing, concentrated by the induced eta radiation and shifted
into specific polarizations by inclusions of particular metallic alloys.


"Ride 'em cowboy! To the moon!" Captain rudely cut off the current music
selection, replacing it with "I Am the Walrus."


<< What moon? What does a Terran walrus have to do with anything? This is highly
irrelevant. You should be concentrating on fixing this problem. >>


Captain smirked to himself, grabbing a pair of dark sunglasses from the wall where they
hung next to the main viewscreen. He put them on, hooking the back part into
the tubes which curled around from the back of his head. As the superstructure
of the cube shook, Captain commented to the air, "You know, I have this
odd feeling that there is something I've always wanted to say to myself, but
never could. Might as well take the opportunity now. Take a chill pill,
dude."


<< Chill pills are irr.... >> The remainder of the reply was lost as the
subjective universe turned inside out, Captain's maniacal laughter rising above
the commotion.


 


The universe came into focus, distant stars specks of diamond on a drop cloth of
black, reality asserting its innate truth. The sub-collective of Cube #347
figuratively shook its head in confusion, much as a canine might stumble awake
after a long bout of anesthetic. Reaching instinctively, the sub-collective
reestablished distant contact with the Greater Consciousness. For some reason,
the procedure to escape the net had momentarily blocked Borg communication
frequencies. The latter appeared not to have noticed the absence of Cube #347
as being more abnormal than the normal periodic disappearances.


{Report,} sent Captain into the intranets, moments after the reassuring brush of the
Collective. {Damage? Is that junk still on us? Did the harmonics work?}


Odd...chronometers were not matching the time signature of the Borg carrier wave. In fact, several
hours appeared to be missing, but there was no local indication that time had
been lost. A tangential theory surfaced that a side-effect of the attempt to
free the cube might account for the discrepancy between clocks. It was not
relevant; chronometers were reset.


{Delta? Sensors?} prompted Captain. Both began to reply at once. Captain sighed, {Delta
first.}


In the primary power core area, Delta was quickly scanning displays while
listening to internal dialogue by the computer and other engineering members. She
replied, scarcely missing a beat, {No major damage. There is minor warping of
hull plates, and some power conduits blew after channeling the large amount of
energy, but nothing that will affect overall efficiency. All will be repaired
within a few hours.}


Sensors surfaced from her perusal of the grid, requesting the weapon hierarchy to lob a
few photonic flares over the hull. The incoming data was highly encouraging. {Sensors
says that we have broken free of the [trellis]. We are currently inside the
mesh. Sensors also believes that her hierarchy can configure the grid to scan
for [sewing] as long as the cube stays below half impulse. We should not become
inadvertently [tarred] when we leave this system.}


{Good. Do so.} The hierarchies leapt to business, interrupted only by the occasional
expected dullard. All was normal. Shortly, Cube #347 was moving inward towards
its original goal, feedback from the sensor grid causing mild auditory
hallucinations.


Captain reconfigured his optical implant, as he had been doing periodically since he
had regained consciousness. Hardware appeared to be functioning properly, and
examination of the lighting systems assured him the ambient light levels were
illuminating at standard lux values. Still, his perception of the nodal
intersection was quite a bit dimmer than usual.


Reaching up a hand to wave it directly in front of his face, Captain encountered
something odd physically obstructing his sight. The contraption was set upon
his pseudonose and hooked firmly into the small maze of tubes arising out of
the back of his skull. Finally the contrivance slid off, allowing familiar
light levels to reassert themselves.


In his hand, Captain held a pair of sunglasses. Mildly confused as to where they
had come from, not to mention how they had appeared on his face, Captain
contemplated them for a few long minutes. Something, some message, some
concept, was trying to make itself known, but it was just beyond grasp. Captain
shook his head, absently turning to hang the sunglasses on a protrusion next to
the viewscreen.








Return to the Table of Contents








When Borg Attack


 


The room was dark but for a nebulous rectangle of light hovering approximately half
a meter above a dull metallic base. Abruptly the light level changed as a door
slid open to admit two beings, but relative darkness quickly returned. The two
beings sat down without a word before a large console. The smaller of the pair
reached forward to flick a few switches and push a button or two. The
rectangle, until this point a steady off-white color, immediately grayed.


The darkness of the holodisplay became absolute before beginning to lighten
slightly; the end result was a seeming of space, complete with miniature stars,
caught in a floating cage without bars. The view panned sideways before
swinging down in a nauseating spiral, leveling out as a distant ship came into
view. Closer and closer rushed the vessel, until it virtually filled the
display with its cube-shaped menace. A sudden still shot of the feared sight
halted the ship in its tracks. Fade out to a gaseous nebula, green writing
appearing with a shimmer. Through it all played a classic theme song with a
strong backbeat.


Gyola leaned forward to flick the "pause" switch. The recording immediately
halted midframe, angular green words hovering fuzzily in front of a
purple-tinged nebula. "'When Borg Attack?' What type of name for a program
is that?" The senior editor's tail swished back and forth in agitation.


Arshly gulped as he flattened his ears to his skull, turning to peer down at his
console as if an interesting button had suddenly materialized. "Well,"
he answered, "research says that the 'When <Insert Entity Here>
Attacks' is a popular title, especially the Andorian episode. I personally
thought 'Ship of Death' was perfect, but another network already used that for
a special on some vessel traversing the Delta Quadrant. Therefore...well...'When
Borg Attack'."


Gyola growled deep in her throat. "It's your butt on the line, not mine. You
were the one that begged for the assignment, begged for the chance to strut
your stuff. I'm only here to see the final product. If it doesn't get the
ratings the station needs for the upcoming sweeps, you're going to be the one
explaining it to the big ears."


The small male scuffled his feet under the chair, listening to the sound of his toe
claws lightly scrap the plastiwood floor. "Trust me on this. It will go
over well with the viewers. One of our best camera crews was on the job, and
the stuff the GPS mech brought back was stunning...and that was the raw
footage! Cutting and clean-up worked miracles on an already fabulous
tape!" Arshly's voice raised in volume as he described the work, taking on
the forcefulness of a prophet at the marketplace.


"Fine, fine. The holodisplay is all well and good, but I want to see the senso cut. That
is what the majority of the audience is going to demand, and this will be our
first full sweeps with that format. It will make or break this company’s bid to
compete among the Big Four."


Arshly abruptly quieted. "Yes'm. The senso is ready. If you will put on the gear,
I will spin up the disc."


Gyola was already placing the light blue headband over her forehead, clasping it at
the back of her head. A few minor adjustments lined optic contacts in the
simple seeming piece of machinery over the mates which had been surgically
inserted into her skull three years prior when the technology was beginning to
go mainstream. Senso tech was now the ultimate tool for computer and mass media
interface. Radio, television, holodisplays, and now senso...the evolution of
information dissemination was poised to make a leap equivalent to the journey
between a worm and the contemporary Fluvian species.


Seeing Gyola ready, Arshly spoke a command to the computer, initiating the senso cut. Before
the docudrama could begin, he shoved his own headband on, then leaned back in
the chair to enjoy the show.


 


*****


 


<At
base of viewer perception, a floating red bar. Superimposed on the insert were black
numbers and words: "Designation: 4 of 8, also Captain. Location: Nodal Intersection
#19 of subsection 17, submatrix 10. Time: P93.11a JL.">


 


"You want to know why we are out here?" The Borg drone swiveled his neck
without moving the rest of his body, looking directly into the camera before
gazing pointedly at the off-screen cameraman. He then turned back to a large monitor
full of floating multicolored bubbles - a screensaver? "Why we are out
here. I'll give you the quick answer and the politically correct one. Not much
the Collective can do to us, since it already knows the consensus of this crew
on the matter.


"Quick answer: to get this sub-collective and its inharmonious minds away from the
Greater Consciousness."


Pause as the bubbles abruptly shifted to a Mandelbrot pattern of infinite fractals. "Politically
correct answer: to introduce species #8511 to the perfection of the Borg."


A murmuring from off-screen, indistinct words not understood.


"Oh, I see. You meant here, in this nebula. That is an easy one. We've been tracking
species #8511 for a while and the trail has lead us here. Unfortunately, the
track is cold, and lost in the surrounding gasses and dust, so this cube needs
to find a source of information as to the next direction to take to find the
species' homeworlds. Usually we of this cube are not permitted to assimilate
beings for information, but in this case, as we are the only ones in the
vicinity, an exception has been made.


"Cube #347 is to find a suitable ship or lone colony, then process several
individuals. The major problem is an ability called 'grouf'; the damn beings
have a technologically boosted form of psychic matter manipulation that allows
whole populations to teleoperate in distant systems without risking their own
bodies. We've passed up five places now with indications of sentient activity
because we've also seen signs that 'reality' isn't so real. We'll be at system number
six in a short time. There are high hopes for this one."


Captain went silent as the viewscreen shifted once again, this time to multiple eyes
opening and closing in an eerie fashion.


 


<Fade out followed by fade in on Captain in same intersection. New bar at base of
perception: "Time: We1.92h MN".>


 


"Here, look at this." Captain motioned for the camera to view the screen in the
nodal intersection. The scene shifted as the operator complied. Captain's voice
continued, speaking now out of immediate perception.


A computerized depiction of a solar system filled the screen, small planets
whirling in distant orbits from an orange-yellow star. A large band was grayed;
a hypothetical metacamera zoomed in on the obscured area, revealing millions of
asteroids tumbling in their personal trajectories about the primary.


Another zoom swept in closer yet, picking out a rock and transforming it to elephantine
proportion. Near this rock several oddly shaped ships floated, tethered to an
unseen central buoy. Small only when compared to what was now obvious to be a
strip mining operation, dozens of lesser tugs transported tons of finished
product to the huge ore carriers, forming a thread of blue reaction thrusters.


"This is one of four material extraction operations in this system. It appears to be
a new set-up...and more importantly there are no signatures of that damned
grouf. Consensus has decided it is the real deal. The mining appears largely
robotic in nature, although a few life signs are present on the large
transports." The superstructure of one of the big ships fuzzed, displaying
nine yellow triangles scattered throughout the vague shadow.


"We have no interest in the ore carriers." The view pulled back slightly, then
rotated to a different quadrant of the asteroid. Two additional ships lurked,
of the same configuration but much smaller and somehow sleeker in the manner of
predators. "Those are the targets. Light military attack frigates, one
hundred twenty crew each. No problems are anticipated with their capture."


The camera drunk in the picture of the two frigates, the turned back to Captain. He
listened to a short query, then answered: "How did we provide such good
pictures? We are Borg after all. Of course, we are also beginning our attack
now; this cube has been in the short-range sensor envelope for over an
hour."


 


<Switch to exterior feed.>


 


Two ships, shaped like large barbells, were swiveling around their long axis,
turning from broadside to head-on to present a smaller profile. The transports,
similarly silhouetted, if five times the bulk, began to wallow ponderously in
the opposite direction, one by one streaking away in conventional warp. The ore
carriers were essentially ignored, a cutting beam from off-camera shooting out
to splash a shield in a parting gesture.


Return fire came as the frigates separated, preparing to flank the much larger cube. Torpedoes
lit the ether with blue flashes, and violet phasers searched for a weakness
against Borg shields. Futile. The camera's view turned to follow the fate of
one of the barbells as a tractor beam attempted to capture it. Twice the ship
slipped free as the tractor blatantly missed the defender's hull, but the third
time it locked on. A pair of green phaser blasts angled from the lower screen
into the front section of the military ship. An orange explosion momentarily
lit the dark, then disappeared into a cloud of expanding debris.


The camera abruptly switched to another sensor, this one aimed at the remaining
frigate, view almost directly above the action as seen from a cube edge. The
prey was trying to disengage from the lopsided fight, but was caught in the
clutches of yet another tractor beam. "We are the Borg. Resistance is
futile. Lower your shields and prepare to be assimilated," boomed the
Collective Voice. It was obviously a link into communications because vacuum
could not carry sound.


The ship continued to resist, managing to destroy an emitter with a heavy barrage
of torpedoes, consequently taking out the camera in the process. Another sensor
abruptly cut in, this one looking "up" at the action. Two more tractors
secured the ship. Phasers began to batter at the shields of the much smaller vessel;
electromagnetic protection fell. Finally a cutting beam lanced out, tagging the
hull along one bulge of the barbell, seeming delicate in its destructive
capability. As a scar of melted metal began to bubble into vacuum, the frigate
abruptly stopped firing, main power system severed.


 


<Scene fades out. An extended blank spot indicates the location of commercials to be
added later, followed by a fade in at new location. Red bar: "Designation:
20 of 300, Weapons hierarchy. Location: Aboard species #8511 military ship. Time:
J4.04z MN".>


 


"This is the part I hate the most," said the Borg drone. He was speaking over
his shoulder has he attempted to peer around a hallway corner. The purple lance
of an energy weapon tagged the ceiling directly above, causing sparks to rain
down into the scene. The drone pulled back.


"I don't really mind the boredom when we go from system to system. I mean, you
plug your body into your alcove and let your mind float, allowing others to use
your mental resources. Not everyone can do that, but I've never had any
problem. No, I don't like assaults. The shooting, the noise, the uncertainties.
One minute you are standing there, the next you are sent into the onslaught of
phaser fire so the Collective can test weaponry frequencies. Adaptation of
personal shielding is nice...but the guinea pig part is tough."


Across the corridor, three drones transported in, green signature effects temporarily
distorting the camera's picture. When it cleared, purple phaser fire was thick.
One drone was struck, dropping to the deck plates; the other two scurried to
cover. 20 of 300 groaned.


"Excuse me. Weapons is busy coordinating a rush on another deck, and is trying to force
us to do so here as well. We've told him that there are not enough bodies to
assure success. That should give me a few more minutes, at least."


A mumbled question was asked. The camera took a close-up shot of the downed
drone, then returned to 20 of 300's face. Between the flickering overhead
lights and obscuring implants it was impossible to tell the original species of
20 of 300, much less note any change in expression.


"Oh? That was 143 of 212. I stress 'was'. She's terminated now. Spare scrap and
parts for Doctor. That is one frequency that is useless for species #8511, but
143 of 212's presence is now only an echo. Too bad; she was an excellent
hierarchy member."


Another query off-camera.


"Anything good about this assault? You have got to talk to your producers about using
relevant questions. But, if you insist...


"We have thus far only found conventional weapons and military crew. Personally,
that grouf ability gives me the willies, but we haven't encountered it yet on
this ship. I will be glad when we have the chance to examine some of those to
be assimilated to find out the extent of the talent. It must be heavily linked
to technology; consensus postulates that when we severed all power systems
except life support, grouf was lost as well. We'll find out soon enough."


Eight more drones beamed into the corridor, this time out of line of sight of the
unseen defenders at the other end of the disputed hallway. 20 of 300 shook his
head. "We've been ordered to advance. Hopefully the battles in the other
parts of this frigate have allowed adaptation to weaponry. Here goes."


20 of 300 stepped around the corner, along with five others on the opposite side
of the corridor. Purple phaser fire increased six-fold, scoring walls and
melting ragged burn scars on the ceiling. The camera pointed around the corner,
trying to follow the action. A near miss forced the cameraman to withdraw, but
not before seeing 20 of 300 fall heavily to the deck, torso and leg smoking.


The scene suddenly whirled as the cameraman jumped, startled by something. The
picture fuzzed in and out of focus, finally ending on the visage of one of the
drones who had not been part of the initial attack.


 


<Red bar reappears at the bottom of the picture. All attributes are the same, except
designation now reads 29 of 300.>


 


"I'm baby-sitting you now. Follow me." The attitude of the new drone much more
gruff than 20 of 300. As the drone stepped into a corridor that moments before
had been a death trap of focused electromagnetic beams, a lone phaser shot
splashed off her shielding. 29 of 300 ignored the annoyance. She stepped over
the body of 20 of 300.


"Is he okay? Of course he isn't okay. He's alive, that's about all that can be said
for 20 of 300." A transporter activated, snatching away the fallen drone. "He's
in a maintenance bay now. It will take major reconstruction to make him useful
again."


The Borg turned to face down the corridor. A hastily erected barrier was in pieces,
metal scattered everywhere. Beyond the obstacle another drone could be seen. It
yanked its right limb away from the neck of another biped, then began to herd
the tan uniformed, pale-skinned being away. 29 of 300 beckoned, catching the
camera's attention.


"If you will continue to follow me, there is a concentration of resistance in the
main engineering core, as well as the shrine room. Weapons is telling us to mop
up. The assault will run much more smoothly now that this sub-collective has
adapted to the weaponry."


29 of 300 strolled down the hallway; the camera trailed behind.


 


<Fade out and return. Ubiquitous red status bar: "Designation: 27 of 27, also Doctor.
Location: Cube #347, Drone Maintenance Bay #9, subsection 4, submatrix 26. Time:
A9.2c KU".>


 


"Oh, hello there. I was told you were going to visit. Give me a few minutes to wrap
up here." Doctor's form was reminiscent of an upright rodent with a
slightly squashed snout, clothed in the typical attire of all Borg. One hand
reached up to select a device from an overhanging contraption. A high pitched
whine momentarily sounded in the maintenance bay as the stubby end of the
palm-sized machine was set against the torso of the drone on the table.


"All done! Well, at least the big stuff. 20 of 300 still needs to have several
skeletal structures replaced and internal tissue knitted, but the life
threatening injuries are no more. I'll give the nanites time to begin repairs,
then install new assemblages in a few hours."


Doctor moved over towards one bulkhead, the camera panning to follow. Shelves and
hooks held a variety of instruments, most of them traditionally to be found in
an engineering workshop, not a medical facility. Doctor put down the tool he
still carried, reaching for a complicated piece of hardware approximately half
a meter long.


"This? 20 of 300's leg was fried by the phaser he took. It will have to be replaced. I
was just collecting some of the necessary materials." Pause. "Is he
in pain? Now that is an irrelevant question. Of course he is not. You non-Borg
are always worried about pain. 20 of 300 knows perfectly well what is going on;
in fact he's quite interested. It is his body, you know. He's trying to talk me
in to installing new muscle servo motors in his organic leg while he's on the
table, but I've got other things to do before such elective surgery can take
place."


The camera's view turned slowly as the scene swung around the interior of the
expanded nodal intersection. Besides the senescent drone on the table and
Doctor muttering as he sifted through several incomprehensible items, two other
drones were working quietly on a third, which itself was prone on another
bench. The camera returned to Doctor.


"Ah, found the tool I wanted!" A rod thirty centimeters long blinked red and
blue lights in Doctor's hand. The drone's head cocked to one side as he
listened to a question. "Do I have any hobbies? Technically, I would have
to answer no. Hobbies are irrelevant, after all. However...promise this won't
get back to Captain, and I'll show you something."


Doctor began to push some machinery away from a second bulkhead, castors rolling
smoothly on the deck. The plating behind was exposed, looking like any other
wall on the cube. Doctor momentarily obstructed the camera's view as he reached
out to push something. As he stepped away holding a sheet of metal, it could be
seen that there was a hidden space. In the area was a...tank of fish?


A close-up zoom of the aquarium, in which five vaguely fishlike creatures swam. The
animals were extremely pale, approaching the gray flesh tones of a Borg, and it
appeared several miniature implants? were marring the scaled sides. Dark,
brownish water was the medium the fish lived in.


"I like animals," stated Doctor as the camera returned to its normal
magnification. The drone squatted slightly to peer into the tank. Two of the
fish came to the side, bobbing up and down to follow a finger drawn across the
glass. "The Collective considers pets irrelevant, and Captain also refuses
to let me keep them. Sure, there may have been some problems in the past, but
I don't see how fish can hurt. I keep them in some nutrient fluid, and they are
quite happy."


Doctor began to happily mutter nonsense phrases like "That's a good
fishy-wishy." Now all five creatures were at the front of the tank,
rapidly swimming back and forth, obviously responding to the voice. An audible
clearing of the throat, the off-scene cameraman, broke the Borg out of his
revelry.


"Oh, sorry. But they are cute, aren't they. After I replace this metal sheet, I'll
show you what 2 of 27 and 121 of 133 are working on: removing salvageable parts
from one of this sub-collective terminated in battle." The Doctor hefted
the panel back to place.


 


<Fade out. Fade back to a different intersection. Red bar: "Designation: 13 of
20, also Assimilation. Location: Cube #347, Assimilation Workshop #6,
subsection 23, submatrix 2. Time: Bh1.41g MN".>


 


The camera revealed an area not much different from the previous maintenance bay. Three
tables with restraints took central stage in the large intersection, over which
presided a virtual torture rack of unknown instruments. Unlike the maintenance bay,
alcoves lined the walls, displays next to each set shoulder high in conjunction
with incomprehensible data ports. Also vastly different from Doctor's workshop,
the hardware appeared to be little used; this impression remained despite the
fact half of the fourteen alcoves were currently filled.


Focus on one of the tan-uniformed bipeds in the alcove. The original skin coloration
was impossible to determine, as the mottled gray of the Borg was the dominant
feature. A few wisps of dark green hair still clung to the head, but it was
rapidly being shed. The eyes - closed - were six, situated in two horizontal
rows of three. A large, lipless mouth, much like that of a frog, completed the
face. Pull back from the extreme close-up revealed a physique thin, but not
skinny...perhaps wiry if the being had been able to demonstrate movement. The
other six slumbering individuals were much like the first, differing only in
hair color (dark green to nearly white) and general body build.


"Species #8511, name Jharin. At this point, specimens are not considered to be
physically distinctive, except for a hypothesized mental ability called grouf. Potential
technological contribution unknown at this time," said a drone that up to
this point had been ignored in favor of setting ambiance. The view swiveled to
center the Borg in the picture.


A sigh racked the cyborg frame in response to a question. Head tilted to scan
over the length of the nearest Jharin. "What happens now? Well, in a
normal cube, all eighty-two individuals which were subdued would begin
processing: surgical implants, prosthetics, mental and physical alterations to
make them most suitable for the type of primary service they would eventually
provide for the Borg. That doesn't happen here.


"We have been given direction to insert hardware neural transceivers to replace the
limited nanite-built ones, but that is about it. These new additions to the
Collective have to remain in stasis until they can be off-loaded to a ship that
isn't Cube #347. Assimilation imperfection can occasionally spread, you know.


"Makes for an extremely boring task."


The camera panned slowly back and forth, catching more of the motionless figures in
alcoves. A display nearby beeped, but Assimilation was already moving to quiet
the noise before the alarm sounded. The drone momentarily put his unaltered
limb against the nearby data port, then pulled back.


"This one is ready."


 


<The red bar slightly altered, now including an additional name next to
Assimilation. It read: "Designation: 3 of 8, also Second.">


 


Before the cameraman could comment, a transporter beam shimmered into existence,
materializing yet another Borg. This one immediately began to speak. "Assimilation
was not talking to you. This is a working cube, you know, not some private
choreographed photoshoot staged for your own convenience."


Second stepped in front of Assimilation, dominating the scene with his presence. "We
have to interrogate this new drone, now: information must be gained. It is a
delicate process, and trust me, all the action will be taking place in
dataspaces you can not access, much less report back to your audience.


"Therefore, move along to the next stop on your little tour. Captain wants to talk to you
for a couple of minutes, but it can wait until you've seen all the sights. These
two units will make sure you get where you are supposed to be with a minimum of
fuss." The camera recorded the entrance of two more Borg, this time by the
conventual method of stepping in from an exterior corridor. One drone beckoned
for the camera crew to follow.


 


<A second extended blank area to be later filled with commercials. In the new red
bar was neither designation nor location information, but a pair of questions: "Is
being Borg worth it?" and "Given the choice, would you rather be Borg
or an individual?">


 


On the work bench, 20 of 300 opened his eye, optical machinery opposite suddenly
showing activity. "Worth it? Definitely. At least now, when I get damaged,
I can be fixed. Beats my former life by a long shot."


 


29 of 300 in an alcove; she stepped forward and down, exiting with the audible
sound of umbilicals disengaging. "That question is irrelevant. Of course I
would want to be Borg."


 


Bending over a terminated drone, detaching an implant from deep in the body cavity,
Doctor stopped. Nose twitching, he answered, "There are disadvantages, I
admit, but given the choice of assimilation or not being a Borg, I must choose
the former. Now, if you will point that camera over here...."


 


Three random drones, the trio working busily at replacing electrical cables within a
bulkhead. Without a moment of hesitation, all reply sequentially,
"Borg", "Borg", and "Borg."


 


Assimilation stood before an alcove reading a small display. The sentient within, eyes
closed, lost the last of its visible hair as the camera watched. 13 of 20
turned and nodded. "Of course I would choose the Borg again. My prior life
was finished anyway...what other choice did I have?"


 


On a previously unrecorded catwalk, Second turned to answer, "You wouldn't
ask that question if you had experienced the Borg."


 


Captain twisted his neck in the eerie manner demonstrated at the beginning of the
episode, catching the audience in a penetrating blue stare. Turning back to the
large viewscreen, the immediate "presence" was still apparent, even
if the disturbing, knowing look was no longer directed to the masses. "That
is a question I ask myself every day...and every day I remember my previous
existence as a small being and am forced to answer yes.


"Being Borg is more than the hardware, more than the sheer power of knowledge gleaned
from nearly nine thousand races. It is also about the quest of Oneness, of
perfection, of harmony. Even chaos is predictable in its randomness; and, as
one species states, 'There is a Song in the cosmos, and all the beings, to the
tiniest matrix, are but notes and melodies seeking to Sing with the Whole.' It
is irrelevantly poetic I admit, but it is one way for the unassimilated to
relate to the mission of the Borg. We simply desire for this galaxy to
experience the euphoria of One.


"And even if this particular sub-collective can not wholly join in the glory of the
Collective, at least we know the lure of perfection. After experiencing even
the most transient joyous moment of knowing, being! part of a vast living
machine that extends tens of thousands of light years, no sane being would
desire to be small, to be single, again."


The drone was again facing the camera, this time with his whole body. An almost
charismatic gleam had come to his eye, one not expected in a normal being, much
less a feared member of the Borg Collective. For the first time, the camera
noted that several other drones could be seen in the background, blinking
lights and the occasional flash of an optical laser sight betraying their
presence. Refocus on a definitely smiling Captain.


"Speaking of which...the Greater Consciousness desires that you also be added to the
Collective. Do not worry, the initial pain will be rendered irrelevant upon
your acceptance of Us. It has been has authorized for your film and other data
to be returned to your studio by mech courier, but the bodies themselves will
stay."


"You will be assimilated. Resistance is futile." The latter was not only said
by the still amiable Captain, but echoed by the other drones also in the nodal
intersection. The scene shifted as the camera fell, spinning wildly until it
serendipitously stopped, pointing at a pair of furred, vaguely cat-like beings
struggling as they were held by a quartet of drones.


The last scene recorded was that of a suddenly obstructing drone foot placed
centimeters before the lens. Camera angle tilted upwards as something grabbed
the casing. Captain's visage swung into view, then blackened out into a final
fade as an off button was depressed.


 


*****


 


The final credits were scrolling through the senso's perception emitter; theme
music blared its heavy backbeat. Gyola detached the flexible headband from her
forehead, leaning back slightly in the unstable chair to stare at the ceiling. Moments
later Arshly followed suit.


"Well?" asked the smaller male. "What do you think? I predict the audience will
eat it up."


Gyola peered sideways at Arshly, allowing her ears to fold down against her skull. At
the display, Arshly frowned, then began to feel nervous. "What? Did I do
something wrong?"


"I recognized the camera crew. They were among the best combat reporters this company
had. I assume they aren't coming back?"


Arshly gulped. "No ma'am, they aren't. But isn't that the risks the crews take? They
did volunteer for the assignment after all. I have their signed releases in
file with Legal. I...."


"No, that's not what I'm worried about," interrupted Gyola into the patter of
frantic excuses. "Entertainment is a brutal business, and if you can't
deliver, you might as well go do something tame, like be a pilot in Suicide
Circuit shuttlewar races. No...the crew knew the possibilities when they
shipped out, I just wanted confirmation that they were not returning."


Mutely nodding in the dark, Arshly maintained his posture of uncertainty.


Gyola replied, her voice becoming much more animated, "Well, too bad for them,
because they are going to miss one hell of a party. I think when the ratings
come back on this show, your career is going to be made. Congratulations!"


Arshly was extremely stunned, and it took a few moments for the words to sink in. When
they did, however, the shout of pure glee the praise elicited could be heard throughout
the studio complex.
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A Mind is a Terrible Thing to Waste


 


Around an orange-yellow dwarf star, seven planets spun. The outer four were vast gas
giants, two sporting extensive ring systems; and the inner three rocky globes. A
sparse swarm of asteroid debris circled the star within the orbit of the gas
giants, surrounding one of the terrestrial spheres, consequently turning it
into a lifeless hell of craters, volcanoes, and crust-shattering quakes. The
innermost planet swung just above the corona of its sun, tidally locked to its
primary, one face a lava sea and the other a few frozen degrees from absolute
zero. The remaining planet was, as an infamous fable says, just right.


Magnify for a closer look at the second terrestrial planet, orbiting the middle of the
water zone. Moderate icecaps, fifty percent ocean, continents with snow topped
mountain ranges surrounded by lowland forests of green and grassy plains of
brown. The night side sparkles with ribbons of light connecting brightly lit
starfish cities, arms stretching wide. Single points of white on a backdrop of
black are lone ships crossing the oceans. In near orbit, stations and factories
circle, serviced by hundreds of ships of many sizes, but all built to resemble
dumbbells: two large globes connected at the equator by a cylinder.


Refocus the scene on two rather small moons. Both are in exactly the same orbit of
approximately twenty-five days, although one-hundred eighty degrees opposite of
each other. It is not a natural occurrence. Closer examination of the moons,
this time in frequencies not of the visual range, reveals the artificial
character. Black holes, mere pinpoints a few atoms in diameter, are encased in
vast spheres of alloy and covered by pulverized asteroids to create a synthetic
regolith. The end result are vast power sources - very dangerous if one or both
become unstable - that have been altered to not only provide energy via
microwave emitters located in a broad band about the equator, but serve as
platforms for colonization, visible as a scattered series of landing pads and
airlocks.


The home system of species #8511 had been found.


Cube #347 slid smoothly into high orbit. Near space was filled with a variety of
space junk: cast off shuttle parts, dead satellites, loose debris. The two
artificial moons cast a baleful presence over all, but thus far had proved
themselves to be inert despite the ample evidence they were mock shells englobing
immense energy sources. Communication satellites whizzed in circles around
their planet, as did several dozen space stations, micro-gee industrial
complexes, and shipyards. A new space elevator was in the process of assembly,
extruded carbon inching planetward a few meters per day from a mechanical
"spider" squatting on a chondrite asteroid in geosynchronous orbit.


Cube #347 was being ignored. Although it had entered the system openly, there had
been no obvious interest in the trespass. Now in orbit of the home planet of
species #8511, no hail greeted the cube, not even a peep from the local space
traffic control. Multiple ships began adjustments to move to alternate orbits
if their pathway intersected the cube, but that was the only overt
acknowledgment of the arrival. The sub-collective members began to figuratively
fidget as contact was not going according to plan. Finally a hail was received.


"This is traffic controller Kirl to alien vessel with the stupid shape. Move that
monstrosity to orbit beyond our moons, or else. You will apply for permission
to enter near orbit like every other ship." Pause. "You have made
hash of my neat schedule, and I'll be sure to make it up by skimming it from whatever
profits you expect to gain from trade items." The hail abruptly cut off;
the controller expected action to follow his demands, not discussion.


Captain stared at his viewscreen. No video had accompanied the audio, so the screen
continued to show the rotating globe below. Whites, blues, greens, browns… a
typical M-class planet. The Collective would be pleased, was pleased. The cube
was not going to move. Rapid commands flew through the dataspaces of the cube,
resulting in the hail being traced back to its source. A new line of
communications was opened.


"We are the Borg. Resistance is futile. You will prepare your populace to be
assimilated."


The reply which came was swift. This time a face filled the viewscreen, one of a
portly member of species #8511, thick jowls hanging below puffy face. Sparse
green hair was on the greasy side. The six eyes glared. "Is this picture
of the interior of an industrial processor some type of joke? Borg… Borg… now I
remember! You are that stupid ship on some stupid quest of galaxy domination. You
even managed to take out a couple of our frigates a few weeks ago. Pure
luck."


"Resistance is futile."


"Whatever. You are still lousing up my schedule. Why don't you go sit somewhere not in my
jurisdiction and think about things for a bit."


{What a smug bas-} The thought rattling around in the intranet cut off. The cube was
in far orbit. There had been no sense of movement… one second the planet was in
a corner of Captain's viewscreen, picture in picture fashion, the next the view
was several million kilometers distant.


"There. Don't call us, we'll call you. When you decide to act civilized, then maybe we
can talk things over." Communications went dead.


Captain immediately began directing Sensors to find a target on the surface of the
nearer moon, then turned his attention to Weapons.


{Weapons. You will completely destroy whatever target Sensors finds. Understand? Show of
definitive force.}


The reply from Weapons was not issued in words, but as a barely restrained desire
for mindless violence. Captain had not only let the bull into the China shop,
but had pointed it at the priceless Ming vases. On purpose.


Weapons eagerly awaited the incoming data from Sensors. When it came, a fairly large
facility of indeterminate function was brightly highlighted; large red arrows
floated in the perception of the target, marking shuttle landing pads and
airlocks to hemispherical domes. Acting before command and control could
object, Weapons grabbed engine functions, directing those in his hierarchy to
ready torpedoes for saturation bombardment.


Torpedoes radiating a green aura left the multiple tubes which studded the cube face
currently pointing towards to the target. Down they streaked, raining onto the
surface of the artificial moon, kicking up quantities of dust. Finally Captain
managed to stop Weapons' bombardment, pointing out to the other drone that
there would be many other targets needing torpedoes when the species began
their inevitable resistance. Weapons complied.


The dust would obscure the surface for several thousand years, slowly pulled back
to the ground by the low gravity of the artificial moon. Immense gravity was warping
the space near the satellite's core, but it quickly dampened to a strength
expected if the planetoids were of natural origin. Sensors probed the cloud to
determine the extent of the hidden damage. The conclusion was perplexing as
radar shadows were deciphered and the implications relayed into the general
knowledge of the sub-collective: the base appeared to be fully intact.


A hail demanded acknowledgment. Captain answered.


"Stupid Borg blockheads aboard the idiotic vessel," screamed controller Kirl,
jowls quivering, "I told you to think things over, not tarnish the new
paint on Huw resupply base. It will take days for the base personnel to
settle the dust; do you know how much time and energy it takes to grouf that
much floating regolith?"


"Resistance...."


"Is futile. Yah, yah...whatever. Why don't you think things over a bit more? This
time farther from Jharin Prime."


When Cube #347 determined its location, it found itself five light years distant.


 


Half a time period later, Cube #347 was carefully placing itself into orbit around
the orange-tinged primary, approximately one million kilometers sunward of
Jharin Prime. The location, while distant from the desired target, was
cluttered with a dozen satellites. By the micrometeoroid scars and dust pits,
the machines were old; however, three were still working. Sunspot, flare, and
solar radiation monitoring were the most likely function of the aged
satellites, but no time beyond a cursory examination was allotted to confirm
the hypothesis.


One of the satellites exploded, followed closely by a second and third. The phaser
causing the destruction missed the next shot, but numbers four, five, and six
vaporized to expanding clouds of hot plasma.


{Weapons!} admonished Captain.


{What?} Seven: fizzle. Miss. Eight, nine, ten: debris fly outward as a trio of quantum
torpedoes scored direct hits.


{Never mind. Why bother telling you anything now?} Eleven and twelve, neither
functional to begin with, were carved into four equal parts each with cutting
beams.


{We needed some target practice.} With the sending came the distinct impression the
weaponry hierarchy was a bit spooked over the apparent nondestruction of the
lunar base, and needed to convince itself that species #8511 was vulnerable in
their home system. Captain wasn't going to pine over a few worthless
satellites.


This time consensus dictated there would be no polite request for species #8511 to
surrender. Battle-class and Assimilation-class cubes had been dispatched from
distant locations, but it would be several weeks before the first would arrive.
The Greater Consciousness had directed Cube #347 to garner a toehold for the
Collective to exploit in the assimilation of the Jharin home system population.


Cube #347 was rarely tasked to begin actual assimilation procedures: there were too
many variables (four thousand to be exact) the Collective had to take into
account. For the hive, micromanaging on the scale of less than several million
drones was difficult. It was much easier to figuratively say "make it
so," and rely on the programmed instincts of a well-integrated
sub-collective to accomplish the task. Cube #347 was anything but
well-integrated. The effort involved would be alike a human wiggling their ears
- possible...if one wanted to take the time to practice. "Practicing"
in the case of the Greater Consciousness versus Cube #347 meant fostering a
close association with those whom were imperfectly assimilated, which was unacceptable.


In the instance of species #8511 an exception had been carefully contemplated and
decided feasible. The hive mind would not micromanage, but instead demand a
mass assimilation of a target, afterward of which appropriate neural
transceiver hardware would be installed. Those new drones would be immediately
integrated into the Greater Consciousness, avoiding (hopefully) the corrupting
influence of the deviant sub-collective. The new drones, while not having all
the proper augmentations, would nonetheless be perfectly capable to continue
the cycle of assimilation without any further action by Cube #347 beyond that
of technical and engineering support. By the time Battle-class and
Assimilation-class vessels arrived, a substantial Borg population would be
established, easily able to counter resistance. Prostheses, assemblies, and
other hardware could then be installed at leisure.


At least that was the plan. It would require exacting precision by Cube #347
because the complete process of assimilation, surgery, and integration of the
new drone would have to occur in a manner of hours once the assault began, but
the current combination of hierarchy heads was oddly competent. The station of
a certain controller Kirl was determined to be a suitable target.


Occasionally the Borg would figuratively butt their collective heads against a brick wall in
the quest for Perfection. Without knowing a species through assimilation,
little obstacles such as grouf tended to be ignored; and while multiple dozens
of Jharin drones were in stasis aboard Cube #347, due to the corruption-prone
nature of assimilation imperfection only a few had been briefly awakened from
their initial career change to have their minds turned inside-out. Grouf was
not understood and, thus, was irrelevant. The Borg tended to have very hard
heads, and very powerful weapons for backup: walls did not stay barriers for
long. In such a respect, Cube #347 was no different than any fully integrated
sub-collective.


Calculations completed, Cube #347 jumped to warp, seconds later dropping into near orbit of
Jharin Prime.


 


Traffic patterns above the planet were snarled. Subspace was filled with chatter,
eavesdropping on which increased the "inventive cursing" knowledge
base of species #8511 ten-fold. The cause of the problem, Cube #347, was
ignored. Or was of no more consequence than a fly at a barbecue - annoying, but
easily swatted. The thought was oddly chilling.


Captain orientated the ship according to Sensors' directions, sending the cube on a
direct intercept of station "Space Traffic Control", or STC; an
expanded acronym as used by several enraged pilots was more colorful. Two tugs
hauling a several ton chunk of rock were not quick enough to overcome inertia
and move out of Cube #347's way. They disintegrated on the cube's shielding. The
rock was swiftly tractored and flung towards the nearest moon. The rampage came
to a swift end.


{Report!} barked Captain into the dataspaces. Forward momentum of the cube, against all
known laws of physics, had come to an abrupt stop with no apparent cause. Thrusters
were useless and impulse could not budge the cube one centimeter. Warp,
conventional and transwarp, was momentarily considered, then dismissed as
suicidal. As replies of {I don't know} and {One of my bodies has fallen into an
interstitial space via a panel that should have been closed, so I'm just a
little bit occupied at the moment, thank you} were returned, a hail was
received.


Kirl's unsavory face filled the viewscreen. The two leftmost eyes erratically twitched
from a nervous tic. The controller looked quite haggard. "Still won't let
me see what you look like, eh? Well, I don't care if you are all pus-filled
bags of maggot droppings, or the most beautiful creatures to come out of the
Dorivian district whorehouses since Jilli and her twin Viepha, but you have
made me mad." Kirl shifted into screaming mode. "My work shift ended
an hour ago! The traffic patterns you have single-handedly snarled are the
worst on record! Up until now remarkable restraint has been shown towards you,
but the last warning has been given. You must now face the consequences.


"Our god will deal with you. He's not the nice and forgiving pushovers we at STC
tend to be."


Kirl disappeared, leaving the cube to wonder just what he had meant. It was
dismissed; deities were irrelevant. The immediate concern centered around
determining what was holding the ship in place, then focusing on solving the
problem.


::Greetings!:: said a voice NOT BORG into the minds of all those aboard Cube #347. ::I will
deal with you! Your leader, he will come to me!::


Captain suddenly found himself standing on an empty plain. One moment he was in his
nodal intersection sequentially initiating thrusters to fire individually for
the purpose of discerning a weak spot in the trap, and the next was...nowhere. What
was it with apparently omnipotent beings and the featureless infinite? One
would think a supreme force could at least expend the energy for a little
decorating; even the Borg added the proper theatrical touches to what would
otherwise be gunmetal gray decks, bulkheads, and pipes. But noooo...all
anecdotal evidence and "personal" second-hand experiences
demonstrated that omnipotence was highly correlated with a total lack of taste.


And if this was a ploy to make an individual feel inadequate and insignificant, it
was not working. Borg could not be alone, not even those on Cube #347. Besides,
his transceiver still operating; and, therefore, Captain had come to the
decision his link with the immediate universe had not been severed, even if he
no longer exactly knew where he was located.


A member of species #8511 shimmered into sight. He (at least it externally
resembled the Jharin male) was four meters tall and clothed in flowing robes of
black chased with a golden hem. A green mane of lush hair cascaded down his
back, off-setting six flashing emerald eyes. Although the robes hid the body,
the impression as the being moved was of immense strength.


"I am Ghari!" thundered a voice. The echoes rolled over the colorless plain,
lost to the infinite distance.


Ghari was a known name, remembered from the shrine room located in the first vessel
of species #8511 encountered. Captain answered, "You are a hologram?"
He tried an experimental step forward. As expected, he might as well had been
walking on a treadmill for all the distance closed between himself and the
towering presence.


"Insolent creature! I Am The One And Only Ghari! All rest are pale acolytes of
mySelf!" Curiously, the capitals actually could be heard in the
pronouncement. Captain was not impressed, nor the crew on the other end of his
link: it could now be seen where the "bugger off" and "damn
you" attitude of species #8511 had originated. Of course, not every
species had their own personal, tangible,
"in-your-face-when-you-call" god.


"You are not a hologram." It was a statement, not a question.


Ghari's face darkened. His eyes were miniature flares. "You will bow before me,
creature! How dare you assault my people!"


It seemed Ghari could not not talk in exclamations. Captain began to berate his sub-collective
to find someway to get him back, or at least figure out where he was
physically located, which was currently not aboard the cube. Until the
consensus was completed..."Resistance is futile. You will be
assimilated."


Red face turned purple, then, "Ha! You are a funny creature! You amuse me! Perhaps
I will let you live a few hours more, if only because you might make me
laugh!"


Captain stared at Ghari; Ghari stared back. Captain tried several different filter
configurations of his optical implant, but no information was forthcoming. A
few more steps leading nowhere, and Captain was ready to leave the place. "You
will let this drone go."


"Little being, you are quite amusing! Did you really think you, your crew, and your
blasphemous ship could harm my people?"


The Borg and their cubes had been called many things over the centuries, most not
polite. Blasphemous was a new figure of speech. Before he could stop himself,
Captain asked "Blasphemous? How is a ship blasphemous?" With the
words barely out of his mouth, Captain was already leaping over his link and
diving mentally into the pathways of the sub-collective, trying to figure out
where the impulse had come. The conclusions was sobering...the impetus had arisen
from within his own mind, not anyone else. In the best tradition of
assimilation imperfection, self-control had momentarily slipped, allowing
remaining shreds of individual to shamefully take control.


Ghari glared at Captain as if the Borg were a small bug that needed to be squashed. "How
could your overly large ship not be blasphemous? It charges through the
nebulous ether, disregarding the inharmonious overtones it causes in its wake! There
is no careful parting of the potentials, no smoothing of the fabric of the
mind! Senseless vandalizing wherever you travel, your ship...ALL the ships from
the Outside! It does not matter your species or civilization, you are all
sniveling slugs!


"You no longer amuse me! Go back to your ship and await your doom! An appropriate
method of punishment must be devised by my worshipers! Take what time remains
in your meaningless life to come to terms with your failures!"


Before
Captain could comment, he was back in his nodal intersection. As before, there
was no sense that he had been moved; one moment of perception he was on the
infinite plain, the next in familiar surroundings.


{Report!}


Quiet. Unusual quiet. Guilty quiet. One could hear a bolt drop down the central shaft
between subsections 5 and 23, if one were inclined to do so, and if the
artificial gravity systems were tweaked to create a true up-down orientation
over 1.3 kilometers. It wouldn't be all that hard, just a little minor rewiring.
Of course, several subsections would have to be without gravity, and everyone
in subsection 23 would be walking on the ceiling....


{Stop that chain of thought, 56 of 212.}


{Oops,} came the distant reply.


Captain sighed, {So, absolutely no data was gathered to explain what happened to me? Sensors,
you are hiding something.}


{Well,} carefully said Sensors, {There was an increase in [green fog] output in the
nearer of the artificial moons.}


{A moon that is probably as well, if not better, protected by the same grouf that
made the lunar station unassailable. This grouf is known to be technologically
boosted, but we can't get destroy the moons unless we remove the grouf-enhanced
defenses...which is impossible without destroying the moons.} The case of
circular logic wound in typical convoluted fashion.


{Yes.}


Second, standing next to Captain in the nodal intersection, stated verbally,
"Chicken and egg."


"Pardon?" asked Captain, thinking that his backup consensus monitor had just lost his
sanity.


"Terran reference. And no, I'm no more instable than usual. Look it up in the
databases; it is a simplistic explanation for a circular paradox like this one.
One cannot complete task A without first doing task B, but task B prevents the
successful undertaking of task A."


"And does the same Terran database provide any hints on how to overcome the
paradox?" Captain already knew the answer, but had to ask the scalding
question. 


Second's reply was mild. "Not really. There are a few other references to eggs,
several involving an omelet, but nothing that really applies."


"You are someway helpful."


"Thank you, I try." The sarcasm was returned in spades.


Back to prying information from the sensor hierarchy. {Sensors?}


{We are busy analyzing data now. Sensors will get back to you when Sensors has an
answer.}


"'Don't count your chickens before they've hatched?'" returned Second, a helpful
tone in both voice and mental signature. Captain just glared.


 


{[Turquoise whales]!} said Sensors. {Sensors now has a good idea how grouf works!}


Captain immediately pulled out of the sensor grid. While the sensor hierarchy had been
focused inward on the issue of grouf, large parts of the grid had been set at
standard configurations. The incoming data, while not pretty, was easier to
read than that usually filtered through Sensors. The results were not
encouraging, with a slow build-up of energy able to be traced on both
artificial moons and at specific points on the surface of the planet. It was
like watching a slow moving tsunami with the knowledge that no mountain would
be high enough to escape drowning.


{How?} The one word conveyed more than the desire of one drone, it contained the will
of the sub-collective to not be terminated. Sensors began to upload the
conclusions of her hierarchy to the general group mind. The vital clue had come
from Ghari and his statement of "parting the potentialities" via the
forward mounted engines of the barbell ships.


It was known, via painful interactions and recently assimilated information, that
grouf was dependent on altering the potentialities inherent within the nebula;
essentially, a limited area psi-ability that only worked inside a specific
spatial boundary. Machines, computers and power sources, coordinated and
enhanced grouf on both individual and group platforms, focusing desires into
quasi-coherent form, which was then either applied locally, else projected to
another place via an established network of subspace receivers/transmitters. For
all to work well, it was necessary for the polarized eta radiation which was
the fundamental base of grouf to remain as smooth and undisturbed as possible: overly
"lumpy" areas distorted grouf, making it weak and unpredictable. Thus
the forward mounted drives of the dumbbell ships were a necessary engineering
design for species #8511, acting as a dampener of destructive subspace waves
and preserving the optimal grouf environment. Actual traveling efficiency was
sacrificed, but within the nebula there were none to challenge the supremacy of
the Jharin...until the Borg arrived. As it was, it appeared Cube #347 would not
be the conduit for a Borg invasion any time soon.


Concluded Sensors: {And Ghari appears to be the metabelief of species #8511, given the
form of an egotistical god-creature whom protects their race. While Ghari is
nothing more than a series of [shivers] in the local [fog], powered by overly
huge energy sources, he is nonetheless quite able to kick our collective [butts].
That is why Sensors could not determine where you went. You were polarized to
the same frequencies as the Ghari metabelief, interacting with him on his [airplane].
Your mind remained in contact with us, but we could not track your body.}


The sub-collective digested the conclusion, arriving at the consensus that the task
of Cube #347 was to be logged as incomplete even as the four thousand drones
were reduced to faint echoes in the Greater Consciousness. The prospect of
physical death was sobering. Captain sighed and was about to start the process
of fully linking with the Collective to query for further options - unlikely...the
loss of one Exploratory-class cube was insignificant, especially when it
contained the Collective's rejects - and begin downloading the contents of
stored datafiles into general archives when Delta inserted a hold command. Shaking
off the temporary mental paralysis, Captain focused on the head of the
engineering hierarchy.


Delta did not have anything to offer, but a drone designated 78 of 240 - formerly a
hacker and pirate of both radio and subspace broadcasts - had much to relate.


 


{Like, you know, this Ghari-dude is a collection of modulated frequencies. One can do
anything with waves, if you know how to ride them. And, like, we can do
that...ride the wave. Simple work to alter the deflectors to emit a carrier on
the brain-band broadcast species #8511 emotes at, but the problem is the final
output. We can project our mental signatures to that totally boring place where
you were physically stolen. Ghari-dude is belief given form; we need something
comparable, or we will be a uselessly giant galactic radio station with no
listening audience.


{Problem: what is it we believe in strongly enough to challenge the fundamental god-dude
faith of several billion worshipers?}


78 of 240 formulated both theory and question succinctly, interspersing many
"dude"s and "like you know"s throughout. As a corollary it
was also theoretically possible to cancel the effects of grouf directed at Cube
#347, if - and it was a big if - one could precisely modulate shields to
vibrate in a pattern of interference. The method was similar to adaptation to
offensive weaponry, except the cube had to somehow sense all the minute
variations of grouf...as it was focused on them.


Captain split the sub-collective into two parts, one laboring on defense, the other on
offense. Adding urgency to the search, it was still unknown how much time
remained until species #8511, through Ghari, wiped Cube #347 from the universe.
Power still built on the surface of the planet and under the moons; it seemed
the Jharin were big believers in spectacular overkill.


A full third of the deflectors embedded in the hull were in the process of
modification. Mild cases of radiation poisoning were hampering the effort, but
the inconvenience was only that...an inconvenience. More serious was the campaign
to come up with an appropriate illusion in which to challenge and break Ghari,
thus hopefully stunning the population of species #8511 long enough for Cube
#347 to continue its advance.


{Too late!} interrupted Sensors into the growing debate between the images of a
giant drone or a Battle-class cube. {Sensors sees the [green frog] on the
planet has leveled; the moons are not far behind.}


Delta: {Deflector modifications are complete. Offense is ready, but defense will be
dependent upon us staying alive long enough for systems to analyze and adapt to
the wave modulations of species #8511.}


{Initiate,} spoke Captain as he engaged the command codes to divert the mental processes of
four thousand drones from the normal chaos of the dataspaces, through an eta
band polarized filter, and into a different pseudo-reality. Physically the crew
of Cube #347 remained within their ship (most in their alcoves), but mental
perceptions viewed the mock-universe inhabited by Ghari.


And boy was the god of species #8511 pissed.


"By all the ether demons, what sort of infernal creature are you?" roared
Ghari. The featureless plain which Captain had seen continued to stretch into
infinity, but now a vast throne of gold and colored minerals gilded with
platinum was included in the vista, near which stood a tall mirror. Ghari posed
before the chair, glaring, robes theatrically rustling despite the fact there
was no wind. The god had been interrupted in the middle of a preening session: one
had to look one's best before smiting enemies.


{What the...?} came from Second, or at least those were his surface thoughts. Consciousness
was extremely fluid in Ghari's domain, more so than the Borg dataspaces of Cube
#347 where one could partition off others if warranted. Random images swirled
from one topic to another; the perception which was Second had locked onto the
mirror, dragging all others to contemplate its significance.


A vast school of fish, floating in midair without any visible means of support,
goggled back. In the current realm it was impossible to determine length, but
each body was probably similar in size to Ghari's thumb. Sides were a silvered
gray, piebald in appearance with small implants and areas of missing scales. Fins
spread wide to scull the air as toothed jaws open wide in uncomprehending
disbelief.


A fragment from Doctor: {The fish images bear an uncanny resemblance to little
Mopsy, Gerny, Scales, Finny, and Bubbles. I wonder...yes, that is me, the one
thrashing its tail just so. I make a cute fishy.}


{Gerny? Scales?}


{Mopsy?? Finny?? Bubbles??}


{Bubbles???}


Ghari was emitting a stream of curses, but that was irrelevant at the moment. The
sub-collective was turning inward, mentalities focusing upon the most probable
cause of the predicament: Doctor. More precisely, Doctor and the image of the
small tank of fish he had hid in the interstitial space of a maintenance bay. Fish
that, yes, were near twins to the school staring back from Ghari's mirror.


{I am a fish!} shouted the dual voice of Delta. Two partially scaled bodies were
disrupting the whole as they forced their way towards a certain individual at
the front of the group. {This is all your fault, you mentally deviant rat! If
we get out of this, I am personally going to make sushi out of your pets; and
afterwards I will turn your existence into a living nightmare!}


Ahemed Ghari, "Ether demons?"


The school of Borg fish swiveled towards the god as One, << SHUT UP! Can't
you see we have a major problem here? >> before returning to more
immediate concerns.


Ghari appeared to be stymied. One could only imagine how the rebuke was manifesting
itself in the real universe. The sudden "gong" followed by a
"sloshing" of the infinite plain, as if someone had fallen against
and almost tipped over an aquarium, gave an indication. Sensor grid data routed
through those slivers of awareness which were serving as an umbilical back to
Cube #347 reported an attack; shields held, adaptation had commenced.


Captain and Second herded the members of the command and control hierarchy together, then
sent them into the bowels of the school to re-establish a semblance of order. The
question of why the sub-collective had manifested itself as fish had to be
answered, as well as the necessity of knowing if the Ghari belief would be
vulnerable to attack by such a pitiful offensive display. One hated these
metaphysical realms.


{78 of 240, this predicament came partially from your theories...} began Captain as
he singled out the named drone. The fish in the immediate vicinity of 78 of 240
drew back.


{Hey, hey, hey, Captain dude!} interrupted 78 of 240. {I just handle the equipment
aspects. I don't understand this mess-with-your-mind trip we are dealing with
here.}


Meanwhile, Doctor had found himself cornered by Delta. Nobody dared to come to his rescue.
Every time Doctor attempted to dart deeper into the school, one of Delta's
bodies blocked the way. Both were now advancing with a menacing air.


{Delta!} snapped Captain. {Knock it off! We've more important things to worry about than
some vendetta.}


{We're going to die anyway...let me get some satisfaction out of the years 27 of 27
and his collective menagerie have given me headaches,} pleaded Delta.


Up to this point, Weapons had been quiet. While not necessarily the most
intelligent drone in many respects, pure blood-thirsty tactics had allowed Cube
#347 to survive over the twenty-seven years he had held his dictatorship of
hierarchy head. He now spoke, using the weight of his hierarchy to break up
what was becoming a four-way argument as Second inserted his sarcastic
opinions. {Does it really matter?}


Uncomprehending question was the response. At least the bickering had stopped. 


Weapons continued, {Does it really matter? This place is a figment of our collective
perceptions. Ghari isn't real; we aren't actually a school of Doctor's pet
fish. These manifestations are thoughts given metaphysical form. In the real
universe, probabilities are altered to batter at our ship. Here we are
confronting the central belief that ties a species together.


{So what if we are a school of fish? Perhaps if we had time to practice, we could
have manifested as something a bit more...impressive. A giant cube would have
been nice. However, there was always the possibility Doctor's wants would frame
the whole despite a unified effort on our part, and so here we are.


{And isn't this form fitting, anyway? A school of fish: many who act as One. Many
eyes that see for All, irrelevant singles who can be sacrificed for the whole,
a vast being of multitude parts. Let us make the most of this perception and
turn Ghari into a pile of mincemeat.}


Said Delta into stunned silence, {Sometimes you amaze me, Weapons. There actually
might be a sentient brain in that metal-reinforced skull of yours.}


A loud explosion shook the Borg fish. For a moment, it seemed as if the ground
was to forcefully meet those members who currently hovered in the lower
positions, but altitude control stabilized. Attention was focused on Ghari just
in time to see him lob another fizzling rock. This time the school scattered,
allowing the bomb to detonate harmlessly. A partition of engineering and
tactical reported adaptation to a suite of grouf frequencies; Bulk Cargo Hold
#4 was a slagged mess, but shields were holding..for now.


As the school dodged another bomb - the apparent equivalent of system adaptation -
Captain wondered how long it would take for species #8511 to realize their
current attack was no longer effectual. A peek at Ghari through the scaled mass
of moving bodies showed the god frowning at the rock he held. The rock
disappeared, to be replaced by a crossbow.


Universe view:


The ring of rocks which had englobed the cube faded from existence. Small slivers
of metal the size of crowbars shimmered into sight, each a smoldering red glow and
sporting a pair of blue eyes. The eyes locked onto Cube #347; the metal
toothpicks pierced through Borg shielding like a hot knife through butter,
impacting the hull and turning several quadrants on faces #4 and #3 into a
large pincushion.


Infinite plain: 


{Ouch! Ouch! Ouch!} was the new word of the day as about one hundred fifty drone fish
found their skins bristling with pins. The attack was an inconvenience more
than anything else as no lasting damage was done...until the nuisances began to
burrow inward.


Doctor suddenly had an idea. {Tweezers. Think of tweezers. Be good fishes and give me
tweezers.} Tweezers began to rain on the school. Doctor swooped down and
grabbed one, his pectoral fin oddly gripping the handle. {My
hierarchy...fix-'em-up time.} Fish of drone maintenance took the instruments,
going to the affected comrades and wheedling out the needles.


Universe view:


One by one crowbars halted their burrowing, losing their dull red coloration. The
next wave of attack splashed off the shields, as did the third.


The cycle of assault and counter continued on two levels. Outwardly Cube #347
became a patchwork mess of melted angles, shallow craters, twisted metal, and
venting gasses. Only sheer bulk and noncentralized systems, assisted by ship
regeneration, kept the vessel in one piece long enough for adaptation to
commence. Inwardly, four thousand mottled gray fish were bruised, punctured,
cut, and spindled. Odd implements ranging from a trio of giant yellow
marshmallows to five hundred slinkies to a large shield made of rose quartz
littered the ground beneath the school. Currently every fish was wearing a pair
of mirrored sunglasses and a heavy bronze helmet.


{I think Ghari is about to give up,} observed Second. Fireworks, bright bursts of
light, exploded overhead, reflecting off the sunglasses. Sharp shrapnel rained
to the ground, pinging off helmets. {Then again, I may be wrong.}


"You demons are resilient, but you are no match for me! I will destroy you
all!" Ghari was making threats, again. It was usually a prelude to a new
form of attack. A net shimmered into view above the school, dropping straight
down. Instinctively every fish faced skyward, pulling in fins and slipping
through the large holes.


Weapons shouted, {It is a familiar attack! We have adapted!} It was true...Cube #347
had survived long enough for systems to recognize and repulse assault. In the
real universe, offensives shattered (literally at times) on the shields. {We
must advance!} ordered Weapons.


Like a salmon straining against a strong current, Borg fish faced Ghari and his
throne, caudal fins thrashing in the effort to near the pseudogod. It was
unknown what would happen once the goal was achieved, but the target needed to
be caught first. Mirroring the unseen, a Borg cube shook as thrusters lit the
dark with a purple flare. Slowly, ponderously, the vessel moved closer to the
orbit of Space Traffic Control station.


Sweat ran down Ghari's face as six eyes squinted in concentration and fists clenched
in rage. The intangible current became a torrent, halting the Borg advance. Stalemate.
The sub-collective of Cube #347 could not draw close enough either in reality
or the metaphysical to cause damage, but neither could species #8511 break the
integrity of the ship.


Weapons whined, {No fair! This is not a direct attack. We can't adapt to this passive
stuff.}


{Too many,} confirmed Delta. {We are four thousand against many billions. We may be
One in purpose, but they have sheer power, both mentally and technologically,
behind their resistance.}


The school drew back slightly, then abruptly turned with heads pointed inwards. It
was a visual representation of the search for a consensus to the problem. Occasionally
one or two fish would dart away from the group, but were swiftly reintegrated
into the milling mass. At one point the gathering split into two unequal parts,
but the dissension was short-lived.


Consensus was achieved. The sub-collective needed more minds, and there was only one
plausible place to gain them. The solution necessitated alteration of more
deflectors, increased output from energy cores, and many other miscellaneous
hardware modifications. Most importantly it obligated Captain and a large
portion of the command and control hierarchy to do a fancy bit of persuasive
arguing. The sub-collective disappeared from the featureless land: much to do
in reality and little time to accomplish it.


 


Captain returned to Ghari's realm with an audible "pop". A quick glance
towards the mirror confirmed that yes, he was still a fish. The perception,
once given form, appeared to stick, despite wishes to the contrary. Ghari
himself stood regally before his throne, clothes on the ruffled side and hair
in disarray, but otherwise proud. "Have you come to surrender,
demon?" boomed Ghari. "Or are you simply going to admit my people cannot,
as you say, be assimilated, and then go bugger yourself off to pester other species?"


"Neither," mildly returned Captain. As he said so, members of his sub-collective began to
shimmer into view, fins sculling empty air. On the reality of Cube #347, final
preparations were completed, allowing the remaining members to securely plug
themselves back into their alcoves. Shortly the full complement of the ship was
arrayed before the god of species #8511.


But it did not stop there.


A subset of the Greater Consciousness, a mere trillion minds, turned attention
towards an insignificant cube stuck deep in the heart of a vast nebula. Questing
towards the vessel, attempting to make a link with the wayward sub-collective
requesting assistance in the task of breaking resistance in a species scheduled
for assimilation, the Greater Consciousness followed the thread of mentalities
through a polarized filter and into the pseudo-reality. Between one moment and
the next, the infinite plain became a vast aquarium filled with small Borg
fish, all focused on Ghari.


<< Resistance is futile. You will be assimilated. >> echoed a trillion (plus
four thousand) voices. The needlelike teeth of assumed forms swiftly tore the figment
of belief for seven billion combined minds into shreds of insubstantial mist.


 


Civil war and general unrest had erupted on the planet of Jharin Prime, as well as
system colonies and orbital stations. With the shattering of the unifying
religious belief, the priests which had held monopolistic governmental power
through rather heinous methods suddenly found themselves at the receiving end
of lynching mobs. The consequence was that Cube #347 had little to do besides
orbit the planet and occasionally slip into the local nebula-induced pseudo-reality
to make sure no successor to Ghari was manifested.


The Greater Consciousness had decided to forego the tricky operation of the sub-collective
of Cube #347 initiating mass assimilation. Wrestling with exact timing and
expected confounding factors was no longer necessary. As long as species #8511
cooperated by fighting amongst themselves, the Collective was content to have
the sub-collective play watchdog while properly integrated drones traversed the
transwarp conduits.


Cube #347 spent the time repairing damage, playing with the local variances in
probabilities (which gave Captain, Second, and the other more responsible
members of the hierarchies headaches as they tried to control creative examples
of havoc), and generally fought overwhelming boredom.


And then it was over...his reign as Captain was over. Battle-class and
Assimilation-class cubes were entering the system; and the role of Cube #347
was finished for this task.


Captain began the shut-down protocol, sending all drones but for himself into stasis. The
computer had to be reset, readying the lottery for certain positions at next
activation; files needed to be ordered for the Collective to download and
integrate into the Greater Consciousness. The viewscreen had to be removed and
as much information as possible relating to its existence be purged from working
memory. Finally it was time to set a course for shipyard Iota Beta at planet
#35c, where the cube would be readied and refit prior to the next assignment.


Captain - 4 of 8 he reminded himself...now only 4 of 8 - sucked in a deep breath and
initiated the last of the necessary command codes. As the cube leaped into
transwarp, as his mind sunk into the oblivion which was the sleeping
sub-collective of Cube #347, his last thoughts echoed: {Done...done...done....}
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